
 

 

 
 

MEETING 
 

HOUSING AND GROWTH COMMITTEE 

DATE AND TIME 
 

MONDAY 13TH SEPTEMBER, 2021 
 

AT 7.00 PM 

VENUE 
 

HENDON TOWN HALL, THE BURROUGHS, LONDON, NW4 4BQ 

 
TO: MEMBERS OF HOUSING AND GROWTH COMMITTEE (Quorum 3) 
 

Chairman: Cllr Richard Cornelius, 

Vice Chairman: Cllr Sarah Wardle   
 

Councillors 
 

Cllr Sara Conway    

Cllr Paul Edwards    

Cllr Ross Houston    

Cllr Kath McGuirk    

Cllr Alex Prager  

Cllr Thomas Smith    

 

Cllr Daniel Thomas  

Cllr Peter Zinkin    

 

 
Substitute Members 
 

Cllr Anne Clarke   

Cllr Geof Cooke  

 

Cllr Nizza Fluss   

Cllr Rohit Grover  

 

Cllr Laithe Jajeh   

Cllr Alison Moore  

 

In line with the Constitution’s Public Participation and Engagement Rules, requests to submit 
public questions or comments must be submitted by 10AM on the third working day before 
the date of the committee meeting. Therefore, the deadline for this meeting is Wednesday 8th 
September at 10AM. Requests must be submitted to Abigail.lewis@barnet.gov.uk  
 
You are requested to attend the above meeting for which an agenda is attached. 
Andrew Charlwood – Head of Governance 

 
Governance Services contact: Abigail.lewis@barnet.gov.uk 
Media Relations Contact: Tristan Garrick 020 8359 2454 
 

ASSURANCE GROUP 
 
Please consider the environment before printing. The average Print Cost for this Committee has 
reduced by £293.74 per meeting, due to paperlight working. 
 
Two paper copies of the agenda only will be available at the meeting for members of the public. If 
needed, attendees are requested to print any specific agenda report(s). Committee Agendas are 
available here:  barnet.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1  
 

 

mailto:Abigail.lewis@barnet.gov.uk
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1


 

 

ORDER OF BUSINESS 
 

Item No Title of Report Pages 

1.   MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 

5 - 16 

2.   ABSENCE OF MEMBERS  
 

 

3.   DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY 
INTERESTS AND NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 

 

4.   REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY)  
 

 

5.   PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS (IF ANY)  
 

 

6.   MEMBERS' ITEMS (IF ANY)  
 

 

7.   Determination and Fees Policy for Caravan Site Licensing Fit and 
Proper Person Test  
 

17 - 32 

8.   COVID-19: Recovery Plan - Thriving  
 

33 - 46 

9.   Town Centres Capital Programme Update  
 

47 - 58 

10.   North Finchley Site Assembly Agreement and Land Agreement  
 

59 - 112 

11.   Corporate Asset Management Plan (CAMP)  
 

113 - 130 

12.   Brent Cross Update Report  
 

131 - 172 

13.   Authorisation to declare Land and premises known as 241 and 233 
West Hendon Broadway, and Land adjoining 239 West Hendon 
Broadway as a surplus asset  
 

173 - 182 

14.   Bunns Lane Car Park Proposed Approach to Site Disposal  
 

183 - 212 

15.   Grahame Park plots 10, 11 and 12 Compulsory Purchase order 
(CPO)  
 

213 - 238 

16.   Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan  
 

239 - 258 

17.   COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  259 - 262 



 
 
     

 

18.   ANY OTHER ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT  
 

 

19.   MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 

20.   Exempt Brent Cross Update report  
 

263 - 270 

21.   Exempt Bunns Lane Car Park Proposed Approach to Site Disposal  
 

271 - 288 

22.   ANY OTHER EXEMPT ITEM(S) THAT THE CHAIRMAN 
DECIDES ARE URGENT  
 

 

 
 

FACILITIES FOR PEOPLE WITH DISABILITIES 

Hendon Town Hall has access for wheelchair users including lifts and toilets.  If you wish to let 
us know in advance that you will be attending the meeting, please telephone 
governanceservice@barnet.gov.uk.  People with hearing difficulties who have a text phone, 
may telephone our minicom number on 020 8203 8942.  All of our Committee Rooms also 
have induction loops. 

 
 

FIRE/EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE 

If the fire alarm sounds continuously, or if you are instructed to do so, you must leave the 
building by the nearest available exit.  You will be directed to the nearest exit by uniformed 
custodians.  It is vital you follow their instructions. 
 
You should proceed calmly; do not run and do not use the lifts. 
 
Do not stop to collect personal belongings 
 
Once you are outside, please do not wait immediately next to the building, but move some 
distance away and await further instructions. 
 
Do not re-enter the building until told to do so. 

 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



1 

 
Decisions of the Housing and Growth Committee 

 
14 June 2021 

 
Members Present:- 

 
Councillor Richard Cornelius (Chairman) 

Councillor Sarah Wardle (Vice-Chairman) 

 
Councillor Peter Zinkin 
Councillor Thomas Smith 
Councillor Ross Houston 
Councillor Laith Jajeh 
 

Councillor Paul Edwards 
Councillor Sara Conway 
Councillor Kath McGuirk 
Councillor Rohit Grover  
 

 
Apologies for Absence 

 
Councillor Daniel Thomas 
 

Councillor Alex Prager 
 

 
 

1.    MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING  
 
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting of the Housing and Growth Committee 
held on 25th January 2021 be approved as a correct record 
 

2.    ABSENCE OF MEMBERS  
 
Councillor Thomas gave apologies for absence and was substituted by Councillor 
Grover. Councillor Prager gave apologies and was substituted by Councillor Jajeh. 
 

3.    DECLARATIONS OF MEMBERS DISCLOSABLE PECUNIARY INTERESTS AND 
NON-PECUNIARY INTERESTS  
 
Councillor Zinkin declared an interest in relation to item 17 – Brent Cross Cricklewood 
report by virtue of being a Director of London Energy.  
 

4.    REPORT OF THE MONITORING OFFICER (IF ANY)  
 
None. 
 

5.    PUBLIC QUESTIONS AND COMMENTS (IF ANY)  
 
None. 
 

The Chairman asked the Committee and Officers to join him in holding a minute’s silence 
in memory of those who lost their lives in the Grenfell fire.  
 

6.    MEMBERS' ITEMS (IF ANY)  
 
Members item in the name of Councillor Conway – Fourth anniversary of the 
Grenfell tragedy.  
 

5

AGENDA ITEM 1



 

2 

Councillor Conway thanked the Chairman for holding a minute’s silence in memory of the 
Grenfell tragedy and for the Town Hall being lit up in green lights as a sign of respect. 
She notified the committee that the Arts Depot would also be lit up. 
 
Councillor Conway asked officers to provide an update on the cladding issues within 
Barnet. The Deputy Chief Executive provided a brief update on the situation as follows: 

- That all Council stock with ACM cladding had been removed and replaced in 
2018. 

- The fire safety programme on Barnet Homes stock was extensive and was 
outlined in the various papers within the agenda for the meeting. 

- The position in relation to dangerous cladding, on blocks over 18m, was being 
closely monitored and the Council was ensuring it complied with all its 
responsibilities within the Buildings Safety Act. 

- Most of the private landlords with cladding on buildings under 18m’s, had now 
acted. 

- The outstanding question on the payment of the works was continuing to be 
raised with the government. 

 
Members item in the name of Councillor Houston – Lift of eviction ban 
 
Councillor Houston requested that an update be brought back to committee on the 
situation following the end of the ban on evictions. There was concern that this could 
lead to a wave of homelessness, due to debts being built up during the pandemic that 
may be impossible for residents to pay back. 
 
The Deputy Chief Executive advised that a briefing could be sent round to committee 
members, until more information on the effects of homelessness became apparent.  
 
The Chairman agreed this was a sensible approach and that an update would be brought 
to the committee at an appropriate time.  
 
Members item in the name of Councillor Edwards – Homelessness 
 
Councillor Edwards asked for an update on the likely impact on homelessness in Barnet 
and on the services provided by the Council, following the end of the eviction ban. He 
expressed concern that there could be an increase in homelessness during the winter, 
with people on the streets being more vulnerable to Coronavirus.  
 
The Chairman agreed that an update on the situation should be brought back to a future 
meeting. Councillor Houston asked that this update include information on different types 
of provision that could be provided, following the measures that had been put in place 
during the pandemic.  
 

7.    COVID-19: RECOVERY PLAN - THRIVING  
 
The Assistant Director Development and Economy introduced the paper, which provided 
an update on the progress across a number of Recovery workstreams including skills, 
employment, homelessness, town centres, housing supply and digital access and 
inclusion. The report also provided updated progress on the delivery of the Growth 
Strategy and a detailed plan on the council’s approach to skills and employment.  
The committee asked that a report was brought back at the end of the year or beginning 
of 2022.  

6



 

3 

Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the Officer’s 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
The votes were recorded as follows: 

For 10 

Against 0 

Abstain 0 

 

RESOLVED THAT THE COMMITTEE: 

1) Noted the report. 

2)  Noted the annual report on the growth strategy as set out in appendix 
1 of the report. 

3) Approved the Barnet work, skills and productivity action plan set out in 
appendix 2 of the report. 

 
8.    CHIPPING BARNET COMMUNITY PLAN  

 
The Chairman introduced the report, which outlined the Chipping Barnet Community 
Plan and the 5 key priority projects identified within it.  
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the Officer’s 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
The votes were recorded as follows: 

For 10 

Against 0 

Abstain 0 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee: 

1) Noted and approved the Chipping Barnet Community Plan, which sets 
out a range of ways that the Council can work with community 
members, businesses and other partners to improve Chipping Barnet 
Town Centre. 

2) Agreed that the five recommended priority projects listed under 
paragraph 2.6 of the report can proceed to further feasibility and 
business case development. 

 
9.    HOUSING REVENUE ACCOUNT (HRA) BUSINESS PLAN  

 
The Chairman introduced the report which provided an update on the 30-year HRA 
Business Plan, since it was report to the Housing and Growth Committee in January 
2020.  
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the Officer’s 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
The votes were recorded as follows: 

For 6 

Against 0 

Abstain 4 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee: 
Approved the draft Housing Revenue Account Business Plan as attached in 
Appendix 1 of the report.  
 

10.    BARNET HOMES DELIVERY PLAN 2021/22  

7



 

4 

 
The Chairman introduced the report which provided an update on the Barnet Homes 
2021/22 delivery plan and the outcomes achieved against each of the Housing and 
Growth Committee’s priorities at quarter 4 2019/20. The delivery plan also outlined the 
outcomes, performance measures and high-level risks for the 2020/21 year.  
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the Officer’s 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
The votes were recorded as follows: 

For 6 

Against 0 

Abstain 4 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee: 
Noted and approved the Barnet Homes 2021/22 delivery Plan as outlined in 
Appendix 1 of the report. 
 

11.    REVIEW OF COUNCIL TEMPORARY ACCOMMODATION RENTS FOR 2021/22  
 
The Chairman introduced the report which proposed a smaller increase in Temporary 
Accommodation rents than was previously approved in order to minimize the effect on 
TA clients.  
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the Officer’s 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
The votes were recorded as follows: 

For 10 

Against 0 

Abstain 0 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee: 
Noted and approved the proposed adjustment to increase temporary 
accommodation rents by 1.5% to take effect from 30 August 2021 subject to 
further approval of the Policy and Resources Committee.  
 

12.    PRIVATE SECTOR HOUSING LICENSING SCHEMES  
 
The Chairman introduced the report which sought approval to commence a public 
consultation for the renewal of the borough-wide additional licensing scheme for certain 
houses in multiple occupation due to expire on 4th July 2021 and to implement three 
selective licensing schemes for other types of private rented properties in certain wards, 
noting that as a result of the new ward boundaries taking effort from May 200, these will 
change slightly but the schemes will, in any event, specify the affected roads.   
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the Officer’s 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
The votes were recorded as follows: 

For 10 

Against 0 

Abstain 0 
 
RESOLVED that the committee: 

1) Noted the findings of the review of the existing additional licensing scheme 
in Appendix 1. 

2) Approved the commencement of a minimum 12-week public consultation on 

8



 

5 

the proposal to renew the existing borough-wide additional licensing 
scheme, applicable to the types of properties as set out in paragraph 2.8 of 
the report, for a further 5 years. 

3) Approved the commencement of a minimum 12-week public consultation on 
the proposal to introduce three selective licensing schemes as described in 
paragraphs 2.84-2.88 of this report. 

4) Noted that subject to the above consultations taking place, a future report 
will be brought to the committee setting out the results of the statutory 
consultations and potentially seeking further approvals with a view to 
implementation of the licensing schemes.  

 
13.    FOSTERS ESTATE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT UPDATE  

 
The Chairman introduced the report which provided an update on delivery of the project 
to date.  
The Assistant Director of Development and Economy explained that over the last year, it 
had become increasingly difficult to sell leasehold houses and this would continue 
following the emerging legislation through the leaseholder’s bill. Therefore, the 
committee was being asked to approve the transfer of the freehold interest in 17 shared 
ownership houses to Sage Housing Limited. This would mean that once shared owners 
had staircased to owning 100% of their property they would be freeholders of their 
homes.  
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the Officer’s 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
The committee unanimously noted the progress made on delivering the project to date.  
Votes on the second recommendation, were recorded as follows: 

For 6 

Against 0 

Abstain 4 

 
RESOLVED that the committee: 

1) Noted the progress made on delivering the project to date. 
2) Agreed to the transfer of the freehold interest in the 17 shared 

ownership houses to Sage Housing Limited and delegates authority to 
the Director of Growth to agree finalise and enter into (1) a deed of 
variation to the existing Development Agreement with Sage Housing 
Limited dated 12 March 2021 and (2) any ancillary documents that may 
be required, in order to give effect to this 

 
14.    STRATEGIC OUTLINE CASE FOR THE REGENERATION OF PART OF 

GRAHAME PARK ESTATE BY BARNET COUNCIL  
 
The Chairman introduced the report which outlined the Strategic outlined case and noted 
that the detailed funding arrangements would be taken to the Policy and Resources 
Committee for approval. 
 
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the officers’ 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 

 
The votes were recorded as follows: 

 

For 10 

9



 

6 

Against 0 

Abstain 0 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee: 

1) Noted and approved the Strategic Outline Case.  
2) Noted that the detailed funding arrangements will be proposed to the 

Policy & Resources Committee for approval.  
3) That Barnet Homes are appointed as development agent, acting in the 

best interests of the council, to progress the next phase of work as set 
out in this report. 

 
15.    NORTHWAY/FAIRWAY PROPOSED APPROACH TO SITE DISPOSAL  

 
The Chairman introduced the report which outlined the proposals for developing the 
Northway/Fairway site.  
 
Following consideration of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the officers’ 
recommendations as outlined in the report. 
 
The votes were recorded as follows: 
 

For 6 

Against 0 

Abstain 4 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee: 

1. Noted progress to date in respect of the proposals for the development of 
the Northway/Fairway (“the Site”) delineated at Figure 1 paragraph 1.4 
below. 

2. Approved the proposed sale and leaseback approach to the development of 
the site. 

3. Approved the Kuropatwa Group as the preferred developer for the delivery 
and sale and leaseback approach on this Northway/Fairway site. 

4. Delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive acting in the best 
interests of the Council and in consultation with the Chairman of the 
Housing and Growth Committee to:  

 agree the final terms for the proposed transaction,  

 negotiate finalise and complete the terms of the required 
documentation to be entered into with Kuropatwa Group (including 
companies within that group) to give effect to the agreed final terms as 
referred to above,  

 to negotiate, approve, finalise, and complete such other documents as 
may be required to effect implement fund deliver and/or manage the 
scheme. 

 approve and conclude the exchange of an agreement for lease and 
Leaseback to be entered into with an appropriate company within 
Kuropatwa Group subject to such agreement being compliant with the 
Council’s statutory obligation to obtain the best price reasonably 
obtainable as evidenced by an independent valuation; 

5. That subject to approval from the Policy and Resources Committee the 
Committee approved the creation of a management company (ManCo) by 

10



 

7 

the Council for the ongoing management of the completed units at the Site 
and to enter into the proposed sub-underlease with the Council as outlined 
at paragraph 3.8. 

6. Approved that, if planning permission is received for the development, the 
Deputy Chief Executive (acting in the best interests of the Council and in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Housing and Growth Committee) be 
authorised to approve the final red book valuation for the site. 

7. (i) Approved the advertising as required to appropriate to the required use 
or to appropriate to planning purposes any part of the Site deemed or 
designated as Public Open Space in accordance with S122(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972 and (ii) delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive the 
consideration of any objections received following the conclusion of the 
above advertising process. 

8. Delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive if appropriate following the 
conclusion of the consideration of any objections to advertise pursuant to s 
123(2A) of the LGA 1972 or s 233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 
1990 the disposal of any land referred to at 7 above which is to be 
comprised as part of the Site. 

9. That subject to paragraph 7 the Committee delegated authority to the 
Deputy Chief Executive to authorise that the whole or any part of the Site as 
may be required be appropriated for planning purposes pursuant to s 122 of 
the LGA 1972 and to commence negotiations and settle any lawful claims 
asserted by third parties pursuant to ss 203 and ss 204 of the Housing and 
Planning Act 2016. 

10. Authorised that the Deputy Chief Executive may instruct as required the 
appropriate Council officers to make any applications to the Secretary of 
State for consent to enable the lawful disposal of the Site. 

11. Delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Chairman of this Committee to make any alterations to the extent of the Site 
with the above recommendations to apply to the Site as altered. 

 
16.    WATLING CAR PARK PROPOSED APPROACH TO SITE DISPOSAL  

 
The Chairman introduced the report which set out the proposal for the Council to enter 
into a commercial agreement with a developer/annuity funder that delivers the social 
and environmental regeneration to meet the future housing demand and to support the 
economic prosperity of the borough.  
 
Officers explained that during the planning process engagement with the relevant 
secure by design officer would take place, to ensure all schemes were compliant and to 
aim to design out crime. The Library and community space were being re-provided, 
which was viewed as integral to the future development. The developer hoped to be 
able to provide a nursery, to meet the demand in the area, however this would all need 
to be demonstrated and planned out through the planning and stakeholder engagement 
process.  
 
Following discussion on the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the officers’ 
recommendations. 
The votes were recorded as follows: 
 

For 6 

Against 0 

11



 

8 

Abstain 4 

 
RESOLVED that the committee: 
 
1. Noted progress to date in respect of the proposals for the development of the 
Watling Car Park (“the Site”) delineated at Figure 1 paragraph 1. below. 
 2. Approved the proposed sale and leaseback approach to the development of 
the Site.  
3. Approved BY Development Limited (trading as Linkcity) as the preferred 
developer for the delivery and sale and leaseback approach on this Watling Car 
Park site.  
4. Delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive acting in the best interests 
of the Council and in consultation with the Chairman of the Housing and Growth 
Committee to: 

 agree the final terms for the proposed transaction 

 negotiate finalise and complete the terms of the required documentation to 
be entered into with BY Development Limited and the annuity funder to give 
effect to the agreed final terms as referred to above  

 to negotiate, approve, finalise, and complete such other documents as may 
be required to effect implement fund deliver and/or manage the scheme  

 approve and conclude the exchange of an agreement for lease and 
Leaseback to be entered into with BY Development Limited subject to such 
agreement being compliant with the Council’s statutory obligation to obtain 
the best price reasonably obtainable as evidenced by an independent 
valuation.  

5. That subject to approval from the Policy and Resources Committee the 
Committee approved the creation of a management company (ManCo) by the 
Council for the ongoing management of the completed units at the Site and to 
enter into the proposed sub-underlease with the Council as outlined at paragraph 
7.3.10. 
 6. Approved that, if planning permission is received for the development, the 
Deputy Chief Executive (acting in the best interests of the Council and in 
consultation with the Chairman of the Housing and Growth Committee) be 
authorised to approve the final red book valuation for the Site.  
7. (i) Approved the advertising as required to appropriate to the required use or to 
appropriate to planning purposes any part of the Site deemed or designated as 
Public Open Space in accordance with S122(2A) of the Local Government Act 
1972 and (ii) delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive the consideration of any 
objections received following the conclusion of the above advertising process;  
8. Delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive if appropriate following the conclusion 
of the consideration of any objections to advertise pursuant to s 123(2A) of the 
LGA 1972 or s 233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 the disposal of any 
land referred to at 7 above which is to be comprised as part of the Site  
9. That subject to paragraph 7 the Committee delegated authority to the Deputy 
Chief Executive to authorise that the whole or any part of the Site as may be 
required be appropriated for planning purposes pursuant to s 122 of the LGA 
1972 and to commence negotiations and settle any lawful claims asserted by 
third parties pursuant to ss 203 and ss 204 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 
. 
 10. Authorised that the Deputy Chief Executive may instruct as required the 
appropriate Council officers to make any applications to the Secretary of State for 
consent to enable the lawful disposal of the Site. 509  

12



 

9 

11. Delegated authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Chairman of this Committee to make any alterations to the extent of the Site with 
the above recommendations to apply to the Site as altered. 

 
17.    BRENT CROSS UPDATE REPORT  

 
The Chairman introduced the report which updated the committee on the progress since 
the last committee meeting on 25th January 2021. The report provided particular updates 
on the key railway possession works and the land assembly programme. 
 
Following discussion of the item, the Chairman moved to vote on the officers’ 
recommendations. 
 
The votes were recorded as follows: 
 

For 6 

Against 0 

Abstain 4 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee: 
1) Noted and endorsed the appointment of Croftstone to advise the council on 
future claims in accordance with the Implementation Agreement between the 
council and Network Rail as set out in paragraph 1.16.  
2) Noted and endorsed the Brent Cross West Integrated programme set out at 
paragraph 1.10.  
3) Noted that on the Brent Cross Town (BXT) student accommodation Plot 25, the 
council and BXT are moving forward with alternative Purpose Built Student 
Accommodation provider and delegated to the Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Chairman of the Committee to agree and complete the required legal 
documentation in accordance with the Heads of Terms as set out in paragraph 
1.22 and 1.23 and attached to the Exempt report.  
4) Noted that the Brent Cross Cricklewood Regeneration Phase 1A North (Plot 53 & 
Plot 5 Brent Terrace South) Stopping Up Order 2019 and Brent Cross Cricklewood 
Regeneration Phase 1A North (Claremont Park) Stopping Order 2019 were 
confirmed on 2 June 2021. The Council will now give Notice of the Confirmation.  
5) Delegated to the Executive Director for Environment in consultation with the 
Chairman of the Committee to agree and finalise and enter into the required 
agreements in respect of the maintenance arrangements for the improvements to 
Claremont Park prior to opening as set out in paragraph 1.24.  
6) Delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive to commence engagement and agree 
terms with external consultants as and when required to ensure delivery of the 
council’s obligations related to the Brent Cross Programme, as set out in 
paragraph 1.49, having regard to the Council’s best value duty.  
7) Approved that Gowling WLG are retained to provide legal advice on the BX 
project and to delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the 
Chairman and HB Law to agree a revised service agreement in accordance with 
paragraphs 1.51 of this report. 538 3  
8) Authorised that an application be made to apply to the Secretary of State to 
extend the Final Demolition Notice period on the Whitefield Estate Part 1, details 
outlined in paragraph 1.40. 
 9) Authorised that the Council ceases to let properties acquired by buy-back or 
other to council tenants and non-secure tenants and approve the use of property 

13



 

10 

guardians for these properties on Whitefield Estate Part 1 outlined in paragraph 
1.39.  
10)Delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation with the Chairman of 
this Committee to make the contract award and authorised entering into the 
contract to deliver the replacement Waste Transfer Station as set out in paragraph 
1.46. 
 

18.    COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME  
 
The Committee noted the forward work programme.  
 

19.    ANY OTHER ITEMS THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  
 
None. 
 

20.    MOTION TO EXCLUDE THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 
The Committee resolved – that under Section 100A (4) of the Local Government 
Act 1972 the public be excluded from the meeting for the following items of 
business on the grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act (as 
amended). 
 

21.    EXEMPT - FOSTERS ESTATE DEVELOPMENT PROJECT UPDATE  
 
The Committee RESOLVED - that the information contained in the exempt report 
be noted. 
 

22.    EXEMPT: STRATEGIC OUTLINE CASE FOR THE REGENERATION OF PART OF 
GRAHAME PARK ESTATE BY BARNET COUNCIL  
 
The Committee RESOLVED - that the information contained in the exempt report 
be noted. 
 

23.    EXEMPT - NORTHWAY/FAIRWAY PROPOSED APPROACH TO SITE DISPOSAL  
 
The Committee RESOLVED - that the information contained in the exempt report 
be noted 
 

24.    EXEMPT - WATLING CAR PARK PROPOSED APPROACH TO SITE DISPOSAL  
 
The Committee RESOLVED - that the information contained in the exempt report 
be noted 
 

25.    EXEMPT - BRENT CROSS UPDATE REPORT  
 
The Committee RESOLVED - that the information contained in the exempt report 
be noted 
 

26.    ANY OTHER EXEMPT ITEM(S) THAT THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE URGENT  
 
None. 
 

14



 

11 

The meeting finished at 20.44 
 
 
 

15



This page is intentionally left blank



1/16 
 

 

 

Summary 

This report seeks approval from the Committee to agree the criteria and note the proposed  
fees for assessing the “Fit and Proper” status of managers of mobile home sites introduced 
by the Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) 
(England) Regulations 2020. 
 

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. To agree the determination criteria detailed in Appendix 1 for applications of 
relevant persons to be accepted onto the fit and proper person register in 
respect of mobile home site licensing. This will apply to all applications 
received from 1 July 2021 and applies to both existing site licence holders and 
any new site licence holders. 
 

2. To note and agree the fee for applications by relevant persons to be accepted 
onto the fit and proper person register in respect of mobile home site licensing, 
which will be referred to Council for final approval. This will apply to all 
applications received from 1 July 2021 and applies to both existing site licence 
holders and any new site licence holders. 

 

Housing and Growth Committee 
 

13th September 2021 

Title  
Determination and Fees Policy for Caravan Site Licensing Fit 
and Proper Person Test  

Report of Chairman of Housing and Growth Committee 

Wards All 

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Key Yes 

Enclosures                          

Appendix 1: determination criteria for applications of relevant 
persons to be accepted onto the fit and proper person register 
in respect of mobile home site licensing.  
 

Officer Contact Details  
Belinda Livesey, belinda.livesey@barnet.gov.uk 020 8359 
7438 

17

AGENDA ITEM 7



2/16 
 

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1 The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) 

(England) Regulations 2020 (hereafter “the Regulations”) introduced a fit and 

proper person test for mobile home site owners or the person appointed to 

manage the site. The purpose of the fit and proper person test is to improve the 

standards of park home site management.  The Regulations do not apply to non-

commercial family owned sites. 

 

1.2 The Regulations were made on 23 September 2020 and allow local authorities to 
prepare to receive applications from site owners by 1 July 2021. From that date 
and by 1 October 2021, all site owners must have submitted an application to be 
assessed as fit and proper persons. 
 

1.3 Local authorities are able to charge two types of fees to cover their costs. 

 
An application fee to cover the cost of assessing applications for site managers 

to be included onto the fit and proper person register. An application must be 

accompanied by the application fee that has been fixed by the local authority for 

that period. If the fee is not included with the application the local authority does 

not have to assess the application and the site owner could be in breach of the 

requirements and prosecuted by the local authority.  

 
An annual fee to cover the cost of monitoring the fit and proper scheme or 

conditions attached to entries. The authority can decide and set the frequency of 

payments to cover their administrative costs.  

 
All fees must be published in the authority’s Fees Policy document and must be 

transparent and reasonable. 

 
2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
2.1 There are two mobile home sites in the borough that will be covered by the 

Regulations. This policy will support the recovery of costs associated with 
performing this new function and ensure that site owners, or their managers, have 
integrity and follow best practice. Additionally, it provides the safeguard that such 
individuals will not pose a risk to the welfare or safety of persons occupying mobile 
homes some of whom are elderly, and some of whom may be from vulnerable 
groups. 

 
2.2 The London Borough of Barnet has a legal obligation to determine fit and proper 

person applications. The fit and proper person test is relevant to a specific 
business sector, rather than to individuals or to non-commercial sites (e.g. family-
only sites). Family-only sites were excluded from the regulations following 
MHCLG consideration.  

  

18



3/16 
 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 There are no alternative options for consideration as the Council has a legal 
obligation to determine fit and proper person applications under the Regulations.  

 
4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 

 
4.1 Application forms will be sent to the two sites within the Borough including details 

of the fee payable.  
 

4.2 If applications are not returned the appropriate enforcement action will be taken 
having regard to the Regulatory Services enforcement policy. 
 

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  
 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 
 

5.1.1 One of the 4 priorities in the Barnet Plan 2021 – 2025 is “Clean, safe and well 
run”, A place where our streets are clean and anti-social behaviour is dealt with 
so residents feel safe. Providing good quality, customer friendly services in all that 
we do. The implementation of this report will ensure that the mobile home sites 
have comprehensive and safe managers and management systems in place and 
as such help to keep two local communities cleaner and address anti-social 
behaviour such as fly-tipping, noise nuisance and parking. 
 

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 
 

5.2.1 No additional resources are required as the additional work will be carried out by 
existing staff and the cost of which is recovered in the fees proposed. 
 

5.2.2 The Regulations permit the local authority to determine the fee for an 
application or registration for someone to be added to the register. The 
application is not complete without the fee, a completed and signed application 
and submission of the requested documents. Failing to include any part of the 
application may mean that the site owner is in breach of the requirements of the 
Regulations. 
 

5.2.3 To arrive at a fixed fee, the London Borough of Barnet has estimated the 
average time to conduct a fit and proper person assessment and checks required 
to be included on the register and has applied hourly DRS rates based on the 
posts that will be involved in conducting these assessments.  
 

5.2.4 Charges are limited to recovering the costs of exercising the fit and proper person 
test function and not recovering other costs that have already been charged for 
by other service areas. 
 

5.2.5 In the event that a prospective applicant contacts the London Borough of 
Barnet before making an application in order to ascertain the likelihood of the 
success of their application, the London Borough of Barnet is expected to 
provide informal advice. 

19



4/16 
 

5.2.6 An annual fee has also been set for maintaining the register and reviewing 
conditions linked to the Fit and Proper determination. This is due annually by 1st 
October. The annual fee is based on the basic cost of monitoring the fit and proper 
function plus any conditions attached to an entry on the register.  

 

5.2.7 These fees will be reviewed annually as part of the Council’s review of all fees 
and charges.  
 

5.2.8 The proposed fee structure is as follows: 
 

Fee type Fee 

Application fee £272 
 

Annual fee to maintain register and 
monitor fit and proper status of site 
managers 
 

£27 

If the London Borough of Barnet 
decides not to approve an 
application 

 

No refund 

In the event that a request is made 
for a withdrawal of a fit and proper 
application within fourteen days of 
submission of that application  

 

 
a refund may be applicable, based on 
the calculations of work already 
undertaken (up to a maximum of 
50% of the application fee). 

New manager 
New application and full fee payable 

 
 
5.3 Legal and Constitutional References 

 
5.3.1 The Regulations require the authority to ensure it is satisfied the occupier of the 

site is a fit and proper person to manage the site or that it is satisfied a person 
appointed by the occupier to manage the site is a fit and proper person to do so, 
or that the authority has, with the occupier’s consent, appointed a person to 
manage the site.  
 
 

5.3.2 The Regulations require the London Borough of Barnet to introduce a fit and 
proper person test for mobile home site owners, or the person appointed to 
manage the site, unless they are eligible for an exemption under the Regulations.   
 

5.3.3 Paragraph 7 of the Regulations state that when making a fit and proper person 
assessment the authority must have regard to matters set out in paragraphs 2-4 
of Schedule 3 to the Regulations.  Paragraph 7 also states that the authority may 
have regard to the conduct of any person associated or formerly associated with 
the relevant person if it appears to the authority that that person’s conduct is 

20



5/16 
 

relevant to the question of whether the relevant person is a fit and proper person 
to manage the site.  The Regulations also allow the authority to have regard to 
any evidence as to any other relevant matter. 
 

5.3.4 The authority is also required  by the Regulations to establish and keep up to date 
a register of person who it is satisfied are fit and proper persons to manage a 
relevant protected site in its area.  Such a register is to open to inspection by the 
public in accordance with the Regulations.  
 

5.3.5 The Regulations state that a registration application must be accompanied by 
such fee as the authority may fix and that the authority may decide the amount 
and frequency of any additional payments by way of an annual fee.   The authority 
may also fix different fees for different cases or description of cases. The authority 
is required to prepare and publish a fees policy and it may revise its fee policy 
and, where it does, it must publish the revised policy. 
 

5.3.6 Where the authority has, with the occupier’s consent, appointed a person to 
manage a site the Regulations allow the authority to recover its reasonable costs 
incurred, or to be in incurred in making the appointment, from the occupier.   

 
 

5.3.7 The Council’s Constitution Article 7 outlines the responsibility of the Housing and 
Growth Committee, which includes housing matters including housing strategy, 
homelessness, social housing and housing grants, commissioning of 
environmental health functions for private sector housing. 
 

5.3.8 The Constitution, Article 17 states changes to fees and charges should be 
included in the budget proposals submitted by theme Committees to the Policy 
and Resources Committee. The budget recommended by Policy and Resources 
Committee to Full Council will incorporate the latest projection of income from 
fees and charges. Full Council will approve all fees and charges as part of the 
budget report. As the fee policy for Caravan Site Licensing is an in-year fee and 
charge, it therefore needs to be considered by Council outside of the budget 
report and will therefore be reported to the October meeting of Council.   
 

5.4 Insight 
 

5.4.1 There are no insight considerations. 
 

5.5 Social Value 
 
5.5.1 Following a review of park homes legislation in 2017 the Government committed 

to introduce the fit and proper person test which was designed to improve the 
management of park homes and other residential mobile home sites, thereby 
protecting the residents who reside there. By introducing an assessment that the 
person responsible for managing the site is suitable to do so and of good 
character, this will help target and remove the worst offenders from the sector. 
Whilst to date Barnet has not had a significant problem with the two sites in the 
borough this test helps protect residents of park homes and other residential 
caravan sites, who are often elderly and vulnerable, from unscrupulous site 
owners. 

21



6/16 
 

 
5.6 Risk Management 

 
5.6.1  There is a reputational risk to the Council if these Regulations are not enforced. 

 
5.7 Equalities and Diversity  

 
5.7.1 The fit and proper person policy relates to the consistent and transparent 

assessment of fit and proper applications.  
 
5.7.2 Determining whether site owners/operators are fit and proper supports all 

residents of mobile home sites ensuring that they feel safer in their homes and 
more confident in the site managers. 

 
5.8 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.8.1  There are no specific implications for corporate parenting.  
 
5.9 Consultation and Engagement 

 
5.9.1 There is no duty to consult in respect to these Regulations. 

 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
6.1 The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) 

(England) Regulations 2020 The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site 
to be Fit and Proper Person) (England) Regulations 2020 (legislation.gov.uk) 
 

6.2 Mobile homes: a guide for local authorities on the fit and proper person test Mobile 
homes: a guide for local authorities on the fit and proper person test - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 
 

6.3 Mobile homes: a guide for local authorities on setting fees for the fit and proper 
person test Mobile homes: a guide for local authorities on setting fees for the fit 
and proper person test - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

 

22

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1034/contents/made
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2020/1034/contents/made
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-homes-fit-and-proper-person-test-guidance-for-local-authorities/mobile-homes-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-the-fit-and-proper-person-test
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-homes-fit-and-proper-person-test-guidance-for-local-authorities/mobile-homes-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-the-fit-and-proper-person-test
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-homes-fit-and-proper-person-test-guidance-for-local-authorities/mobile-homes-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-the-fit-and-proper-person-test
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-homes-fit-and-proper-person-test-guidance-for-local-authorities/mobile-homes-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-setting-fees-for-the-fit-and-proper-person-test
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/mobile-homes-fit-and-proper-person-test-guidance-for-local-authorities/mobile-homes-a-guide-for-local-authorities-on-setting-fees-for-the-fit-and-proper-person-test


7/16 
 

Appendix 1:  
 
Fit and Proper Person Policy: Determination criteria for applications of relevant 
persons to be accepted onto the fit and proper person register in respect of mobile 
home site licensing.  
 

Introduction 

The Mobile Homes (Requirement for Manager of Site to be Fit and Proper Person) 
(England) Regulations 2020, require the manager of a site to be a Fit and Proper 
Person (the Regulations). The London Borough of Barnet is accordingly required to 
introduce a fit and proper person criteria for mobile home site owners, or the person 
appointed to manage the site, unless they are eligible for an exemption under the 
Regulations1. 
 
The Regulations, made on 23 September 2020, allow local authorities to receive 
applications from site owners, or the person appointed to manage the site, from 01 
July 2021 up to and including 30 September 2021. 
 

Under the Regulations the London Borough of Barnet must be satisfied that the site 
owner ‘is a fit and proper person to manage the site’ or, if the owner does not manage 
the site, that ‘a person appointed’ to do so by the site owner ‘is a fit and proper person 
to do so’ or has, with the site owner’s consent, ‘appointed a person to manage the site’. 
 

Where a site owner or their manager fails the fit and proper person assessment and 
they are unable to identify and appoint a suitable alternative manager (who must pass 
the fit and proper person assessment), the London Borough of Barnet can appoint 
a person to manage the site but only with the consent of the site owner. 
 
The fit and proper person assessment will ensure that site owners, or their managers, 
have integrity and follow best practice. Additionally, it provides the safeguard that such 
individuals will not pose a risk to the welfare or safety of persons occupying mobile 
homes on the site. 

The Evidence 

When conducting the fit and proper person assessment, the London Borough of 
Barnet must consider the following points relevant to the application: 

 
1. Is the individual able to conduct effective management of the site?  

This includes, but is not limited to, securing compliance with the site licence and 
the long-term maintenance of the site. The local authority must (among other 
things) have regard to: 
 
(i)  whether the person has a sufficient level of competence to manage the site; 
(ii)  the management structure and funding arrangements for the site or proposed   
management structure and funding arrangements. 

 

 

1 i.e. it is a non-commercial family-occupied site under Regulation 3 

23



8/16 
 

 
i. Competence to manage the site 
 

This includes reviewing the competency of the appointed individual. The 
individual must have sufficient experience or have received sufficient training 
in site management and be fully aware of the relevant law as well as health 
and safety requirements. 

 

ii. The management structure and funding arrangements for the site 
 

The London Borough of Barnet must consider whether relevant 
management structures are in place and whether they are adequate to ensure 
effective management of the site. The applicant is expected to have a robust 
management plan which should address the following points: 

 

 the pitch fee payment; 

 proximity of the manager to the site; 

 manager’s contact details for residents (including out of office and     
      emergency contact details); 

 the complaints procedure; 

 maintenance; 

 staffing; 

 refuse/recycling removal. 

 
It is advisable that the site is managed by an applicant based in the United 
Kingdom and that a management structure would be unlikely to be considered 
suitable if the applicant is an individual, or a company (including its directors), 
which does not reside or have a permanent UK address. This is to ensure any 
issues with compliance with the Regulations can be easily managed and, if 
required, enforcement action taken in order to ensure the proper management 
of a site. The applicant’s interest in the land will also have an important 
impact, as would their financial standing, management structures and 
competence, all of which could contribute to the overall assessment of their 
suitability to effectively manage the site. 

 

iii.  The proposed management structure and funding arrangements in place for   
    the site 
 

The London Borough of Barnet must consider whether the applicant has 
sufficient funds (or has access to sufficient funds) to manage the site and 
comply with licence obligations. Evidence of these funds should be readily 
available and site owners should be able to explain how their funding 
arrangements are sufficient to ensure that the relevant person is able to secure 
the proper management of the site. 
 

 
2. Personal information relating to the applicant concerned. This includes 

provision in the application of a Basic Criminal Record Certificate issued under 
section 113A (1) of the Police Act 1997 and will be required and should 

24



9/16 
 

demonstrate that the applicant: 
 

 has not committed any offence involving fraud or other dishonesty, violence, 
firearms or drugs or any offence listed in Schedule 3 to the Sexual Offences 
Act 2003 (offences attracting notification requirements); 

 has not contravened any provision of the law relating to housing, caravan sites, 
mobile homes, public health, planning or environmental health or of landlord and 
tenant law; 

 has not contravened any provision of the Equality Act 2010 in, or in connection 
with, the carrying on of any business; 

 has not harassed any person in, or in connection with, the carrying on of 
any business; 

 is not or has not been within the past 10 years, personally insolvent; 

 is not or has not been within the past 10 years, disqualified from acting as 
a company director; 

 has the right to work in the United Kingdom; 

 is a member of any redress scheme enabling complaints to be dealt with 
in connection with the management of the site (when this is in place). 

 

The London Borough of Barnet has a duty to investigate any conduct which 
could amount to harassment and any evidence obtained should be reviewed to 
determine whether it is sufficient to be used to prosecute a site owner. The 
London Borough of Barnet may also rely on convictions by the courts as 
evidence of harassing behaviour which would reduce the risk of the local authority 
being successfully challenged on any refusal to approve an applicant on this 
basis. 
 

The London Borough of Barnet may have records of previous harassment 
complaints made against a site owner or their manager. Even if no action was 
taken on these complaints, these will be taken into consideration in the fit and 
proper person determination. These complaints may identify further potential risks 
and can provide an indication of potential underlying problems with the 
management of the site or the site owner’s lack of experience/skills in dealing 
with customers. The London Borough of Barnet may address any underlying 
issues by attaching conditions to the individual’s entry on the register. 

 

3. Rejection of an application by other local authorities. The applicant must 
specify in their application to London Borough of Barnet if they had an application 
rejected by another Authority. The Council will make an enquiry with these local 
Authorities to determine the details and see if there is any relevance to the 
application submitted to the London Borough of Barnet.  

 
Upon rejection of a person’s application by any other local authority, this should 
be centrally recorded and include the details of the person involved and the 
reason(s) for the rejection. 

 
 

25



10/16 
 

Other items to take into consideration 

 

1. ‘The applicant’ is defined at paragraph 2 of the Regulations as ‘the person who 
makes an application under regulation 6’. 
 

2. The ‘relevant person’ is defined at paragraph 2 of the Regulations to mean ‘the 
subject of the fit and proper person assessment under Regulation 7’. 

 

3. The conduct of any person associated or formerly associated with the relevant 
person (whether on a personal, work or other basis) is an important factor to be 
considered in the fit and proper person assessment. 

 

4. Site owners may be required to provide details of any current or former 
associates of the relevant person in the application form. Those associates will 
not include other current joint owners as that information would already have 
been provided in their own application forms. 
 

5. It is not routinely required to provide information of all current or past associates 
of the site owner. It is advisable, however, that prior to making any final decisions, 
The London Borough of Barnet considers the conduct of past and current 
associates relevant to that individual’s application. The site owner can be asked 
to provide additional information during the application process. 

 
6. The London Borough of Barnet will be required to establish whether an 

individual is considered to be an associate of the relevant person and whether 
their conduct is relevant to the application. A relevant associate could be 
defined as any individual who may have played a part, directly or indirectly, in a 
decision or action which has had an impact on residents’ rights or on the quiet 
enjoyment of their home. 

 
7. The Regulations are drafted widely to allow opportunity for local authorities to 

take into consideration other relevant matters. The London Borough of 
Barnet is mindful that poor management practices do not necessarily affect a 
person’s conduct, unless they are also a breach of the criminal or civil law. A 
person cannot be deemed unfit due to conduct simply because of poor 
management, although this is highly relevant to determining any question of 
suitability or competence. All conduct is relevant in relation to the person’s fitness 
to hold a licence and/or manage the mobile home site. 

 
8. The London Borough of Barnet can decide the specific matters deemed 

relevant to the fit and proper person application. These matters could be in 
relation to current or previous issues or events that have occurred in relation to 
the park site or any other park site owned or managed by the site owner or site 
manager in another local authority area. Additionally, the site owner’s conduct 
regarding other business (outside of the park homes sector) can also have 
implications on the financial and management arrangements of the site in 
question. Any matters which The London Borough of Barnet believes to be 
of relevance to the application should primarily focus on the relevant person’s 
conduct, competence and their suitability to manage the site. 

26



11/16 
 

 
9. The London Borough of Barnet aims to obtain evidence to support any 

additional matters that they require to be considered for each application. This is 
to mitigate any risks should the Council’s final decision be challenged at a tribunal. 
The evidence could include previous tribunal and court decisions, documents or 
records from Companies House or other public bodies or financial institutions. It 
is not anticipated that allegations which have not been investigated or 
documented will be used as evidence to support an authority’s decision. 

Decisions, notification and rights of appeal 

The London Borough of Barnet must decide on the application in a timely and 
practicable manner and either: 

 Where the decision is to grant the application unconditionally and include the 
relevant person on the register for five years, The London Borough of 
Barnet will serve a final decision notice on the applicant.  

 Where this is not the case, The London Borough of Barnet will serve a 
preliminary decision notice on the applicant. 

 

On receipt of an application the local authority may: 

 grant the application unconditionally; 

 grant the application subject to conditions; 

 reject the application. 

Granting the application unconditionally 

Where the London Borough of Barnet is satisfied that the applicant meets the fit 
and proper person test unconditionally, the applicant must be included on the register 
for such  per iod  as  the  au tho r i t y  may dec ide  up  to  a maximum pe r iod  o f  
five years. The London Borough of Barnet will issue a final decision notice to the 
applicant to inform them of its decision. 
 
The final decision notice must state: 
 

 the date the final decision notice is served; 

 the final decision; 

 the reason(s) for the decision; 

 when the decision is to take effect; 

 information about the right of appeal to the First Tier Tribunal and the 
period within which an appeal may be made. 

 
To include the applicant on the register subject to certain condition(s) or refusal 
of the application 
 

In some circumstances, the London Borough of Barnet can specify that the 
individual for the fit and proper person test will only be successful if certain condition(s) 
are met. If these condition(s) are satisfied, the local authority can grant an 
application subject to those condition(s). The local authority can also grant an 
application for less than five years. 

27



12/16 
 

 
Conditions will need to be clearly stated for the applicant’s understanding and this 
will allow the London Borough of Barnet to ensure that the condition(s) are 
enforceable. 
 
In other cases, the London Borough of Barnet may determine the applicant does not 
meet the requirements and is unable to grant the application (with or without conditions) 
and so must refuse the application. 
 
In this situation, a preliminary decision notice is to be served on the applicant that must 
set out: 
 

 the date the preliminary decision notice is served; 

 the preliminary decision; 

 the reason(s) for the decision; 

 the date it is proposed the final decision notice will have effect; 

 information about the right to make written representations to the authority 
under paragraph 4(1) of Schedule 4 of the Regulations (currently a period of 28 
days beginning with the day after the day on which the notice was served);  

 where the preliminary decision is to refuse the application, the consequences of 
causing or permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in 
contravention of the Regulations; 

 where the preliminary decision is to grant the application subject to conditions, 
the consequences of failing to comply with any condition. 

 
The authority must consider and take any representations in to account before making 
a final decision notice or, where the applicant is already on the authority’s register, 
taking any action to remove the applicant from the register or impose, vary or remove 
any condition in relation to their entry in the register. 
 
As soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the period of representation, the 
London Borough of Barnet must make a final decision and serve the decision notice 
on the applicant. 
 
The final decision notice must set out: 
 

 the date the final decision notice is served; 

 the final decision; 

 the reason(s) for the decision; 

 when the decision is to take effect; 

 information about the right of appeal to the First Tier Tribunal and the 
period within which an appeal may be made. 

 where the decision is to refuse the application, the consequences of causing or 
permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in contravention of the 
Regulations; 

 where the decision is to grant the application subject to conditions, the 
consequences of failing to comply with any condition. 

 

28



13/16 
 

Removal from the register or addition/ variation of a condition in the register 

If, after a person is included in the register, new evidence relevant to the person’s 
inclusion becomes available, the London Borough of Barnet may decide to: 

 remove the person from the register; 

 impose a condition on the inclusion of the person in the register (regardless 

of whether there are conditions already imposed); 

 vary a condition; 

 remove a condition. 

 

The London Borough of Barnet must use its judgement when determining 
whether to review an entry and consider any subsequent actions are required. Any 
such decision should be related to the person being a fit and proper person rather 
than to site licensing issues which are governed separately. If the London 
Borough of Barnet decides to take any of the actions listed in paragraph above, 
a notice of any proposed action will be served on the occupier. The notice of 
proposed action must clearly state: 
 

 the date the notice of proposed action is served; 

 the action the London Borough of Barnet proposes to take; 

 the reason(s) for the action; 

 the date it is proposed that the London Borough of Barnet will take the action; 

 unless the notice of proposed action is in respect of the removal of a condition, 

information about the right to make written representations; 

 where the proposed action is the removal of a person from the register, the 
consequences of causing or permitting the land to be used as a relevant 
protected site in contravention of the Regulations; 

 where the proposed action is to impose a condition(s) on the inclusion of 
a person on the register or to vary a condition(s), the consequences of failing 
to comply with said condition(s). 

 
A notice of proposed action is not required if the London Borough of Barnet 
decides to remove a condition attached to an entry. A removal of a condition is 
viewed widely as being a positive step which is unlikely to be opposed, therefore 
a notice of proposed action is not required. The London Borough of Barnet will 
endeavour as good practice to make the site owner or their manager aware of the 
decision in writing and ensure the register is updated. 
 
 

As soon as reasonably practicable after the end of the period of representation, the 
London Borough of Barnet must decide whether to take the action proposed and serve 
a notice of action where it decides to remove a person from the register or impose a 
condition or vary or remove a condition. 
 
The notice of action must set out: 
 

 the date the notice of action is served; 

 the fact that the London Borough of Barnet have taken the action; 

 the reason(s) for the action; 

 the date on which the action was taken; 

29



14/16 
 

 unless the notice of proposed action is in respect of the removal of a condition, 

information about the right to make written representations and the time period for 

doing so; 

 where the action is to remove a person from the register, the consequences of 
causing or permitting the land to be used as a relevant protected site in 
contravention of the Regulations; 

 where the action is to impose a condition(s) on the inclusion of a person 
on the register or to vary a condition(s), the consequences of failing to comply 
with said condition(s). 

 
 
Data Sharing 
Information obtained and used for the purpose of determining whether a site owner 
or manager is a fit and proper person may be shared with other councils,  
council departments or statutory bodies. Licence applicants agree to this when they  
sign the application for.

30



 

 

31



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Summary 

 
Housing and Growth Committee is the lead committee for the Thriving theme of the Barnet 
Plan, approved by Policy and Resources Committee in February 2021, and the council’s 
COVID-19 Recovery Plan.  
 
This report provides an update to Committee on progress across a number of Recovery 
workstreams including housing supply, skills and employment, business support, town 
centres, digital access and homelessness.  
 

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. That the Committee notes the report. 

 

Housing & Growth Committee 

13 September 2021 

Title  COVID-19: Recovery Plan – Thriving 

Report of Chairman of Housing and Growth Committee 

Wards All 

Status Public 

Urgent Yes 

Key Yes 

Enclosures                          None 

Officer Contact Details  

Luke Ward, Assistant Director Development and Economy, 
Luke.ward@barnet.gov.uk   

Susan Curran, Head of Housing and Regeneration, 
susan.curran@barnet.gov.uk   

Jamie Robinson, Head of Economic Development, 
Jamie.robinson@barnet.gov.uk  

Elliot Sweetman, Group Director, Operations & Property, The 
Barnet Group, Elliott.sweetman@barnethomes.org  

33

AGENDA ITEM 8

mailto:Luke.ward@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:susan.curran@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Jamie.robinson@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Elliott.sweetman@barnethomes.org


 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 

Background Context 
 

1.1 The Barnet Plan was approved by Policy and Resources Committee on 8 February 2021 
and sets out the council’s vision and strategy for the next four years, including the delivery 
of the Growth Strategy that was agreed by Housing & Growth Committee in January 2020. 
The council and its partners will focus on four priorities to realise the vision:  
 

 Clean, safe and well run: a place where our streets are clean and antisocial behaviour 
is dealt with so residents feel safe. Providing good quality, customer friendly services 
in all that we do; 

 Family Friendly: creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for our 
children and young people to achieve their best; 

 Healthy: a place with fantastic facilities for all ages, enabling people to live happy and 
healthy lives; 

 Thriving: a place fit for the future, where all residents, businesses and visitors benefit 
from improved sustainable infrastructure & opportunity. 

 
1.2 The approach set out in this report recognises the fact that the COVID-19 pandemic has 

created unprecedented economic challenges for residents, businesses and town centres 
in Barnet. 
 

1.3 The council’s recovery programme is split into five workstreams, based on the cross-cutting 
themes of the Barnet Plan. This report provides an update to Housing and Growth 
Committee on the Thriving workstream, which focuses on: 
 

 Supporting residents to improve their skills and get good jobs in the post-COVID 
economy; 

 Enabling town centres and our regeneration areas to thrive, and create an environment 
in which businesses can succeed, by implementing our growth strategy;  

 Accelerating the borough-wide roll out of high-quality digital connectivity; 

 Supporting homelessness reduction. 
 

1.4 The report also provides an update on homelessness reduction, a commitment to which is 
a core part of both the Healthy and Thriving workstreams of the Barnet Plan, and is an 
important part of the council’s overall response to the impacts of the pandemic. 
 
Barnet’s Housing Market 
 

1.5 The housing market continues to perform strongly at a national level, with particularly high 
growth in North West England and Wales. In London prices continue to show resilience 
across a number of indicators. 
 

1.6 Between June and July, house prices grew by 0.4%, reversing a small decline between 
May and June to give broadly flat growth over the last quarter. The annual rate of growth 
nationally in July was 7.6% according to the Halifax House Price Index, representing a 
slight slowdown since the last report to the committee. In London the rate was lower at 
5.2%, with outer London boroughs seeing slightly higher growth. In Barnet the market has 
also remained resilient, with the majority of homes achieving asking price. 

34



 
1.7 The winding up of the Stamp Duty break has not translated into an immediate fall in prices, 

with emerging analysis suggesting that low interest rates, higher savings rates and 
changing housing preferences have been a more significant determinant of house price 
changes than the Stamp Duty holiday.  
 

1.8 In terms of Barnet’s planning system, this picture of market resilience is reinforced by figure 
1 below, which shows the volume of applications received by the council up to June 2021, 
which is higher than the equivalent month in the year before the pandemic. 
 

Figure 1. 
 

 
 
Skills and Jobs 
 

1.9 The pandemic has had far reaching impacts on Barnet’s residents and employers, and as 
the country emerges from government restrictions, the council’s Economic Development 
team is taking action to promote economic recovery and limit the long-term impacts of the 
pandemic.  
 

1.10 As of July 2021, there were 16,220 Barnet residents (6.3% of the working age population) 
claiming Job Seekers’ Allowance, down from a peak of 19,030 in February 2021, or 7.4% 
of the working age population. While this shows that unemployment is reducing, the 
numbers are still far greater than those seen prior to the pandemic (e.g. there were 6,455 
claimants in February 2020, 2.5% of the working population).  
 

1.11 Furthermore, there were 17,900 ‘furloughed employments’ as of July 2021 compared to 
61,000 up to July 2020. As the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) ends this 
month, the council is keen to ensure that Barnet residents are supported to minimise the 
risk of long-term unemployment.  
 

1.12 The council recognises the importance of seizing opportunities in growth sectors as part of 
economic recovery, a point emphasised in both the Growth Strategy 2020-30 and Work, 
Skills and Productivity Action Plan. Nationally and locally there has been a fall in 
unemployment and an increase in job vacancies, and there are many opportunities in 
growing sectors such as health, social care, construction, creative sectors and the “green” 

35



economy. Working with our partners to maximise these opportunities in a joined-up way 
will ensure we get the best outcomes for Barnet residents.  
 

1.13 Between April and July 2021, council-funded employment programmes successfully 
supported 272 residents into work. This includes the BOOST Project, Barnet Education 
and Learning Service (BELS) projects (Care Leavers, Routes into Construction, Supported 
Internships and Risk of NEET (Not in Employment, Education or Training)) and SHAW 
Trust’s delivery of the Work and Health Programme, but does not include other 
programmes such as those delivered by the DWP. This activity delivers directly on the 
council’s commitment to support young people and those furthest from the labour market.  
 

1.14 The council has been successful in securing £255,000 worth of funding from the Ministry 
for Housing, Communities and Local Government for provision of English for Speakers of 
Other Languages (ESOL) training. Officers are working with Barnet and Southgate College 
to deliver a programme that will benefit Barnet residents and businesses.  
 

1.15 The council is committed to delivering the Department for Work and Pensions’ Kickstart 
programme locally to help young people who are claiming universal credit gain valuable 
work experience. So far, 94 roles have been approved with a target of 200 placements for 
the council.  
 

1.16 An estate-based hub offering a range of support services to enhance employability and 
provide access to jobs has been launched in Grahame Park. Hubs in Dollis Valley and 
West Hendon are due to open in September.  
 

1.17 With the end of the CJRS imminent, as well as a reduction in government business support 
programmes, employment and skills priorities going into the Autumn include: 
 

 Reviewing and refreshing the Local Plan Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) 
'Delivering Skills, Employment and Training Through S106' to ensure that it maximises 
the resources to deliver employment and skills programmes.  

 Scoping and reviewing opportunities for securing new sources of external funding, 
including the Mayor’s Academy Hubs.  

 Working with partners to develop new approaches for high-growth sectors focusing on 
health and social care, green skills, construction trades and creative industries. 

 Expanding existing employment programmes to increase the scale and pace of support 
for Barnet residents.  

 Maximising training and employment outcomes on development sites, particularly but 
not only, at Brent Cross Town. 
 

1.18 The Work, Skills and Productivity Action Plan that was approved by Committee at its 
meeting on 14 June 2021 contains a detailed delivery programme, and is due to report 
back on progress twice per year. The first such report will return to the Committee meeting 
scheduled for 16 November 2021. 
 
Business Support 
 

1.19 The council has paid out over £78M across 13 grant schemes since the start of the COVID-
19 outbreak1. Officers continue to work with business support organisations, through 

                                            
1 Up to June 2021. 

36



networks and directly with Barnet companies to promote grant opportunities and ensure 
that as many businesses as possible benefit from the assistance. 
 

1.20 In partnership with the Federation of Small Businesses (FSB) and others, officers delivered 
a series of webinars to enable businesses to access professional and technical support as 
they start to recover from the pandemic. The first of these was focused on the Retail, 
Hospitality and Leisure Sector and the second on financial planning for SMEs. 
 

1.21 Officers have also initiated an engagement project focused on Barnet’s large employers 
(250+ employees) to better understand their needs and to promote employment initiatives. 
This will be formally launched in the Autumn. 
 

1.22 The council continues to explore opportunities to deliver flexible workspace across the 
borough through its relationships with operators and developers/landlords. Potential sites 
have been identified in Cricklewood, Brent Cross Town and Chipping Barnet. Officers are 
also developing a broader approach to inward investment that will help businesses – 
particularly those in growing sectors – to access space across the commercial property 
market and in town centres. 
 

1.23 Finally, the council continues to promote advice and guidance for businesses through the 
monthly Barnet Business Buzz bulletin and other channels, as well as through on-going 
partnerships with organisations such as the FSB, North London Chamber of Commerce 
and Enterprise, Barnet and Southgate College and Middlesex University. 
 

Town Centres 
 

1.24 Officers have been assessing the health of Barnet’s high streets as they start to emerge 
from the pandemic through analysis of commercial vacancy rates (as recorded on the 
Business Rates register). The data suggests that while there are clear differences between 
the borough’s seven main town centres, for the time being, Barnet’s high streets are 
holding out against further decline. In some cases, they are actually fairing better than 
before the pandemic – as measured by vacancy rates alone. 
 

1.25 Over the two years to August 2021, the total number of commercial properties in Barnet 
reduced by 411 units from 8,956 to 8,545. Across the same period, the number of vacant 
commercial properties went from 1,203 to 734. The borough-wide vacancy rate therefore 
went from 13% in August 2019, to 12% in February 2020 (immediately prior to the first 
national lockdown), to 9% in August 2021. So vacancy rates have in fact improved over 
the period. By comparison, Greater London recorded an 11% vacancy rate in the second 
quarter of 2021 (according to a report of the British Retail Consortium and Local Data 
Company). 
 

1.26 As noted, there is variation in commercial vacancy rates across town centres although 
Golders Green is the only main town centre in which the rate has increased over the two-
year period.  
 

1.27 While the overall picture is perhaps more encouraging than anticipated, it is reflective of 
Barnet’s strong culture of business start-ups. It should also be noted, however, that as 
government assistance, such as Business Rates relief and the ban on commercial 
evictions, come to an end, many businesses will likely face additional financial pressures. 
Vacancy rates are also a point-in-time measurement and do not reflect the length of time 

37



that properties have been vacant nor the turnover of tenants. They also do not speak to 
the diversity or quality of the offer in Barnet’s town centres. Officers are undertaking further 
analysis and will report on these issues in future. 
 

1.28 In terms of activities to support town centres, the Economic Development team is working 
closely with colleagues across a range of services to progress town centre recovery plans, 
as well as engaging directly with businesses, Town Teams and other stakeholders. Key 
recovery updates in Barnet’s main town centres and West Hendon Broadway include: 
 

1.29 Burnt Oak: Activities underway in this town centre are covered in more detail in agenda 
item 9 [Town Centres Capital Programme Update]. 
 

1.30 Chipping Barnet: Following adoption of the Chipping Barnet Community Plan at June 2021 
Housing and Growth Committee, officers have been progressing feasibility studies for the 
five priority projects identified. Business cases will be brought back to Committee as 
required in due course. Council officers have also been supporting the Chipping Barnet 
Town Team with project development following a successful bid to the GLA High Streets 
Challenge Fund. 
 

1.31 Cricklewood: Discussions are on-going with Network Rail regarding the former Railway 
House site at Cricklewood Station and its potential use as a community/workspace. 
Officers are planning for the ground floor activation of the site at 164-168 Cricklewood 
Broadway, which is being re-developed as a result of Brent Cross Town highways works. 
Unfortunately, the Discover Barnet Presents event planned for Cricklewood Broadway 
could not go ahead due to highways works in the town centre. Officers are working with 
the local Business Association to plan an alternative celebration event at a later date. 
 

1.32 Edgware: Planning is on-going with the new Edgware Partnership Board, established with 
Ballymore, Transport for London and local business stakeholders to drive town centre 
revitalisation in advance of the Ballymore/TfL development. The programme includes new 
branding and identity development, a town centre website including a local business 
directory, a cultural masterplan and a public realm design study. The Partnership Board 
has engaged with local ward members, the Edgware Town Team and other local 
businesses to ensure that they are involved in the emerging plans. A Community Carnival 
was held in late August in partnership with Ballymore. This was well received by high street 
businesses and saw over 5,000 people in attendance. 
 

1.33 Finchley Central: Activities underway in this town centre are covered in more detail in 
agenda item 9 [Town Centres Capital Programme Update]. 
 

1.34 Golders Green: Activities underway in this town centre are covered in more detail in 
agenda item 9 [Town Centres Capital Programme Update]. 
 

1.35 North Finchley: Activities underway in this town centre are covered in more detail in agenda 
item 10 [North Finchley Site Assembly Agreement and Land Agreement]. 
 

1.36 West Hendon Broadway: Planning is underway to deliver improvements to local shopfronts 
and areas of the public realm, including new planters and seating. A wider package of 
Business Support is also being commissioned. Officers are working with colleagues at 
Barratt London to ensure that the Highways investment being planned as part of the West 
Hendon Estate renewal also maximises the benefits to the town centre public realm. For 

38



example, an early opportunity has been identified to improve tree planting on the 
Broadway. Planning Permission was granted to erect a new mural on a derelict building on 
the Broadway to reduce blight although the property owner subsequently commenced 
activity to improve the unit. As part of the Discover Barnet Presents programme, a summer 
event was delivered with local partners to support the re-opening of the high street.  
 

1.37 In addition to the above activities focused on Barnet’s seven main town centres and West 
Hendon Broadway, officers have been leading other interventions across town centres in 
support of COVID-19 economic recovery. 
 

1.38 Temporary Steetspace Fund: In line with government guidance, over the past year a cross-
departmental team of council officers has supported businesses to trade from the public 
realm through a combination of extended pavement licencing and on-street parklets to 
enable outdoor eating and drinking in town centres. These activities have enabled the 
hospitality and leisure sector to continue to trade while managing social distancing.  
 

1.39 The Temporary Steetspace Fund resulted in a total of 20 parklet installations across town 
centres (following relocation and removal where they were not appropriate or being fully 
utilised). As part of the programme, officers are now conducting an evaluation of the Fund 
and have been surveying businesses and collecting data on parklet use. The full evaluation 
findings will be made available to ward members upon completion but key headlines are: 
 

 Almost all businesses surveyed agreed that the Temporary Steetspace Fund has been 
beneficial to their business 

 All of those surveyed wanted to continue to use the parklets to support their business 
in future and most would be prepared to pay to do so 

 Benefits to businesses include increased capacity for attracting and serving customers, 
providing a place for people who are ‘COVID conscious’ and do not want to go inside 
the premises and promoting new types of alfresco dining 

 Benefits to the wider high street include adding more character, giving the impression 
of fresher air due to the planting and providing extra cycle parking 

 
1.40 Crucially, feedback suggests that the parklets have had no perceptible impact on the 

overall usage of parking spaces in town centres. This assessment is supported by analysis 
of parking data and feedback from relevant officers.  
 

1.41 The Government has now extended the temporary trading measures to the end of 
September 2022 to facilitate ongoing economic recovery. As such, council officers are 
developing plans to extend the Temporary Steetspace Fund and will present these to the 
relevant Committees in due course, as required. Any proposals will build on findings from 
the evaluation as well as feedback from officers and ward members. We will also ensure 
that officers continue to monitor impacts on the wider town centre. Where any Temporary 
Steetspace Fund parklets are shown to be under-utilised or causing harm to the wider town 
centre, action will be taken. 
 

1.42 Town Centre Shop Windows Competition: To celebrate the re-opening of Barnet’s high 
streets, the council launched a Shop Window Competition as part of the Discover Barnet 
campaign. This was intended to encourage independent businesses across town centres 
to refresh their window displays and provided them with an opportunity to access funding 
to make further improvements. The competition closed in mid-August and officers are 

39



currently assessing entries before making recommendations to the borough’s Small 
Business Champion. 
 

1.43 Town Centre Heroes Exhibition: In July, the council launched a Town Centre Heroes 
Exhibition in the borough’s seven main town centres. This initiative aims to celebrate 
people who have dedicated themselves to making a difference to their community over the 
past year. We received over 60 nominations and are now undertaking interviews, 
producing exhibition materials and securing prominent locations in town centres to host 
the exhibition. This will be promoted through social media, local community networks and 
other channels. The exhibition will also available online to ensure that those who are less 
able to visit in person can access the content. 
 
Digital access and inclusion 
 

1.44 Work with gigabit broadband operators has continued, and in June the wayleave 
framework unlocked a new partnership with Hyperoptic Limited, with other operators due 
to sign up to the framework in September. Surveying of council housing stock for 
installation continues. The timing of proposed investments to install fibre networks is from 
2022 onwards, and details of the respective programmes will be published when this is 
agreed later in the Autumn. 
 

1.45 The three-year rollout programme with Community Fibre to deliver fibre broadband to 
almost 14,000 council properties (subject to technical surveys) has proceeded at pace, 
with over 1,500 properties connected to gigabit speed broadband services since February, 
and a further 300 properties seeing installation commence over the Summer. We expect 
to reach over 2,000 homes by October. In addition, a new Single Dwelling Unit (SDU) 
investment programme to install fibre to non-Barnet Homes residential streets has begun 
in Burnt Oak and Hale Wards, which will see up to 10,500 homes connected to gigabit 
speed broadband by the end of 2021/22. 
 

1.46 Work continues with further interested network operators to ensure that their plans will 
bring forward investment in fibre broadband services across the borough in a timely 
manner. Officers will ensure that these remain in line with the principles for investment 
agreed by elected members in September 2020. All the relevant operators have ‘code 
rights’ that give them permission to install new ducting in the public highway. As far as 
possible, the council will seek to shape their activities to minimise disturbance from any 
such works. 
 

1.47 Since April 2021 the council has been working with partners in the West London Alliance 
to map the potential for council-owned assets to align with the demands of industry for 
small cells investment. In parallel, work has begun on a collective legal framework and 
valuation process to minimise the barriers for industry to invest in 5G network development. 
 
Supporting Homeless Reduction 
 

1.48 Rough Sleepers: Barnet Homes has successfully moved 94 single homeless people into 
the private rented sector since the government’s “Everyone In” directive began last March. 
Homeless Action in Barnet will be supporting a new 43-unit block in the borough opening 
at the end of August, which will be used to accommodate many of the 86 rough sleepers 
still currently residing in temporary accommodation. 
 

40



1.49 While the easing of lockdown measures continues, the pandemic is still considered to be 
ongoing and the council will continue to provide temporary accommodation to vulnerable 
rough sleepers who do not have recourse to public funds via the COVID-19 support grant 
received from government. Barnet Homes staff are working closely with Public Health 
colleagues to ensure that the approach to rough sleepers in the borough is appropriate 
and fully aligned with the public health situation as it transpires over the coming year. 
Phase 3 planning is now starting to look at booster vaccinations for vulnerable rough 
sleepers across the region. 
 

1.50 Historically, Together in Barnet would provide accommodation for rough sleepers without 
recourse to public funds, however they are currently unable to provide night shelters due 
to the restrictions on shared sleeping arrangements. They have, however, submitted 
another bid to the government’s Winter Transformation Fund to pay for 16 hotel rooms to 
be available from October this year.     
 

1.51 Tenants in the Private Rented Accommodation: At this point it is very difficult to gauge the 
extent to which tenants in the private rented sector in Barnet have accrued rent arrears 
over the course of the pandemic. Data on court possession claims issued by private sector 
landlords in Barnet2 show that 97 claims were issued in Quarter 1 2020 compared to 44 in 
Quarter 1 2021 and so far in Quarter 2, 28 claims have been issued. Barnet Homes is 
closely monitoring demand and currently, while applications are relatively high, most 
admissions into temporary accommodation are single-person households.  
 

1.52 Barnet Homes has developed contingency plans to increase homelessness prevention 
activities as and when required and a contingency budget is being held by the council for 
this purpose. The additional resources will support staff to manage the homeless 
application process focusing on prevention and relief duties and personalised housing 
plans. The budget will also provide for an increased homeless prevention fund to help 
resolve arrears and help families remain in their tenancies or support them into new 
accommodation that avoids temporary accommodation placements.  
 

1.53 To reduce the numbers of people becoming homeless Barnet Homes provides a tenancy 
sustainment service and the BOOST project delivers employment and benefit support 
services to households facing difficulties. Barnet Homes has specialist advisers who work 
with private rented tenants and landlords and will be promoting the government’s new 
mediation service 3  to try and prevent cases progressing to court hearings. BOOST 
provides free and accessible support for any Barnet resident across three key themes – 
Employment, Financials and Wellbeing. The team comprises staff from Barnet Homes, 
Barnet Council BELs, Discretionary Housing Payments and Future Path and, historically, 
has operated from outreach venues in the heart of communities – Burnt Oak, Cricklewood, 
Friern Barnet as well as job clubs at Probation and sessions with Care Leavers. To ensure 
that services have been accessible during lockdown, BOOST created a website, set up a 
dedicated call centre, started a webinar and online training programme and expanded their 
social media presence. 
 

1.54 Barnet Households in Temporary Accommodation: Households in temporary 
accommodation (TA) are reducing as more rough sleepers are settled into the private 

                                            
2 Mortgage and Landlord Possession Statistics: data visualisation tool (mojanalytics.xyz) 
 
3 Rental Mediation Service - GOV.UK (www.gov.uk) 

41

https://mlp-app.apps.alpha.mojanalytics.xyz/
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/rental-mediation-service


rented sector and households are moved into new-build social housing units. At the end of 
July there were 2,285 households in TA compared to 2,654 at the end of June 2020 when 
“Everyone in” meant large increases in admissions. There are 189 households in TA whose 
housing cases have been formally cancelled. These are cases where a negative decision 
has been issued or those that have refused offers of suitable accommodation. Barnet 
Homes staff are reviewing each case, ensuring that offers of accommodation have been 
made and any risks are assessed to ensure that any complex issues or vulnerabilities are 
carefully considered. Barnet Homes and the council do not want to see vulnerable people 
at risk of being street homeless and therefore the approach to issuing notices on any 
households will be agreed in consultation with the council and Public Health.  
 

1.55 Barnet Homes/Council Tenants: No council tenants have been evicted since the beginning 
of the pandemic and Barnet Homes always seeks to engage as early as possible with 
tenants experiencing financial hardship to ensure that they are properly supported to 
address any arrears which may be accruing. There are a variety of support arrangements 
in place aimed at benefit maximisation, agreeing sustainable payment plans, employment, 
training and education options, as well as referrals to other agencies for appropriate 
support.  
 

1.56 Even prior to the pandemic, Barnet Homes only evicted a very small number of tenants 
each year for non-payment of rent and exhaustive action is always taken to engage with 
and support residents to sustain their tenancies wherever possible. 

 
2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
2.1 As noted, the council is taking a comprehensive, cross-service approach to COVID-19 

recovery, aligned to the Barnet Plan. All measures and interventions set out above directly 
support the borough’s Recovery Plan, as approved by Policy and Resources Committee 
on 17 June 2020. 
 

2.2 Additionally, all measures outlined in this report align with council strategy and priorities, 
for example, as set out in the Corporate Plan, Growth Strategy 2020-30, the Long-Term 
Transport Strategy, the Housing Strategy 2019-24 and the Homelessness and Rough 
Sleeping Strategy 2019-24. 
 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 The council could opt not to support economic recovery throughout the COVID-19 
emergency. This would, however, see the failure of many more Barnet companies, leading 
to deeper and longer-lasting social and economic impacts within the borough than would 
otherwise be the case. It would also likely have a negative impact on council revenue 
streams through Business Rates. 
 

3.2 The council could opt not to support those facing or experiencing unemployment or 
homelessness. However, as noted, this would lead to long-term consequences and 
impacts on households, mental health and demand for public services. 
 

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

4.1 Following Committee, officers will continue to support economic recovery as part of the 
council-wide Recovery Framework. Any individual decisions and actions will be taken by 

42



Housing and Growth Committee, the Chairman and Senior Officer in line with the relevant 
scheme of delegation. 
 

4.2 Officers will assess the impact of projects throughout project delivery.  
 

4.3 Following Committee, officers will continue to maintain regular communication with 
relevant stakeholder groups – notably businesses, Members and residents – in accordance 
with the various programmes of work. 
 

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  
 
Corporate Priorities and Performance 
 

5.1 The council’s response to COVID-19 and its impacts on employees and businesses directly 
support objectives in the Barnet Plan, particularly the ‘Thriving’ workstream, as well as 
objectives set out in the Growth Strategy 2020-30 and the Long-Term Transport Strategy. 
 
Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 
 

5.2 Where there are financial implications or decisions associated with recovery activities, 
these will be addressed on a case-by-case basis, as will any funding decisions associated 
with projects outlined in the Growth Strategy annual report and future employment and 
skills activities.  
 

5.3 Any procurement activity will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Contract 
Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 as applicable. If the Council 
chooses to use an existing Framework Agreement to appoint a contractor to deliver any 
services, it must comply with the requirements of the Framework Agreement. In 
accordance with Rule 5.4 of the Contract Procedure Rules, before entering into a call-off 
contract under a Framework Agreement due diligence checks must be carried out to 
demonstrate that the Council can lawfully access the Framework Agreement and that it is 
fit for purpose and provides value for money. 

 
5.4  Post Brexit, the State Aid rules have been replaced by the Subsidy Control Rules 2021. 

 The Procurement of public works and services contracts over the relevant financial 
thresholds must still observe the requirements of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015, 
 and Subsidy Control Rules 2021 where applicable. There is a new process for advertising 
the tender in the Contracts Finder. The Public Services (Social Value) Act  2012 requires 
the Council to consider whether it can achieve an improvement to the economic, social 
and environmental wellbeing of an area as part of the procurement of these services. If so, 
the social value objectives identified must be written into the procurement process. All of 
this must be achieved with regard to value for money and in  a way that is compliant with 
existing public procurement law. “Social value” objectives can include the creation of 
employment, apprenticeship and training opportunities for local people, trading 
opportunities for local businesses and the third sector through contract delivery. 
 
Legal and Constitutional References 
 

5.5 The council’s Constitution, Article 7.5 Committees, Forums, Working Groups and 
Partnerships, sets out the functions of the Housing and Growth Committee:  

43



 

 Responsibility for housing matters including strategy, homelessness, social housing 
and housing grants, commissioning of environmental health functions for private sector 
housing, regeneration strategy and oversee major regeneration schemes, asset 
management, employment strategy, business support and engagement.  

 To receive reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services, under 
the remit of the Committee.  

 
Insight 
 

5.6 In recent months, the council has significantly improved the way in which it uses data, 
insight and analysis to drive decision making and service delivery. A new cross-cutting 
data insight team has been established which is now working closely with Growth 
colleagues as well as others across the organisation. This report draws on various 
analyses undertaken by the Insight Team. 
 
Social Value 
 

5.7 The council must take into account the requirements of the Public Services (Social Value) 
Act 2012 to consider how what is to be procured might improve the social, economic and 
environmental well-being of the area and how it might act to secure such improvement in 
conducting procurement. Social value is a core part of the Recovery Framework and will 
be maximised throughout. 
 
Risk Management 
 

5.8 The council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the Risk 
Management Framework. Strategic and operational risks are being reviewed in light of our 
response to COVID-19 and priorities for recovery and the new Corporate Plan. Managing 
risk will be an essential part of programme management and will be used to inform key 
decisions relating to economic recovery. 
 

5.9 There is a risk that there will be resistance from the community with regards to some 
proposals in town centres. All work identified in this report builds directly on priorities 
already identified through strategies that have been consulted on and the Council has 
allowed for ongoing community and stakeholder engagement throughout the delivery of 
these projects. 
 
Equalities and Diversity  

 
5.10  The Equality Act, 2010 outlines the provisions of the Public Sector Equalities Duty which 

requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to:  
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act, 2010;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people of different groups; and  

 Foster good relations between people from different groups.  
 
5.11 Relevant protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 

and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation.  
 

44



5.12 The Barnet Plan, the council’s Recovery Framework and the Growth Strategy are intended 
to benefit all communities and groups who live, work and visit the borough, including those 
with protected characteristics.  

 
5.13 An Equalities Impact Assessment and Health Impact Assessment was undertaken on the 

Growth Strategy, and the outcomes of these were summarised in the report to Housing 
and Growth Committee of January 2020 seeking approval of the Strategy.  

 
5.14 Where individual decisions are required in relation to the recovery programme or Growth 

Strategy Delivery Plan, these will be considered on a case-by-case basis to ensure no 
group is disadvantaged or left behind. As required, officers will undertake Equalities Impact 
Assessments (EQIA) on a case-by-case basis to fully appraise the impacts associated with 
any proposed course of action. 

 
Corporate Parenting 

 
5.15  In line with the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider 

Corporate Parenting Principles in all relevant decision-making. These will be considered 
as specific plans for recovery are further developed. 

 
Consultation and Engagement 
 

5.16 Officers are clear that the Recovery Framework and Corporate Plan cannot be delivered 
in isolation if they are going to be fully responsive and effective in enabling the borough to 
emerge stronger from the COVID-19 pandemic. Consultation with other levels of 
government, partners, service users and the wider community is critical to ensuring that 
our recovery activities are focused on the end user. 
 

5.17 Meaningful stakeholder engagement remains a key part of project development. 
Consultation and engagement plans will be prepared for all new housing, regeneration and 
development projects where required. Any new schemes brought forward will be subject 
to consultation where legally required or where the council considers it appropriate. 
 
 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
6.1 Urgency Committee, 27 April 2020: Approval of Emergency Decisions and Delegation to 

Chief Officers 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58641/Urgency%20Committee%20- 
%20Emergency%20Decisions%20Final.pdf 
 

6.2 Policy & Resources Committee, 17 June 2020: COVID-19 Recovery Planning 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58985/COVID19%20Recovery%20Planning.
pdf 
  

6.3 Council Budget 2018/19 Financial Forward Plan and Capital Programme, Appendix E2 
Capital Programme by Delivery Unit 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45350/Appendix%20E2%20-%20Capital%20 
Programme%20by%20Delivery%20Unit.pdf 
 

45

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58641/Urgency%20Committee%20-%20%20Emergency%20Decisions%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58641/Urgency%20Committee%20-%20%20Emergency%20Decisions%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58985/Covid19%20Recovery%20Planning.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s58985/Covid19%20Recovery%20Planning.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45350/Appendix%20E2%20-%20Capital%20%20Programme%20by%20Delivery%20Unit.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45350/Appendix%20E2%20-%20Capital%20%20Programme%20by%20Delivery%20Unit.pdf


6.4 Housing and Growth Committee, 27 January 2020: Growth Strategy 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s52934/Growth%20Strategy.pdf  
 

6.5 Housing and Growth Committee, 14 September 2020, item 12: COVID-19: Recovery Plan 
– Thriving  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10226&Ver=4  
 

6.6 Housing and Growth Committee, 25 November 2020, item 17: COVID-19: Recovery Plan 
– Thriving  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10227&Ver=4  
 

6.7 Housing and Growth Committee, 25 January 2021, item 9: COVID-19 Recovery Plan,  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10228&Ver=4 
 

6.8 Housing and Growth Committee, 14 June 2021, item 7, COVID-19: Recovery Plan – 
Thriving 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65201/COVID-
19%20Recovery%20Plan%20Thriving.pdf 

 
 

46

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s52934/Growth%20Strategy.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10226&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10227&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10228&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65201/COVID-19%20Recovery%20Plan%20Thriving.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65201/COVID-19%20Recovery%20Plan%20Thriving.pdf


 

 
 

Summary 

 
Housing and Growth Committee is the lead committee for the Thriving theme of the Barnet 
Plan as well as the council’s Growth Strategy. The council’s objective is to support a borough 
of thriving town centres by working to diversify their role, encouraging a broad mix of uses, 
delivering new housing and creating an environment in which businesses can succeed. By 
doing so, the council is not only helping to secure the future of town centres but also ensuring 
that Barnet’s economy and community can successfully rebound from the COVID-19 
pandemic. 
 
A key component of the council’s work is to deliver environmental improvements through 
investment in the public realm, helping to drive footfall, increase the amount of time that 
people want to spend in town centres and, ultimately, help ensure that they are places in 
which people want to work, visit and live.  
 

 

Housing & Growth Committee 

13 September 2021 

Title  
Town Centres Capital Programme 
Update 

Report of Chairman of Housing and Growth Committee 

Wards 
West Finchley, Finchley Church End, Burnt Oak, Golders 
Green, Childs Hill, Garden Suburb 

Status Public 

Urgent Yes 

Key Yes 

Enclosures                          None 

Officer Contact Details  

Luke Ward, Assistant Director – Development and Economy 
luke.ward@barnet.gov.uk  

Jamie Robinson, Head of Economic Development 
jamie.robinson@barnet.gov.uk  

 

47

AGENDA ITEM 9

mailto:luke.ward@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:jamie.robinson@barnet.gov.uk


This report sets out proposals for taking forward major public realm investment in three of 
Barnet’s main town centres: Finchley Central, Burnt Oak and Golders Green. It also updates 
Committee members on officers’ work to develop a long-term pipeline of investment across 
other centres. 
 

 

Officers Recommendations  
 

In relation to proposed public realm investment in Finchley Central, that the 
Committee: 

 
1. Notes that engagement and consultation has commenced on the final phase of 

design for the new Finchley Square and will conclude on 18 September 2021. 
 

2. Delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive acting in the best interests of 
the council and in consultation with the Chairman to: 
 

a. Approve the Full Business Case following any further required 
consultation and completion of the final design; 

b. Authorise the expenditure of approved Town Centre Capital monies to 
fund delivery; 

c. Commence procurement and approve contract award for delivery of the 
Square following a procurement exercise, and to authorise any change 
requests during the lifetime of the contract(s), as required; 

d. Negotiate, finalise and complete such other documents as may be 
required to effectively implement, fund, deliver and/or manage the 
project; 

e. Make any alterations to the extent of the Site with the above 
recommendations to apply to the Site as altered. 

 

In relation to proposed public realm investment in Burnt Oak and Golders Green, that 
the Committee: 
 

3. Delegates approval to the Deputy Chief Executive acting in the best interests of 
the council and in consultation with the Chairman to: 
 

a. Approve Outline and Full Business Cases as required to progress the 
projects; 

b. Procure a suitably qualified consultant team(s) to undertake survey, 
feasibility and design work to further develop proposals in consultation 
with the community, businesses and key stakeholders; 

c. Authorise expenditure of approved Town Centre Capital monies to fund 
project delivery, in line with the forecast budgets referenced in 
paragraphs 1.27 and 1.35 and noting that these will be subject to further 
refinement; 

d. Commence procurement and approve the contract award for a suitably 
qualified contractor, or contractors, to deliver the public realm 
interventions, following a procurement exercise, and to authorise any 
change requests during the lifetime of the contract(s), as required; 

48



e. Negotiate, finalise and complete such other documents as may be 
required to effectively implement, fund, deliver and/or manage the 
projects; 

f. Make any alterations to the extent of the Sites with the above 
recommendations to apply to the Sites as altered. 

 

4. That the Committee notes work being undertaken by officers (referred to in 
paragraph 1.10) to develop the future pipeline of Town Centre public realm 
works, in accordance with the funding approved at Policy and Resources 
Committee of July 2021. 

 

 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1 Housing and Growth Committee is the lead committee for the Thriving theme of the Barnet 

Plan, approved at Policy and Resources Committee in February 2021, as well as the 
Growth Strategy, approved at Housing and Growth Committee in January 2020.  
 

1.2 Together, these policy documents set out a vision for supporting thriving town centres 
across the borough. This will be achieved, among other things, by working to diversify the 
role of town centres, encouraging a broad mix of uses, delivering new housing and by 
creating an environment in which businesses can succeed.  
 

1.3 Building on the approach set out in the former Entrepreneurial Barnet Strategy, the council 
is primarily focused on the borough’s seven main town centres as these serve the greatest 
number of residents and have the broadest economic footprint. The seven centres are: 
 

 Burnt Oak 

 Chipping Barnet 

 Cricklewood 

 Edgware 

 Finchley Central 

 Golders Green 

 North Finchley 
 
1.4 The council has ensured that measures are also taken to provide resource and support to 

other, smaller town centres across the borough. For example, officers developed a Town 
Centre Strategy for West Hendon Broadway and have been progressing improvements 
there due to the significant redevelopment of the adjacent West Hendon Estate and the 
added pressures and opportunities that this creates. Similarly, a number of borough-wide 
initiatives have been launched that are also open to non-main town centres, such as the 
successful Discover Barnet ‘Shop Safely, Shop Local’ campaign and the Temporary 
Streetspace Fund. 
 

1.5 While COVID-19 has undoubtedly impacted high streets and town centres across the 
borough, in essence, it has exacerbated the long-term challenges that they already faced, 
including declines in footfall, reduced revenue for small businesses, and competition from 
online retail. Since March last year, the council has delivered a variety of short-term 
interventions to support high street businesses facing challenges due to COVID-19. These 
have included facilitating access to professional advice and networks, direct financial 
assistance and support to businesses in managing social distancing requirements. The 

49



Committee has been provided with regular updates on these activities (see, for example, 
agenda item 8 [COVID-19: Recovery Plan – Thriving]). 
 

1.6 Over the past year, officers have also been focused on progressing long-term projects and 
programmes to both support COVID-19 recovery and to ensure that we achieve the goals 
set out in the Growth Strategy and Corporate Plan. A key component of this has been the 
development of proposals for major public realm improvements in main town centres. 
Through enhancements to town centre environments, the council can help to drive footfall, 
increase the amount of time that people spend in town centres, create new sites for micro 
businesses, promote community cohesion and pride and reduce the impacts of traffic and 
congestion. Ultimately, the council aims to ensure that Barnet’s town centres are places in 
which people want to live, work and visit and that they fully reflect the needs, aspirations 
and means of the wider community. 
 

1.7 As a result of this work, the July 2021 Policy and Resources Committee approved £23.5M 
of Strategic Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funding to deliver an ambitious 
programme of renewal in priority town centres. This is in addition to the remaining £4.8M 
of town centre capital funding, previously approved by Policy and Resources Committee.  
 

1.8 This paper provides an update on three major town centre public realm projects and 
requests permission to progress them through to completion utilising the approved funding. 
The projects are: 
 

 Finchley Square (Finchley Central)  

 Burnt Oak Public Realm Improvements (working title)  

 Golders Green Public Realm Improvements (working title) 
 

1.9 Further information is provided on each of these below.  
 

1.10 Proposals for the longer-term pipeline of town centres projects, incorporating other centres, 
will be presented to Committee in due course with recommendations for taking them 
forward.  
 
Finchley Square 
 

1.11 The Finchley Square project was identified as a priority and supported by the community 
through the Finchley Central Town Centre Strategy, adopted by Assets, Regeneration and 
Growth Committee in November 2017. The project directly addresses concerns raised by 
local residents and businesses over the poor town centre environment, the lack of any 
focus or ‘centre’ to the town centre, insufficient seating and the lack of space for community 
activities. 
 

1.12 In September 2018, Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee approved expenditure 
of £550,000 from the existing Town Centre Capital budget to commence delivery of 
physical and environmental improvements in Finchley Central. At that time, the Committee 
also delegated the development and approval of a Detailed Business Case for the Finchley 
Central Town Centre project to the Deputy Chief Executive in Consultation with the 
Chairman. 
 

1.13 Subsequent to this, officers commenced detailed feasibility and design work. This included: 
 

50



 The establishment of an internal project working group led by the Economic 
Development team and including officers from Highways, Environment, Planning, 
Public Health, Community Safety and other services. 

 The formation of a new Finchley Central Town Team comprised of local residents and 
businesses to help steer the project from the start – this represented a step change in 
how the council works with community members on such projects. 

 Commissioning a multi-disciplinary design team led by Kinnear Landscape Architects 
to undertake design and feasibility work and to support resident engagement. 

 Multiple opportunities for wider community input into the emerging proposals for the 
new square; directly engaging almost 700 people to date in addition to more than 1,600 
visitors to the Finchley Central Town Centre website1. 

 Liaison with key stakeholders including Transport for London, the Met Police, Fire 
Services and adjacent landowners. 

 Related partnership activities with the Youth Offending Service, Barnet Mencap, Library 
Services and Middlesex University. 

 The appointment of a local cultural producer to support the development of a Cultural 
Programme to run alongside development of the new square; the objective is to use 
the existing space to test new community and economic activities that will be hosted in 
Finchley Square upon completion. 

 Regular ward member and MP engagement. 
 

1.14 The Finchley Square design proposals will create a new centre for the community through 
the delivery of over 3,500sqm of refurbished, high-quality public realm. The proposals 
include flexible space for the community to hold commercial, cultural and community 
activities. Furthermore, the designs adhere to ‘Healthy Streets’ principles, which means 
increased planting and greening to improve the pedestrian environment, safety and sense 
of wellbeing, as well as improvements to street lighting. 
 

1.15 Designs for the new Finchley Square are now available for the public to view on the Engage 
Barnet platform2 as part of a six-week consultation period ending on 18 September 2021. 
In addition, the project team is hosting six in-person events in Finchley Central. Officers 
have temporarily closed a section of Albert Place to trial the use of the highway as a public 
space. Temporary planters and benches have been installed alongside a play area and a 
music/busking spot using floor graphics. As well as hosting consultation events, the space 
will be used to trial community activities as part of the Cultural Programme. 
 

1.16 Alongside the development of Finchley Square, officers were successful in securing 
£50,000 from the Mayor of London’s Good Growth Fund to deliver a Public Realm Design 
Guide by Q4 2021/22. This provides a template and standard for the ‘look and feel’ of the 
town centre, including a palette of materials, to be adopted in all future public realm works 
within Finchley Central, including Finchley Square. The team is working closely with 
colleagues in the Environment Service to ensure that the Design Guide accords with 
council requirements and the document will be recommended to Environment Committee 
for adoption upon completion3. 
 
 

                                            
1 https://finchleycentraltowncentre.co.uk/  
2 https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/finchley-central-town-centre-new-public-square  
3 To note, further public consultation may be required on the Public Realm Design Guide. 

51

https://finchleycentraltowncentre.co.uk/
https://engage.barnet.gov.uk/finchley-central-town-centre-new-public-square


1.17 Finchley Square is at an advanced stage of planning and is currently on course for 
commencement on site in Q1 2022-23. Once completed, the new square will not only set 
a high bar for the design of public spaces in Barnet’s town centres, it will also act as a 
strong precedent in ensuring that community members and local businesses are 
meaningfully engaged from conception through to delivery and beyond. 
 

1.18 Having undertaken all the above work, upon completion of the community consultation on 
18 September, officers will be in a position to finalise the design and progress the project 
through to delivery. This report therefore seeks approval to delegate to the Deputy Chief 
Executive in consultation with the Chairman the appropriate decision-making authority to 
sign-off the Final Business Case, authorise the appointment of suitably qualified 
contractors and deliver the project.  
 
Burnt Oak Public Realm Improvements 
 

1.19 The Burnt Oak Town Centre Strategy was adopted by the council through delegated 
approval, following a decision of the Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee in 
September 2015. The strategy was built on extensive engagement with and input from 
residents and businesses locally. The Strategy identified a series of physical, 
environmental and other measures aimed at improving the attractiveness of the town 
centre and increasing economic vibrancy. Recommendations for interventions were 
divided into four separate hotspots, and a set of interventions were suggested for each.  
 

1.20 Since adoption of the Town Centre Strategy, a range of interventions have been delivered 
in Burnt Oak, including a shop front improvement scheme, a new library forecourt, a brand 
new kiosk and other improvements outside the station, improvements to the grounds and 
entrance of the International Gospel Church, a key institution within the local area, and 
enhanced coordination to address crime and anti-social behaviour. The Strategy was also 
instrumental in the preparation of funding bids to government for additional resources for 
Burnt Oak which, unfortunately, the council was not successful in securing. 
 

1.21 More recently throughout the pandemic, the focus has been on supporting businesses to 
re-open following the series of lockdowns, celebrating independent businesses through 
the Discover Barnet campaign and on delivering a town centre activation event to 
encourage footfall and dwell time locally.  
 

1.22 In line with the original Town Centre Strategy, officers are also developing an approach to 
‘creative placemaking’ in Burnt Oak. A design team has been appointed to work on the 
programme, including new artwork, signage and murals. A community steering group has 
been established to provide an inclusive engagement and consultation platform and the 
aspiration is that this group will be supported by the council to evolve into a Burnt Oak 
Town Team, taking on a wider remit within the town centre. 
 

1.23 Officers have also developed plans to deliver a further phase of shop front improvements 
and new temporary planters to improve the shopping experience and create a more 
attractive and healthy environment.  
 

1.24 Aligned with the above, the council has been progressing plans for the re-development of 
Watling Car Park, ensuring that the scheme will be delivered in a way that directly 
contributes to wider town centre improvements. 
 

52



1.25 With a range of shorter-term activities underway in Burnt Oak, the council now has an 
opportunity to deliver significant public realm improvement in the area in line with the Town 
Centre Strategy. Initial analysis suggests that this can comprise:  
 

 A public realm intervention (c.1,800sqm) to create a link between Silkstream 
Park, Watling Avenue, the Watling Car Park site and Barnfield Road.  

 Further enhancements to the station gateway to create a sense of arrival (c.700 sqm). 

 Public realm improvements (up to 2,500sqm) on the footways of Watling Avenue and 
Barnfield Road, to include pavement improvements, trees and greenery, civic furniture, 
decluttering, street signage and wayfinding interventions. 

 Interventions that address crime and fear of crime in the area. 

 Healthy Streets principles applied throughout. 
 

1.26 It is intended that this work will also include the development of a Public Realm Design 
Guide for Burnt Oak. 
 

1.27 The project will build on the precedent being set at Finchley Square both in terms of design 
quality and the approach to working across services, with community members and with 
other stakeholders. An approximate budget of £3.5M has been identified for the project, 
based on the current scope and the fact that works are anticipated to extend to adjacent 
parks. Funding will come from within approved Town Centre Capital resources and the 
budget will be updated as the project progresses. 
 

1.28 This report seeks Committee approval to delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chairman all relevant decision making to commence the project, 
approve relevant Business Cases, appoint consultants and contractors as required and to 
deliver the project through to completion. On the current timeline, it is estimated that a 
multi-disciplinary design team can be appointed by Q4 2021/22, consultation, engagement 
and design undertaken throughout 2022/23 and construction completed by Q4 2023/24. 
These dates will be subject to refinement as the project is scoped further. 
 
Golders Green Public Realm Improvements 

 
1.29 The Golders Green Town Centre Strategy was approved by Housing and Growth 

Committee in January 2020. The strategy sets out a range of ways that the council can 
work with community members, businesses and other partners to improve this important 
part of the borough. 

 
1.30 Since its adoption, officers have been focused on supporting businesses in the town centre 

throughout the COVID-19 pandemic. Businesses in Golders Green were early adopters of 
Temporary Streetspace Fund parklets and have also been the focus of Discover Barnet 
case studies and events. 

 
1.31 Alongside this work, the Economic Development team has been undertaking initial scoping 

of public realm improvements identified within the Town Centre Strategy and, as in Burnt 
Oak, now seeks approval to bring these forward. 
 

1.32 Initial proposals are for approximately 2,000sqm of public realm improvements at the 
junction of Golders Green Crescent and Golders Green Road (A502) as well as potential 
enhancements along The Riding and in front of the library. Other related public realm 
projects on Golders Green Road will be reviewed with ward members as opportunities 

53



arise. As elsewhere, the proposed interventions would incorporate Healthy Streets 
principles and would create new space for economic, community and cultural activities 
while balancing the needs of car users, pedestrians and others. 
 

1.33 The proposals also include an element of cultural activation, wayfinding and graphic 
identity development. The project would necessitate the formation of a new Golders Green 
Town Team with local businesses and existing community and faith groups being 
encouraged to help steer the project. As with the other interventions, an internal project 
working group would be initiated and officers would also work closely with partners such 
as TfL. 
 

1.34 It is intended that this work will also include the development of a Public Realm Design 
Guide for the town centre. 
 

1.35 An approximate budget of £2.5M has been identified for the project, based on the current 
scope of the project within the town centres. Funding will come from within existing Town 
Centre Capital resources and, as above, the budget will be refined as the project 
progresses. 
 

1.36 This report seeks Committee approval to delegate to the Deputy Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chairman all relevant decision making to commence the project, 
approve relevant Business Cases, appoint consultants and contractors as required and to 
deliver the project through to completion. Indicative project timelines suggest that a design 
team can be appointed by Q1 2022/23, consultation, engagement and design completed 
by Q2 2023/24 and construction completed by Q1 2024/25. These dates will be subject to 
refinement as the project is scoped further. 
 

 
2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
2.1 Officers are taking a comprehensive, cross-service approach to pursuing the council’s 

long-term aspirations for Barnet’s town centres. The proposals set out above directly 
support the Barnet Plan and Growth Strategy ambitions for thriving town centres, as well 
as the goals of the Long-Term Transport Strategy. 
 

2.2 Importantly, by taking the proposed action, the council is also supporting the economic 
recovery of town centres and supporting local businesses as they emerge from the COVID-
19 pandemic. 
 
 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 Town centres are important sites of economic, employment, services and community 
activity and, therefore, a key part of the council’s approach to the economy and 
regeneration. 
 

3.2 The council could opt not to invest in the improvement of the urban fabric of town centres, 
however this would be a missed opportunity to capitalise on developer and other council 
interventions. It would also see the continued gradual degradation of town centres, inviting 
criticism from residents and businesses and posing increased pressure on council 
maintenance budgets. 

54



 
 

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

4.1 Following Committee, officers will continue to progress the town centre projects outlined 
above. Any individual decisions and actions will be taken by the Deputy Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chairman, in accordance with the recommendations. 
 

4.2 Officers will continue to maintain regular communication with relevant stakeholder groups 
– residents, businesses, Members and residents – in accordance with the various 
programmes of work. 
 

4.3 Officers will continue to pursue external funding opportunities should they become 
available to offset council investment in town centre renewal. Contract Procedure Rules 
will apply to the expenditure of external funding. 
 
 

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION 
 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 
 

5.1.1 As noted, the recommendations included in this report directly support council policy, 
including the Barnet Plan, Growth Strategy and Long-Term Transport Strategy. 
 

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 
 

5.2.1 As noted, in July 2021 Policy and Resources Committee approved £23.5M of projected 
Strategic Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) funds to deliver a programme of town centre 
renewal. This included a combined total of £7M allocated to Finchley Central and Burnt 
Oak. The funding is in addition to the £4.8M of remaining approved town centre capital 
funding, which is being directed at other main town centres and borough-wide projects, 
subject to appropriate approvals. 
 

5.2.2 There are no additional financial implications resulting from these interventions. All costs 
will be met from within existing approved budgets. 
 

5.2.3 Expenditure on these town centre projects was included in the Annual Procurement 
Forward Plan 2021/22, as adopted at Policy and Resources Committee. 
 

5.2.4 The council will procure service contractor(s) in accordance with Barnet’s Contract 
Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 to support the delivery of all 
associated capital works identified in this report. 
 

5.3 Legal and Constitutional References 
 

5.3.1 The council’s Constitution, Article 7.5 Committees, Forums, Working Groups and 
Partnerships, sets out the functions of the Housing and Growth Committee:  
 

 Responsibility for housing matters including strategy, homelessness, social housing 
and housing grants, commissioning of environmental health functions for private sector 

55



housing, regeneration strategy and oversee major regeneration schemes, asset 
management, employment strategy, business support and engagement.  

 To receive reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services, under 
the remit of the Committee.  

 
5.4 Insight 

 
5.4.1 The proposals set out in this report are founded on the development of comprehensive 

Town Centre Strategies. In addition to community and business engagement, these 
strategies draw on a range of data and insight sources to draw conclusions and make 
recommendations for future action in town centres. 
 

5.4.2 Officers will use data and intelligence to assess the impact of major town centre 
interventions following their completion. 
 

5.5 Social Value 
 

5.5.1 The council must comply with the requirements of the Public Services (Social Value) Act 
2012, namely to consider how what is to be procured might improve the social, economic 
and environmental well-being of the area and how it might act to secure such improvement 
in conducting procurement. Officers will continue to seek Social Value outcomes 
throughout all stages of delivery. 
 

5.6 Risk Management 
 

5.6.1 The council has an established approach to risk management, which is set out in the Risk 
Management Framework. Managing risk will be an essential part of programme 
management and will be used to inform key decisions relating to the town centre projects. 
All significant risks will be reported to Capital Strategy Board and escalated as required. 
 

5.6.2 There is a risk that there will be resistance from the community with regards to some 
proposals in town centres. All work identified in this report builds directly on priorities 
already identified through strategies that have been consulted on and the council has 
allowed for ongoing community and stakeholder engagement throughout the delivery of 
these projects. 
 

5.7 Equalities and Diversity  
 
5.7.1 The Equality Act, 2010 outlines the provisions of the Public Sector Equalities Duty which 

requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to:  
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act, 2010;  

 Advance equality of opportunity between people of different groups; and  

 Foster good relations between people from different groups.  
 
5.7.2 Relevant protected characteristics are: age, disability, gender reassignment, pregnancy 

and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex, sexual orientation.  
 
5.7.3 The Barnet Plan and the Growth Strategy are intended to benefit all communities and 

groups who live, work and visit the borough, including those with protected characteristics.  

56



 
5.7.4 An Equalities Impact Assessment and Health Impact Assessment was undertaken on the 

Growth Strategy, and the outcomes of these were summarised in the report to Housing 
and Growth Committee seeking approval of the Strategy.  

 
5.7.5 Where individual decisions are required in relation to project delivery, these will be 

considered on a case-by-case basis to ensure no group is disadvantaged or left behind.  
 
5.8 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.8.1 In line with the Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider 

Corporate Parenting Principles in all relevant decision-making. There are no known 
implications in relation to the town centre projects outlined in this report but this will be 
reviewed as plans are further developed. 

 
5.9 Consultation and Engagement 

 
5.9.1 Engagement with local stakeholders has been a fundamental part of the council’s work in 

town centres to date and has been instrumental in identifying and developing priority 
projects to take forward. As set out above, officers will continue to support community and 
business engagement throughout project delivery and beyond. 
 
 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
6.1.1 Housing and Growth Committee, November 2017: Entrepreneurial Barnet - Annual Update 

and Forward Plan 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=9435&Ver=4 

 
6.1.2 Housing and Growth Committee, September 2018: Town Centre Capital projects and 

update on Finchley Central Housing Infrastructure Fund project 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s48469/Town%20Centre%20Capital%20proj
ects%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infrastructure%
20Fund%20project.pdf 
 

6.1.3 Council Budget 2018/19 Financial Forward Plan and Capital Programme, Appendix E2 
Capital Programme by Delivery Unit 
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45350/Appendix%20E2%20-%20Capital%20 
Programme%20by%20Delivery%20Unit.pdf 
 

6.1.4 Housing and Growth Committee, January 2020: Growth Strategy 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s52934/Growth%20Strategy.pdf 
 

6.1.5 Housing and Growth Committee, January 2020: Golders Green Town Centre Strategy and 
update on Finchley Central Housing Infrastructure Fund  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s57507/Golders%20Green%20Town%20Cen
tre%20Strategy%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infra
structure%20Fund.pdf 
 

6.1.6 Housing and Growth Committee, June 2021: COVID-19: Recovery Plan – Thriving 

57

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=9435&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s48469/Town%20Centre%20Capital%20projects%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infrastructure%20Fund%20project.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s48469/Town%20Centre%20Capital%20projects%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infrastructure%20Fund%20project.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s48469/Town%20Centre%20Capital%20projects%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infrastructure%20Fund%20project.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45350/Appendix%20E2%20-%20Capital%20%20Programme%20by%20Delivery%20Unit.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s45350/Appendix%20E2%20-%20Capital%20%20Programme%20by%20Delivery%20Unit.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s52934/Growth%20Strategy.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s57507/Golders%20Green%20Town%20Centre%20Strategy%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infrastructure%20Fund.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s57507/Golders%20Green%20Town%20Centre%20Strategy%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infrastructure%20Fund.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s57507/Golders%20Green%20Town%20Centre%20Strategy%20and%20update%20on%20Finchley%20Central%20Housing%20Infrastructure%20Fund.pdf


https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65201/COVID-
19%20Recovery%20Plan%20Thriving.pdf 
 

6.1.7 Policy and Resources Committee, July 2021: Strategic Community Infrastructure Levy 
(CIL) Allocations  
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65921/Strategic%20CIL%20Allocations%20
Final.pdf 
 

 

58

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65201/COVID-19%20Recovery%20Plan%20Thriving.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65201/COVID-19%20Recovery%20Plan%20Thriving.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65921/Strategic%20CIL%20Allocations%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65921/Strategic%20CIL%20Allocations%20Final.pdf


 

 

 

 

 

 

HOUSING & GROWTH COMMITTEE 

 

13th September 2021 

  

Title  North Finchley Site Assembly Agreement and Land 

Agreement 

Report of Chairman of the Housing and Growth Committee.  

Wards West Finchley and Woodhouse 

Status 

Public except for Appendix 1  which is exempt under 

Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 Paragraph 

3, information relating to the financial  or business affairs of 

any particular person including the authority and 

Paragraph  5, information in respect of which a claim to legal 

professional privilege could be maintained in legal 

proceedings. 

Urgent Non-urgent 

Key Key 

Enclosures                          
Appendix 1: North Finchley Land Assembly and Site 
Assembly Legal Summary [Redacted]. 

 

Officer Contact Details  

Stephen McDonald- Director of Growth 

Stephen.McDonald@Barnet.gov.uk  

Abid Arai – Development Programme Director 

Abid.Arai@barnet.gov.uk  

Ashleigh Watkins - Town Centres Investment Manager 

ashleigh.watkins@barnet.gov.uk 

59

AGENDA ITEM 10

mailto:Stephen.McDonald@Barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Abid.Arai@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:Aashleigh.Watkins@barnet.gov.uk


Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

2 

Summary 

This report requests authority be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation 

with the Chairman of the Housing and Growth Committee to proceed to enter into both the 

North Finchley Land Agreement and North Finchley Site Assembly Agreement with Regal 

JP North Finchley Limited and Regal Holdco Ltd. extending the exclusivity period for the 

submission of a site-wide planning application until the end  of December 2022 and gives  

delegated authority for this exclusivity period to be reviewed and extended should it be 

deemed appropriate to support the regeneration of North Finchley Town Centre. 

In addition, this report requests for authority to be delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive 

to enable the council to deliver complementary town centre initiatives in consultation with 

the community, these include developing a North Finchley Town Centre Design Framework 

for the public realm and developing and implementing a first phase of works for a Creative 

placemaking, Wayfinding and Graphic Identity for North Finchley Town Centre. 

 

Decisions  

1. To delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to enter into 
the North Finchley Land Agreement and Site Assembly Agreement 
with Regal JP North Finchley Limited and Regal Holdco Ltd. See 
appendix 1 for Legal Summary. 
 

2. To note the above agreements, include the extension of the 
exclusivity period with Regal JP North Finchley Limited until the 
31st of December 2022.  

 
3. To delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation 

with the Chairman of this committee to continue to extend the 
exclusivity period if the Council deems necessary. 
 

4. To delegate authority for the Deputy Chief Executive to authorise 
the appointment of professional team(s) as necessary to deliver 
associated projects set out in report at paragraph 1.5 to support 
placemaking, public realm improvements and the wider 
comprehensive regeneration of North Finchley Town Centre.  

 

 
 
 
 
 

60



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

3 

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1 The council has been working with developer Joseph Partners over the past several 

years to progress ambitious plans for revitalising North Finchley Town Centre. At the core 
of the proposals are the goals of:  
 

 Redefining the high street by defining the sustainable core of the area through 
research, analysis and local consultation;  

 Establishing a context for change, involving comprehensive regeneration either 
through acquisition, or by agreement with existing landowners; 

 Curating occupancy of the core high street, better supporting existing tenants and 
bringing in new ones, and utilising landlord control to incorporate flexible lease 
terms to encourage attractive and sustainable occupancy;  

 Intensifying and repurposing the town centre periphery to provide additional 
housing, integrating high-quality residential uses into the upper parts of retained 
shopping areas, and providing the ability to carry out significant public realm 
improvements. 

 
1.2 Set out below is the timeline of key actions and events that have taken place to move the 

scheme forward or which have otherwise impacted proposals:  
 

 April 2017 – Barnet Council and Joseph Partners enter into exclusive two-year 
Preliminary Agreement, with option to extend by a further one year if needed.  

 February 2018 – adoption of North Finchley Town Centre Framework 
Supplementary Planning Document following extensive local consultation.  

 September 2018 – Joseph Partners brings on development partner U+I Group to 
back development, commencing detailed work on scheme viability.  

 March 2019 – Barnet Council, Joseph Partners and U+I Group submit Expression 
of Interest to UK government’s Future High Streets Fund, which was ultimately 
unsuccessful.  

 April 2019 – one-year extension identified within the Preliminary Agreement 
activated.  

 July 2019 – Site Assembly Agreement and Land Agreement finalised and entered 
into with Joseph Partners and U+I Group, committing development partners, 
among other things, to submitting overall masterplan and detailed Phase 1 
planning application by 31 December 2020.  

 Summer/Autumn 2019 – continued planning for North Finchley Partnership Board 
and associated community engagement activities.  

 March 2020 – first UK national lockdown as result of Covid-19 pandemic.  

 April 2020 – expiration of exclusivity clause in Land Agreement.  

 May 2020 – U+I Group steps back from involvement in North Finchley and ends 
their participation in the Land Agreement and Site Assembly Agreement.  

 November 2020 – Joseph Partners agrees Heads of Terms with Regal London to 
bring forward the redevelopment of North Finchley Town Centre 

 July 2021 – Partnership formed between Regal London and Joseph Partners to 
form Regal JP North Finchley Limited funded by Regal Holdco Ltd 

 August 2021 – Final Draft of Land Agreement and Site Assembly Agreement 
agreed between Barnet Council, Regal JP North Finchley Limited and Regal 
Holdco Ltd 

 

61



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

4 

1.3 According to the terms of the legal agreements, the right to choose a development 
funding partner is a decision that rests with Regal JP North Finchley Limited. Council 
approval is required but is not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed. In practice, 
Joseph Partners has kept council officers informed and updated on discussions with 
prospective partners and has sought to ensure that the selected partner, Regal London, 
has a track record, approach and ethos that is entirely consistent with the ambition of 
delivering mixed-use regeneration in partnership with communities. 

 
1.4 The funder, Regal Holdco Ltd (a Regal London company) has agreed to take on the 

funder’s responsibilities in the Land Agreement and the Site Assembly Agreement. The 
funder is entitled to withdraw from future funding commitments if further development 
becomes unviable. The Site Assembly Agreement can be terminated by the Council if the 
Land Agreement is terminated, and the Council may end the Land Agreement where an 
alternative funder approved by them is not provided within three months of withdrawal of 
the original funder. Additionally, any future commercial arrangements with Regal JP 
North Finchley Limited or its subsidiaries will be subject to the council’s normal due 
diligence procedures. 
 

1.5 In parallel to the work being undertaken by the developer to progress the planning 
application for Phase 1, there are a number of complementary initiatives that the Council 
and Regal JP North Finchley Limited will be collaborating on to ensure the wider 
regeneration goals as set out within the North Finchley SPD 2018 are achieved. Council 
officers will work in collaboration with our community, development partners, Transport 
for London and other key stakeholders to: 
 

 Commission a consultant team to Develop North Finchley Public Realm Design 
Framework to ensure the improvements to the public realm are developed 
holistically and consider the impact from future regeneration, to develop a phased 
approach and programme towards comprehensively improving the town centre 
public realm in coordination with the development proposed to be brought forward. 
This study will be procured, commissioned and managed by the Council to ensure 
the framework can be adopted to assure compliance with the framework developed. 
Key to this work will include addressing the following challenges and opportunities 
identified within the North Finchley SPD 2018. Some of these include:  

 
o Delivering public transport and active travel improvements on the High Road, 

in line with the borough’s Long-Term Transport Strategy, including considering 
the relocation of the North Finchley bus depot.  

o Addressing the poor traffic conditions and pedestrian movement around the 
‘Island Site’ between Ballard’s Lane and the A1000.  

o Increasing green infrastructure on the high street. 
o Creating a town centre with better civic space where communities can rest, 

dwell and play. 
 

 The second commission is a part of the Council’s Town Centres Capital Programme 
and will see the Council appoint a consultant team to support the development of a 
Cultural Placemaking, Wayfinding and Graphic Identity for North Finchley Town 
Centre and then commission contractor(s) as required to deliver a first phase of art 
and cultural interventions to be installed within North Finchley Town Centre. These 
activities are being funded from within existing approved Town Centre Capital funds. 

 

62



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

5 

1.6 In order to progress the regeneration of North Finchley and to deliver a sustainable future 
over the long-term, this report recommends that Housing and Growth Committee agree 
to make the decisions as set out in the decisions table above (page 2). 
 

1.7 In the current economic climate, these recommendations are considered reasonable if 
development partners are to make genuine progress in delivering the community’s and 
the council’s ambitions for North Finchley town centre.  
 
 

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

2.1 North Finchley Town Centre is one of Barnet’s seven ‘main town centres’ due to its size 
and economic importance to the Borough. In recent years, the town centre has been in 
decline, with retailers facing a range of challenges due to technological changes, 
macroeconomic forces and changes in consumer behaviour. Associated with this has 
been a decline in footfall and deterioration in the retail offer and quality of shop fronts. As 
such, although North Finchley is one of Barnet’s largest town centres, it has seen an 
increase in vacancy rates over the past 15 years and as identified within the North 
Finchley SPD there is a recognised need in North Finchley to rationalise and improve the 
public realm and transport to create a civic and accessible destination for all. 

 

2.2 As noted, the council and its development partners have been progressing a complex 
scheme at a time of unprecedented economic uncertainty; to deliver the holistic 
revitalisation of North Finchley and not just individual ‘favourable’ land parcels. To enable 
this to progress the Council and Regal JP North Finchley Limited have used reasonable 
endeavours to prepare an agreed Site Assembly Agreement and Land Agreement. And it 
is only on entering such agreements, the Council will be able to progress the 
regeneration of this important town centre. Below is a summary of the terms agreed 
please also refer to the Legal Summary in appendix 1 for a comprehensive summary of 
the agreements. 

 
2.3 Site Assembly Agreement 

 

 The Site Assembly Agreement covers the following: 

 Planning permission – Regal JP North Finchley Limited must submit a planning 
application for the development scheme, by 31st of December 2022. 

 Land interests – Once satisfactory planning permission is obtained, Regal JP 
North Finchley Limited (with the Council’s assistance) must try to acquire the land 
ownerships in the area at the cost of Regal JP North Finchley Limited. The 
Council will seek appropriate authorities to enable any necessary third party land 
purchase, and, if necessary, will consider subject to committee approval making a 
compulsory purchase order for any land interests Regal JP North Finchley Limited 
isn't able to acquire privately. 

 Land Assembly – Following the developer’s reasonable endeavours to acquire all 
third party land, the Council will consider using its compulsory purchase powers to 
complete land assembly.  The Council will agree to use reasonable endeavours to 
seek committee approval to make the CPO provided that (i) there is a compelling 
case in the public interest to pursue the CPO (ii) the necessary funding will be 
made available to acquire the CPO land and pay all CPO costs and (iii) Regal JP 
North Finchley Limited has complied with its obligations to use actively pursue 
negotiations of the third party owners. In addition, the Council must also be 

63



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

6 

satisfied that there are no material impediments to the development going ahead, 
compensation assessments have been carried out and there are no disputes 
between the Council and Regal JP North Finchley Limited. 

 Indemnity – As with any site assembly undertaken on behalf of a developer, Regal 
JP North Finchley Limited (guaranteed by Regal Holdco Ltd) will indemnify the 
Council against costs associated with any possible future compulsory purchase 
order (CPO). 

 Assignment/other dealings – Regal JP North Finchley Limited cannot assign or 
otherwise pass on the Site Assembly Agreement to another party, except an 
assignment to a group company of the funder who also takes an assignment of 
the Land Agreement. The Council may agree in due course to proposed funding 
or development partners who will take ownership of part of the site for forward 
funding or development purposes (such as a Registered Provider, another 
developer and/or funder). 

 Council statutory authority functions – The Site Assembly Agreement does not 
affect or fetter the Council in discharging its statutory responsibilities (e.g. as 
planning authority, highways authority, etc.). 

 Termination – There are a number of circumstances where either party can 
terminate the Site Assembly Agreement, although if that happens, the Council still 
has security for CPO costs it has already incurred. If the Land Agreement ends, so 
does the Site Assembly Agreement. 
 

 The Land Agreement covers the following: 
 

 Pre-conditions – the Council agrees to make available for development to Regal 
JP North Finchley Limited land within the development site, subject to satisfying 
various pre-conditions - in particular, obtaining Council approval to the sale, 
obtaining planning consents and vacant possession, development funding being 
available - within an agreed programme. 

 Phasing: If the conditions are satisfied, including obtaining Council committee 
approval to the sale, Regal JP North Finchley Limited is entitled to draw down land 
in sub-phases or larger phases subject to committee approval. The first phase 
comprises six identified areas of land. Further phases are to be agreed with the 
Council. 

 Price, Valuation, Profit Share – The Land Agreement will include the price of the 
Council's land in each phase, but if it is not immediately drawn down for 
development the price will be reviewed annually by an independent surveyor to 
provide an upwards-only open market valuation. Depending on valuation advice, 
the Council may also receive a profit share or overage for any super profits 
achieved by Regal JP North Finchley Limited. The agreement proposes an 
indicative profit share after repayment of development costs and developer's 
agreed profit on cost. Any overage terms will be determined by an independent 
valuer who will carry out an open market valuation of the land to comply with the 
Council’s statutory duty to obtain the best consideration that can reasonably be 
obtained.  

 Management pending Completion, Insurance – the Council will continue managing 
and insuring the Council-owned property in each phase until completion of 
transfer/lease (for current Council-owned land, 250 year long lease) to Regal JP 
North Finchley Limited (or other suitable developer backing Regal JP North 
Finchley Limited obligations or replacing Regal JP North Finchley Limited as 
developer). There are restrictions on the Council granting new occupational 

64



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

7 

interests or varying current arrangements, intended to ensure vacant possession 
can be obtained in good time. 

 Development – Regal JP North Finchley Limited does not have to begin 
development of the site, but if it does so, development can only be carried out in 
phases in accordance with the planning permission, necessary consents and 
usual development requirements. Regal JP North Finchley Limited must obtain the 
usual construction warranties for the Council. 

 Assignment/other dealings – Regal JP North Finchley Limited cannot assign or 
otherwise pass on the Land Agreement, except to an approved funder as security 
for any debts, or to a group company of the funder vetted by the Council. 

 Termination – the Council can terminate the Land Agreement and/or buy the land 
back (under a call option referred to in the next bullet point) in a number of 
circumstances where Regal JP North Finchley Limited breaches the Land 
Agreement (subject to giving "cure" rights to the developer's funder). 

 Call Option – If the Land Agreement is terminated where development of the 
site/part of the development site is not completed, the Council has a call option 
entitling the Council to reacquire, at the lower of market value or the price plus 
costs Regal JP North Finchley Limited incurred, and any increased market value 
from the works done to date, the parts of the uncompleted Phase the Council 
previously owned, and (if the Council chooses to) the wider land (i.e. other than 
that originally owned by the Council) in the uncompleted Phase. 

 Residential Unit Pre-emption right – the Council can buy some or all of the 
residential units to be developed in a phase, (save for those developed for build to 
rent purposes), at market value. 

 Governance – Regal JP North Finchley Limited must establish a project board, to 
be responsible for public realm, public amenities, other elements of the town 
centre offering at North Finchley arising from the development, so that the Council 
retains significant influence over such matters.  
 

2.4 A commitment to robust and authentic community engagement has been a fundamental 
element of the plans for North Finchley from the start. In developing the SPD, the council 
went above and beyond statutory requirements in ensuring that local businesses, 
residents and others had ample opportunities to make their voices heard, resulting in 
considerable support for the overall aims of the project. In adopting the SPD, Committee 
mandated the formation of a North Finchley Partnership Board to ensure that a high level 
of engagement and accountability would be maintained throughout the development 
process. In alignment with this, the Council in partnership with Regal JP North Finchley 
Limited has now launched the application process for members of the community to join 
the board. This application process advertised on engage Barnet will remain open until 
13th September allowing time for members of the community to apply. Following this 
period, the Council will intend to convene the first board in October/November 2022, with 
the aim to meet every quarter as a minimum going forward. 
 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 The council could opt to leave town centre renewal entirely to the market, cease the 
arrangement with Regal JP North Finchley Limited and take only a reactive approach to 
development that responds to individual planning applications, licensing and other 
decisions as they come forward. However, this approach could result in dis-jointed 

65



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

8 

interventions that do not sufficiently respond to the scale and opportunity in taking a more 
strategic approach to North Finchley Town Centre. 
 

3.2 The council could choose to do nothing, and not consider ways of revitalising North 
Finchley. This is not recommended as it would result in the further decline of the town 
centre, affecting residents, businesses and visitors, and would also result in a missed 
opportunity to deliver improved community infrastructure and homes.  

 
3.3 Having considered the alternatives, the proposed approach of partnering with Regal JP 

North Finchley Limited to continue progressing the comprehensive revitalisation of one of 
Barnet’s most significant town centres should be considered an innovative one and 
critical to supporting this town centre to recover and thrive. 
 

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

4.1 Barnet will proceed to finalise and enter into the North Finchley Land Agreement and Site 
Assembly Agreement with Regal JP North Finchley Limited. 

 
4.2 Following entering into this agreement, we will continue to bring reports to the Housing 

and Growth Committee to update them as to progress made by Regal JP North Finchley 
Limited and the partnership.  
 

4.3 Finish the recruitment and hold the first meeting of the North Finchley Partnership Board. 
 

4.4 Procure and appoint consultant team(s) as necessary to develop the North Finchley 
Public Realm Design Framework, and identify and develop an outline business case to 
bring back to committee to seek approval to deliver a phase 1 of public realm 
improvements identified within the Public Realm Design Framework. 
 

4.5 Appoint professional consultant teams and contractor(s) as required to develop a North 
Finchley Creative Placemaking and Wayfinding Strategy and implement a first phase of 
works using approved funding within the Town Centres Capital Budget. 
 

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  
 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 
 

 Supporting thriving town centres, and small businesses in particular, has long 
been a strategic priority of the council and was endorsed again recently through 
the adoption of the Growth Strategy 2020-30 by Housing and Growth 
Committee. 
 

 Within the Growth Strategy, the Town Centre offer specifically outlines the council’s   
commitment to providing additional support to actively market and promote opportunities 
to   developers when dealing with main Town Centres. 
 

 The Growth Strategy directly supports delivery of the Corporate Plan, Barnet 2024, 
particularly the goals of promoting responsible growth within the borough, encouraging 
development and success, revitalising communities whilst protecting what residents love 
about the borough. 

 

66



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

9 

 The Housing Strategy 2015-25 highlights the role of purpose-built private rented sector 
housing located within or around town centres in addressing housing needs, as well as 
supporting labour mobility. 

 
 

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 
 
 

 All costs associated with the Council’s legal fees in preparing this Land Agreement and 
Site Assembly Agreement have been covered by the developer Regal London.  
 

 The adoption of the recommendations will be at no additional cost to the 
Council. The Site Assembly Agreement sets out clear terms that allows for the Council to 
recover ongoing costs incurred by the Council, any additional costs resulting from the 
work associated within these agreements will be agreed in advance and recovered from 
Regal JP North Finchley Limited in accordance with the terms set out within the Site 
Assembly Agreement.  
 
Statutory planning functions will continue to be delivered through the ‘business as usual’ 
Re contract. 
 

 Progressing the Site Assembly Agreement and Land Agreement will clearly 
have implications for Council property but the agreements ensure the Council at the 
appropriate time can obtain best value for all assets covered within these agreements. 
 

 

 For the complementary projects outlined in 1.5 there are no additional financial 
implications. All costs will be met from within existing approved budgets. Expenditure on 
these complementary projects has been accounted for within the Annual Procurement 
Forward Plan 2021/22, as adopted at Policy and Resources Committee. 
 

 For the complementary project activities outlined in 1.5 the Council will require the 
council to procure consultant teams and contractor(s) to bring the technical expertise to 
develop the Public Realm Design Framework and design and install the interventions 
associated with the Creative Placemaking, Wayfinding and North Finchley Identity project 
through to completion. Both these projects will be managed by the Council’s Town 
Centres Senior Project Officer. 
 

 At this stage there are no anticipated implications for IT. 
 

 Sustainability considerations will be addressed through any development proposals and 
assessed as part of the normal planning process. The Council will also seek to ensure 
that the future development if North Finchley Town Centre contributes to the goals of the 
Long-Term Transport Strategy and other relevant policy. 
 

5.3 Social Value  
 

 The Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 requires people who commission public 
services to consider how they can also secure wider social, economic and environmental 
benefits. 

67



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

10 

 

 Social benefits will principally be secured through opportunities to increase housing 
delivery (including affordable housing), widen the range of leisure, cultural and 
commercial activities and improvements to the public realm. These activities will help to 
make North Finchley a more attractive and thriving destination. 

 
5.4 Legal and Constitutional References 
 

 All proposals emerging from this report must be considered in terms of the Council’s legal 
powers and obligations, including its overarching statutory duties such as the Public 
Sector Equality Duty. Legal advice has been taken throughout this project on the 
agreements and the structure of the project. A detailed legal summary is included in 
Appendix 1: Summary Transaction Report. Under the terms of the Land Agreement, no 
sale of Council land will occur without the Council first receiving an independent 
professional valuation of its land and the Council being satisfied that it has fulfilled its 
duty to obtain the best consideration reasonably obtainable in accordance with the 
Council’s statutory duty under section 123 of the Local Government Act 1972. Under the 
terms of the Site Assembly Agreement, the Council must first seek committee approval to 
make a CPO if it is satisfied that there is a compelling case in the public interest and that 
all costs will be met by Regal JP Finchley Limited. 

 

 The Council’s Constitution, Article 7.5, Responsibility for Functions, states that the 
Housing and Growth Committee is responsible for asset management, regeneration 
strategy and overseeing major regeneration schemes and receiving reports on relevant 
performance information and risk on the services under the remit of the Committee. 
 

 Land Assembly and Site Assembly Agreements 
The Council has obtained legal advice that the Land Agreement and Site Assembly 
Agreement are legitimately structured as an exempt land transaction and are unlikely to 
constitute a “public works contract” and therefore would fall outside the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015.  
 

 Complementary Projects (see paragraph 1.5) 
For the Public Realm Design Framework and Creative Placemaking, Wayfinding and 
Graphic Identity projects led by the Council, all procurement activity must be undertaken 
in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules and the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 as applicable. If the Council chooses to use an existing Framework 
Agreement to appoint a contractor to deliver the services, it must comply with the 
requirements of the Framework Agreement. In accordance with Rule 5.4 of the Contract 
Procedure Rules, before entering into a call-off contract under a Framework Agreement 
due diligence checks must be carried out to demonstrate that the Council can lawfully 
access the Framework Agreement and that it is fit for purpose and provides value for 
money. 
 
 

5.5 Risk Management 
 

 There is a risk that Regal JP North Finchley Limited will not satisfy the other pre-
conditions in the Land Agreement to allow the land to be drawn down for development. 
Even if Regal JP North Finchley Limited satisfies the conditions and acquires the land for 
development, it may not develop out the site in accordance with the Council’s timescale 

68



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

11 

aspirations. To mitigate this risk, the Land Agreement contains time limits within which 
the developer must achieve milestones otherwise the Land Agreement (or appropriate 
part) may be terminated or the land could ultimately be re-acquired by the Council. 
 

 There is a risk that satisfactory planning permission may not be obtained. Regal JP North 
Finchley Limited will continue to consult with the Local Authorities Planning Team 
throughout the development of the proposals to ensure any proposals they develop is in 
alignment with Council Policy.  
 

 Underpinning the risk identified above is the risk of resistance to any proposed 
development by local community members and others. This is an ongoing risk that to 
date has been mitigated by ensuring that residents and businesses were fully consulted 
on the SPD and will be a continued priority led through the formation of the North 
Finchley Partnership Board. Furthermore any proposals develop, ensuring diverse and 
softer engagement opportunities are also considered to diversify the opportunities for the 
community to participate and inform the . In addition, any planning application required to 
be made in relation to proposals will be subject to statutory public consultation. 
 

 For all projects we will identify and maintain project-related risks and escalate these as 
and when this is appropriate. Town Centre projects can be complex as a result of the 
different uses, landlords and services on our high street. Council officers have 
recognised the need to have dedicated resource to manage the capital delivery of 
projects and will maintain this role as required to assure effective implementation. 
 

5.6 Equalities and Diversity  
 

 Equality and diversity issues are a mandatory consideration in the decision-making of the 
council. 
 

 Decision-makers should have due regard to the public sector equality duty in making 
their decisions. The equalities duties are continuing duties, and are not duties to secure a 
particular outcome.  
 

 It is important that the decision-maker has regard to the statutory grounds in the light of 
all available material such as consultation responses. The statutory grounds of the public 
sector equality duty are found at section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 and are as follows: 
 
A public authority must, in the exercise of its functions, have due regard to the need to: 
 

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is 
prohibited by or under this Act; 

b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it; 

c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant protected 
characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
Having due regard to the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons who 
share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having 
due regard to the need to: 
 

69



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

12 

a) remove or minimise disadvantages suffered by persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic that are connected to that characteristic; 

b) take steps to meet the needs of persons who share a relevant protected 
c) characteristic that are different from the needs of persons who do not share it; 
d) encourage persons who share a relevant protected characteristic to participate in 

public life or in any other activity in which participation by such persons is 
disproportionately low. 

 
The steps involved in meeting the needs of disabled persons that are different from the 
needs of persons who are not disabled include, in particular steps to take account of 
disabled persons’ disabilities. 
 
Having due regard to the need to foster good relations between persons who share a 
relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it involves having due 
regard to the need to: 
 

a) Tackle prejudice, and 
b) Promote understanding. 

 
Compliance with the duties in this section may involve treating some persons more 
favourably than others; but that is not to be taken as permitting conduct that would 
otherwise be prohibited by or under this Act. The relevant protected characteristics are: 
 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Gender reassignment 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

 Race 

 Religion or belief 

 Sex 

 Sexual orientation 

 Marriage and Civil partnership 
 

 The project will have positive benefits for the community and will give improved access to 
the facilities in the area. Equality implications have been picked up during the SPD 
consultation and will continue to be considered and reviewed as all projects develop. It is 
also hoped that through establishing of the North Finchley Partnership Board will also 
assist the Council and Development Partners to maximise the equality benefits of the 
scheme. 

 
5.7 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.7.1  There are no direct links between the council’s corporate parenting function and this 

project. 
 
5.8 Consultation and Engagement 

 
As previously noted, extensive community consultation was undertaken in the 

development of the North Finchley SPD and there will be significant opportunities for 

residents to engage with the programme going forward through the North Finchley 

70



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

13 

Partnership Board; there will also be opportunities for community engagement at key 

stages during the development of the regeneration proposals; and also the statutory 

consultation associated with any planning application made. Furthermore, the Council in 

delivering the complementary projects set out in 1.5 will also create further and more 

diverse opportunities for the community to engage and participate to help shape the 

regeneration of North Finchley Town Centre.  

5.9 Insight 
 
5.9.1 Insight data informs the development of all town centre strategies, including data related 

to town centre vacancy rates, indices of multiple deprivation and footfall measurement. 
During the Covid-19 pandemic, the council has been updating its data and insight 
capabilities to inform future planning for the revitalisation of North Finchley. 
 

6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

Housing and Growth Committee November 2020  
Agenda Item 11: Update on the revitalisation of North Finchley Town Centre 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s61178/Update%20on%20the%20revitalisati

on%20of%20North%20Finchley%20Town%20Centre.pdf 

 

Growth Strategy (draft June 2019): 

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s52934/Growth%20Strategy.pdf  

 

Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee November 2018 

Agenda item 7: North Finchley Town Centre Development – update 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=9482&Ver=4  

 

Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee March 2018 

Agenda item 7: North Finchley Town Centre Development 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=9083&Ver=4  

 

Policy and Resources Committee February 2018 

Agenda item 7: North Finchley Town Centre Framework Supplementary Planning 

Document (SPD) 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=692&MId=8742&Ver=4  

 

Policy and Resources Committee December 2016 

Agenda item 8: North Finchley Town Centre Area Framework 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=692&MId=8731&Ver=4  

Policy and Resources Committee, July 2021 
Agenda item 10: Strategic Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) Allocations 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65921/Strategic%20CIL%20Allocations%20
Final.pdf  

71

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s61178/Update%20on%20the%20revitalisation%20of%20North%20Finchley%20Town%20Centre.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s61178/Update%20on%20the%20revitalisation%20of%20North%20Finchley%20Town%20Centre.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s52934/Growth%20Strategy.pdf
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=9482&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=9083&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=692&MId=8742&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=692&MId=8731&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65921/Strategic%20CIL%20Allocations%20Final.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65921/Strategic%20CIL%20Allocations%20Final.pdf


Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

14 

 
Policy and Resource Committee, Dec 2020 
Agenda Item 12: Annual Procurement Forward Plan [APFP] 2021/2022 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b36692/Item%2012%20-
%20Annual%20Procurement%20Forward%20Plan%20APFP%2020212022%2008th-
Dec-2020%2018.00%20Policy%20and%20Resource.pdf?T=9  
 

 
 

 

 

72

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b36692/Item%2012%20-%20Annual%20Procurement%20Forward%20Plan%20APFP%2020212022%2008th-Dec-2020%2018.00%20Policy%20and%20Resource.pdf?T=9
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b36692/Item%2012%20-%20Annual%20Procurement%20Forward%20Plan%20APFP%2020212022%2008th-Dec-2020%2018.00%20Policy%20and%20Resource.pdf?T=9
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b36692/Item%2012%20-%20Annual%20Procurement%20Forward%20Plan%20APFP%2020212022%2008th-Dec-2020%2018.00%20Policy%20and%20Resource.pdf?T=9


 

 
   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

North Finchley Land Assembly and Site Assembly Legal Summary 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared for The London Borough of Barnet 
 

North Finchley Town Centre 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

 

73



125967381.1\675521  

CONTENTS 

Page 

1 INTRODUCTION AND TRANSACTION BACKGROUND 1 

2 RELIANCE 2 

3 CONTENTS OF THIS REPORT 2 

4 DEFINITIONS 2 

SECTION 1 - LAND AGREEMENT 4 

SECTION 2 - SITE ASSEMBLY AGREEMENT 10 

SECTION 3 - NOTES TO THIS REPORT 13 

APPENDIX 1 - PLAN 1 

APPENDIX 2 - PLAN 2 

APPENDIX 3 - PLAN 3 

APPENDIX 4 - PLAN 4 

 

 

74



 

125417833.1\675521 1 

1. INTRODUCTION AND TRANSACTION BACKGROUND 

1.1 This Report is prepared for The London Borough of Barnet (the “Council” the "Seller" or "you") in connection 
with the sale and development of Council Land and Third Party Property at North Finchley Town Centre, 
London.   

1.2 Subject to the matters outlined in this Report, we confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief the 
Transaction Documents reflect the Council’s instructions to us.   

1.3 It is very important you read the Transaction Documents in their entirety and this Report should not be used 
as a substitute for doing so.  We have taken the Council’s instructions on the Transaction Documents 
throughout negotiations, but you must alert us immediately if there is anything in the Transaction Documents 
that do not accord with the Council’s wishes. 

1.4 Our conclusions are based on, and qualified by, the following matters:- 

1.4.1 we are English lawyers having English legal expertise and we do not purport to be experts in other 
fields or in the law of any other country; 

1.4.2 we express no opinion on any financial, valuation, business, investment strategy, financial planning, 
statistical, accounting, tax, taxation or information technology issues; 

1.4.3 our observations are made only to the extent that we are aware of relevant facts and a law firm, 
having the role described above, could reasonably be expected to have identified the implications 
of those facts; and 

1.4.4 any statements made in this Report in relation to matters of fact (as distinct from matters of law) 
are provided to the actual knowledge of those partners and solicitors directly engaged in acting on 
the transaction.  Those statements are strictly limited to the matters addressed and do not apply 
by implication to other matters.  Only those partners and solicitors directly engaged in acting on 
the transaction have any knowledge in relation to the matters addressed in this Report. 

1.5 Transaction background 

1.5.1 The Council and the Buyer have identified the Site, which is the land and buildings at and near 
North Finchley High Street, shown approximately edged red on Plan 2. This excludes any Non-SPD 
Land (unless the Council and the Buyer agree otherwise). 

1.5.2 The Site comprises Council Land (which is property owned by the Council) and Third Party Property 
(which is property owned by third parties). 

1.5.3 The Council does not own the Third Party Property, but the Buyer has agreed to use reasonable 
endeavours to negotiate terms with the owners of the Third Party Property and to acquire the Third 
Party Property with the Council’s assistance. This may include acquisition by compulsory purchase 
order. 

1.5.4 Subject to satisfaction of conditions, the Council has agreed to sell and the Buyer has agreed to buy 
the Council Land and Third Party Property in Phases or Sub-Phases for development. 

1.5.5 Phase 1 will be divided into six Sub-Phases as shown indicatively on Plan 3. Phase 2 and Phase 3 are 
each intended to comprise no more than six Sub-Phases.  

1.5.1 Before selling any Council Land or Third Party Property, the Buyer must first satisfy conditions, 
including the grant of a satisfactory planning permission for the development of the Site. The 
conditions are summarised in SECTION 1. 

1.5.2 Once the conditions have been satisfied the Council has agreed to:- 

(a) sell the Council Land to the Buyer in phases or sub-phases by the grant of a 250 year 
lease; and 

75



 

125417833.1\675521 2 

(b) sell the Third Party Property to the Buyer in phases or sub-phases by a freehold sale. 

1.5.3 The Buyer has agreed to pay a purchase price for the Council Land based on its Open Market Value 
excluding VAT. 

1.5.4 The Buyer is entitled to develop the land it acquires from the Council. If it fails to do so or otherwise 
defaults, the Council has the benefit of a Call Option to re-acquire the land at the Call Option Price. 

1.6 Outline of core Transaction documentation 

On exchange the parties will enter into:- 

1.6.1 the Land Agreement, which provides for the Buyer's conditional acquisition of the Council Land and 
the Third Party Property, the Buyer's development obligations if it develops the Site and the 
Council’s buy-back option if the Buyer fails to proceed with the development; and 

1.6.2 the Site Assembly Agreement, which provides for the arrangements between the Council and the 
Buyer in connection with the acquisition of Third Party Property, the making of a CPO and the 
Buyer’s indemnity to the Council to pay for the CPO Costs. 

the "Transaction Documents". 

Subject to changes to some commercial terms the Transaction Documents are substantially the same as the 
Land Agreement and Site Assembly Agreement entered into between (1) the Council (2) Future High Street 
(North Finchley) Limited and (3) U and I (Projects) Limited on 11 June 2019 which will be terminated before 
the Transaction Documents are entered into. We have assumed that the Council remains content with the 
terms of those agreements as a basis for the Transaction Documents. 

You should read the whole of this Report before deciding whether to proceed with the Transaction. 

2. RELIANCE 

This Report may be relied upon by the Council but this Report may not be relied upon by any other party, nor 
may a copy of this Report be provided to any other party (except the professional advisors of the Council) 
without the written permission of this firm.  

3. CONTENTS OF THIS REPORT 

In this Report, we deal with the following areas:- 

SECTION 1 – Land Agreement  

SECTION 2 – Site Assembly Agreement  

SECTION 3 – Notes to this Report 

4. DEFINITIONS 

In this Report, the following terms have the following meanings:- 

“Council Land” means the land owned by the Council which is: 

Phase 1 Property: 

 Lodge Lane Car Park (shown approximately edged red 
and labelled A on Plan 1) 

 Woodhouse Road Car Park (shown approximately 
edged red and labelled B on Plan 1)  

76



 

125417833.1\675521 3 

 North Finchley Library, Ravensdale Avenue (shown 
approximately edged red and labelled G on Plan 1) 

 Strips of land in front of proposed site 32 (shown 
approximately edged red and labelled D and E on Plan 
1), site 34 (shown approximately edged red and labelled 
C on Plan 1) and site 8 (shown approximately edged red 
and labelled F on Plan 1). 

 Arts Depot (shown approximately edged red and 
labelled L on Plan 1) 

Phase 2 Property, Phase 3 Property, Further Phase Property: 

All Council-owned land that is within the town centre 
masterplan/SPD and not in Parcel 1 which includes: 

 Stanhope Road North/Main Car Park (shown 
approximately edged red and labelled H on Plan 1)  

 Stanhope Road South West Car Park (shown 
approximately edged red and labelled I on Plan 1) 

 Robson Court, Dale Grove, (shown approximately 
edged red and labelled J on Plan 1) 

 Norbury Court, 897 High Road (shown approximately 
edged red and labelled K on Plan 1) 

“Funder” means Regal Holdco Ltd (Company number 10695267) whose 
registered office is at 4-5 Coleridge Gardens, London NW6 3QH 

"Buyer" means Regal JP North Finchley Limited (Company Number 
13414384) whose registered office is at 4-5 Coleridge Gardens, 
London NW6 3QH 

“Site” means the land and buildings at and near to North Finchley High 
Street, shown approximately edged red on Plan 2 (excluding any 
land which does not relate to the supplementary planning 
document adopted as supplementary planning guidance by the 
Council on 13 February 2018 which is shown edged with a black 
broken line on Plan 4). 

 

Pinsent Masons LLP 
29 July 2021 

  

77



 

125417833.1\675521 4 

 

LAND AGREEMENT  

1. OVERVIEW 

1.1 The Land Agreement is a contract to be entered into between the Council, the Buyer and the Funder. It sets 
out the terms upon which the Buyer will seek to satisfy the Conditions (including the grant of planning 
permission) to acquire Council Land and Third Party Property in Phases or Sub-Phases for which it will pay the 
Open Market Value for the Council Land. 

1.2 Upon the sale of each Phase or Sub-Phase to the Buyer, the Buyer commits to development obligations when 
it starts works on site. If the Buyer fails to carry out the development in accordance with the Land Agreement 
ultimately the Council may exercise a call option to require the Buyer to return the Council Land for the Call 
Option Price. 

1.3 The Council has a right of pre-emption to acquire residential units from the Buyer at their market value. 

2. PHASES AND SUB-PHASES 

2.1 The Council and the Buyer have agreed to divide the Site into Phases and Sub-Phases. The Phases are Phase 1, 
Phase 2, Phase 3 and up to two Further Phases. Sub-Phases are part of a Phase. 

2.2 The Buyer has agreed to acquire Phase 1 in Sub-Phases. Future Phases may be acquired by the Buyer in whole 
or in Sub-Phases. 

2.3 The Phase 1 Property comprises no more than six Sub-Phases as shown indicatively on Plan 3.  

2.4 The Phase 2 Property and the Phase 3 Property each comprise no more than six Sub-Phases. 

2.5 The Buyer is entitled to draw down the whole of Phase 2, Phase 3 of Further Phases, but we understand it is 
more likely that the Buyer will acquire any future land in Sub-Phases. Accordingly, the remainder of this 
section assumes the delivery of land by Sub-Phases. 

2.6 Any increased number of Sub-Phases, any changes to the extent of the Phase or the order of commencement 
of the Sub-Phases in each Phase requires the Council’s approval. 

3. CONDITIONS 

3.1 The Buyer must satisfy the following conditions before the Buyer can acquire any Sub-Phase:- 

3.1.1 For the first Sub-Phase within Phase 1, the satisfaction of the Planning Condition which is the grant 
of a satisfactory detailed, outline or hybrid made by the Buyer to carry out the Development of the 
Site. The Buyer is responsible for the content of the planning application and the Council must 
approve the planning application before its submission. We understand that the Buyer is likely to 
apply for a hybrid planning permission (outline for the Site and detailed for the Lodge Lane car park 
site). A planning permission will not be satisfactory if the Council or the Buyer considers that the 
Development is unlikely to be Financially Viable or if the Buyer considers that it would not sustain 
a case for a CPO or would restrict the Buyer from delivering the Development in accordance with 
the SPD, the emerging draft Local Plan 2020 and the London Plan 2021. 

3.1.2 For the first Sub-Phase of each Phase, The Residential Unit Lease Condition which is the Buyer 
and the Council agreeing the form of residential lease to be granted to the Council if the Council 
exercises its right of pre-emption to acquire residential units. 

3.1.3 Except for the first Sub-Phase within Phase 1, which we understood to be the Lodge Lane car park, 
the Council has made a resolution to make a Compulsory Purchase Order in respect of Phase 1. 

3.1.4 The Sub-Phase Planning Condition which is the grant of reserved matters approval to allow for 
the implementation of the planning permission for the relevant Sub-Phase. 

78



 

125417833.1\675521 5 

3.1.5 The Vacant Possession Condition for the Sub-Phase which is the obtaining of vacant possession, 
involving the making of a compulsory purchase order by the Secretary of State or the surrender or 
termination of all leases and other interests affecting the relevant Sub-Phase. 

3.1.6 The agreement of a revised Programme as relates to the relevant Sub-Phase. 

3.1.7 The Buyer obtaining the Necessary Consents to allow the carrying out of the development of the 
relevant Sub-Phase. 

3.1.8 The Funding and Viability Condition in relation to the Sub-Phase which requires the Buyer to 
demonstrate to the Council that it has sufficient funding for the relevant Phase and the Phase is 
Financially Viable (meaning that receipts for the Phase will exceed Development Costs and will 
deliver a developer’s return of at least       % of Development Costs).  

3.1.9 The Title Condition in relation to the Sub-Phase which is the Buyer demonstrating that it has 
acquired all additional land required to deliver the Sub-Phase. 

3.1.10 If the Sub-Phase Property is used as a public car park, the making of a Traffic Management Order 
authorising its closure. 

3.1.11 Agreement or determination of the Sub-Phase Consideration which is the purchase price for the 
relevant Sub-Phase. 

3.1.12 In respect of the Council Land obtaining the necessary Council Committee’s authority to dispose 
of the Council Land. 

3.1.13 The Buyer completing its title due diligence in respect of the Council Land. 

3.1.14 The Long-term Management and Maintenance Condition relating to the relevant part of the Sub-
Phase Property which is the Council being satisfied that suitable arrangements are in place for the 
long term management and maintenance of common parts and public realm after completion of 
the development. 

3.1.15 The Transfer Condition which is the Council and the Buyer agreeing the form of transfer of the 
Third Party Property (if any) relating to the relevant Sub-Phase. 

3.1.16 The Buyer cannot proceed to the next Phase without having acquired all of the Sub-Phases within 
the previous Phase. 

4. PURCHASE PRICE 

4.1 The consideration payable for the Council Land forming part of each Sub-Phase is agreed between the parties 
or determined by an independent professional valuer. 

4.2 The Council will instruct an independent chartered surveyor to provide an Open Market Valuation of the 
Council Land. An Open Market Valuation is to be carried out in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards 
and is to be the best consideration reasonably obtainable for the Council Land in accordance with section 123 
of the Local Government Act 1972. The valuation must also take into account any overage which might 
reasonably expected to be agreed for the sale of the land. 

4.3 If the Buyer does not approve the valuation then either party may refer the matter to a second independent 
chartered surveyor whose decision will be binding on the parties. 

4.4 The Council has agreed an indicative non-binding overage calculation which the independent valuer will be 
instructed to take into account. This is a percentage of any excess development profit that would become 
payable to the Council by reference to the rate of return where it exceeds      % profit on costs on a ratchet:- 

4.4.1      % where the rate of return is between      % and      %; 

4.4.2      % where the rate of return is between      % and      %; 

79



 

125417833.1\675521 6 

4.4.3      % where the rate of return is above      %. 

4.5 Once the valuation has been agreed or determined the Council will seek committee approval to dispose of 
the Sub-Phase. 

4.6 Where completion will take place more than three months after the Conditions have been satisfied, the Buyer 
must pay a deposit of 5% of the price which will be held by the Council’s solicitors as stakeholder and will be 
released to the Council on completion. 

4.7 The consideration payable for any Third Party Property acquired in the name of the Council but paid for by 
the Buyer as CPO Costs is £20.00. 

5. ACCESS BEFORE COMPLETION 

The Buyer is entitled to inspect the Council Land and carry out pre-acquisition site investigations upon 
reasonable terms agreed with the Council. 

6. COMPLETION 

6.1 Completion of the first Sub-Phase within Phase 1 will take place one month after the satisfaction of the 
Conditions. The sale will be by a 250 year lease of the Council Land and a freehold sale of any Third Party 
Property, in return for the purchase price. 

6.2 If completion of any Council Land does not take place within 12 months of the date of the independent 
valuer’s valuation, the Council Land will be re-valued but will not be any lower than the previous valuation. 

6.3 The Buyer is entitled to request the Council to lease the Council Land and transfer the Third Party Property 
to:- 

6.3.1 a wholly owned subsidiary of the Buyer if the Council is satisfied that the subsidiary and the Funder 
have sufficient financial standing and relevant experience to comply with its obligations, the Buyer 
ensures that it retains a      % shareholding in the subsidiary until completion of the works and the 
subsidiary gives the Council a deed of covenant to comply with the terms of the Land Agreement; 
or 

6.3.2 a funding partner if the Council has approved the identity of the funding partner and the funding 
partner gives the Council a deed of covenant to comply with the terms of the Land Agreement. 

7. DEVELOPMENT 

7.1 The Buyer is not obliged to carry out development but if the Buyer commences works it will not carry out the 
works except in accordance with the planning permission, all necessary consents and the Buyer’s development 
obligations. 

7.2 The development obligations are set out in Schedule 6 to the Land Agreement and given space constraints 
they are not summarised in full in this Report.  

7.3 The Buyer must use reasonable endeavours to procure the carrying out and completion of the works by three 
years after completion of the sale to the Buyer (subject to justifiable extensions of time) and no later than 
five years after completion of the sale to the Buyer. 

7.4 The Buyer must seek the Council’s approval (which must be given within 10 working days otherwise consent 
is deemed to have been given) to:- 

7.4.1 the construction drawings and documents before the start of construction; 

7.4.2 any changes to the approved drawings and documents; 

7.4.3 the terms of appointment of the contractor and professional team; 

80



 

125417833.1\675521 7 

7.5 The Buyer must provide the Council with:- 

7.5.1 a development appraisal in respect of the Council Land before it submits its reserved matters 
application; 

7.5.2 an updated development appraisal as required by the Council; 

7.5.3 collateral warranties from the contractor and professional team with appropriate step-in rights; 

7.5.4 notice of commencement of works; 

7.5.5 a right to inspect the construction site during the construction period; 

7.5.6 updates on the progress of the development at least monthly; 

7.5.7 notice of practical completion of the works; 

8. PRE-EMPTION RIGHT 

8.1 The Council is granted a right of pre-emption to acquire residential properties constructed by the Buyer. 

8.2 The right of pre-emption occurs when the Buyer decides to sell or market any residential units. 

8.3 The Buyer cannot sell residential units without giving the Council a pre-emption notice specifying the units 
on offer, the proposed purchase price (being their market value) and the proposed terms of sale. 

8.4 if the Council wishes to proceed with the pre-emption by accepting the pre-emption notice, subject to 
finalising the purchase price. 

8.5 If the Buyer and the Council cannot agree the purchase price either party may refer the matter to an 
independent chartered surveyor. Once the surveyor has determined the valuation, the Council may elect to 
proceed with the purchase of all, some or none of the units. 

9. FUNDER 

9.1 The Funder has agreed to guarantee the obligations of the Buyer in the Land Agreement. 

9.2 The Funder confirms as at the date of the Land Agreement that:- 

9.2.1 it is a      % shareholder in the Buyer;  

9.2.2 the Buyer has not traded or carried out any activity other than to prepare to enter into the Land 
Agreement and Site Assembly Agreement;  

9.2.3 the Buyer has no assets, liabilities or commitments other than the Land Agreement and Site 
Assembly Agreement. 

10. TERMINATION 

10.1 Time limits 

10.1.1 Time Limit for Submitting the Planning Application: If the Buyer has not submitted an overall 
masterplan for the Development together with a detailed planning application for Phase 1 by 30 
September 2022 (subject to justifiable extensions of time but no later than 31 December 2022) 
the Council may terminate the Land Agreement. 

10.1.2 Time Limit for Obtaining Planning Permission: If Planning Permission has not been granted by 
three years from exchange of the Land Agreement (subject to justifiable extensions of time) then 
either the Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land Agreement. 

81



 

125417833.1\675521 8 

10.1.3 Time Limit for the First Sub-Phase within Phase 1: If the conditions for the sale of the first Sub-
Phase within Phase 1 (which is understood to be the Lodge Lane car park site) are not satisfied by 
three years from the date of the satisfactory planning permission or if earlier three years from the 
date of the Land Agreement (in each case subject to justifiable extensions of time) then either the 
Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land Agreement. 

10.1.4 Time Limit for Subsequent Sub-Phases within Phase 1: If the conditions for the sale of subsequent 
Sub-Phases within Phase 1 are not satisfied by three years from the date of the first CPO 
Confirmation by the Secretary of State (subject to justifiable extensions of time) then either the 
Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land Agreement. 

10.1.5 Time Limit for Phase 2: If the conditions for the sale of Phase 2 are not satisfied by six years from 
the date of the first CPO Confirmation by the Secretary of State or if earlier eight years from the 
date of the Land Agreement (in each case subject to justifiable extensions of time) then either the 
Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land Agreement. 

10.1.6 Time Limit for Phase 3: If the conditions for the sale of Phase 3 are not satisfied by eight years 
from the date of the first CPO Confirmation by the Secretary of State or if earlier 10 years from 
the date of the Land Agreement (in each case subject to justifiable extensions of time) then either 
the Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land Agreement. 

10.1.7 Time Limit for any Further Phase: If the conditions for the sale of a Further Phase are not satisfied 
by ten years from the date of the first CPO Confirmation by the Secretary of State or if earlier 12 
years from the date of the Land Agreement (in each case subject to justifiable extensions of time) 
then either the Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land Agreement. 

10.2 Funder termination 

If the Funder does not consider that any Phase or Sub-Phase remains Financially Viable or considers that 
market conditions have materially deteriorated the Funder may terminate its involvement in future Phases or 
Sub-Phases (but not in respect of any Phase or Sub-Phase in respect of which the Council has made a 
resolution to compulsory purchase). The Buyer may propose a substitute Funder for the Council’s approval, 
failing which the Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land Agreement in respect of future Phases or Sub-
Phases. 

10.3 Default termination 

10.3.1 The Council is entitled to terminate the Land Agreement for specified events of default but only in 
relation to the Phase(s) to which they relate and have not yet commenced construction.  

10.3.2 The events of default are: 

(a) failure by the Buyer to enter into a building contract or commence construction by six 
months after completion of the sale of the relevant Sub-Phase (subject to justifiable 
extensions of time); 

(b) failure to substantially comply with the development provisions in the Land Agreement, 
after notice of default has been given by the Council; 

(c) failure to practically complete the works on the Sub-Phase by five years after completion 
of the sale of the relevant Sub-Phase (subject to justifiable extensions of time); 

(d) the Buyer or the Funder becomes insolvent; 

(e) where land has been transferred to a subsidiary of the Buyer, the Buyer ceases to retain 
a      % shareholding in the subsidiary before completion of the works. 

10.3.3 if an event of default occurs in respect of any land that has not reached practical completion the 
Council may exercise a Call Option to require the Buyer to transfer the Council Land back to the 
Council. The Call Option cannot be exercised without first giving an opportunity to any funding 

82



 

125417833.1\675521 9 

partner or sub-buyer to make good the default. The Call Option Price is the lower of (a) the price 
paid by the Buyer and the CPO Costs relating to the Council Land and (b) the Open Market 
Valuation of the Council Land. If the parties cannot agree the Call Option Price, it will be 
determined by an independent chartered surveyor. 

11. ASSIGNMENT 

11.1 The Buyer may not assign the benefit of the Land Agreement to a third party except to a Funder by way of 
charge as security. 

11.2 The Funder may assign the benefit of the Land Agreement to a group company with the Council’s approval. 

  

83



 

125417833.1\675521 10 

 

SITE ASSEMBLY AGREEMENT 

1. OVERVIEW 

1.1 The Site Assembly Agreement is a contract to be entered into between the Council, the Buyer and the Funder. 

1.2 It sets out the agreement between the parties to consult on a compulsory purchase order in respect of the 
Site. Nothing in the Site Assembly Agreement fetters the Council’s duties obligations, powers or rights in the 
discharge of its functions as a statutory authority. The Council may discontinue the CPO process if Counsel 
advises that it is unlikely to succeed or where there has been a material change in circumstances so that its 
underlying purpose remains unfulfilled.  

1.3 Whilst the Site Assembly Agreement anticipates a single CPO across the entire Site, it also allows for Multiple 
CPOs on a Phase by Phase basis. it is understood that the Council is likely to pursue the latter. 

2. OBTAINING A SATISFACTORY PLANNING PERMISSION 

2.1 The Buyer is responsible for preparing a draft planning application with supporting documents and submitting 
it to the Council for its approval. Once approved, the Buyer must submit it to the local planning authority and 
pursue the grant of a Satisfactory Planning Permission as soon as reasonably possible. The Buyer cannot 
substitute, withdraw or vary the planning application without the Council’s consent. 

2.2 Once the planning permission is issued the Site Assembly Agreement contains terms to determine whether 
the planning permission is a Satisfactory Planning Permission or whether to lodge and pursue an appeal. 

3. COMPULSORY PURCHASE 

3.1 The Buyer agrees to indemnify the Council against all CPO Costs, but the Council agrees not to settle 
compensation claims before making a GVD or notice to treat where they exceed £                without the prior 
approval of the Buyer (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed). 

3.2 The Funder guarantees that the Buyer will comply with its financial obligations. 

3.3 Before Council committee authority is given to make the CPO, the Buyer must provide a solicitors’ 
undertaking to pay the Initial Stage CPO Costs to secure the resolution to make the CPO. 

3.4 After Council committee authority is given to make the CPO the Buyer must give the Council a solicitors’ 
undertaking, bond or security deposit to pay the Stage 1 Security Sum which is for CPO Costs, a    % 
contingency and an allowance of £               for enforcement costs.  

3.5 After the Council intends to issue a notice to treat or execute a GVD, the Buyer must give the Council a 
solicitors’ undertaking, bond or security deposit to pay the Stage 2 Security Sum which is for CPO Costs, a 
10% contingency and an allowance of £               for enforcement costs. 

3.6 There are provisions to revise the Stage 1 Security Sum and Stage 2 Security Sum if these sums are likely to 
be exceeded. Any overpayment will be reimbursed to the Buyer. 

3.7 All property outgoings must be paid to the Council whilst the land is owned by the Council. 

3.8 The Developer must liaise with the Council in relation to the appointment of a land referencer in connection 
with the proposed CPO. The Buyer will procure that the land referencer completes its land referencing 
exercise to allow the Council to make and confirm a CPO. 

3.9 The Buyer must produce a compensation assessment setting out all known CPO interests, their heads of claim, 
whether blight could be claimed, an estimated range of compensation and assumptions. The compensation 
assessment will be reviewed at various stages in the CPO process. 

3.10 The Buyer agrees to use reasonable endeavours to negotiate terms by private treaty to acquire all Third Party 

84



 

125417833.1\675521 11 

Property and rights, keeping the Council fully informed throughout. 

3.11 The Council agrees to:- 

3.11.1 keep the developer informed of the CPO process; 

3.11.2 take all steps to minimise and mitigate CPO costs;  

3.11.3 give the Buyer not less than 20 working days’ notice of the date on which the Council is legally 
required to make any CPO payments; and 

3.11.4 promptly pay any sums received from the Buyer to those who are due to be paid CPO costs. 

3.12 The Council and the Buyer will seek to agree drafts of the CPO, the map, notice of making the CPO and 
supporting statement of reasons. 

3.13 The Council will use its reasonable endeavours to seek authority from its relevant committee to make the 
CPO as soon as the CPO documents are agreed provided that:- 

3.13.1 there is a compelling case in the public interest to make the CPO; 

3.13.2 the necessary funding will be made available to pay all CPO costs; and  

3.13.3 the Buyer has complied with its obligations to acquire Third Party Property and rights. 

3.14 The Council must also be satisfied that the following conditions are or will be satisfied:- 

3.14.1 there are no material impediments to the development going ahead; 

3.14.2 the Compensation Assessment has been agreed or determined and there is no outstanding request 
from either party to review any entry or omission from them; 

3.14.3 the Land Agreement is subsisting and in full effect; 

3.14.4 the Council has received the Security Deposit and/or the Solicitors' Undertaking and/or the Bond 
for an aggregate amount equal to the Stage 1 Security Sum which is the CPO land acquisition costs, 
procedural costs up to a public inquiry and a decision by the Secretary of State, projected costs for 
blight notices and a     % contingency on the preceding costs and an allowance of £               for 
enforcement costs; 

3.14.5 no part of the Site Assembly Agreement is the subject of legal proceedings or dispute resolution. 

3.15 After authority has been given by the relevant Council committee to make the CPO, the Council will submit 
the draft CPO documents to the Secretary of State or Counsel for technical examination and then submit the 
CPO in the statutory form to the Secretary of State for confirmation. The Council will take all appropriate 
steps to secure confirmation of the CPO. The Council will provide the Buyer with the CPO documents 
submitted to the Secretary of State and the names and addresses of those to whom it has served notices of 
making the CPO. 

3.16 There are agreed provisions regarding the funding of a public inquiry and keeping the Buyer advised on the 
progress and result of the public inquiry. 

3.17 If the CPO is confirmed the Council will comply with its statutory notice obligations and will provide a copy 
of the Secretary of State’s decision and inspector’s report. 

3.18 There are agreed provisions regarding the appeal if the Secretary of State does not confirm the CPO including 
if:- 

3.18.1 the Council considers that it would be unlikely to promote and/or improve the economic and/or 
social and/or environmental well-being of the area to pursue such an appeal; or 

85



 

125417833.1\675521 12 

3.18.2 written advice from Counsel assets there is a less than evens chance of a successful appeal. 

3.19 If the CPO is confirmed and the Buyer gives the required notice, the Council will implement the CPO in 
consultation with the Buyer but it will agree to acquire the CPO land on reasonable terms without having 
recourse to the implementation of the CPO. 

3.20 There are agreed provisions regarding the service of blight notices. 

3.21 There are agreed provisions regarding the referral of matters to the Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber) if the 
Buyer wishes the Council to request the determination of statutory compensation. 

4. TERMINATION 

4.1 The Site Assembly Agreement may be terminated by the Council where:- 

4.1.1 an Event of Default occurs including insolvency of the Buyer or Funder; 

4.1.2 material breach of the Buyer’s obligations after notice of default has been given by the Council; and 

4.1.3 material breach of the land referencer’s terms of appointment after notice of default has been given 
by the Council without an alternative land referencer having been appointed. 

4.2 If the Land Agreement is terminated then either party may terminate the Site Assembly Agreement. 

5. ASSIGNMENT 

5.1 The Buyer may not assign the benefit of the Site Assembly Agreement to a third party except to a Funder by 
way of charge as security. 

5.2 The Funder may assign the benefit of the Site Assembly Agreement to a group company with the Council’s 
approval that it has sufficient financial standing and relevant experience to comply with the Funder’s 
obligations. 

 

 
  

  

86



 

125417833.1\675521 13 

 

NOTES TO THIS REPORT 

 

1. This Report is provided by Pinsent Masons LLP and no partner, member or employee assumes any personal 
responsibility for it nor shall owe a duty of care in respect of it. 

2. We have not inspected the Property and do not give any opinion as to the state or condition of the Property, 
its value or its commercial marketability. 

3. All Plans attached to this Report are indicative only. 

  

87



 

 

APPENDIX 1 

PLAN 1 

  

88



 

 

APPENDIX 2 

PLAN 2 

  

89



 

 

APPENDIX 3 

PLAN 3 

  

90



 

 

APPENDIX 4 

PLAN 4 

91



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

93

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Summary 

In accordance with guidance from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy 
(CIPFA), a UK based international accountancy and standard setting body, who specialise 
in public financial management, a strategic approach to property asset management is 
recommended. 
 
CIPFA Property in their guidance titled “Strategic Property Asset Management Framework”, 
August 2018, say: “a good asset management framework does not necessarily make an 
organisation good at asset management, asset management is about the delivery of strategic 
goals and objectives through the use of assets”.   
 
The CIPFA guidance goes onto say, “for most organisation this involves the adoption of a 
written asset management framework”. 
 
In Barnet’s context the authority has started the process of developing its strategic framework 
through the January 2021 adopted Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP).  Supporting the 

 

Housing and Growth Committee 
 

13 September 2021  

Title  
Corporate Asset Management Plan 
(CAMP) 

Report of Chairman of the Housing & Growth Committee. 

Wards All 

Status Public report 

Urgent No 

Key No 

Enclosures                          Appendix 1 - Corporate Asset Management Plan. 

Officer Contact Details  

Chris Smith, Assistant Director – Estates, Acquisitions and 
Development 

chris.smith@barnet.gov.uk 

 

Stephen McDonald, Director of Growth 

stephen.mcdonald@barnet.gov.uk  

113

AGENDA ITEM 11

mailto:chris.smith@barnet.gov.uk
mailto:stephen.mcdonald@barnet.gov.uk


IDP and the strategic initiatives from council directorates, is the attached Corporate Asset 
Management (CAMP). 
 

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. Committee is asked to note the CAMP attached and approval to next steps in 
the report. 

 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1 The September 2014, Strategic Asset Management Plan was the last document to set a 

property and assets strategic framework, so the attached CAMP resets the baseline, and 
the plan is to review the document every two years. 
 

1.2 The Plans focus is the Councils General Fund Portfolio. The CAMP is based around 
committee themes and provides an overview of recent changes to the estate, plus 
proposed changes to the council’s operational and commercial estate, over the next two 
years, the paper identifies projects in delivery. Although occasionally referenced, 
exceptions from this paper are regeneration schemes, Housing Revenue Account funded 
new affordable homes, town centre plans and the development portfolio, all of which are 
reported to Housing & Growth Committee separately. 
 

1.3 Strategic plans within each of the directorates define why there may need to be changes 
made to the estate and the potential projects that define how those changes may look is 
captured in the Council’s Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP), this CAMP is a supporting 
document that provides a summary of proposed projects, planned for the next two years. 

 
2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 
2.1  To assist the London Borough of Barnet with defining its plans for the estate, LBB 

Estates asked CSG to produce a baseline portfolio paper i.e., this Corporate Asset 
Management Plan.  The paper looks at key corporate themes and provides an overview 
of key property programmes along with an analysis of property impacts, identifying those 
assets that will be impacted by individual programmes.  The paper also provides an 
overview of the overall council property portfolio, breaking it into interests and types, 
providing a summary for Members and a baseline from which to initiate projects, for 
Council Officers.   
 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 Not applicable. 
 
4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 
4.1  To continue to provide all LBB directorates with the assets they need, improve 

sustainability and to minimise LBB’s property related financial liability, the following is 
planned: 

 

 A full review of the asset database to ensure that it is fully up to date and that asset 
use is correctly documented.  
 

114



 Implementation of a Corporate Landlord model, whereby building running costs are, 
as far as is practicable, centralised, to achieve greater efficiencies and improved 
customer service.   
 

 Further improvements to customer services. 
 
Contribute to the developing Sustainability Strategy and implementation of related 
initiatives and projects. 
 

 Engagement with the Capital Delivery team to facilitate resource planning to support 
the timely delivery of the capital programme and effective handover of assets to 
business as usual, ensuring new asset are well managed and maintained. 
 

 Review of this CAMP in 2023 
 
5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  

 
5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

 
5.1.1 Execution of programmes and next steps outlined in the CAMP aim to help deliver and 

support existing programmes.  
 

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 
 

5.2.1 The resource for routine asset management and the capital programmes, will be reviewed 
and adjusted, as required. 
 

5.2.2 Each programme will be funded and resourced independently, subject to separate reports 
as required, this paper makes no new recommendations in that respect.   
 

5.2.3 Finance have confirmed clearance, they confirm there are not any current resource 
implications highlighted it the report. 
 

5.3 Legal and Constitutional References 
 

5.3.1  The Constitution- Article 7.5 - Committees Forums Working Groups and Partnerships- 
states that the Housing and Growth’s Committee’s responsibility includes: 

 

 Housing matters including housing strategy, homelessness and social housing and 
housing grants commissioning of environmental health functions for private sector 
housing. 
 

 Regeneration strategy and overseeing major regeneration schemes asset 
management employment strategy business support and engagement. 

 
5.3.2 Section 1(1) of the Localism Act 2011 confers a general power of competence on local 

authorities which permits then to do anything that private individuals may do but this is 

subject to the general principles of public law.  

115



5.3.3. Section 95 of the Local Government Act 2003 allows a local authority to do for a 

commercial purpose anything that they are authorised to do for carrying on any of their 

ordinary functions.  

 
5.4 Insight 

 
5.4.1 The Insight team will be commissioned to support projects and initiatives on a case-by-

case basis. 
 

5.5 Social Value 
 

5.5.1 As required, reviewed as part of each individual programme and project. 
 

5.6 Risk Management 
 

5.6.1  As required, considered as part of individual programmes and projects. 
 
5.7 Equalities and Diversity  
 
5.6.1  The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public-Sector Equalities Duty which 

requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 
 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act 2010. 
 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups and foster good 
relations between people from different groups.  

 
5.6.2 Any Equalities Impact Assessments will be undertaken as required and appropriate 

consideration given in respect of any individual matters projects and programmes having 
regard to the Council’s duties as required the Equality Act 2010. 

 
5.8 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.7.1 As required, considered as part of individual programmes and projects.  
 
5.9 Consultation and Engagement 

 
5.9.1 In developing the CAMP an extensive programme of consultation was undertaken and the 

following Barnet officers have input on the programmes or sections against their name, as 
required officers will consult with the Chairmen of relevant committees on individual 
programmes: 
 

Chris Smith, Assistant Director – Estates, Acquisitions and Development, Introduction, Vision, 
Objectives, Conclusion and Next Steps. 
Karen Mercer, Brent Cross Regeneration Lead. 
Susan Curran, Head of Housing and Regeneration, One Public Estate 
Iliana Koutsou, Programme Manager – Special Projects, Colindale Office Travel Plan 
Champion, Public Sector Decarbonisation 
Matthew Waters, Assistant Director – Capital Delivery, Capital Delivery 
Hannah Richens, Head of Libraries, Libraries 

116



Suzi Carter, Asset Acquisition and Hendon Library 
Abid Arai, Head of Development Delivery – Estates, Development Delivery 
Syma Kadri, Estates Strategy and Requirements Team Lead, Greenspaces 
Cassie Bridger, Assistant Director: Greenspaces & Leisure, Leisure Centres, Greenspaces and 
the Covid 19 local response 
Melanie Chiknagi, Head of Property and Asset Management, Community Assets, Delivery the 
LBB section and Commercial 
 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
6.1 Draft infrastructure development plan, January 2021: Appendix C - Infrastructure Delivery 

Plan.pdf (moderngov.co.uk). 
 

6.2 Strategic asset management plan, September 2014: Appendix 1 - Strategic Asset 
Management Plan.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) 
 

6.3 Capital programme, June 2021: 
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65210/Capital%20Projects%20Report.pdf 
 

 
   

 
 

117

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s63180/Appendix%20C%20-%20Infrastructure%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s63180/Appendix%20C%20-%20Infrastructure%20Delivery%20Plan.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19827/Appendix%201%20-%20Strategic%20Asset%20Management%20Plan.pdf#:~:text=The%20Strategic%20Asset%20Management%20Plan%20is%20a%20key,Officers%20and%20Partner%20organisations%20to%20support%2Finform%20any%20decision
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s19827/Appendix%201%20-%20Strategic%20Asset%20Management%20Plan.pdf#:~:text=The%20Strategic%20Asset%20Management%20Plan%20is%20a%20key,Officers%20and%20Partner%20organisations%20to%20support%2Finform%20any%20decision
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65210/Capital%20Projects%20Report.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

 

 
LONDON BOROUGH OF BARNET 
CORPORATE ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN (CAMP) 
THE GENERAL FUND PORTFOLIO 
 
Content  
 

 Page Number 
1. Introduction 1 
2. Corporate Vision for the Property Portfolio 2 
3. Asset Management Objectives 2 
4. The Property Portfolio 3 
1) Property Interests 3 
2) Asset Types 3 
5. Theme Committees 4 
6. Corporate Programmes that Impact the Property Portfolio 4 

1) Adults and Safeguarding 4 
2) Children, Education & Safeguarding 5 
3) Community Leadership & Libraries 6 
4) Environment 7 
5) Housing & Growth 8 
6) Policy & Resources 11 
7) Finance Performance & Contracts  11 

7. Delivery 11 
1) LBB Estates 11 
2) CSG Estates 11 

8. Conclusion 12 
9. Next Steps 12 

 
1. Introduction 
 
The Growth Directorate is the main corporate engine for the Thriving priority, within The Barnet 
Plan. Growth brings together the council’s Regeneration, Planning, Housing, and Estates, 
Acquisitions & Development services, and is responsible for developing council infrastructure, 
such as schools and leisure centres.  In addition, the directorate facilitates the delivery of skills 
and employment programmes, fosters economic development, and provides business 
support. 
  
This Corporate Asset Management Plan (CAMP) helps ensure that the Councils land and 
buildings are structured to support the delivery of corporate priorities. Our current corporate 
estate comprises 1,128 assets.  From our total estate, 604 are leased-out for a current rent 
roll of c.£4.4m (including HRA shops under flats) per annum.  Going forward our priority is to 
reduce operational estate costs through several energy conservation initiatives and contract 
negotiations, and to generate income through fair and responsible rent reviews and lease 
renewals on the commercial estate.  In addition, several development opportunities with 
income generating possibilities are being investigated, along with acquisitions for 
regeneration purposes that may also generate short-term income.  The Council will also 
continue to utilise the One Public Estate programme to identify rationalisation and income 
generating opportunities, with our public sector partners. 
 

119



2 
 

The CAMP is based around committee themes and provides an overview of recent changes 
to the estate, plus proposed changes to the council’s operational and commercial estate, 
over the next 2 years.  Although occasionally referenced, exceptions from this paper are 
regeneration schemes, Housing Revenue Account funded new affordable homes, town 
centre plans and the development portfolio, all of which are reported to Housing & Growth 
Committee separately.  
 
To assist with defining the council’s plans for the estate, Barnet Estates asked CSG to 
produce this baseline portfolio paper - the CAMP.  The paper looks at key corporate themes 
and provides an overview of key property programmes along with an analysis of property 
impacts, identifying those assets that will be impacted by individual programmes.  The paper 
also provides an overview of the overall council property portfolio, breaking it into interests 
and types, providing the Council with a baseline from which to initiate projects.   
 
Strategic plans within each of the directorates define why there may need to be changes 
made to the estate and the potential projects that define how those changes may look is 
captured in the Council’s Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP).  This CAMP provides a 
summary of proposed projects, planned for the next two years. 
 
2. Vision for the management of the Property Portfolio 
 
The LBB Estates / CSG Estates joint vision is to provide strategic and operational 
management of the LBB estate, in all its forms, to allow LBB to meet its operational 
obligations and provide all staff and customers with a working environment equal to or better 
than anything found in the UK public sector. The Estates team serves as a custodian of the 
council’s land holdings and acts as corporate landlord for all the council’s operational 
buildings. The team is therefore jointly responsible for ensuring that council assets are 
utilised in the most efficient way, both operationally and financially. 
 
3. Asset Management Objectives 

  
The priorities for the estate are to remain flexible and to accommodate the evolving needs of 
the council. This will be especially important during the recovery from Covid 19, and we will 
therefore continue to engage with directorates to understand their objectives and how the 
estate can best support them, whilst still exploiting asset rationalisation, savings and income 
generating opportunities. We have developed a consistent approach to decision making via 
an internal Property Review Programme Board, to ensure that demands on space are being 
prioritised, and diverse stakeholders’ needs managed well. Providing flexible office space, 
whilst ensuring that business continuity can be maintained, also remains a priority and 
maintaining robust operational resilience to external incidents that may occur in the borough 
is vital. Our physical property and safety procedures clearly form part of this resilience. 
 
Central Government is consulting on setting EPC building rating to a ‘B’ by 2030 (the 
minimum is currently ‘E’), which will affect the non-domestic buildings the Council can lease 
– consultation came to an end in June 2021. The outcome of the consultation will impact the 
Estate as investment in buildings may be required prior to agreeing new leases.  The council 
is coincidentally developing a Sustainability Strategy which will set out the council’s aims and 
ambitions in relation to sustainability so the approach to reaching EPC B will be fundamental 
to it.  
 
We continue to realise savings from exiting the leases for Barnet House (vacated March 
2021) and North London Business Park Building 2 (vacated June 2020), we will also be 
reviewing energy contracts and delivering de-carbonisation projects that should result in 
further savings in 22/23.  Additional income will be generated by renting out space in existing 
buildings, including the Colindale office, where it is appropriate to do so, and lease renewals 

120



3 
 

and rent reviews will be carried out promptly. Work to drive forward development schemes 
and site disposals will continue to be a priority, building on some excellent progress made in 
20/21. These schemes, if successful, will result in a combination of short-term receipts and 
longer-term revenue that can be cycled back into council services.  The Council will also 
continue to review the Community Benefit Assessment Tool (CBAT) arrangements and will 
present recommendations for potential improvements, to Policy and Resources Committee, 
once ready. 
 
Responsible asset management will continue. Statutory building compliance remains a top 
priority and spending to improve the condition of buildings will take place, where it is prudent 
to do so. Repairs will be conducted promptly, and the implementation of a comprehensive 
corporate landlord management function will continue. This will centralise maintenance and 
utility budgets over time, so releasing directorates from the burden of managing buildings 
and increasing the opportunity to make savings through bulk contracts etc. 
 
4. The Property Portfolio 
 
1) Property Interests 
 
The Council’s property portfolio comprises the following interests: 
 

Tenure Total 

Freehold 966 

Leasehold 62 

Other interests 100 

Grand total 1,128 

 
2) Asset Types 
 
As in the table on the next page, the Council’s Property Interests are made up of the 
following Asset Types. 
 

Asset Type Total Asset Type Total 

Advert Hoarding 7 Museum 2 

Agricultural 12 Nature Reserve 11 

Allotment 48 Nursery 2 

Amenity Land 119 Office 20 

Arts Centre 1 Open Space 129 

Burial Ground 5 Other 1 

Car Park 6 Park 38 

Care Home 7 Playground 7 

Caretaker's Residence 16 Playing Field 17 

Children's Centre 4 Public Car Park 32 

Children's Home 2 Pupil Referral Unit 3 

Churchyard 4 Residential 82 

College 2 Restaurant/Pub 1 

Community Centre 44 School 142 

Crematorium 1 Shop 80 

Day Centre 8 Shop with flat above 28 

Dentist 1 Sports Club 30 

121



4 
 

Depot 4 Theatre 2 

Emergency Service 3 Training Centre 1 

Equestrian Centre 3 University 4 

Garage 8 Utility 126 

Health Centre 1 War Memorials 6 

Hospice 1 Warehouse 1 

Industrial 8 Yard 4 

Leisure 15 Youth Club 11 

Library 17 
  

Monument 1     

Grand Total     1128 

 
5. Themes Committees  
 
The CAMP summarises current projects and initiatives, by the following Theme Committees: 
 

1) Adults and Safeguarding 
2) Children, Education & Safeguarding 
3) Community Leadership & Libraries 
4) Environment 
5) Housing & Growth 
6) Policy & Resources 
7) Finance Performance & Contracts 

 
6. Directorate Programmes that Impact the Property Portfolio 
 
1) Adults & Safeguarding 
 
Sport and Leisure Facilities 
 
The vision for future provision of sport and leisure facilities across the Borough is set out in 
the Fit & Active Barnet (FAB) Framework alongside achieving the outcomes described within 
the Barnet Plan.  
 
A key objective is to ensure that there is an adequate supply of good quality facilities offering 
a range of sport and activities to meet current and future levels of demand across the 
Borough.  
 
Although the Borough has good sports facilities, there are some which are aging and will 
require replacement or refurbishment. In September 2019 the Council opened two brand 
new leisure facilities: Barnet Copthall Leisure Centre and New Barnet Leisure Centre.  
There is a commitment to re-provide Hendon Leisure Centre as part of the Brent Cross 
South Regeneration Scheme and longer-term aspirations to complete feasibility 
assessments for the remaining facilities and Finchley Lido Leisure Centre and Burnt Oak 
Leisure Centre.  
 
Retaining the existing levels of community accessible sports halls, health and fitness as a 
minimum is important to ensure that provision is accessible for all residents and that 
participation levels can be sustained. Therefore, it will remain imperative that the Council 
continues to work with public and voluntary sector partners where agreements are in place 
(e.g., site specific Service Level Agreements) to ensure that access is enabled and where 
feasible, increased.  

122



5 
 

 
Care Homes 
 
Delivering Adult Social Care remains challenging, particularly in relation to the Covid19 
pandemic which is creating pressure on service delivery and budgets.  Following 
replacement of care provider Freemantle, Your Choice Barnet are now the provider 
delivering services at three care homes.  Considering ongoing pressures, the service 
delivery model and assets are under constant review to ensure they are aligned with 
demand and Central Government’s agenda.  The Assets require both capital and revenue 
expenditure and this is being implemented where possible, whilst considering the future 
operating model and ownership of the assets.  
 
The internal Care Home Board oversees the development of a long-term Care Home 
strategy. This is currently at the requirements definition stage and will ultimately include a 
review of the current service with a comparison to new models.  Outline and Full Business 
Cases will then be used to inform project delivery strategy and capital bids. 
 
Barnet Mencap. 
 
Mencap have been based at Sherrick House, in Hendon. The Mencap provision is 
commissioned by ASC and has changed its service model to reflect the changing demand of 
the community. Mencap are relocating to 154 Station Road which is a semi-detached house 
previously occupied by The Network. The premises will be shared with Dementia Support 
which is another service commissioned by ASC and is run by Age UK.  
 
Meridian Wellbeing (formally Chinese Mental Health Association).  
 
The Meritage Centre building is currently managed by Meridian Wellbeing and discussions 
are currently taking place with them, and Adult Social Care (ASC) to move this service to 
brand new facilities within the Hendon Hub development scheme.    
 
HRA Extra Care Programme.   
 
Barnet Homes are delivering three Extra Care developments on behalf of the council.  Ansell 
Court in Mill Hill completed in January 2019 (53 extra care units).  Stag House on Burnt Oak 
Broadway is currently onsite (51 units) and a further 75 units will be delivered as part of the 
Upper and Lower Fosters regeneration scheme. 
 
2) Children, Education & Safeguarding 
 
Education 
 
In line with usual practice in the sector, day to day management of School Sites sits with the 
Governing Body of each school. Should schools decide to, they can opt to buy into the 
Traded Service offered by Capita Building Services for Building Compliance. Alternatively, 
they can choose their own service provider. 
 
The approved school’s places strategy informs the asset management strategy over the 
medium term.  CSG have completed a headline review of school premises and provided a 
basic assessment of condition and the education team are now considering a more 
comprehensive condition assessment, to identify capital works required to maintain asset 
condition and extend asset life to inform the Schools Modernisation Programme as per 
below.    
 
SEN Programme  

123



6 
 

 
The proposed programme consists of various projects to expand the existing SEN teaching 
capacity identified and determined by the most needed priorities within the LA.  Current 
projects include new modular buildings, extensions, and internal remodelling for new 
teaching provision. 
 
Schools Modernisation Programme  
 
Education and Skills commission an annual programme of work to modernise and maintain 
community schools. The programme consists of various projects, such as new replacement 
roofs, new windows, internal refurbishment, new modular buildings, and extensions for new 
teaching space.   
 
Pupil Referral Unit 
 
The Pavilion Study Centre is a Pupil Referral Unit (PRU) situated within Dame Alice Owen’s 
Playing Fields. Following an Ofsted report on the condition of the school, it was agreed to 
undertake a series of works to demolish the existing buildings and replace with a fit-for-
purpose facility accommodating 73 students and staff.  The project involves the design and 
construction of a new school building, sports pavilion, and external works, including 
enhancements to the adjacent playing fields. Works began on site in October 2020 and are 
expected to conclude in spring 2023. A temporary facility has been provided on site for 
teaching to continue for the duration.  The assets affected are: Main school building 
(currently undergoing demolition), Pavilion building (demolition imminent) and the 
Caretaker’s house (demolished end of 2020). 
 
Post 16 Technical Provision 
 
This is a new area of work that requires a new site or building where a school can run post 
16 technical vocational training. The exact requirement is currently being clarified, prior to 
identifying sites that may be able to accommodate. 
 
Caretakers Homes 
 
Officers have begun a review of the caretaker homes portfolio, with a view to informing rental 
arrangements and the responsibility for maintenance and repair.   
 
3) Community Leadership & Libraries 
 
Family Services 
 
Due to the decrease in number of children in care, there is a move towards exploring 
alternative types of accommodation as part of the Placements Programmes to support our 
children, young people, and families.  The Family Services Placement Board oversees the 
Placement Strategy and residential settings supporting our children and young people.   
 
Family Services have two residential homes with a total capacity of up to 12-13 beds, both 
properties are to be repurposed.   
 
Foster case is Barnet’s preferred option for children in case, with 64% placed in foster care.  
Aligned with the national trend, for a minority of our children in care (14%-12% in England), a 
residential setting can be an opportunity to provide extensive support and meet complex 
needs.  Over the last 5 years, Barnet has had an average of 44 children in residential 
placements.  The majority are placed in external residential settings (average of 33%, 10% 
of all children in care). 

124



7 
 

 
Libraries 
 
The Infrastructure Delivery Plan identifies a need to look for new premises in several 
locations.  A review of Burnt Oak, Edgware and Osidge Libraries will be undertaken in line 
with development plans for the local area and opportunities for reprovision will be 
considered.  Relocation of Hendon Library is being considered as part of the Hendon Hub 
programme, the School Libraries Resources Service will be moving to the former Quinta 
Club.   
 
4) Environment 
 
Green Spaces 
 
Barnet is largely characterised by its greenspace and it is important that a geographical 
distribution of facilities within parks supports existing and future demand. This is recognised 
within key strategic documents such as the Parks and Open Spaces Strategy (2016) and the 
Playing Pitch Strategy (2017). Both these documents outline a strategic approach to 
informing the management and development of parks across the borough, taking into 
consideration assets which are located within parks (such as sports pavilions / nurseries / 
cafes) and assessing opportunities for improvement and utilisation.  
 
The Council has been developing proposals focused on creating ‘strategic sports hubs’ 
located at West Hendon Playing Fields, Barnet Playing Fields / King George V and Copthall / 
Mill Hill Open Spaces in which all masterplan proposals have all been approved by 
Environment Committee. Each masterplan is assessed individually, subject to its own 
respective Business Case and will be presented to Committee for approval and 
implementation.  
 
West Hendon Playing Fields has presently advanced to Outline Business Case approval 
(Policy & Resources – June 2021), with a current timetable for anticipated delivery by 
2024/25. 
 
Significant progress continues to be made in delivering the Colindale Parks Improvement 
Plan: in which the £5m investment into Silk Stream Park and Montrose Playing Fields 
completed in May 2020. A £1.1m investment into Colindale Park commenced in April 2021 
and is scheduled for completion by October 2021. Future proposals for improvements to 
Rushgrove Park have been devised and submitted to planning for approval, with an 
anticipated delivery by 2023/24. A future £2m investment into Heybourne Park remains in 
design development and is anticipated for delivery by 2024/25  
 
Other regeneration proposals comprise of Brent Cross Parks as part of the Brent Cross 
South Regeneration, in which Claremont Park will be invested in and improved.  In addition, 
Clitterhouse Playing Fields will be transformed and redeveloped, creating an attractive 
destination for residents and communities. The proposals for both these schemes are 
currently at design development stage, with anticipated planning submissions by 2022.  
Victoria Park Masterplan is being delivered in line with agreed proposals that were presented 
to Full Council acting as trustees of Victoria Park. 
 
Unregistered land and Fly Tipping 
 
Where fly tipping exists within Council-owned land (that is not otherwise identified as under 
the responsibility of a Council service such as Greenspaces, Highways, Barnet Homes etc), 
it is the responsibility of Estates to clear and install preventative fly tipping measures.  As a 
result, a member of the LBB Estates team stands ready to respond to incidents of fly-tipping 

125



8 
 

and sits on various fly tipping meetings to ensure good coordination with other departments. 
In 2020 fencing was installed in the Burnt Oak area to prevent fly tipping access to Silk 
Stream. 
 
Depot Consolidation 
 
With Streetscene services currently located at different sites including out of borough, there 
have been impacts on service operations and delivery, presenting several strategic risks for 
the council.  As a result, there is an ambition and operational requirement to consider 
opportunities to site services in one location, the preference being Oakleigh Road Depot and 
adjacent land parcels. Whilst the exact scope is to be determined, there will be a space 
planning exercise, which could include the potential for demolition and relocation of existing 
site assets.   
 
5) Housing & Growth 
 
Office Accommodation 
 
Following Government lockdown due to Covid19, the Authority established the Re-entry to 
Corporate Asset Programme, to facilitate the re-opening and readiness of Authority owned 
and occupied office buildings. The delivery of the programme allowed services to the public 
to safely resume, whilst protecting staff and visitors, and supporting staff in the adoption of 
new working practices.  Phase 1 covered the period from the commencement of lockdown 
(March 2020) to end August 2020.  Phase 2 covered the period from September to 
December 2020. 
 
In line with the rationalisation of the council’s offices and the move into the new office at 
Colindale, during 2019, the Authority disposed of its major leasehold interest in offices at 
North London Business Park in June 2020.  In late 2020 the Council also entered 
negotiations with the landlord at Barnet House to agree an early end to its lease on 31 
March 2021.  
 
As a result of further rationalisation of space in the Colindale office, it has been possible to 
free up the 8th floor of the building for a commercial tenant. Accordingly, in September 2021, 
a lease with a sub-contractor to Job Centre Plus, for the 8th floor, is due to complete. This 
will bring in significant annual income to assist with covering the running costs of the 
building. 
 
Re-configuration of the 4th floor of the Colindale Office is underway, to better support hybrid 
and collaborative working by staff. Fit-out of the ground floor space designated for Housing 
Options will take place by the end of 2021 and the café space at the front of the building will 
also be fitted-out, by the Autumn, to accommodate a new café provider. 
 
Community Assets 
 
Barnet has a large community portfolio and for several years, the Council has used the 
Community Benefit Assessment Tool (CBAT), to calculate rental subsidies for tenants who 
provide services to the community and are accommodated in designated community assets.  
Many community tenants were occupying based on expired leases and the programme 
provided an opportunity to fairly regularise the arrangement, providing security to both the 
tenant and Council.  
 
A review of the CBAT is underway, as was specified should happen when it was first 
approved at Policy and Resources Committee in June 2016. Any recommendations for 

126



9 
 

improvements to the tool and accompanying assessment process will be presented to P&R 
Committee, when ready.    
 
Marketing of the CBAT to other (predominantly public) bodies is underway and so far, 
London Borough of Greenwich and Waltham Forest have signed licencing agreements with 
LBB, for them to be able to use the tool.  
 
Commercial Portfolio 
 
Most of the commercial asset portfolio dates to when housing estates were first built with 
various inclusive retail units. Recently though, some space in existing corporate assets has 
also been re-purposed to provide space for commercial organisations and generate some 
additional income.  
 
The current portfolio comprises, for the most part, shops under flats, office space in Hendon, 
space in libraries, agricultural land, sports facilities and now parts of the Colindale office. The 
whole portfolio is currently being reviewed to ensure that all assets are managed as 
efficiently as possible over the medium and longer-term. 
 
Voids and Vacant Schedule 
 
To ensure visibility and proactive management of council asset, a schedule of vacant and 
underutilised properties has been produced and is regularly reviewed, to reduce empty 
space to a bare minimum.  The schedule provides comprehensive information regarding 
assets, enabling better cost control and the rapid assessment of the suitability of premises to 
meet known requirements (from both internal and external customers). Assets that don’t 
meet known requirements will be marketed to attract tenants or (subject to committee 
approval) declared surplus and marketed for disposal.  
  
Sustainability  
 
RE: FIT 
 
Administered by Salix, RE: FIT was funded by an interest free loan of circa £390,000.  
Measures included installing boiler optimisers, valve wraps, fridge voltage optimisers, 
improved temperature control, LED lighting, BMS optimisation and solar PV.  The assets 
included in the programme were: Oakleigh Road Depot, Hendon Town Hall, Hendon Library, 
Chipping Barnet Library, Burnt Oak Library, Edgeware Library, Mill Hill Library, North 
Finchley Library, East Finchley Library, Golders Green Library, Oak Hill Park Pavilion, 
Canada Villa, and the Family Resources Centre.   
 
Public Sector Decarbonisation 
 
Administered by Salix, the Public Sector Decarbonisation Scheme provides grants for public 
sector bodies to improve the energy efficiency of public sector buildings.  £1.38m was 
awarded in February 2021 for a programme of improvements between March to 
September/December 2021.  Measures include installing air source heat pumps, solar PV, 
battery storage, LED and BMS.  The assets included in the programme are Childs Hill 
Library, Edgware Library, Family Resources Centre, Finchley Youth Theatre, Friary House, 
Friary Park – Bowls Pavilion, Greentop Centre, Meadway Pupil Referral Unit, Mill Hill Library, 
New Park House Children’s Home, Newstead Children’s Centre, North Finchley Library, 
Osidge Library, Parkfield Children’s Centre, Colindale Office, and Whitings School. A further 
grant offer is expected this year and a further review of assets that could benefit is being 
undertaken, in preparation. 
 

127



10 
 

Other Initiatives  
 
The One Public Estate programme is an established National programme delivered in 
partnership by the Local Government Association and the Office of Government Property 
within the Cabinet Office.  The programme is designed to encourage partnering across 
public sector organisations, with the aim to identify opportunities for rationalisation of the 
public estate, to free up land for housing.  The Council was one of a few of the first partners 
that joined the programme this enabled the formation of projects such as the Hendon Hub 
and key worker housing at Finchley Memorial Hospital.   
 
The Council continues to bid for funding in each OPE funding round and plans to bring other 
opportunities forward as they are identified.   
 
Heritage Assets  
 
The Heritage Programme and the War Memorial Trust Grant this includes grants for Small 
Grants Scheme, the English Heritage, and the Wolfson Foundation scheme as well as other 
awards distributed by the charity.  The Authority has received grant funding for 6 eligible War 
Memorials for general works to protect and preserve the assets. Works to the Totteridge War 
Memorial will begin in 2021/22, with the remaining five war memorials to be restored in 
2022/23 – these are the East Barnet War Memorial, Friern Barnet Parishioners War 
Memorial, Hendon War Memorial, Men of Mill Hill War Memorial and New Barnet War 
Memorial.  The Council is also planning to restore the Friary Park Peace Statue in 2021/22, 
and the Henrietta Barnet Memorial in 2022/23. 
 
Asset Acquisition 
 
The Council has an approved Asset Acquisitions Strategy, which was approved at Housing 
and Growth Committee, in January 2021. The approved approach has been developed in 
line with extant CIPFA guidance for Local Authorities and will be subject to regular review, to 
react to changes in guidance over time. Any assets acquired for regeneration will be formally 
added to the asset portfolio and managed accordingly, until such time as land assembly 
becomes possible, for them not to impact negatively on the general fund.   
 
The Covid 19 Local Response 
 
In response to the Covid 19 pandemic the Council has been asked for assistance by Health 
Partners to identify Testing and Vaccination Sites. In 2018, the Council purchased 11 acres 
of land with Planning Permission for a cemetery in Milespit Hill and, as a result of planning 
for excess deaths during the pandemic, the delivery temporary and then permanent 
development of the site was undertaken.  
 
In March 2020 the Council established and operated an Essential Supplies Hub at the RAF 
Museum, with the invaluable generosity and assistance of the Museum. In late 2020, 
responsibility for the hub was transferred to Barnet Together and the hub moved to the old 
East Barnet Library, which was modified for the purpose, to maintain supplies to food hubs 
operating in the borough. The hubs tenure in this location will expire when the site is 
developed in late 2022 / early 2023. 
 
In mid-2020 a Personal Protective Equipment (PPE) Hub was established in the Colindale 
Office, which has become a somewhat enduring requirement. To de-conflict with the 
increased use of the office, the hub will be moved to an alternative location by October 2021. 
 
6) Policy & Resources (P&R) Committee 

 

128



11 
 

Infrastructure Development Plan (IDP)  
 
The IDP provides the strategic framework for the creation and development of council assets 
and has listed prioritised projects for the next 5 years. These were approved at P&R 
Committee on 21 July 2021 and requirements for each project will now be defined, in 
accordance with those priorities, for projects to be initiated. 
 
7) Financial Performance and Contracts Committee (FPCC) 

 
Capital Programme 

The status of live projects within the current capital programme was reported to FPCC on 8 
June 2021. 
 
7. Delivery 
 
The responsibility for managing the corporate property portfolio is split between LBB Estates 
(part of the Growth Directorate), who have a strategic management and clienting role, and 
Capita CSG Estates, who are responsible for transactional services. 
 
1) LBB Estates 

 
The Heads of four Services report into the Assistant Director Estates.  The heads comprise: 
Head of Property Strategy, Head of Asset Management and Requirements, Head of 
Development Delivery and Head of Property Acquisitions.  The Heads of Services are 
supported by additional resources, within their own teams.   
 
2) CSG Estates 
 
The Capita CSG Estates function is a long-standing contract arrangement between Barnet 
and Capita, the contract is into year 6/7.  The CSG Estates Department is led by the Director 
of Estates to whom four Services leads report, along with an Associate Director.  The Heads 
of Services comprise: The Assistant Director Strategic Property; The Head of Property 
Services and Valuation; the Head of Building Services; and the Facilities Management Team 
Leader. 
 
The Assistant Director Strategic Property is responsible for managing transactions that 
involve a change in the way assets are used, including land assembly and cleaning sites in 
preparation for redevelopment, in some form.  
 
The Head of Property Services and Valuation is responsible for management of the 
Council’s leased portfolio, largely comprising the commercial estates and civic sites.  The 
Service will provide all property related services required for effective management.   
 
The Head of Building Services is responsible for managing the Managed Estate, providing a 
building compliance service, including planned, reactive, and programmed cyclical works. In 
addition to the Managed Estate the service also provides a traded service to schools, 
enabling them to buy into building compliance services.   
 
The Facilities Management Lead is responsible for managing what was defined as the Civic 
Estate at the commencement of the contract. This is a small but important portfolio of large 
Office and Depot sites, including a property in Friary Park.  The Service provides operational 
Facilities Management comprising custodian services, cleaning, and security management.  
A review of the scope of the FM service is underway, to better direct resources to where they 
can best serve the needs of staff.   

129



12 
 

 
The Associate Director – Estates is responsible for ensuring the Directorate’s work is in line 
with contractual provisions between LB Barnet and Capita, including performance 
management.  
 
On a need’s basis, LB Barnet also buy into Capita’s Building Surveying, Project 
Management, and wider offering. For example, the Hendon Hub project team.   
 
8. Conclusion 
 
To continue to provide all LBB directorates with the assets they need, improve sustainability 
and to minimise LBB’s property related financial liability, the following is planned: 
 

 A full review of the asset database to ensure that it is fully up to date and that asset 
use is correctly documented.  

 

 Implementation of a Corporate Landlord model, whereby building running costs are, 
as far as is practicable, centralised, to achieve greater efficiencies and improved 
customer service.   

 

 Further improvements to customer services. 
 
Contribute to the developing Sustainability Strategy and implementation of related 
initiatives and projects. 
 

 Engagement with the Capital Delivery team to facilitate resource planning to support 
the timely delivery of the capital programme and effective handover of assets to 
business as usual, ensuring new asset are well managed and maintained. 
 

 Review of this CAMP in 2023 

 

9. Next Steps 
 
In line with the Growth Directorate’s strategic intent and LBB’s IDP, this CAMP provides an 
overview of the overall council property portfolio, broken down into interests and types, 
providing an asset baseline.  The CAMP also provides an overview of key corporate 
approved programmes that have a property impact and captures all property activity in one 
document. It provides an update to the Strategic Asset Management Plan, published in 
2014.    
 

130



 

 

 

Summary 

This report updates on progress across the programme since the last Committee meeting on 
14 June 2021. In particular it provides and update on the progress of the new Brent Cross 
West Station and Brent Cross Town, and confirms the successful completion of the 
framework for the station bridge by the Mace and VolkerFitzpatrick teams and the closing 
out of the Rail Systems and Sidings works by Network Rail over the August bank holiday 
weekend. This report also seeks approval by the Committee to delegate to the Deputy Chief 
Executive to procure the station operational assets and the required resources from Govia 
Thameslink (GTR) to support the Station Handback and Entry into Service workstreams.  
Work have also commenced on the replacement homes for the Whitefield Estate Part 1 
residents have now commenced on Plots 53 and 54 on Brent Terrace.  
 

 

 

Housing and Growth Committee 

13 September 2021 

Title Brent Cross Update Report 

Report of Chairman of Housing and Growth Committee  

Wards Childs Hill, Golders Green and West Hendon 

Status 

Public (with Exempt report (Not for publication by virtue of 

paragraphs 3 and 5 of Schedule12A of the Local 

Government Act 1972 as amended as this relates to 

information of a financial nature and information in 

respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 

could be maintained in legal proceedings). 

Urgent No 

Key Yes 

Enclosures                          
Appendix A - Presentation to Government Assurance 
Board, July 2021 
Appendix B, BXW Site Progress Photographs 

  

 

Karen Mercer, Programme Director   

Karen.Mercer@barnet.gov.uk 

131

AGENDA ITEM 12

mailto:Karen.Mercer@barnet.gov.uk


  

 

2 

 

Officers Recommendations  

That the Committee: 

 

1) Note progress across the Brent Cross programme as detailed in the report; 

2) Delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive acting in the best interests 

of the Council  to approve finalise and conclude the  contract with Station 

Operator (GTR) to procure the provision of station assets for the Brent 

Cross West station having obtained written approval from DfT that these 

assets will be station assets and will be transferred to the Station Operator 

as set out in paragraph 1.12 of this report and to procure their services to 

support the Station Handback and Entry into Service workstream 

(paragraph 1.13) subject to compliance with all statutory requirements;   

3) Delegate authority to the Executive Director, Environment in consultation 

with the Chairman of this Committee and Assistant Director – Estates, 

Acquisitions and Development all such persons acting in the best interests 

of the Council to a) review and agree the Estate Management arrangements 

and finalise the Service Charge Lease, Infrastructure Lease and Overall 

Headlease for Brent Cross Town (BXT) Estate for approval by this 

Committee in December; 

4) Delegate authority to the Director of Resources acting in the best interests 

of the Council to agree and enter into the required lease relating to the 

Temporary Visitor Centre; 

5) Note that BXT are actively discussing with the council a proposal to 

speculatively develop Plot 19 to be the centrepiece of the business ‘eco-

system’ delivering an exemplar for the future of workspace as part of the 

First Phase.  It is anticipated that this will be reported to the Committee in 

November seeking its inclusion within the First Phase Proposal alongside 

the required consequential changes to the Business Plan and legal 

documentation to effect the change. An update will be provided to the BX 

Member Working Group in October; 

6) Confirm that council officers no longer promote the re-naming of Brent 

Cross tube station to Brent Cross East for reasons set out in paragraph 1.19 

of this report. 

 

 
 
 
 

132



  

 

3 

1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1. This report provides the quarterly update on progress since the last Committee meeting on 

14 June 2021 https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65362/PUBLIC%20-
%20BX%20HG%20Report%2014%20June%202021.pdf. Good progress continues to be 
made across the programme and can be viewed on the council website Transforming Brent 
Cross Cricklewood | Home (transformingbx.co.uk). The key updates are as follows:  

 

 Construction works for the replacement homes for the Whitefield Estate Part 1 residents 
have now commenced on Plots 53 and 54 on Brent Terrace.  

 

 The August bank holiday weekend saw the successful completion of the framework for 
the station bridge by the Mace and VolkerFitzpatrick teams and the closing out of the Rail 
Systems and Sidings works by Network Rail and Amey.  

 

 
 

 On 2 September 2021, the Rt Hon Robert Jenrick MP, Secretary of State for Housing, 
Communities and Local Government, and Mike Freer, MP for Finchley and Golders Green 
visited the Brent Cross West and Brent Cross Town sites to view progress. 
 

 On 1 September 2021, Senior officers from Brent Council also visited the site to review 
progress and discuss co-ordinating scheme and across the Borough boundary.  A joint 
site visit by the Leaders of both councils is scheduled for 23 September 2021.  

 
Brent Cross West Station  

 
1.2. The realignment of the rail tracks to create the space for the new platforms was safely 

delivered during the 72-hour possessions throughout May.  The piling works for the new 
platform on the fast line are now almost complete.   The Western and Eastern overbridges 
are now in place as shown in the image below with the final section lifted in over the August 
bank holiday weekend as shown in the photographs attached at appendix B.  Further lifts 
are required for the main steel work for the station concourse with these happening until 
Christmas when the form of the station will largely be in place. 

 

    

 

133

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65362/PUBLIC%20-%20BX%20HG%20Report%2014%20June%202021.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65362/PUBLIC%20-%20BX%20HG%20Report%2014%20June%202021.pdf
https://transformingbx.co.uk/
https://transformingbx.co.uk/


  

 

4 

 

1.3. The installation of the western overbridge can be viewed here: 
https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Kjl1jD3GU6I 

 
1.4. VolkerFitzpatrick are progressing with the detailed design for the Station Eastern Entrance 

Building (SEEB). Construction works on the SEEB have commenced.  All piles complete 
and drainage works ongoing.  The milestone, ‘Commencement of Formwork, 
Reinforcement and Concrete (FRC) works’ has been met in accordance with the delivery 
programme attached to the works agreement between the council and BXS JVLP. 

 
1.5. The last major piece of track realignment works by Network Rail as part of the Rail Systems 

and Sidings works were delivered over the August bank holiday weekend.  This also 
included the replacement of the points used to connect into the freight line serving the 
former waste facility. This milestone marks the end of years of planning, designing and 
delivering of works by Amey/NR to make way for the new station build and is a significant 
milestone for the LBB and Mace project teams. Amey/NR will now commence de-
commissioning their compound in readiness to hand this area over to Brent Cross Town 
later in the year. NR/Amey will operate from a much smaller four cabin welfare compound 
to complete the minor outstanding works. 

 

1.6. In June this year a safety incident occurred on the VF site with a train hitting protective 
fencing in an area where works were taking place adjacent to an open rail line (known as 
Adjacent Line Open (ALO).  As a consequence, ALO working was temporarily suspended 
whilst the station contractor reviewed their ALO planning and procedures to put in place the 
necessary corrective measures.  These measures were reviewed and approved by the 
Mace and Network Rail teams and works resumed. The correct procedures were followed 
by all parties in line with the Health and Safety requirements.    

 
1.7. Whilst good progress across the programme is being maintained, the construction teams  

have been affected by absence, due to Covid and the requirement to self-isolate. This 
continues to be managed, and although there has been no meaningful impact on the 
programme it has added pressure to resources, particularly during an intensive construction 
period. The team are maintaining Covid controls on site. The site has maintained full 
productivity through to the full easing of lockdown, albeit with minimal site presence by the 
Mace team. The Mace team is continuing to maintain the COVID19 register which identifies 
cost pressures and risks as a result of lockdown and required changes to working practices. 

 
1.8. Now that the construction of the new station is well advanced, Barnet Council and Mace 

teams have been working with key stakeholders to agree the handback process and 
programme ahead of station opening. The overarching programme is attached within the 
presentation to the Governance Board (slide 12) which has been endorsed by all partners.  
The Mace project team has specifically appointed a Close Out Manager to drive this 
workstream.   

 
1.9. The Department for Transport (DfT) has confirmed that the incumbent Thameslink  rail 

operator GTR will continue, in the short term, to be the Train Operator for the Thameslink 
rail franchise.  Their tenure has been extended until April 2022. GTR also reported that they 
expect that these negotiations will be concluded prior to the end of the current extension, 
although officers do not have any details as to the nature of the new relationship.  

 

134

https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=Kjl1jD3GU6I


  

 

5 

1.10. The council is also co-ordinating with Brent Cross Town developers through the Integrated 
Programme Management Office on the public realm and station interchange to align with 
station opening. It is proposed that a presentation is provided to the Committee in 
December walking through the sequencing for station opening, identifying the routes and 
how the new station will integrate with the local community.  

 

1.11. In this regard, the maintenance and operational arrangements are being updated to reflect 
the detailed design.  Running parallel to this, the council continues to work with the 
Department for Transport and the Station Operator (Govia) are reviewing the revenue 
generated from the new station.  This work is ongoing and due to be completed by the end 
of September with the legal arrangements for the new station being agreed by all parties in 
December.  All parties are working to completing the legal documentation by Christmas in 
line with the programme within the GAB presentation.  

 

1.12. To support the station programme, Network Rail and the Station Operator GTR now need 
to order operational assets for the station to meet the fit-out programme.  This ranges from 
small items such as staff lockers, to larger items like ticket vending machines and gate 
lines. The current estimate for these materials is £0.738m including contingency. These 
items were previously to be commissioned through Network Rail.  However, all parties 
agree that it would be more efficient for the council to contract directly with the Station 
Operator who has direct access to the supply chain and the standard assets and materials 
that are used across their network and awards contracts based on price and performance.  
Undertaking a separate competitive tender exercise and procuring these items outside of 
the train operator is unlikely to result in any saving, particularly as the larger items, such as 
gate lines, are single supplier assets. This approach would also add risk and complexity as 
well as exposing the council to further liability for managing any defects. On this basis, the 
committee is asked to delegate authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to finalise and 
approve entering into contract with Station Operator GTR to procure the provision of all 
assets that fall within this scope having obtained written approval from DfT that these assets 
will be station assets and will be transferred to the Station Operator of the new Brent Cross 
West Station.  This is to mitigate any risk in the very unlikely event that there is a change 
in the Station Operator prior to station opening. 

 
1.13. The council is also required to cover the reasonable costs of GTR’s engagement across 

the Brent Cross West (BXW) project, as this falls outside the remit of their franchise 
agreement with DfT. This is already budgeted within the BXW programme. Therefore, so 
to enable GTR to provide the necessary resources to support the handover of assets and 
running of the new station upon entry into service, the committee is asked to delegate 
authority to the Deputy Chief Executive to finalise and approve entering into contract with 
GTR for the provision of the services.  

 
1.14. As reported to the last Committee, the Anticipated Final Cost (AFC) remains under 

pressure. An efficiencies and opportunities plan remains in place to bring the AFC back in 
line with budget.  This is reviewed fortnightly across the Mace and council teams through 
the Client and Risk and Efficiency Reviews. Delivery of the weeks 1, 5 and 9 possessions 
has led to a reduction in overall risk, however additional risks are materialising particularly 
around Covid impacts on the supply chain and delivery of materials.  

 
1.15. The project wide AFC review is ongoing and due to be completed in late September. This 

will take into account the revised risk position following the successful completion of the 
track slews during major rail possessions, costs associated with Covid, the confirmed cost 

135



  

 

6 

for the construction of the Waste Transfer Station and the  settlement of the final account 
with John Graham Construction Limited (JGCL) to  close out the TOC Compound / Fuel 
Farm project which was completed on 1 April 2021. The latter will be subject to a review by 
the Financial Performance and Contracts Committee in October this year. 

 
1.16. As part of the management of the Sidings and Rail Systems contract, ongoing dialogue is 

taking place between Mace, the Council and Network Rail to address the costs increases 
to the Sidings and Rail Systems delivery programme. The council has appointed an external 
rail claims specialist Croftstone to advise the council and Mace to progress the claims 
through the formal claims process and escalation process as set out in the Implementation 
Agreement between the council and Network Rail.  Network Rail are aware of the issues 
and that the council will be actively pursuing these,  Discussions are taking place with the 
senior teams within the council and Network Rail.  An update will be provided to the BX 
Member Working Group in October.  

 
West of Brent Cross West  
 

1.17. The new station will open up opportunities to the west of the rail line.  Council officers are 
working with Allies and Morrison to bring forward proposal for the public realm around the 
station and access routes to the station from the west. Officers will be consulting with Brent 
council and TfL alongside key stakeholders with the view of submitting a planning 
application in Autumn this year. The public realm works will commence in April next year 
following completion of the western entrance building in time for station opening. 

  
1.18. Senior officers from Brent Council visited the BXW site to review progress and discuss 

cross borough coordination on 1 September 2021. The Leader of Brent Council is also 
scheduled to visit the Brent Cross site with the Leader of the Council on 23 September 
accompanied by the Senior Team. 

 
Re-naming Brent Cross Tube Station 
 

1.19. The Committee will recall requesting that council officers discuss the potential for the Brent 
Cross tube station to be renamed Brent Cross East.  TfL has now confirmed that making 
such a change would cost circa £1.4m (high level estimate) and which would need to be 
funded by the council.  Given the existing cost pressures on the programme, the committee 
approval is sought to no longer promote the re-naming of Brent Cross tube station to Brent 
Cross East. 

 
1.20. As explained below, Brent Cross Town are actively improving the routes from the tube 

station to the scheme, and also upgrading a unit adjacent to the station to provide a link to 
the Brent Cross Town site. 

 

Brent Cross Town  

1.21. As the Committee is aware, Brent Cross Town works have continued with demolition and 
ground remediation works proceeding to plan. August 2021 Drone Footage - Brent Cross 
Town  

 
Claremont Park and the Pavilion (visitor centre) 

1.22. Works on infrastructure and plot enabling works are also ongoing, as can be seen from the 
formation of new roads and Claremont Park in the image below.  The new temporary visitor 

136

https://www.brentcrosstown.co.uk/2021/08/10/august-2021-drone-footage
https://www.brentcrosstown.co.uk/2021/08/10/august-2021-drone-footage


  

 

7 

centre (shown below) will provide an exhibition space and flexible ground floor commercial 
space. The building is scheduled to open in late Autumn. 

 

 
 

 
 
 
1.23. Works on Claremont Park have now commenced.  The council’s Green Spaces team have 

been working with BXT to put in place the necessary maintenance arrangements. It is 
envisaged that the detailed arrangements will be agreed by Christmas, ahead of the park 
opening in April 2022.   

 
Estate Management Framework 
 

1.24. The framework for the management of the Estate is established in the legal documentation 
between the council and Brent Cross Town signed in July 2016.  The Estate Management 
Company and BXS Utilities Company were established in April 2020. The Executive 
Director, Environment is the Barnet Council Board Member for both companies. Given the 
advancement of works, it is now appropriate to review the Articles for the Estate 
Management company and to agree the required Service Charge Lease and operational 
management arrangements and agreements for the Brent Cross Town Estate. This will 
include the Estate Management Company’s governance and decision making, and how this 
is intended to work with the ESCO / Vattenfall contract management for the Energy Centre 
which was put in place in 2020.  These proposals will be reported to the BX Member 
Working Group and to this Committee in December for approval.  Consequently, the 
Committee is requested to delegate to the Executive Director, Environment in consultation 

137



  

 

8 

with the Chairman of this Committee and Assistant Director – Estates, Acquisitions and 
Development to agree the Estate Management arrangements and finalise the Service 
Charge Lease, Infrastructure Lease and Overall Headlease and operational arrangements 
for the public realm elements across the Brent Cross Town estate and outside the Network 
Rail Brent Cross West Station lease area as shown on the below plan. 

 

 
 
 
1.25. On 14 June 2021, the Committee has already delegated to the Executive Director for 

Environment in consultation with the Chairman of the Committee to finalise and enter into 
the required agreements in respect of the maintenance arrangements for the improvements 
to Claremont Park prior to opening.   The new visitor centre is due to open in Autumn.  As 
such the Committee is also asked to delegate to the Assistant Director – Estates, 
Acquisitions and Development to put the required lease in place consistent with the 
emerging management of the Estate.  

 
Plot 25 – Student Accommodation  
 

1.26. The planning application for the student accommodation was submitted to the local 
planning authority which will be a key building in Brent Cross Town. Glenn Howells 
Architects has designed the scheme, which will sit on the corner of the new High Street.  
The plans are for a single building, made up of three blocks of varying height. As well as 
upwards of 660 student bedrooms, provided as either self-contained studios or within 
shared student apartments, there will be communal spaces for students including dining 
rooms, a gym and study rooms. The ground floor will have commercial space for 
restaurants and cafes.   The plans are currently out for public consultation as planning 
application 21/4063/RMA and can be viewed in more detail here. 

 
1.27. The legal documentation between Brent Cross Town and a leading operator of student 

accommodation are well advanced. An update will be provided at the Committee.   
 

Update on office leasing strategy and Plot 19 
 

1.28. In terms of scheme development, Brent Cross Town are proposing to speculatively develop 
Plot 19 to be the centrepiece of the business ‘eco-system’ delivering an exemplar for the 
future of workspace, as part of the BXS office leasing and as such plays a pivotal role in 
creating Brent Cross Town as a new commercial hub in North London. It would be based a 
multi-lease strategy.     

138

https://publicaccess.barnet.gov.uk/online-applications/applicationDetails.do?activeTab=summary&keyVal=QWLQ0EJI0I700


  

 

9 

 
 

 
 

1.29. The proposal is to provide circa 100,000 sqft NIA of B1 commercial space, plus c.10,000 
sqft NIA of multi-functional retail/cultural use at ground floor, supporting the public realm 
around Station Square and Claremont Park. The intention is to continue the RIBA stage 2 
design work and submit a reserved matter planning application in Spring 2022 and 
commence works in early 2023. This would be a change from the approved First Phase 
Proposal which sees Plot 19 developed as a leisure use. 

 
1.30. This proposal is welcomed and being actively discussed between the council and Brent 

Cross teams as will provide activation, provision of innovative workspace in line with 
council’s town centre strategy.  The proposal would require an amendment to the First 
Phase Proposal and for the Business Plan to be updated, therefore will require JVLP Board 
and council approval under the Project Agreement as well as a notification to Homes 
England.   The Committee is asked to note that an update will be provided to the BX 
Member Working Group in October with the intention of bringing a proposal to this 
Committee in November seeking to approve the inclusion of Plot 19 within the First Phase 
Proposal and to enter into consequential legal documentation and make the consequential 
changes as required. 

 
Phase Unconditional Date. 
 

1.31. The committee will be aware that the Phase Unconditional date is in December 2021. BXT 
and the council are working together to ensure that all the drawdown conditions are 
satisfied. 

 
Community and Sports Facilities – Project Play 
 

1.32. BXT are working closely with the Council’s Greenspaces and Leisure service to ensure 
there is a joined-up approach in the delivery of the improvements to Clitterhouse Playing 
Fields and the replacement for Hendon Leisure Centre.  

 

1.33. Various operation and maintenance models are being reviewed, focussing on the current 
and future need of the Council and Brent Cross Town, and co-ordinating with other 
proposals within the borough namely West Hendon. Brent Cross Town are in active 
dialogue with Sports England and other key sporting organisations.   

 

139



  

 

10 

1.34. In relation to Clitterhouse Playing Fields, which occupies approximately 18 hectares the 
vision is to deliver high-quality facilities in an inviting park that everyone is able to use.  BXT 
is in the very early design and planning process. Landscape architect Gustafson Porter + 
Bowman has been selected to lead the design team.  

 

1.35. A public consultation will launch in September to ensure that the local community is part of 
shaping the plans. The initial consultation phase will look to understand more about how 
the Fields are used now and how the local community would like to see it reenergised for 
the future. An online app is being created to capture feedback from local people and 
Individual sessions will be held with local schools and groups. In the second phase of the 
consultation, due to start in November, Argent Related will consult on the design of the 
park, with further consultation on the detailed design to begin early next year.  

 

1.36. Brent Cross Town are also focusing on bringing forward a number of physical 
improvements to the walking route environment from Brent Cross tube station and 
Cricklewood train station and Brent Cross Town and are consulting over this summer.  The 
summary of improvements include: 

 

 Pavement upgrades, resurfacing and planting improvements to the A41 verges, 
alleyway behind Tesco, Marble Drive and Claremont Road. 

 Significant placemaking improvements, including: 

 A mural artwork underneath the railway bridge at Brent Cross Tube station. 

 Visual enhancements to the A41 underpass, plus talking to TFL and Thames Water 
about drainage and security issues here.  

 New planting and smaller artwork / sculpture to the end of Marble Drive where it meets 
Claremont Road, potentially in collaboration with Whitefield School and a local artist. 

 A mural artwork to the gable end of the parade of shops building on Claremont Way, 
opposite the future Visitor Pavilion. 

 Removal of satellite dishes and revamping the shopfronts / façade of the Claremont 
Way building. 

 Wayfinding signage from the tube to the Claremont Way area. 
 

Brent Cross Shopping Centre 
 

1.37. Following the meeting earlier in the year between the Leader and Chief Executive of the 
council and the new Chief Executive of Hammerson, the senior council officers met with 
the Chief Development and Asset Repositioning Officer.  As previously reported, 
Hammerson and Aberdeen Standard are concentrating on the existing asset as they 
recover from the economic impacts of the Covid 19 Pandemic.   

 

1.38. In this regard, the Shopping Centre Asset Management and Council’s Environment teams 
are working together to improve the shopping centre environment.  Specific proposals 
include: 

 

Street Scene:  

 Cut back of vegetation and weeds that are starting to encroach on pedestrian access 
routes via the underpass of the A406 elevated section 

 Consideration of additional litter bin placement on Prince Charles Drive adjacent to bus 
stop at A406 elevated section of road 

 Confirmation of weed spray arrangements on Prince Charles Drive 

140



  

 

11 

 Removal of graffiti on wall of connecting road between Etheridge Road and Prince 
Charles Drive 
 

Highways: 

 Confirmation of responsibility for cleansing highways signs on Prince Charles Drive 

 Request repair of defective kerb stones on roundabout at junction of Prince Charles 
Drive and Stadium Road 
 

1.39. Following the success of StreetScene’s initiative to brighten up the hoarding running along 
the A406 at Brent Cross Shopping Centre (read more about this on our website here: 
Transforming Brent Cross Cricklewood | Students brighten up the streets by Shopping 
Centre (transformingbx.co.uk)  teams have also been jointly working on installing a second 
murals on the main facades underneath the elevated section of the A406.   

 
Critical Infrastructure being delivered by the council  
 
a) Southern Junctions  
 

1.40. The Cricklewood Broadway highway junction improvement works are well advanced with 
the demolition of the low rise building and the four-storey building being completed in early 
July 2021.  The temporary propping system will remain in place until the site is re-
developed. The new emergency staircase to 162 Cricklewood Broadway has also been 
installed.  The highway junction improvement works are expected to be completed in 
October 2021. 

 
1.41. During these works, pedestrian routes have been maintained and directional closure on 

Cricklewood Lane have been put in place in line with the agreed traffic management plans 
approved by the Highways Authorities. 

 
1.42. The A5 Cricklewood Broadway remains open for all traffic with lane closures being installed 

off peak to minimising traffic disruption. However, the directional closure on Cricklewood 
Lane have had to remain in place until the end of August 2021 to maintain more direct 
routes for pedestrians. 

 
b) Relocation of the Whitefield Estate Part 1 
 

1.43. Works have now commenced on site. L&Q’s contractor Bulger commenced early works on 
21 June 2021.  These comprised clearing the vegetation, hoarding the site, installing a 
portacabin and signage, and a new temporary cross over.   Following confirmation of the 
Stopping Up Order on 2 June 2021 and completion of the judicial review period, the council 
issued the main works Start on Site Notice to enable the commencement of the main 
construction works on 16 August 2021. The Council has also released a proportion of the 
grant funding to progress the early works. This allowed a smooth transition from early works 
to main works.  In line with the contract in place, the council will release the balance of the 
grant funding to progress the main construction works.  

 
1.44. Barnet Homes have sent nomination letters to the secure tenants on Whitefield Estate Part 

1 who are moving to Plots 53/54 and L&Q have followed up with issuing allocation letters 
to all these residents. L&Q is currently discussing the Shared Equity deal with several 
homeowners who have opted to take up a new home on these plots.   

 

141

https://transformingbx.co.uk/students-brighten-up-the-streets-by-brent-cross-shopping-centre/
https://transformingbx.co.uk/students-brighten-up-the-streets-by-brent-cross-shopping-centre/


  

 

12 

1.45. The council is preparing an application to Secretary of State to extend the Final Demolition 
Notices on Whitefield Estate Part 1.  An application is expected to be submitted by the end 
of September 2021 with further details set out in the Exempt paper. 

 
c) Relocation of Whitefield Estate Part 2   
 

1.46. Barnet Homes and L&Q are currently updating the housing needs surveys for the 92 secure 
tenants living in Whychcote Point, Clare Point and Norden Point.  This needs survey will 
inform the nomination and allocations to the new homes in Plot 12.  Engagement with the 
leaseholders on the Shared Equity Scheme will take place in due course.  

 
Waste Transfer Station 
 

1.47. As the Committee is aware, NLWA and London Energy Limited (LEL) waste operations 
have been transferred from Hendon to the Seneca plant in Wembley, so as not to interfere 
with the delivery of the Brent Cross West Station and Brent Cross Town development 
programmes. All Barnet’s and Camden’s waste are now being delivered to Wembley. 
 

1.48. The Hendon Transfer Station environmental permit has been successfully transferred from 
LEL to Barnet and ground investigation works to facilitate the surrender of that permit to the 
Environment Agency are being commissioned. The first and second surrenders of the lease 
from LEL & NLWA to the Council are being progressed in accordance with the Settlement 
Agreement. Once complete, the site will be transferred from LEL to the Council and the 
ground investigation works can commence. Through the Integrated Programme 
Management Office (IPMO), the Council is assessing how this site can be optimised for 
construction and logistics across the programme, including the security the site.  The 
existing rail sidings have been removed to facilitate construction works for the Brent Cross 
West Station. 

 

1.49. The procurement of the main works contractor for the replacement WTS has progressed in 
accordance with all the Public Contracts Rules requirements. Having received and 
evaluated the initial tender submissions, the Council entered into negotiation with both 
suppliers to obtain the most competitive outcome. The negotiation phase has now been 
completed and the suppliers have received an invitation to submit final tender. The final 
tender submissions will be evaluated prior to contract award on the basis that Geron Way 
remains the preferred location.  The timetable is as follows: 

 

 Final Tender Submission   3 September 2021 

 Moderation of Final Tender  24 September 2021 

 Governance Board    4 October 2021 

 Tender Award   5 October 2021 

 Standstill     6 October – 19 October 2021 

 Contract Award    19 October 2021 
 

1.50. The Committee will recall that it delegated to the Deputy Chief Executive in consultation 
with the Chairman of this Committee to make the contract award and authorised entering 
into the contract to deliver the replacement Waste Transfer Station. This is set out in 
paragraph 1.46 of the report to the Committee in June 2021. 

 
1.51. Whilst Geron Way remains the preferred location, the main works contract will be let in two 

stages, to maintain an option for an alternative site location.  

142



  

 

13 

 
1.52. The Independent Certifier contract with SLR Environmental has been agreed with NLWA 

and LEL and has been issued for sealing. This will facilitate the development and 
agreement of the testing procedure with NLWA & LEL. 

 

Brent Cross Wide - Integrated Programme Management  
 

1.53. The council and Brent Cross Town continue to agree licences to facilitate the Brent Cross 
Town  development in accordance with the approval by this committee on 17 September 
2018. 

(https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=26280). 
 

1.54. Early infrastructure licences and compound licences for the Brent Cross Town and their 
contractor to begin work on the infrastructure that interfaces with the new Brent Cross West 
station and along Brent Terrace (106 Brent Terrace and the former Cemex site on Brent 
Terrace) which are in place.  A licence for early works on Plot 25 to enable the diversion of 
a water main is being negotiated.  The water main crosses the Brent Cross South Retail 
Park and arrangements are being put in place to minimise disruption to the access and 
egress to the Park. 

 
1.55. A high-level programme has been created and can be seen below showing the 

arrangements in place. 
 

 

143

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=26280


  

 

14 

 
1.56. A licence tracker has been put in place to track all agreements being made with third parties 

to ensure adequate control over council land. All licences are being negotiated on behalf of 
the council by Gowlings, and each agreement is supported by a Chief Officer Decision 
report. 

 
1.57. The iPMO continues to meet fortnightly to assess construction interfaces across the 

programme. Most recently there has been a focus on the Brent Cross Town Tilling Road 
works ensuring these works do not impact the Brent Cross West development, and also 
ensuing that residents and stakeholders are made aware of the works and impacts on them 
ahead of time. This includes some impacts to bus routes and temporary diversions in the 
area. Details have been uploaded to the project website and shared on social media 
channels. https://transformingbx.co.uk/transformation/highways-work/tilling-road/ 

 

Land Assembly – CPO Strategy 
 

b) Land assembly strategy  
 

1.58. At the Housing and Growth Committee of 25 January 2021, it was agreed to  ‘delegate to 
the Chief Executive in consultation with the Chairman of this Committee, to finalise the land 
acquisition strategy to deliver comprehensive development and to authorise serving any 
notices required to implement the Compulsory Purchase Orders or to effect the acquisition 
of all interests and estates in the relevant part of the site including any required Notice to 
Treat or to Enter, or General Vesting Declaration/s notices as identified in the land 
acquisition strategy in line with the programme.’  

 
1.59. The Chief Executive authorised and approved a Delegated Power Report (DPR) on 25 

March 2021 in consultation with the Committee Chairman which detailed the approach for 
implementing the CPO including serving notices on those with land interests. The link to 
report is below.  https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=7596  Notices 
have now been served as reported to the last Committee.  CPO1 and CPO2 are now clear 
of judicial review. For CPO3, the judicial review period will finish shortly.  

 
1.60. The Council is also preparing a Section 19 Application to submit to the Secretary of State, 

as it necessary to appropriate the land from housing to planning purposes to enable the re-
development of land with the BXC scheme. Further details on the appropriation of land are 
provided within the BXC Land Appropriation DPR.  

 

1.61. Ground 10A:  Barnet Homes have sent letters to the secure tenants on the Whitefield Estate 
Part 1 to inform residents about the Ground 10A legal process, and notices have now been 
sent to these residents.  This will now commence the legal proceedings to take possession 
of secure tenant properties through the courts to facilitate the relocation of these residents 
into their new homes. Barnet Homes are due to arrange surgeries for these affected 
tenants. 

 
Stopping Up 
 

1.62. The Stopping Up Orders for Plot 53 and 54 and Claremont Park have now been confirmed 
by the Planning Inspectorate.  There were no challenges within the judicial review period, 
thereby enable the construction to start on site. 

 

144

https://transformingbx.co.uk/transformation/highways-work/tilling-road/
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=7596
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=7468


  

 

15 

1.63. Brent Terrace North Stopping Up submitted to the Mayor of London did not require an 
inquiry and so the Order was Made by the council. There were no challenges within the 
judicial review period.  

 
1.64. There were changes required to the Order for the footpath between Brent Terrace South 

and Claremont Way West (106 footway) meaning that this was required to be re-advertised. 
Options are currently being considered. 

 

1.65. The team will continue to monitor progress on decisions relating to these stopping up orders 
and ensure to update in due course. 

 

1.66. Further Stopping Up Orders will be made as the scheme progresses with information 
updated regularly on the TransformingBX.co.uk website:  

https://transformingbx.co.uk/transformation/masterplan/stoppingup/ 
  

PB Donoghue 
 

1.67. Following a meeting with local residents earlier this year, council officers have met with 
Brent Cross Town and PB Donoghue, and discussions are continuing regarding their 
potential relocation. These discussions are active, and a further update will be provided in 
September.  

 
Brent Cross South Retail Park 

 
1.68. Further to the update in June, the  Retail Park remains fully let.  

 
1.69. The work between the council and Brent Cross Town on how the Retail Park will be 

incorporated into Brent Cross Town is ongoing.  An update will be provided to the BX 
Member Working Group and to the Committee later in November. 

 
Governance and Assurance  

 
1.70. A BX Member Working Group was held on for 23 June 2021 and the next meeting is 

scheduled in October 2021. 
 

PWC Audit 

1.71. As part of the ongoing assurance of the Brent Cross Programme, an external review has 
been undertaken by PWC into the management of the programme. The aim of the review 
was to carry out a high-level assessment into the effectiveness of the financial management 
and reporting of two of the constituent projects, considering the objectives below: 

 

 Review area 1: Financial reporting for the programme – the provision of complete, 
accurate and timely information  

 Review area 2: Financial management information – to enable the programme 
leadership to understand project/ programme progress against spend, slippage and 
ensure it contains the right level of information to make timely interventions as 
required. 
 

1.72. The outcome of the review highlighted 7 areas with recommendations for improvement 
along with 1 advisory recommendation. Of the 7 recommendations for improvement 5 were 

145

https://transformingbx.co.uk/transformation/masterplan/stoppingup/


  

 

16 

classed as medium risk and 2 as low risk. Notably there were no high-risk recommendations 
identified and the report was complimentary of the good levels of financial management 
controls in place for reporting to the Council. An action plan is being developed and will be 
implemented for each of the recommendations and update will be provided to the next 
committee. 

 
2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
2.1 The comprehensive regeneration of Brent Cross is a long-standing objective of the council 

and a key regeneration priority of the Mayor of London.  The details of the scheme are set 
out in previous update reports to this Committee. 

 
3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 

 
3.1 None in the context of this report. 
 
4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 
4.1 The council and its advisors will continue to progress all work streams to ensure delivery of 

the Brent Cross regeneration proposals as outlined in this report and approved by the 
Housing and Growth Committee. 

 
5. RESOURCES (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 

Sustainability)  
 

5.1 Budget Monitoring 
 

5.1.1 The council has put in place procedures to ensure the effective monitoring of the financial 
performance of the BX Programme. The BX Governance Board comprising senior officers 
of the council, including the Chief Executive and the Director of Finance, receives a detailed 
report each month setting out the financial performance of the BX Programme. This report 
includes a breakdown of the performance against the approved budgets and details of the 
individual Officers responsible for managing the budgets included within the BX Programme. 

 
5.1.2 The forecast shown below is based on the latest anticipated delivery programme produced 

for Month Four (M4) monitoring. The M4 position will be reported to Policy & Resources 
Committee on the 30th September and will allow the programme to realign budgets in line 
with the latest forecast.  The full detail for Brent Cross and the remaining areas of the capital 
programme at M4 will be presented to the Finance Performance Contracts Committee on 
the 5th October.   The budgets stated below in each scheme of the overall programme are 
based on the latest approved capital programme at Policy & Resources Committee and 
inclusive of any delegated power reports (DPR). 

 

Land Acquisitions  

5.1.3 The approved budget for land acquisition to facilitate the BXC programme is £60.632m, 
furthermore, there was expenditure on advanced acquisitions of £4.067m. Actual cumulative 
spend to date is £54.820m. The current year forecast for 2021/22 is £1.372m. 
 
BXT Land Acquisitions 

146



  

 

17 

5.1.4 The approved budget for externally funded Brent Cross Town Land Acquisitions is 
£29.488m. Actual cumulative spend to date is £9.583m. The current year forecast for 
2021/22 is £5.243m. 

  
Brent Cross West Station  
 

5.1.5 The current approved budget in the capital programme is £371.284m following confirmation 
of the HMG grant funding agreement. This is inclusive £2.9m GLA grant funding previously 
provided to support the BXC Programme.  
  

5.1.6 Actual cumulative spend to date is £232.872m. The current year forecast for 2021/22 is 
£111.397m. 

 
Critical Infrastructure  
 

5.1.7 As previously reported to this committee, the council is taking forward the delivery of parts 
of the newly created 1AN Infrastructure phase. 
 

5.1.8 These works are funded from part of the £55.9m core critical infrastructure budget which 
includes £55m being provided as part of the MHCLG Revised Funding Agreement for Brent 
Cross. Actual cumulative spend to date is £27.628m. The current year forecast for 2021/22 
is £16.114m. 

 
MHCLG Grant Funding 
 

5.1.9 To date, the council has submitted drawdown requests against the £416.573m HMG grant 
totalling £382.218m, of which all has been received. 
 
Resources  
 

5.1.10 Since the last report, the following consultants have been appointed: 
 

 The Gowling WLG contract is being updated through exchange of letters   in line with 
the approval by the Committee on 14 June 2021 that approved that Gowling WLG 
are retained to provide legal advice on the BX project and to delegate to the Deputy 
Chief Executive in consultation with the Chairman and HB Law to agree a revised 
service agreement in accordance with paragraphs 1.51 of the June report. The 
appointment is subject to review every April and a full review to be carried out in 2026. 

 Croftstone has been appointed to provide independent advice and support relating 
to the apportionment of costs in accordance with the NR Implementation Agreement 
for the Rail Sidings and Systems work. 

 Baker Tilly have been appointed to provide forensic accountancy advice to the 
council to support Newsteer on the negotiation of CPO disturbance claims across the 
programme. 

 Aecom has been appointed to engage with Volker Fitzpatrick on station design 
matters  

 Allies & Morrisons and Arup have been appointed to undertake the design and 
transport modelling work to support the Brent Cross West Station and proposals for 
the surrounding areas. 

147



  

 

18 

 Atkins Ltd have been appointed to undertake ground investigation for the Waste 
transfer station to support the application to the Environment agency to surrender the 
existing permits. 
 

5.1.11 The above appointments are in accordance with the delegation provided by this Committee 
to the Deputy Chief Executive to commence engagement and agree terms with external 
consultants as and when required to ensure delivery of the council’s obligations related to 
the Brent Cross Programme, as set out in paragraph 1.49 of the report to the Committee in 
June 2021 having regard to the Council’s best value duty. 
 

5.2 Social Value  
 
5.2.1 As indicated in sections within this report, the Brent Cross programme will secure wider 

social, economic and environmental benefits.   
 

5.3 Legal and Constitutional References 
 
5.3.0 The council’s Constitution, Article 7.5, states that the functions of the Housing and Growth 

Committee include responsibility for regeneration schemes and asset management. 
 

5.3.1 The council’s Constitution, Article 10 Table A states that the Housing and Growth Committee 
is responsible for authorising all disposal and acquisition of land for over £500k.  
 

5.3.2 The council has a range of powers to enter into the legal agreements and to implement the 
transactions referred to in this report. These include: 
 

 the general power of competence under section 1 of the Localism Act 2011 ; 

 the 'incidental power' in Section 111 of the Local Government Act 1972 that enables the 
council to do anything which is calculated to facilitate, or is conducive or is incidental to, 
the discharge of its functions; 

 sections 120 and 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 (power to acquire and dispose 
of land); 

 the Environmental Protection Act (in relation to waste collection and disposal functions); 

 the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (development and planning powers) 

 s 19 (1)  of the Housing Act 1985 provides that a local authority may appropriate for the 
purposes of this part any land for the time being vested in them or at their disposal and 
the authority have the same powers in relation to the land so appropriated as they have 
in relation to land acquired by them for the purposes of this part. S 19(2) states that 
where a local Housing Authority have acquired or appropriated land for the purposes of 
this Part, they shall not without the consent of the Secretary of State appropriate any part 
of the land consisting of a house or part of a house for any other purpose. 

 Ground 10A of Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 1985  provides that a landlord can gain 
possession of a secure tenancy if: 

 the property is in an area which is the subject of a redevelopment scheme; 

 that redevelopment scheme has been approved by the Secretary of State; 

 the landlord intends to dispose of the property in accordance with the scheme within a 
reasonable period of time after obtaining possession; and 

 suitable alternative accommodation is available for the tenant.   
 

Before making an application to the Secretary of State, the landlord must serve notice of     

148



  

 

19 

its intention to do so on every secure tenant affected by the proposal.  
 

5.3.3 All of the activity and legal transactions contemplated in this report will be carried out 
pursuant to and in compliance with all relevant statutory powers, including  all procurement 
activity which will be undertaken in accordance with the Council’s Contract Procedure Rules 
and the Public Contracts Regulations 2015 (as amended) or any replacement public 
procurement regime that may become law in the UK as applicable. 
 

5.3.4 As the report notes, Gowling WLG have been advising the council on the Brent Cross 
programme to date and will be retained as the council’s legal advisors subject to further 
agreement 

 
5.4 Risk Management 
 
5.4.1 Risk management has been applied across all levels of the programme. Owners and 

mitigation plans are identified, and risks are measured against impact and likelihood to give 
an overall rating. High rating risks are escalated and reported through the defined reporting 
procedure with top risks reported to BXC Governance Board.  Currently the high-level risks 
and mitigations are summarised below: 
 

5.4.2 Programme and funding – There is a risk that BXN does not progress in the form currently 
proposed.  Whilst the funding risk to the Station delivery has been significantly mitigated 
through the Revised Funding Agreement with Government, the delivery of the BXN 
proposals is an important part of the regeneration proposals. The council is meeting 
regularly with the Shopping Centre Partners to understand next steps. 

 
5.4.3 Station Delivery Date – there is the risk that the 2022 station opening date cannot be 

achieved.  The current programme maintains a 2022 opening date albeit December rather 
than May.  There is a risk that this could be later depending on other works on the railway.  
The council has worked with DfT and Network Rail alongside the Train and Freight 
Operators to develop a revised industry integrated programme, underpinned by the signed 
Memorandum of Understanding. This programme has been agreed and a workable 
possession programme is in place subject to final testing by Network Rail. A QRSA has also 
been undertaken.  While the possession risk has been mitigated, railway possessions can, 
whilst unlikely, be cancelled as a result of unforeseen circumstances.  There are also the 
additional programme risks as a result of COVID 19. The project team and Network Rail 
have therefore developed a contingency strategy in the event of a further loss of 
possessions. These are regularly monitored through both NR board and Rail operations 
assurance board. 

 
5.4.4 Train Operating Timetable - The BXW team have, for some time been facilitating a regular 

meeting with Train Operators (EMT and GTR), the DfT, and NR. This Board (Rail Operation 
Assurance Board) deals with all rail industry issues and interfaces. One of the headline 
areas of interest is the new rail timetable to accommodate the planned stopping pattern at 
the new station.  The industry has a complex and lengthy process for securing future 
timetables which takes into account competing bids for access.  NR and the DfT have both 
confirmed that everything that can be done at this stage has been done to secure the desired 
stopping pattern, and NR have published a letter outlining the timetable of events leading 
up to the publication of the new timetable. There are risks associated with this process, 
notably around the uncertainty of the GTR franchise, and the publication of the “Williams 
Review” which makes recommendations on the future structure of the industry. There are 

149



  

 

20 

additional risks arising from the delay on the refranchising and the Williams report brought 
about by COVID 19 and the Government’s actions in underwriting the impact on the TOCs 
of train service commitments.  The council are monitoring developments closely. 
 

5.4.5 BXW delivery costs – as with all major programmes there is the risk that costs will increase 
during programme delivery. The BXW budget is under pressure and this risk is being actively 
managed with public sector partners and contractors. The contract between the council and 
NR is an Emerging Cost contract.  As indicated in previous reports, all emerging cost 
contracts entered into will require strong contract management to ensure all costs incurred 
are reasonable. As part of the signed Implementation Agreement the council has open book 
access to all of Network Rail’s financial information relating to invoiced costs incurred on the 
programme. This extends to Network Rail contractors where an emerging cost contract is in 
place. As referred to in the report to ARG in November 2018, the council also has the right 
(subject to notice and personal safety) to access the site and attend meetings.  In this regard, 
the regular senior level meetings between Network Rail and the council/Mace delivery are 
continuing to review the costs each month. Similarly, there is an on-site presence by the 
council/Mace delivery team to be monitoring programme and work achieved, particularly 
during track possessions. 
 

5.4.6 BXW Station Operating Costs – As part of the original station business case and grant 
agreement, it was agreed that the Council would take on the operational cost of the station 
until it became profitable. Work is underway to confirm the ongoing operational cost of the 
station which will feed into an updated model that will provide further clarity on future cost 
risk. If the council does take on additional cost risk, there is an opportunity to offset this 
against future station income once it becomes profitable. Discussions are ongoing with DfT 
on this topic. 
 

5.4.7 Waste Transfer Station – Delays to the delivery of the Waste Transfer Station may result in 
programmatic and logistical interfaces with the Station and Brent Cross Town development 
due to the requirement to keep the existing facility in operation until the new one is complete. 
To mitigate this a working group has been established through the Integrated Programme 
Management Office to develop a joint logistics and land management plan of the station 
development area. Further to this a strategy to amend the operation of the existing facility 
to a ‘road to road’ facility (in line with how the new facility will operate) is being investigated. 
The council have also brought the waste delivery team in house to align skills and expertise 
with delivery, as discussed in the waste section of this report. 
 

5.4.8 The most important control mechanism for the council is to employ experienced staff who 
will provide diligent review and challenge of the NR cost base and reject any costs which 
are not reasonably and properly incurred. The council’s Client and BXW delivery team 
comprises professionals used to working on the railway within Network Rail and are 
experienced in delivering large railway projects. The challenge to NR will need to operate at 
several levels, including: 
 
a. A full-time site presence that stays abreast of issues that arise on site, and monitors the 

detail and impact of any events, or failure to meet programme milestones, quality 
standards etc. The site team/person will also systematically log these events/issues and 
share this information with NR.  

 
b. Whilst it will always be difficult to isolate costs associated with NR/Contractor failure, 

from genuine cost, it is important that NR are discouraged from passing on contractor 

150



  

 

21 

valuations without themselves challenging whether a deduction should be made to take 
account of notified failures. 
 

c. Attendance at key NR meetings. This is in addition to the role set out in (a), targeting 
any issues which may not have been picked up by the site-based teams, but for the 
same purpose as (1). 

 
d. A strong commercial challenge that scrutinises and interrogates any unexpected costs 

which emerge during the pre-invoice (valuation) process and repeats this when the main 
invoices are submitted.  

 
5.4.9 Stopping Up Objections – The Stopping Up Orders for Plot 53 & 54 and Claremont Park 

have now been confirmed by the Planning Inspectorate as explained in paragraph 1.62. 
There remains a risk around the judicial review period, which is 6 weeks from the date the 
order is published, albeit this is considered small by the project team. A further Stopping Up 
order is being progressed for the 106 Brent Terrace footway as explained in paragraph 1.64. 
Should this order be subject to objections then it may need to be referred to the SoS in the 
same manner as Plots 53/54 and Claremont Park. The project team will work pro-actively 
with any objectors to resolve any issues related to this order should they arise. 
 

5.4.10 Resourcing – the project is now in the delivery stage.  In addition, the council has taken on 
additional delivery items through the revised delivery strategy and needs to deploy sufficient 
resources. There is a need to ensure resilience within the programme in the event that key 
persons depart the project as well as to update the succession planning strategy.  
    

5.4.11 Economic Decline – There is a risk that the prevailing economic position for the traditional 
retail sector will continue alongside residential and commercial given current market 
conditions.  This could result in reduced demand for retail space and administration to 
existing retailers.  To mitigate this both BXN and BXT development partners are 
exploring/reviewing diversification of offer within BX.  Wider macro-economic shocks may 
also impact the residential and office markets in London. 
 

5.4.12 COVID 19 – This represents a significant new risk to the programme and the team has been 
working closely with sub-contractors to review the likely impacts. Currently programme has 
been maintained however the team do expect some additional challenges as impacts on the 
supply chain are understood. Cost impact to date is estimated at £2.4m, with a further £3m 
of additional risk up to the end of October. It should be noted that further risks are expected 
and will be assessed as the impacts of lockdown are understood and government guidance 
changes. The project team is maintaining a COVID 19 impact tracker to show when and 
where these impacts are materialising.  A more detailed update will be provided to the next 
Committee.  
 

5.4.13 Retail Park Acquisition - The key risk associated with the acquisition of the Retail Park is 
ensuring that the acquisition will have no negative impact on the General Fund. The council 
has put in place the required structures and will update as required to enable it to manage 
the Retail Park against these short-term variables such as Covid and Brexit to ensure that 
the council will secure the required returns so that there will be no gap or negative impact 
on the General Fund.  
 

Equalities and Diversity  
 

151



  

 

22 

5.4.14 As previously reported, the Development Proposals support achievement of the council’s 
Strategic Equalities Objective.   
 

5.4.15 The development proposals for the Brent Cross scheme will make a significant contribution 
to the provision of additional, high quality affordable housing units in the Borough as well as 
providing employment through the creation of a new town centre with leisure, health and 
educational facilities.  The delivery of the Brent Cross West Station will enhance public 
transport provision and improve accessibility and provide greater choice for all.  It should be 
emphasised that a fully integrated and accessible town centre will be created as part of 
these proposals. 

 
5.5 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.5.1 None in the context of this report. 
 
6 CONSULTATION AND ENGAGEMENT 
 

BXC Programme-wide communications 
 
6.1 The communications and stakeholder engagement strategy agreed at Housing and Growth 

Committee in March 2020 continues to be delivered to meet the following aims: 

 Ensure all delivery partners are aligned in their efforts to engage with residents, 
businesses and stakeholders  

 Ensure local people are aware of construction activity that might affect them and where 
to go for help 

 Promote good news stories and milestones and sell the ‘vision’ of the programme as it 
progresses 

 Ensure residents and business owners know how they can benefit from the scheme 
through news and promotion of opportunities 

 
6.2 We continue to adapt to challenges presented by the COVID-19 outbreak and adapt our 

channel strategy accordingly. Where safe to do so we are offering some face-to-face 
meetings with residents and are considering the reintroduction of in person events and 
exhibitions. However, we will continue to offer virtual briefings and consultations as an option 
for those who prefer to engage with us in this way.  
 
BXC Digital Channels   
 

6.3 The TransformingBX.co.uk website has been live since February 2020 with over 15,000 
visitors to the site across 21,000 sessions. The number of visitors to the site has doubled 
since the start of the year, which shows the increasing interest in our regeneration 
programme. Information about works in the area via the interactive map and other pages 
about construction works are most sought, with pages detailing the forthcoming Brent Cross 
West Station, and employment and skills opportunities, also frequently visited. 
 

6.4 We continue to issue a monthly digital newsletter covering news updates from across the 
programme. Open rates remain consistently high at around 70% in June and 63% in July. 
Around 30% (June) and 25% (July) of people who read the newsletter clicked through to 
find out more about the stories, which also shows a high level of engagement and interest 
in the programme. Stories around the start of works, and construction updates have been 
the highest read which correlates with the website traffic. 

152



  

 

23 

 

6.5 We continue to provide news and updates via the @TransformingBX Twitter account as well 
as via Barnet Council’s own social media channels (Twitter, Facebook, Instagram) and 
respond to resident questions and queries via the programme email address 
TransformingBX@Barnet.gov.uk.  
 

6.6 Interest in the project via Twitter has increased with a 31% increase in profile visits in July 
compared to June. We’ve also seen an increase in enquires from local people which reflects 
the start of works on Plots 53 and 54, Tilling Road and ongoing highways improvement 
works in Cricklewood. We received 22 enquires in June and 33 in July via email. 
 

6.7 Recent press coverage includes:  
 

 Rail Business Daily: Network Rail continues to improve track in preparation for new Brent 

Cross West station 

 New Civil Engineer: Network Rail ramps up work at Kings Cross, Leeds, Gatwick and 

Brent Cross West 

 Rail Professional: Major Milestones At Brent Cross West  

 Times series - Brent Cross Town community funding returns for a third year and Brent 

Cross Town launches fund to support communities and charities 

 Property Week: Argent Related brings back Brent Cross community fund 

 RailUK: Work ramps up as Network Rail upgrades track and signalling over August Bank 

Holiday ready to connect Midland Main Line with new Brent Cross West station 

 RailBusinessDaily: In The News 

 EG (formerly Estates Gazette) - North London Community Fund Open For Applications 

(print only) 

 Rail Professional - Network Rail carrying out bank holiday preparation work for new Brent 

Cross West station 

 Rail Advent - Bank Holiday engineering work to prepare for new Brent Cross West station 

 PBCToday - VolkerFitzpatrick installs bridge at Brent Cross West station 

 New Civil Engineer - Work ramps up on new North London station 

 
Community Engagement 

Brent Terrace  
 

6.8 We continue to work with residents on Brent Terrace to respond to concerns and seek 
opportunities to improve the area wherever possible.  
 

6.9 We continue to agree the scope to create more community space, clear fly-tipping and 
consider a long-term solution to improve the area. Internally we are working with colleagues 
to set up a taskforce across highways, street scene, estates, and Barnet Homes to tackle 
maintenance and hygiene issues. A new frequency of cleaning has been agreed for Brent 
Terrace with StreetScene and the ownership of pathways and land established. Barnet 
Homes are looking at clearing the vegetation and making improvements to the footway in 
the coming months. Once this has been completed, we will be able to work with residents 
on a plan to further improve the area and make use of the gardens area.  

153

mailto:TransformingBX@Barnet.gov.uk


  

 

24 

 
Plots 53 and 54 

 
6.10 Ahead of main works starting on Plots 53 and 54 we have been working with colleagues at 

L&Q to engage with residents. As well as a joint construction update (See Brent Cross West 
update below) outlining the works to set up the site we hosted resident briefing sessions 
alongside colleagues from L&Q. This was attended only by the chair of the local residents’ 
association despite meetings being arranged for both lunchtime and evenings to ensure it 
was as accessible as possible. 

 
6.11 L&Q and contractors Buglers also visited homes directly opposite the site, and the wider 

construction area to introduce themselves and promote the virtual briefings. The team spoke 
to approximately 60 people on Thursday 20th May.  

 
6.12 On Friday 13 August they also visited homes (speaking to around 40 people) to introduce a 

new Resident Liaison Officer who will regularly be on site, once main works commence, to 
manage any resident concerns or answer questions about the programme. They will be a 
direct link for residents regarding the works.  

 
6.13 A resident notice board will also be in place by September once the hoardings are complete. 

Plans are in place to engage with residents about what they would like to see on the 
hoardings with a view that community artwork could replace the standard black hoardings 
currently in place. 
 

 
Southern Junctions 
 

6.14 Throughout the highways improvements works we have written to businesses and residents 
within 500 metres of the works ahead of any major changes to the road layouts. We continue 
to brief members and the local residents and business groups and update the website.  
 
 
Brent Cross West Station Programme 
 

6.15 In June we issued our second combined construction update with information about Brent 
Cross West works from June to October, and L&Q works on Plots 53 and 54. This was 
distributed with the monthly Brent Cross Town construction update.  

 
6.16 A wider construction works letter was sent to residents within 500m of the station detailing 

the works and linking to an online programme.  
 
6.17 As we enter one of the busiest times on site for works across the station, we have also 

begun to meet weekly with the station team and share a weekly email with residents on a 
local distribution list ahead of noisy works. At the beginning of August, we also wrote to 
residents to encourage them to sign up to the database to receive these emails. This is in 
response to noise complaints from residents on the station works.  

 
6.18 In June we wrote to businesses in the BXS retail park ahead of lane closures on Geron Way 

to facilitate the build and lift of the western overbridge.  
 

154

https://transformingbx.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/022458-BXT-Construction-4pp-A4-Leaflet-June-DIGITAL-2-1.pdf
https://transformingbx.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/BXT-June-2021-Construction-Leaflet-AW.pdf


  

 

25 

6.19 The installation of the Western  Overbridge was a visual milestone on site and generated a 
lot of interest across social media. The milestone was widely promoted across the BXC, 
Barnet and partner channels. 
 

6.20 On the 15th June the Brent Cross Programme Director presented at the Rail Station 
Development Conference.  
 
Brent Cross Town (formerly South) 
 

6.21 As above, Brent Cross Town issued their latest construction update in June outlining 
forthcoming works in the area and a construction overview until December 2022. The leaflet 
was distributed to homes within 500 metres of the works and builds on local engagement 
with residents on Claremont Way as works near completion on The Pavilion and works 
started on Claremont Park.  
 

6.22 We also produced a leaflet ahead of the closure of Claremont Open Space (Claremont Park) 
and this was widely promoted via the programme website.  

 
6.23 In July, Brent Cross Town launched an online survey to engage with residents close by to 

Claremont Way on plans for a community led mural at the end of Claremont Parade. In 
collaboration with a local artist the mural will be completed when the new shops open in the 
Autumn. Promoting employment, skills and benefit the latest round of funding for the Brent 
Cross Town Community fund opened on the 15 June. This was widely promoted across all 
channels contributing to a high level of applications from the community. The recipients of 
this fund were announced in mid-August.  

 
Brent Cross Town Community Fund 

 
6.24 The recipients of this year’s Brent Cross Town Community Fund have now been selected. 

£35,000 will be shared between All Saints Church to create a mural along the Childs Hill 
Walk, Brent Bulls CIC Basketball Club’s women’s basketball tournament, Cricklewood 
Millennium Green to repair their iconic wooden train sculptures and benches, and for 
Mapledown School to fund 100 students with severe learning difficulties and disabilities 
opportunities to go on school trips. Money also went to FUSE Youth Project to support their 
summer programme of fun and free meals for young people in West Hendon. iheart’s 10-
week programme to support 30 students to develop mental health resilience has also been 
chosen alongside Kisharon’s gardening sessions for adults with learning disabilities and 
Phoenix Canoe Club to purchase a new Bell Boat. Finally, a share of the fund was also 
shared with Terraces Residents Association’s book and toy exchange, and Wessex 
Gardens Primary School to install outdoor gym equipment.  

 
6.25 So far, the fund has had a huge impact on communities in Golders Green, Childs Hill and 

West Hendon, with over £55,000 granted to local groups and projects. You can read more 
about past recipients here: Brent Cross Town’s 2021 Community Fund 

 
Consultations 

 
Clitterhouse Playing fields 

 
6.26 Located between Claremont Road and the Golders Green Estate, Clitterhouse Playing 

Fields occupy approximately 18 hectares, which is equivalent to approximately 20 football 

155

https://brentcrossthameslink.cmail20.com/t/d-l-qkdkrkk-ttdrbfuu-r/
https://transformingbx.co.uk/work-begins-on-our-first-permanent-park/
https://transformingbx.co.uk/applications-open-for-35000-community-fund/
https://transformingbx.co.uk/applications-open-for-35000-community-fund/


  

 

26 

pitches in size. The vision is to deliver high-quality facilities in an inviting park that everyone 
is able to use. Argent Related is in the very early design and planning process. Landscape 
architect Gustafson Porter + Bowman has been selected to lead the design team.  

 
6.27 A public consultation will launch in September to ensure that the local community can be 

part of shaping the plans. The initial consultation phase will look to understand more about 
how the Fields are used now and how the local community would like to see it reenergised 
for the future. An online app is being created to capture feedback from local people and 
Individual sessions will be held with local schools and groups. In the second phase of the 
consultation, due to start in November, Argent Related will consult on the design of the park, 
with further consultation on the detailed design to begin early next year.  

 
Flourishing index 

 
6.28 In partnership with engineering consultancy Buro Happold and the University of Manchester, 

Argent Related is developing a new flourishing index to measure the positive impact on the 
development on health and wellbeing. The Flourishing index will build on the 10 wellbeing 
measures that form the basis of the European Social Survey by looking not only at individual 
measures of ‘flourishing’ but also at the role community plays. The Flourishing Index will 
play a part in how the plans for Brent Cross Town are developed from landscapes to the 
urban design, something that has not been done before at the start of this kind of 
regeneration programme.  

 
6.29 The flourishing index will also be developed through qualitative and qualitative research 

including five collection modes capturing data from locals within a 10-minute cycle of the 
new park town. They included bespoke intercept/online survey, routinely collected public 
data, direct behaviour observations, sensors/automated approaches which will be placed 
around the development, and a bespoke Smartphone App. So far, Dr Jamie Anderson, who 
is leading the reassure has conducted group sessions with community groups and leaders. 
The online survey and sensors will go live in September. 

 
Promoting skills employment and opportunities 
 

6.30 A key part of our communications strategy is to promote the opportunities for local people 
and businesses during the construction phase of the development and beyond. In July we 
set up a new page on the website documenting the skills, jobs and grant opportunities 
(transformingbx.co.uk/opportunities).  

 
6.31 Case studies have been developed in order to encourage more local people to join our 

construction teams, with a particular focus on supporting more women into construction. 
Read about Himnish Bhudia who has joined as an apprentice groundworker on Brent Cross 
Town and Belul Musfin, who joined the team after a work placement. We have featured the 
creation of three new roles through the Kickstart Scheme at Brent Cross West, as well as 
profiles on our female leadership team working on the construction of Brent Cross West and 
Brent Cross Town.  

 
 
7 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 

7.1 Urgency Committee, 5 January 2021 

156



  

 

27 

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s62641/Brent%20Cross%20South%20Retail%
20Park%20Acquistion%20Report.pdf 

 
7.1.1 Finance Performance and Contracts Committee,  7 December 2020 

(Public Pack)Brent Cross Report Agenda Supplement for Financial Performance and 
Contracts Committee, 07/12/2020 18:00 (moderngov.co.uk). 
 

7.2 Housing and Growth Committee, 14 June 2021, Brent Cross Cricklewood Update Report  
 https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65362/PUBLIC%20-
%20BX%20HG%20Report%2014%20June%202021.pdf 
 

 

157

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s62641/Brent%20Cross%20South%20Retail%20Park%20Acquistion%20Report.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s62641/Brent%20Cross%20South%20Retail%20Park%20Acquistion%20Report.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b36694/Brent%20Cross%20Report%2007th-Dec-2020%2018.00%20Financial%20Performance%20and%20Contracts%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/b36694/Brent%20Cross%20Report%2007th-Dec-2020%2018.00%20Financial%20Performance%20and%20Contracts%20Committee.pdf?T=9
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65362/PUBLIC%20-%20BX%20HG%20Report%2014%20June%202021.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65362/PUBLIC%20-%20BX%20HG%20Report%2014%20June%202021.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



28 July 2021

Brent Cross 
Government Assurance Board

159



Brent Cross Town – Site Progress

160



Brent Cross Town – Site Progress

161



Programme Updates
Brent Cross Town

• Plot 25 – looking to complete agreement with Fusion in early August

• Pavilion works progressing well and on programme – topping out ceremony took place 
on 23rd July

• Claremont Park works underway

• Claremont School application approved by planning committee

• Tiling Road utilities works due to commence early august.

• BXT contractors now on site in station area – working collaboratively with BXW through 
the iPMO

• More information Brent Cross Town Spring/Summer Update

162

https://transformingbx.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/2021/05/Brent-Cross-Town-neighbourhood-newsletter-Spring-Summer-2021.pdf


Programme Updates
Plots 53/54 (stopping up)

• Stopping up orders confirmed

• Soft start on site with hoarding and ground preparation underway

Southern Junctions

• Proceeding to programme - demolition of existing building now complete

• Works to widen the highway is underway

• Plot development opportunity being assessed

163



Programme Updates
Waste Facility

• Process to surrender the environmental 
permit underway

• Procurement process nearing 
completion – negotiation sessions 
concluded this week

• ISFT to be issued on 13th August, with 
final tender submissions due in early 
September.

164



Brent Cross West

165



Brent Cross West
• Assembly of Western overbridge complete – scheduled for lift into place on 1st August.

• SEEB works progressing well with drainage installation ongoing

• Piling on the fast line platforms ongoing

166



Brent Cross West Station – Site Photos

167



ROAB
• No ROAB this month as it was replaced with a workshop to consider 

handing back the station into use. A successful event. An action list from 
the workshop will be circulated.

• A process map of the various inputs follows and will also be circulated.

168



Responsibilities

Construction, Maintenance, Security, Insurance
VFL

Maintenance, Operation, Security, 
Insurance

Refer to document Brent Cross West Station –
Design & Ownership (Revision 03)

Station Legal Agreements

VFL
NR Form 005’s
Certificate of 
Fitness to be 
Taken into 

Use

VFL / AI
Building 

Control Final 
Certificate

Mace
Deviation for 

Platform Humps

ORR
Authorisation to Place 

Into Service (APIS)

VFL / NR / 
GTR / LBB / 

BXT
Operator & 
Maintainer 
Training & 

Familiarisatio
n

VFL / Mace
Discharge of All 
Pre-Operational 

Planning 
Conditions

VFL / BXT
Discharge of All 
Pre-Operational 

Planning 
Conditions

VFL
SEEB 

Certificate of 
Fitness to be 
Taken into 

Use

VFL
Handover to 

LBB
LBB

Handover to 
BXT

Taking Over 
Certificate



NR
APA 

Completio
n 

Certificate

Mace (LBB)
NEC3 

Completion 
Certificate

(Commencemen
t of Defects 

Liability Period)

NCB / NRAP / Mace
TSI Declaration of 
Verification Issued

Mace / 
NR / GTR
Entry into 

Service 
Form 
0032



Mace
CSM

Declaration 
of Control of 
Risk (DoCoR)



VFL
SEEB 
RIBA 
Stage 

4 
Desig

n
VFL

Handover to 
LBB
LBB

Handover to 
NR

NR Handover 
to GTR 

AMP015’s
Taking Over 
Certificates

&
AMP016’s 
Defect & 

Snag 
Identification



BXT
Completion of 

Interim 
Transport 

Interchange

NR / GTR
Timetable 

Change



LBB
External Works at 
Western Entrance

LBB / NR / GTR / DfT
Agreement of 
Operational & 

Maintenance Costs

LBB / NR / GTR / DfT / 
BXT

Operational 
Management 

Agreement 
Station, Bridge and 

Access Boxes

NR / GTR
Operational 

Updates (inc. line 
diagram changes, 

train 
announcements, 
website updates, 

etc.)

NR / GTR / DfT
Station Lease



LBB / NR / 
BXT

Lifts & 
Escalators 

Lease
&

NR Easements

LBB / NR / 
BXT

LBB Bridge 
Easement

VFL / NR
GRIP 5 
Design

(NR 
Forms 
003 & 
004) VFL

Red Line 
Drawings

Brent Cross West Station: Handover Process & Responsibilities 15/06/21
Revision 

04

Brent 
Cross 
West 

Station

Mace

Volker
Fitzpatrick

Network Rail

GTR

LBB

BXT

ORR

NCB

Scope
Lead 

Organisatio
n

Key

Activity Managed by Mace

Activity Managed by Others

Handover following Network 
Rail AMP process

Handover of SEEB

Bold - Parties involved in activity

Underline – Lead for activity

Deliverables 
Complete for 

Entry into 
Service

Deliverables 
Complete for 

Handover

VFL
Operation & 
Maintenance 

Manuals

NR
Bridge 

Opening

LBB
Western 
Entrance 
Opening

GTR
Station 

Opening

BXT
Eastern 

Entrance 
Opening

GTR
Escalato
r & Lift 

Opening

LBB / NR 
/ GTR

Resolutio
n of 

Headway
s Issue

BXT
Approval of 
Design and 

Planning 
Submissions

NR
Network Change 

for Platform 
Humps

Red Text – Key milestone

169



Brent Cross West Station
Milestone Programme for Station Delivery in December 2022

170



Appendix B – Brent Cross Housing & Growth Committee Update report 

Site Progress Photos from August Bank Holiday Weekend 

Steelwork for the new station concourse 

 

Lifting in main steelwork for the new station concourse 

 

 

  

171



View across the new station bridge 

 

Replacement of ‘scissors’ points (former  

access to Hendon Waste Transfer Station siding) 

         

New station lift shaft, with no scaffolding 

 

172



 

 
 

Summary 

 
This report requests authority to declare the Council’s freehold interest in the property known 
as 241 and 233 West Hendon Broadway, and Land adjoining 239 West Hendon Broadway 
NW9 (“the Site”) as a surplus asset and for the Council to commence consideration and 
exploration of the various options available regarding the Site including but not limited to its 
sale or future development.   
 

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. That the Committee declares that the freehold interest in the property known as 
241 and 233 West Hendon Broadway, and Land adjoining 239 West Hendon 
Broadway NW9 (“the Site”) is a surplus Council asset and following the 
expiration of the occupational lease no longer required for its current use, and 
to authorise that the Council commences the consideration and exploration of 
options for the future use of the Site including but not limited to a potential sale 
or development of the same. 

 

Housing & Growth Committee 
 
 

13 September 2021  

Title  

Authorisation to declare Land and premises known 
as 241 and 233 West Hendon Broadway, and Land 
adjoining 239 West Hendon Broadway (“the Site”) as 
a surplus asset  

Report of Chair of Housing and Growth Committee  

Wards West Hendon 

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Key No 

Enclosures                          
Appendix 1: Lease Plan  

Appendix 2: (Compulsory Purchase Order) CPO Land plan  

Officer Contact Details  

Iliana Koutsou 
Programme Manager – Special Projects 
iliana.koutsou@barnet.gov.uk 
02083595494 

173

AGENDA ITEM 13

mailto:iliana.koutsou@barnet.gov.uk


 
 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1 This report is needed to enable the Council to declare its freehold interest in the property 

known as 241 and 233 West Hendon Broadway, and Land adjoining 239 West Hendon 
Broadway NW9 (“the Site”) as surplus and following the expiration of the lease that it will 
no longer be required for its current use and in the light of such declaration that the Council 
should now commence looking at various options for the Site including its potential sale or 
development. 
 

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

2.1 The Site is held freehold. Part of the Site has been acquired for the West Hendon 
Regeneration Scheme and an indicative plan is attached showing the location of the Site 
(appendix 1).     

2.2 The land cross hatched (appendix 1), part of which has been acquired by the Council 
pursuant to General Vesting Declaration CPO2a Number 5 being plots 3 and 5 on the plan 
attached at Appendix 2 is subject to a 10 year lease which is due to expire on the 10 May 
2023, granted by the Council to Mechinah Golders Green Limited, at a current passing rent 
of £30,000 pa. The lease includes a rolling break clause, benefitting the Council, subject 
to 12 months’ notice and is excluded from the security of tenure provisions of the 1954 Act. 
The break option may be used if the Council requires the whole or part of the land for a 
regeneration scheme which was included because of the then impending West Hendon 
Regeneration scheme. The Site is occupied and operates as Beis Madrash School, a 
private Jewish School. Following the acquisition of part of the site to enable the 
regeneration scheme to proceed it has been agreed with the tenant to reduce the passing 
rent effective from 1 February 2020. The adjacent land is privately owned but also forms 
part of and is occupied by the School. 

 
3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 

 
3.1 Given that the site is deemed surplus there are no other options available to the Council 

except to optimize the asset. The Council cannot, given the location of the Site, do nothing.  
 

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

4.1 Officers will seek to evaluate the Site including assessing its viability for development and 
suitability and undertake a planning appraisal as required.     

 
5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  

 
5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

 
5.1.1 This report is aligned with the Council’s ‘Thriving’ priority, where Barnet is ‘a place fit for 

the future’. This is also aligned with managing ‘assets effectively and utilise potential 
avenues for increased and diversified income streams’, so that Council services can be 
invested in for the long term.  
 

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 

174



 
5.2.2 The Council will ensure that in terms of outcomes it evaluates the various possible options 

for the Site having regard to the requirements to achieve best consideration and its overall 
best value duties as imposed by s 123 of the Local Government Act 1972 and section 1 of 
the Local Government Act 1999 and the need to obtain and the likelihood of obtaining any 
required statutory consents   
 

5.3 Legal and Constitutional References 

 

5.3.1 The Council’s Constitution, Article 7 – Committees, Forums, Working Groups and 

Partnerships sets out the responsibilities of all council committees. The H&G Committee’s 

remit includes responsibility for: 

 

      housing matters including housing strategy, homelessness, social housing and housing 

grants, commissioning of environmental health functions for private sector housing  

      regeneration strategy and overseeing major regeneration schemes, asset 

management, employment strategy, business support and engagement. 

5.3.2 Article 10 of the Council’s Constitution Table A, states that any acquisition or disposal with 

a value exceeding £500,000 shall be decided by the Housing and Growth committee and 

also includes any disposal for a consideration that is at less than best.  

5.3.3 The Council has a right to dispose of land in any manner they wish pursuant to s 123(1) of 

the Local Government Act 1972, subject to the remaining conditions set out in that section. 

5.3.4 S123(2) of the 1972 Act imposes on the Council a duty to dispose of land at not less than 

the best consideration that can reasonably be obtained. Any departure from this duty will 

require the consent of the Secretary of State unless such disposal falls within an exception 

as provided for in the 2003 General Disposal Consent. This permits the Council to dispose 

of land for less than best consideration without Secretary of State consent provided that 

the difference between the restricted and unrestricted value is not more than £2 million 

and the Council is satisfied and can demonstrate that the disposal is likely to achieve an 

improvement in the social economic environmental benefit for the area in which the said 

property is situate.  

5.3.5 The Council in considering any disposal decision will have regard to the requirement for 

statutory compliance in terms of the above as well as adherence to any other requirements 

to obtain consent as may be required under s 122 or s 123 of the LGA 1972 before bringing 

any proposals forward. 

5.3.6 The Academies Act 2010 Schedule 1 provides that where land has been used as a school 

or a 16-19 Academy at any time during the last eight years prior to a proposed disposal by 

way of freehold or lease, then the consent of the Secretary of State will be required. The 

SoS may also where such land is intended to be disposed of, elect to make a scheme for 

an academy school in accordance with the Act. 

5.3.7 The School Standards and Framework Act 1998 requires that any land used by a 

maintained school as school playing fields which has been used as such in the last ten 

years prior to the intended disposal cannot be disposed of without the consent of the SoS.  

The definition of a playing field is interpreted widely being any land in the open air used for 

175



the purposes of physical education or physical activity. If the Site comprises any such land 

then consent will be required under section 77. 

5.3.8 Section 1(1) of the Localism Act 2011 confers a general power of competence on local 

authorities which permits then to do anything that private individuals may do but this is 

subject to the general principles of public law.  

5.3.9 Section 95 of the Local Government Act 2003 allows a local authority to do for a 

commercial purpose anything that they are authorised to do for carrying on any of their 

ordinary functions.  

5.3 Insight 
 

5.3.1 There is a historic valuation report which will need to be refreshed so that the site is 
disposed to achieve value for money.   

 
5.4 Social Value 

 
5.4.1  Reviewing options of existing assets will enable the Council’s portfolio of assets to go 

further towards supporting local needs by helping to provide new opportunities. Any 

contractors or development partners will be encouraged to provide opportunities for 

employment, training and apprenticeships for local people and use local suppliers where 

appropriate. 

5.5 Risk Management 
 

5.5.1 As a responsible landlord, the Council has identified that this site is surplus to the Council’s 
operational requirements. So that the site is made best use of, it is recommended to 
undertake a review to explore various options available with regard to the site.    
 

5.6 Equalities and Diversity  
 
5.6.1 The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public-Sector Equalities Duty which 

requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

   Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 
prohibited by the Equality Act 2010.  

  Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups and foster good 
relations between people from different groups. 

 
5.6.2 Any Equalities Impact Assessments will be undertaken on individual schemes as they are 

brought forward and the proposals outlined will give appropriate consideration and where 
required consider any matters raised in these assessments and the Council will adhere to 
and have regard to its duties  as required the Equality Act 2010. 

 
5.7 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.7.1  There are not considered to be any arising from the proposed recommendations. 
 
5.8 Consultation and Engagement 

 
5.8.1 N/A 

176



 
6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
6.1 None.  
 
 

177



This page is intentionally left blank



179



This page is intentionally left blank



181



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Summary 

This report sets out the proposal for the Council to enter into a commercial arrangement in 

respect of the Bunns Lane Car Park, which is identified in Figure 1 of this report, with a 

developer/annuity funder that delivers the social and environmental improvements to Mill 

Hill and supports the economic prosperity of Mill Hill and the wider borough. The creation of 

an income generating asset will also help reduce the Council’s budget gap and generate 

both a Capital receipt and additional Council tax revenue. This asset will be a Build to Rent 

(“BtR”) product targeted at local residents where possible, consisting of a minimum of 128 

residential units of which 50% are affordable. The scheme will be designed and developed 

in co-ordination with the proposed delivery of the step free access to the Broadway station.  

The proposed transaction is a sale and leaseback arrangement involving a developer 

(Muse Developments Limited) and an annuity funder (M&G Investments).  The Council 

grants the annuity funder a major interest in the land i.e. a 125- year lease (Council retains 

 

 

Housing and Growth Committee 

13th September 2021 

  

Title  
Bunns Lane Car Park Proposed 
Approach to Site Disposal 

Report of Chairman of the Housing & Growth Committee 

Wards Hale 

Status 

Public with accompanying Exempt Report (not for publication 
by virtue of paragraph 3 of Schedule 12a of the Local 
Government Act 1972 as amended as this relates to 
information of a financial or business nature) 

Urgent No 

Key Yes 

Enclosures                          None 

Officer Contact Details  

Abid Arai, Head of Development Delivery 

abid.arai@barnet.gov.uk 

 

183

AGENDA ITEM 14

mailto:abid.arai@barnet.gov.uk


the freehold) and out of that interest the annuity funder grants a lease for 40-years back to 

the Council. There are no upfront costs to the Council, as the developer takes all design, 

planning and development risk.  

Upon financial close i.e. conditions being satisfied, such as planning consent being 

granted, the developer will pay a lump sum (purchase price) to the Council for the value of 

the lease land, which will accord with the developer’s bid to the Council, received during 

the competition process.  At this point, the annuity funder will enter into the long lease of 

the Site, and grant to the developer and its construction partner a building licence to deliver 

the construction of the project. Once practical completion takes place, the Council is under 

an obligation to take the 40-year lease and pay a guaranteed CPI indexed linked rent to the 

annuity funder for the proposed 40-year term, subject to a collar (0%) and cap (5%) 

arrangement. This is a mechanism used to set the minimum and maximum that the 

Council’s rent can increase, regardless of market conditions. The figures outlined in the 

exempt report are indicative only and will be finalised prior to financial close. i.e. 

satisfaction of the conditions of the disposal and lease agreement. The original 125-year 

lease will be assigned by the annuity funder on completion of the development pursuant to 

the Agreement for Lease to Muse. 

The full operating, maintenance, insurance and occupancy risk for the 40-year term of the 

Council’s lease will be managed by the Council, in collaboration with the developer, with 

day-to-day management outsourced to a management company who specialise in the BtR 

sector with all services that they provide being branded in the name of the management 

company i.e. white labelled. 

At the expiry of the 40-year lease term the Council acquires the asset back for £1.00 and at 
that point the Council either continue to rent, refinance, or sell the assets benefiting from 
capital growth over the 40-year lease term 

 

Officers’ Recommendations  

1. That the Committee notes progress to date in respect of the proposals for the 
development of the Bunns Lane Car Park (“the Site”) delineated at Figure 1 
paragraph 1. below. 

2. That the Committee approves the proposed Sale and Leaseback approach to the 
development of the Site. 

3. That the Committee approves Muse Developments Limited as the preferred 
developer for the delivery and sale and leaseback approach on this Bunns Lane Car 
Park Site.   

4. That the Committee delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive acting in the 
best interests of the Council and in consultation with the Chairman of the Housing 
and Growth Committee to: - 

a. agree the final terms for the proposed transaction. 
b. negotiate finalise and complete the terms of the required documentation to be 

entered into with Muse Developments Limited and the annuity funder to give 
effect to the agreed terms as referred to in this report. 

c. to negotiate, approve, finalise, and complete such other documents as may 

184



be required to effect implement fund deliver and/or manage the scheme. 
d. approve and conclude the exchange of an Agreement for Lease and 

Leaseback to be entered into with Muse Developments Limited subject to 
such agreement being compliant with the Council’s statutory obligation to 
obtain the best price reasonably obtainable as evidenced by an independent 
valuation. 

5. That the Committee agrees to the creation of a management company (ManCo) by 
the Council for the ongoing management of the completed units at the Site and to 
enter into the proposed sub-underlease with the Council as outlined at paragraph 
8.b).xi).  Both of these are subject to approval from the Policy and Resources 
Committee. 

6. That the Committee approves, subject to planning permission being received for the 
development, that the Deputy Chief Executive (acting in the best interests of the 
Council and in consultation with the Chairman of the Housing and Growth 
Committee) be authorised to approve the final red book valuation for the Site. 

7. That the Committee (i) approves the advertising as required to appropriate to the 
required use or to appropriate to planning purposes any part of the Site deemed or 
designated as Public Open Space in accordance with S122(2A) of the Local 
Government Act 1972   and (ii) delegates to the Deputy Chief Executive the 
consideration of any objections received following the conclusion of the above 
advertising process. 

8. That the Committee delegates to the Deputy Chief Executive if appropriate following 
the conclusion of the consideration of any objections to advertise pursuant to 
S123(2A) of the LGA 1972 or S233 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 the 
disposal of any land referred to at 7 above which is to be comprised as part of the 
Site. 

9. That subject to paragraph 7, the Committee delegates authority to the Deputy Chief 
Executive to authorise that the whole or any part of the Site as may be required be 
appropriated for planning purposes pursuant to S122 of the LGA 1972 and to 
commence negotiations and settle any lawful claims asserted by third parties 
pursuant to SS 203 and SS 204 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016.  

 

10. That the Committee authorises that the Deputy Chief Executive may instruct as 
required the appropriate Council officers to make any applications to the Secretary 
of State for consent to enable the lawful disposal of the Site. 
 

11. That the Committee delegates authority to the Deputy Chief Executive in 
consultation with the Chairman of this Committee to make any alterations to the 
extent of the Site as appropriate acting in the best interests of the Council provided 
with the above recommendations to apply to the Site as altered. 
 

12. That the Committee delegates authority to the Deputy Chief executive to take all and 
any such actions as may be required to give effect to the recommendations to 
secure the sale of the Site including the termination of any extant parking 
arrangements. 

 
 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 

1.1 As reported to the Housing and Growth Committee on 6thJuly 2020, the Bunns Lane Car 

Park Site is part of a programme of Council owned Sites under investigation for 

185



development and disposal.  The Site was identified as having potential to meet a number 

of the Council’s objectives and the potential of generating a return that is commensurate 

with the risk associated with any development. A hotel option was considered, however 

was unviable and did not maximise the full potential of the site 

1.2 This report sets out the case for the preferred approach to deliver these objectives on the 

Bunns Lane Car Park Site and seeks Committee approval for the project team’s 

preferred approach to delivering these objectives.  

The Bunns Lane Car Park Site 

1.3 The Site is on land [makes up] known as the Bunns Lane Car Park, Bunns Lane, NW7 

2GD. 

1.4 Key components of the Site are 

 Size of Site is 0.5ha (1.24 acres) 

 Currently a 184-space pay and display car park 

 Located next to a railway line and the M1 

 Access to the Mill Hill Broadway Railway Station. 

Figure 1: The Bunns Lane Car Park Development Site 

 

1.5 The disposal and future development of the Bunns Lane Car Park Site provides an 

opportunity for both the economic prosperity of the Town Centre and contributes to 

private sector and affordable housing supply targets in several ways, as well as raising 

income from rents. 

 
 

 

186



 
2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  

 
2.1 The Barnet Plan 2021-2025 includes implementation of the Growth Strategy, which sets 

out how we will offer greater local opportunities, create better places, encourage more 

active lifestyles and over time increase the health and well-being of Barnet’s residents. 

One of the key goals of the Growth Strategy is to deliver more homes that people can 

afford, ensuring that communities across the borough get a ‘growth benefit’ from 

investment. This proposal directly contributes to that aim. 

2.2 The Bunns Lane Car Park Site is part of a rolling programme of Site disposals and 

developments that generate capital receipts and / or revenue, all of which are designed 

to help close the Council’s forecasted budget gap. 

2.3 The population in Barnet is expected to increase by 16% from 391,500 to 466,500 by 

2041.  The recent Strategic Housing Market Assessment shows that there is a need to 

provide up to 3,060 new homes a year to accommodate this growth.   

2.4 Barnet faces significant challenges when providing a suitable mix of good quality housing 

in meeting the changing demographic and economic make-up of the Borough. Whilst the 

need to tackle these challenges is not new, it will become more apparent in the future as 

the population continues to rise and housing targets set by the GLA / Central 

Government increase. The development of this Site contributes to meeting this challenge. 

2.5 The decline in the affordability of home ownership together with pressure on the social 

rented sector has prompted growth in the rented sector. Growth in the Build to Rent (BtR) 

sector is supported by a record level of investment of just under £3.5 billion in 2020.  This 

has been followed up by a record-breaking £1.23 billion invested in the first quarter of 

2021, signalling a fast start and continued confidence in the market (source: Savills BtR 

market update Q1 2021).   

2.6 The Council has an important role to play in delivering Government targets for housing 

growth over the coming years.  MHCLG published figures show that Barnet delivered just 

under 2,000 homes per annum in the three years to 2019, 82% of its current target of 

2,364.   

2.7 The proposed 128+ unit scheme for the Bunns Lane Car Park will be designed to the 

highest quality contributing to these targets and requirements. The redevelopment of this 

brownfield Site for mixed use housing provides a long-term asset that will support future 

housing delivery objectives of the Council and create employment opportunities both 

during and after construction. 

2.8 A key investment objective is to create stable and low risk long term returns to generate 

sustainable long-term returns to support the financial stability of the Council in line with its 

Capital Strategy. 

2.9 One of the Council’s priorities is a thriving borough for local residents, businesses and 

visitors who will all benefit from improved sustainable infrastructure, high quality public 

realm with fantastic facilities for all ages, enabling people to live happy and healthy lives. 

2.10 The scheme will also contribute to growth in the Town Centre by being a catalyst for 

inward investment and future regeneration. 

187



 
 
 
BACKGROUND 

2.11 The proposal is to develop a BtR product which consists of a minimum of 128 residential 

units on the Bunns Lane Car Park Site. 50% of which will be at affordable rent levels. 

This will be a mix of London Affordable Rent, London Living Rent and Discounted Market 

Rent. 

2.12 BtR is a specific asset class designed, built & managed for the rental customer in mind. 

This is different from the existing Private Rented Sector (PRS) offer because it provides 

high-quality, purpose-built homes with professional management and longer tenancies 

for those who want them.  

2.13 BtR can also increase the overall supply and accelerate the construction of new homes, 

as its model is to build and rent the homes straight away so that income can be 

generated. BtR delivers the following: 

 Increases to the overall supply and acceleration of the construction of new homes. 

 Greater choice for tenants in the local rental market. 

 A better quality of rental product that is professionally managed for Mill Hill residents 

 An opportunity for the Council to generate a long-term income stream to invest in local 

priorities 

2.14 For the tenants, BtR provides an enhanced experience when compared to a normal PRS 

product, this may include the following: 

 No deposits 

 Longer term, family friendly tenancies 

 Predictable rents 

 Concierge 

 Resident Lounges 

 Roof gardens 

 Open space 

 Tech-enabled management solution 

 On-Site staff and 24/7 security 

 Superfast broadband 

 Storage lockers 

 Bike sheds 

2.15 BtR attracts persons and families from various professions as can be seen in the 

illustration below. 25% are from financial and insurance activities and 15% from 

188



IT/Information and communication, marketing and advertising. These sectors have been 

resilient through the current pandemic which led to continued rental revenue against such 

schemes during an otherwise difficult period. 

Figure 2: Build to Rent occupants by employment sector.  

 

2.16 The current proposed transaction for the Site is a sale and lease back between a 

developer/annuity funder and the Council as the best commercial structure. To note this 

is not a procurement of a development partner with enforceable development obligations, 

but primarily a land asset disposal that must satisfy best consideration. A large number of 

local authorities are looking to fund projects in a more flexible way, and in doing so are 

looking to the external markets to source a wide range of debt products.  Where there’s 

income to support the debt, products are linked to annual increase (e.g. housing) then 

authorities are investigating index linked products to access the benefits of cheap early 

year payments; thereby increasing viability. 

2.17 Under this structure the Council grants the annuity funder a major interest in the land i.e. 

a 125- year lease and retains the freehold. Out of that interest the annuity funder grants 

back to the Council a lease for 40-years if and when practical completion is achieved. 

There are no upfront costs as the developer takes all design, planning and development 

risk. Upon satisfaction of conditions, the developer will pay a lump sum (purchase price) 

to the Council for the land, which will accord with the developer’s bid received during the 

competition process. 

189



2.18 On financial close, the land will be disposed, and long leasehold ownership will transfer 

to the annuity funder on an obligation to grant the Council to a 40-year lease on practical 

completion. During the period between financial close and practical completion, the 

funder will have long leasehold ownership of the land with the Council awaiting practical 

completion for the 40-year lease to be put in place. 

2.19 Once practical completion takes place and following the grant of the underlease to the 

Council, the Council is under an obligation to pay a guaranteed and indexed linked rent 

to the funder for the proposed 40-year term subject to a collar (0%) and cap (5%) 

arrangement (this is a mechanism used to set the minimum and maximum limits that the 

LBB rent can increase within). 

2.20 The way the commercial structure works is the rent received from the Council’s 

occupational tenants is greater than the rent payable by the Council to the annuity funder, 

which provides the Council with a profit rent, through the life of the development.  

2.21 At the expiry of the lease term the Council acquires the asset back for £1.00 and can 

then either continue to rent, refinance, or sell the assets. Over the 40-year lease term, 

the assets are highly likely to increase in value due to capital growth, providing an 

additional return on the investment, over and above the annual revenues. 

2.22 This is the optimal structure as it enables the Council (acting via a wholly owned 

Management Company) to create Assured Shorthold Tenancies (AST), which do not give 

rise to secure tenancies and, in turn, avoids the potential of any Right to Buy (RTB) 

interest being created. AST tenancies are commonly used by Registered Providers (RPs) 

but cannot be granted directly by local authorities. Managing the assets via a wholly 

owned Management Company enables the Council to do so. The Council will therefore 

grant an underlease of 40 years less 3 days (or a similar term) to its wholly owned 

Management Company, which in turn will grant occupational tenancies to individual 

occupiers.  The proposed structure has been reviewed by KPMG from a tax and VAT 

liability perspective and found to be compliant and tax efficient. 

 
SITE PROPOSAL 

2.23 The Site is within the vicinity of Lyndhurst Park which lies to the southwest of the Site 

providing access to a network of green outdoor spaces. Mill Hill Broadway town centre is 

immediately to the east with the Site acting as a termination point and a key urban 

marker for the Midland Railway station. 

2.24 The proposal is a ‘high quality’ BtR scheme and will be inclusive of amenity including 

concierge, parcel storage facility, coworking space, communal lounges, adaptable leisure 

space/ Gym, free Wi-Fi, etc.  

2.25 The Bunns Lane Car Park Site very much fits the profile of a target BtR development, a 

few of the key attractions that the Site brings are highlighted below: 

2.26 Excellent connectivity – proximity to public transport has been a cornerstone of BtR 

development over the years and is normally the first aspect an annuity funder or operator 

will look at. The Site excels in this respect, with Mill Hill Broadway rail station and bus 

stops withing a few minutes’ walk from the Site. This will involve collaboration between 

190



Muse and Network Rail, with the latter undertaking feasibility studies to deliver step free 

access. The Site is expected to perform well in attracting renters who value connectivity.  

2.27 Access to Amenity and High Street – Easy access to amenities is key for successful 

BtR schemes. The high street is within a 5-minute walk from the site which will be 

attractive to renters supporting local businesses such as retail, food, and leisure. 

2.28 Open Space – immediate access to green open space can be difficult to achieve in 

many developments. The development will deliver amenity area with green screening for 

acoustic from the nearby road and rail. There will also be a public plaza with overspill 

from the ground floor café. 

2.29 Energy efficient - The scheme meets London Plan 2021 policy relating to carbon 

reduction and sustainability through the energy hierarchy and BREEAM (Building 

Research Establishment Environmental Assessment Method). Muse are proposing an 

all-electric solution via air source heat pumps. This responds to the significant shift in the 

way electricity is generated (proliferation of embedded renewable sources and reduction 

in coal fired power stations). It is expected that in years to come it could be a zero-carbon 

energy source. 

2.30 It is proposed that the Site will deliver a BtR product consisting of 128+ units with 50% 

affordable provisions being made.  

2.31 In addition to the residential units the key components of delivery are likely to be: 

 Communal garden terrace at ground floor. 

 Shared private garden terrace with play space and BBQ area 

 Flexible communal space which could accommodate a cinema room, residents’ 

workspace and/or fitness/yoga studio 

 Communal roof terraces providing outdoor dining, garden space and planters. 

 The proposal is to retain as many of the 184 public pay and display parking 

spaces with 20% active electric charging spaces and 80% passive. Subject to the 

outcome of a transport strategy. 

 Car free development with 10% for disabled access. 

 New private residential external amenity space. 

 Flexible Class E space at ground floor providing active frontages for local 

residents to use. Such as Café, Restaurant, Bar etc 

 Opportunity to have direct pedestrian access to the train station subway. 

 All electric solution to energy requirements with more efficient air source heat 

pumps 

 

Benefits 

2.32 The table below shows the main benefits of the proposed sale and leaseback delivery 

solution with Muse as the preferred partner: 

 

 

 

191



Figure 3: Sale and leaseback benefits 

Benefit Description  

Lower risk for LBB  LBB would not have to contribute any financing to the project. 

 Turnkey development solution under a single management 

structure, no development or construction risks for LBB 

Contribution to housing 
targets 

 Scheme provides 128 new homes as minimum, with the ability to 

increase density subject to planning permission. 

 50% of these will be affordable homes. 

 Creates a variety of housing tenures.  

Income for LBB  Proposal generates income for LBB General Fund of over 40-years, 
this includes: 

o Initial lump sum payment. 

o Regular revenue income. 
o Additional Council Tax revenues for LBB. 

o New Homes Bonus income. 
o Increased Section 106 and CIL income for further 

improvements in Mill Hill 

Additional benefits for LBB  Creation of employment and training opportunities throughout the 

build phase. 

 Improved use of the Site and estate environment that will be 
secured by design. 

 Improved quality of accommodation including new communal 

facilities, e.g., gardens, café etc. 

 Facilitates a new Build to Rent development in Barnet. 

 Improved public realm within Barnet with quality architecture.  

 Contribution towards improved health and wellbeing.  

 

192



3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 Whilst the Council has agreed in principle to this sale and leaseback approach to the 

development of the Bunns Lane Car Park Site, several other options were considered by 

the project team, they are shown with their pros and cons in Figure 4. 

Figure 4: Other options considered. 

Delivery 

Option 

Pros Cons 

Do Nothing  Path of least resistance and 

change 

 No long-term risk associated with 

underoccupancy 

 Does not make best use of the Site 

 Doesn’t provide significant level of 
income & return for LBB 

Traditional 
Disposal 

 More straightforward delivery 

option for LBB  

 No long-term risk associated with 

underoccupancy 

 Less LBB influence on use of the 

Site 

 Provides lower level of income & 

return for LBB than other options 

LBB PWLB 

funded 
development 

 LBB retains full control over 

scheme design and configuration 

 LBB retains Site and all asset 

ownership 

 There is a risk new prudential code 

guidance doesn’t allow PWLB 

borrowing for this scheme where 

one of its objectives is income 

generation 

 LBB required to manage the 

development and associated risks. 

 Requires LBB to establish delivery 

structures and various partners. 

 All risk of under occupancy on 

future revenue streams remains 

with LBB. 

 PWLB interest payments reduce 

contribution to LBB General Fund to 

25% of what a sale and leaseback 
could deliver over 40-years for 

same scheme 

 
 

193



 
4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 

4.1 The following table in figure 5 sets out the key next steps to ensure successful project 

delivery in a robust and timely manner: 

Figure 4: Project delivery and next steps 

No. Step Explanation Timing 

1 Achieve contractual 
closure with Muse 

Develop the detailed structure 
of deal and enter into a 

conditional agreement for 
lease with Muse, enter 

contract after approval from 

Housing and Growth 
Committee 

6-8 weeks 

 

 

2 Establish Internal Project 
Governance Board 

Project monitoring   12 weeks 

3 Muse Mobilisation Appointment of Muse multi-
disciplinary team 

Muse will start a mobilisation by appointing the 
architects to refresh their scheme design, then 

ramp up the full team to work on a planning 

application immediately after exchange of 
contracts. 

4. Submission of Planning 
Application and technical 
design 

RIBA stage 3 - 4 Q2 - Q4 2022 

5.  Start on Site RIBA stage 5 2023 

 

 

 

194



5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISIONS 
5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

 
5.1.1 The Council’s corporate plan sets out the aim to ensure Barnet is a pleasant, well 

maintained borough that is protected and invested in by:  

5.1.1.1 Ensuring decent quality housing that buyers and renters can afford, 

prioritising Barnet residents that will be delivered by increasing supply to 

ensure greater housing choice for residents and delivering new affordable 

housing, including new homes, on Council-owned land.  

5.1.1.2 Investing in community facilities to support a growing population, such as 

schools and leisure centres that will be delivered by investing in community 

facilities such as enhancing our indoor and outdoor sporting facilities and 

maintaining our 21st century libraries.  

5.1.2 Responsible delivery of our major regeneration schemes to create better places to 

live and work, whilst protecting and enhancing the borough - delivered by working 

with The Barnet Group to deliver housing on smaller Sites across the borough.  

 

5.1.3 The Corporate Plan further sets out how the Council will deliver these ambitions 

within financial constraints by ensuring that taxpayers money goes as far as it can 

through adhering to the following key principles:  

5.1.3.1 A fair deal - by delivering the services that matter most and making decisions 

to prioritise our limited resources alongside providing value for money for the 

taxpayer by ensuring we are transparent in how we operate.  

5.1.3.2 Maximising opportunity - by taking a commercial approach to generating 

income, and looking for new opportunities to generate revenue from our 

estate, alongside capitalising on opportunities from responsible growth and 

development to boost the local economy  

5.1.4 The draft London Plan and draft Local Plan recognise the need to deliver more 

housing in the Borough. The council’s Housing Strategy 2019-2024 continues to 

emphasise that delivering more homes that people can afford is a key priority and 

sets out how the council will deal with a number of challenges including high prices, a 

shortage of affordable housing and the potential threats to the qualities that make the 

Borough attractive.   

5.1.5 Barnet’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy recognises the importance of access to good 

quality housing in maintaining Well-Being in the Community.  

 

5.1.6 Lack of affordable housing is highlighted in Barnet’s Joint Strategic Needs 

Assessment (JSNA) as one of the top three concerns identified by local residents in 

the Residents’ Perception Survey. 

 

5.1.7 The Council has a forecasted budget gap over the Medium Term Financial Strategy 

(MTFS), and it is estimated that the Bunns Lane Car Park Site could contribute 

c.£500k pa towards closing this gap. This will continue to be kept under review as the 

delivery of this scheme progresses. 

195



 
5.2 Resources  

 
5.2.1 Value for Money and Procurement 

5.2.1.1 The Council placed an advert in the Estate Gazette for a period of four weeks 

seeking expressions of interest from potential private sector partners to 

deliver the Bunns Lane Car Park development.  Bids that allowed the best 

possible assessment of delivery and financing options were invited.  This 

marketing process confirmed that the sale and leaseback approach to the 

delivery of the Site is the preferred option.  

5.2.1.2 The Council received ten expressions of interest from a range of 

organisations by the advert deadline of 25 September 2020.  The evaluation 

and moderation process was as follows: 

5.2.1.2.1 Identification of eight organisations who could meet the Council’s objectives for 

the Site. 

5.2.1.2.2 Initial evaluation and moderation reduced the shortlist to five potential bidders 

taken forward to stage 2 of the evaluation. 

5.2.1.2.3 These five organisations were invited to submit their design and innovation 

proposals for the Site along with their financial models. 

5.2.1.2.4 The Council issued a financial model proforma based on the delivery of 128 units 

on the Site, for completion by the bidders, to enable a direct and fair comparison 

of the bids. 

5.2.1.2.5 The five bids were individually evaluated, followed by a moderation scoring 

exercise to confirm the top three ranking bids who were shortlisted and taken 

forward to the interview stage.  This included post tender clarifications and due 

diligence work that included company health check reports, ratio analysis and 

stress testing. 

5.2.1.3 The Muse proposal meets the best consideration test from a s123 

perspective and delivers the greatest positive impact for the LBB general 

fund, the greatest contribution to the Council’s housing targets and was the 

best conceptually designed scheme.   The proposal scored 92 out of a 

possible 100, higher than the other bidders. Further analysis is in the exempt 

report. 

5.2.1.4 Financial due diligence was applied to all shortlisted bidders. Muse scored 

the highest financially, their delivery proposal also scored the highest and 

met the council’s objectives and was subsequently selected as the preferred 

bidder. 

5.2.1.5 The primary purpose of the transaction is, one of a land transaction, as such 

it falls outside of the Public Contracts Regulations 2015. 

 

5.2.2 Property 

196



5.2.2.1 The Site development will be delivered by Muse.  Once the 125-year lease 

has been granted to Muse’s annuity funder M&G Investments, the funder will 

grant to Muse and its construction partner a building licence to deliver the 

project. Muse will appoint [with suitable covenant strength] a Design and 

Build Contractor. Muse’s sister company Morgan Sindall Construction 

supported the bid as a prospective Design and Build contractor, but the 

option of competitive tendering remains. This ensures they are securing the 

most competitive tender price for the works. 

5.2.2.2 The Agreement for Lease which is conditional on the following conditions 

precedent being satisfied: 

 Grant of satisfactory planning permission and signature of any planning 
agreement (free of challenge via judicial review). 

 Vacant possession of the entire Site including satisfactory access.  

 Satisfactory funding agreement secured by Muse with its funder M&G 
Investments (including satisfactory leaseback terms to the Council). 

 Acceptable Site conditions with no major abnormal costs identified through 
initial surveys. 
 

5.2.2.3 Upon practical completion of the development the annuity funder will grant to 

the Council a lease back of the entire Site. The funder will have enforceable 

rights to secure the performance of the developer’s build obligations.  The 

form of lease will be appended to the Agreement for Lease and will include 

the following key terms. 

 

 Minimum 40-year lease term with option for the Council to buy back the 

entire Site for £1.00 at end of the term. 

 An annual rental payment to be fixed at financial close (unconditionality / 

start on Site) at approximately 75% of the Council's projected annual income, 

with CPI linked annual uplift and a collar of 0% and a cap to uplifts at 5%.  An 

independent valuation will be commissioned to calculate the market rent from 

which the Council's rental commitment will be calculated. 

 London Borough of Barnet covenant in place for the duration of the 40-year 
term.  Note that the lease is not assignable (except to statutory successors). 

 
5.2.2.4 The Council will also appoint an external management company through a 

management contract to deliver the Sites day-to-day management service.  

That company will also take an underlease of the whole Site from the Council 

for a term of 40 years less 3 days (or similar term).  Residents will 

subsequently enter into residential tenancy agreements with the 

management company. 

The following illustration sets out the delivery and management structure: 

 

 

 

197



Figure 6: Muse delivery and management structure 

 

 
 

5.2.2.4.1 Pre-construction stage (RIBA Stages 1-4) 

 It is proposed that Muse will deliver the Site through a licence to 

build with the construction works being funded by the annuity 

funder Muse’s sister company Morgan Sindall Construction 

supported the bid as a prospective Design and Build contractor, 

but the option for competitive tendering remains. This will ensure 

value for money is achieved for the Site. 

 Muse Developments parent Morgan Sindall Group Plc will 

provide the Council with a Parent Company Guarantee (PCG). A 

PCG is provided by a contractor's parent company in connection 

with the contractor's obligations under a building or engineering 

contract. If the contractor should default on its obligations, as per 

the guarantee, liabilities can fall on the parent company to 

complete the contracted obligations of the subsidiary. 

 Muse have a dedicated in-house, estate management team 

which we will commit to the scheme from inception of the project 

to work alongside the Council’s appointed property manager, be 

this internal or external. They will work collaboratively with the 

relevant council representatives through the design and 

construction period to devise and refine an effective 

management solution that is fully operational on day one. 

 Muse along with their prospective construction partner aim to 

deliver the scheme to a high-quality design to minimise 

management and maintenance costs, whilst also maximising the 

marketability of the scheme. The concept design proposes a 

material palette, consisting primarily of hard-wearing brick and 

pre-cast stone, which places a focus on durability. Such 

materials will ensure maintenance and service costs remain low 

throughout the lifecycle of the scheme and limit the frequency of 

future repairs and refurbishment. This will reduce the LB Barnet’s 

annual operating costs which helps to maximise net annual 

income. 

198



5.2.2.4.2 Construction (RIBA Stage 5) 

 This will be undertaken under a building contract between Muse 

and its procured construction partner, who will build and deliver 

the scheme in accordance with approved drawings. 

5.2.2.4.3 Handover (RIBA Stage 6) 

 The handover process ensures a smooth transfer of the buildings 

into operational use for the occupants. Working with Muse’s New 

Homes Team they will plan the logistics around moving residents 

into earlier phases to ensure safe access. 

5.2.2.4.4 Post Completion (defects liability) 

 Muse commits to providing the necessary resource for two years 

from practical completion to support the LB Barnet in establishing 

and stabilising the scheme to ensure optimal performance before 

handing over the long-term management responsibility. 

 Muse commits to providing a Customer Care Coordinator which 

provides a 24/7, 365 days a year dedicated phone number to 

residents, likely via the management agent in this instance. This 

enables a full Customer Care service via a number that will be 

answered by their New Homes Team in working hours and 

transferred outside of these hours to a specialist provider. 

 Muse will commit to leading weekly calls with the Council’s 

management team in the first six months following practical 

completion to ensure any new resident issues are identified and 

resolved promptly. Muse will also coordinate and attend quarterly 

site meetings to maintain an on-site presence during the early 

stages of the scheme. 

5.2.2.5 Given the transaction structure proposed at Bunns Lane, whereby the 

Council will take ownership of the homes on practical completion, it is 

accepted that the long-term management of the estate will be the 

responsibility of LB Barnet. Muse recognises, however, that the onus will be 

on Muse to ensure robust procedures are put in place prior to completion to 

enable a seamless handover, that minimises any risk. 

5.2.2.6 This management company will be a wholly owned company (WOC) of the 

Council with its own financial statements i.e., profit and loss. This is the 

optimal structure as it enables the Council (acting via that company) to create 

AST tenancies (Assured Shorthold or Assured Tenancies) which do not give 

rise to secure tenancies which in turn avoids the potential of any RTB interest 

being created. AST tenancies are commonly used by registered providers 

but cannot be granted directly by local authorities, the management company 

enables us to do so. The proposed structure has been reviewed by KPMG 

from a tax and VAT liability perspective. 

 

199



 
5.3 Legal and Constitutional References 

 
5.3.1 The financials are included in the exempt section as it contains commercially 

confidential information (relevant legislation -paragraph 3 of part 1 of schedule 12 A of 

the Local Government Act 1972 (as amended) and the public interest in maintaining 

the exemption outweighs the public interest in disclosing the information. 

 

5.3.2 The Council’s Constitution, Article 7 – Committees, Forums, Working Groups and 

Partnerships sets out the responsibilities of all council committees. The H&G 

Committee includes responsibility for: 

 housing matters including housing strategy, homelessness, social housing and 

housing grants, commissioning of environmental health functions for private sector 

housing  

 regeneration strategy and overseeing major regeneration schemes, asset 

management, employment strategy, business support and engagement.  

5.3.3 Council, Constitution, Article 10 Table A states that the Housing & Growth Committee 

is responsible for authorising all disposals of land for over £500,000 and any disposal 

which is not for best consideration   

 

5.3.4 Council Constitution- Article 7- Committees Forums Working Groups and 

Partnerships- Policy and Resources Committee- the remit of this Committee includes 

responsibility for Strategic policy, finance and corporate risk management including 

Capital and Revenue Budget, Medium Term Financial Strategy and Corporate Plan to 

Full Council and to be responsible for those matters not specifically allocated to any 

other committee affecting the affairs of the Council. 

 

5.3.5 Specific legal /title matters for the Sites referenced here will be explored as part of the 

process to identify any legal risks or constraints in respect of each Site.  

 

5.3.6 Where land is subject to third party rights it may be prudent to appropriate the land for 

planning purposes to extinguish third party rights thereby engaging sections 203 and 

204 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016 (“HPA 2016”).  Section 122 of the Local 

Government Act 1972 (“LGA 1972”) empowers a local authority to appropriate land 

held by it from one statutory purpose to another if it considers the land is no longer 

required for the purpose for which it is currently held and an appropriation is in the 

public interest.  Such matters will be explored through the process of Site and legal 

review. The Council in contemplation of the justification of its use of planning 

appropriation powers will need to satisfy the same criteria as those set out for the use 

of its compulsory purchase powers, that is that the use of these powers is necessary 

to promote the social economic or environmental wellbeing of all or any or all resident 

persons in its area.  There are particular considerations relating to the appropriation 

of public open space land which must be adhered to in reliance on section 122(2A) of 

the LGA 1972 which the Council will be required to adhere to and appropriate 

recommendations are contained in this Report.  

 

200



5.3.7 The land comprising the Site are listed for development is held in the General Fund. 

Local authorities are given powers under Section 123(1) of the Local Government Act 

1972 (as amended) to dispose of land held by them in any manner they wish but the 

disposition must be for not less than best price that can be reasonably obtained as 

assessed by a valuer. Any disposal at less than best price that can be reasonably 

obtained requires the express consent of the Secretary of State unless there is a 

general consent available on which the Council can rely. The general consent 

(Circular 06/03: Local Government Act general disposal consent (England) 2003) will 

apply where the Council considers the disposal of the Site will contribute to the 

achieving or securing the promotion or improvement of the economic, social or 

environmental well-being of its area and the difference between the restricted and 

unrestricted value does not exceed £2,000,000, in which case no specific Secretary 

of State consent is required.  

 

5.3.8 Where any of the Site comprises public open space the advertising requirements for 

the disposal of open space pursuant to S.123 (2A) of the Local Government Act 1972 

apply. The proposed disposal must be advertised for two consecutive weeks in a 

newspaper circulating in the area in which the land is situated, with any objections to 

the proposed disposal being considered by the Council during such time as specified 

in the notice. Any objections made to the disposal will have to be considered before 

the disposal proceeds.  

 

5.3.9 Section 1(1) of the Localism Act 2011 bestows a general power of competence on 

local authorities which permits them to do anything that private individuals generally 

may do, but this is subject to the general principles of public law. The Council will 

need to have regard to the account in which any housing stock is ultimately to be held 

and the provisions of s 74 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 including 

any financial adjustments between the Councils General Fund and Housing Revenue 

Accounts which may be required to be made if stock were to be held by the Council 

direct (as opposed to through the proposed Manco). 

 

5.3.10 Section 4 of the Localism Act 2011 enables the Council to do for a commercial 

purpose anything that it is empowered to do under section 1 of the 2011 Act, provided 

that they do so through a company. 

 

5.3.11 Section 95 of the Local Government Act allows a local authority to do for a 

commercial purpose anything which they are authorised to do for carrying on any of 

their ordinary functions.  

 

5.3.12 The stock that is to be held by the Council will be mixed tenure.  Where let directly by 

the Council to occupiers, any stock that is intended to be let as social rent housing, 

will be held for the purpose of Part II of the Housing Act 1985 and accounted for 

through the Housing Revenue Account as mentioned above with the required 

accounting adjustments to reflect the appropriate consideration/value of the land 

being transferred from General Fund to the HRA.  In relation to other stock, where the 

Council is acting for a commercial purpose then as set out above it should do so 

through a company.  Therefore, the Council intends to either incorporate the new 

201



Manco referred to in this report, to let and manage any non-social-rented stock within 

the scheme. 

5.4 Finance 

 
5.4.1 The structure will allow for the grant of a 125-year lease to the annuity funder upon 

the agreement for lease becoming unconditional (‘Financial Close’).  At this point, the 

annuity funder will grant to the developer and its construction partner a building 

licence to deliver the construction of the project.  The developer will draw down the 

funding from the annuity funder, to cover all development and construction costs and 

fees, and will pay a coupon to the annuity funder during the construction phase.  

Under this arrangement Muse will set an agreement that its ultimate parent company, 

Morgan Sindall Group plc, will provide the Council with a guarantee. The guarantee is 

provided by a contractor's parent company in connection with the contractor's 

obligations under a building or engineering contract. If the contractor should default 

on its obligations, as per the guarantee, liabilities can fall on the parent company to 

complete the contracted obligations of the subsidiary. 

 

5.4.2 The Council takes no design, planning or delivery risk. However, following practical 

completion of the works, the Council will take a 40-year lease from the annuity funder.  

Under that lease, the Council will be obliged to pay an annual rental payment to be 

fixed at financial close, with CPI linked annual uplift with a collar of 0% and a cap to 

uplifts at 5%.  An independent valuation will be commissioned to calculate the market 

rent from which the Landowner’s rental commitment will be calculated. At the end of 

the 40-year lease the Council acquires the revisionary interest back for £1.00 and can 

continue to rent the properties, sale or refinance with a significantly enhanced asset 

value. 

 

5.4.3 In addition, the ability to redevelop the Site for mixed use housing provides a long-

term asset that would support future housing delivery objectives of the Council. 

 

5.4.4 The 40-year leaseback with the annuity funder will be deemed a finance lease as all 

the risks and rewards associated with the asset are passing to the Council. This will 

result in the asset being recognised on the balance sheet with an equivalent liability 

recognising the payments to be made to the funder over the lease term. 

 

5.4.5 Upon satisfaction of conditions, a lump sum will be payable to the Council. This is 

subject to the assumptions set out in the tender evaluation form 

 

5.4.6 It is estimated for each affordable housing offered at the Site; this would lead to a 

£3,400 per unit indirect saving to the Council’s temporary housing budget. 

 

5.4.7 The proposal from Muse includes the reprovision of c.184 parking spaces to be 

determined through the planning process. It has been estimated in the financial 

modelling parking revenue will remain at current levels. The Council provided the 

annual revenues, these would be likely to change with the new car park facilities. 

 

202



5.4.8 For illustration purposes, the Muse model was recalculated based on CPI being at the 

Bank of England target of 2.0%. This equated to a total inflation applied to lease 

payments at 3.0%. Further details are included in the exempt report. 

 

5.4.9 An assessment was undertaken comparing the option of the Council self-delivering 

the scheme through Public Works Loan Board (PWLB) borrowing and the sale and 

leaseback proposal to justify the approach recommended for the Site. This is 

analysed in detail in the exempt report 

 

5.4.10 The financial outputs outlined below are indicative only and will be reviewed and 

finalised prior to financial close.  

 

5.4.11 Amendments to paragraph 45 of the prudential code state that borrowing for debt-for-

yield investment is prohibited unless incidental to the main function e.g. regeneration. 

There is a risk, therefore, PWLB cannot be used for this scheme and until further 

case studies are available. PWLB borrowing has been used as a comparator from a 

value for money perspective for completeness, the modelling takes into account the 

option for the council to borrow the development costs from PWLB at 1.50% over 40-

years. To note the PWLB rate has recently decreased from 2.42% to 1.50%. 

 

5.4.12 Key points to note are: 

• The model was run based on 3 scenarios on lease inflation: 

 2.65% (as per the developer’s model) 

 3.00% (as per Bank of England forecast of 2% CPI) 

 5.00% (this is the cap at 5% CPI + 1%) 

• With the above scenarios, Muse produced a greater return than PWLB borrowing 

when discounted to Net Present Value (NPV). These values do not take into account 

the lump sum. Further details are in the exempt report. 

 
5.5 PWLB rate at 2.42%  

 
5.5.1 Previously for the Northway/Fairway report presented in June 2021. PWLB rates were 

reported at 2.42% when the self-build comparison was run. As PWLB rates can be 

volatile and may rise in the near future. Due to this the self-build comparison exercise 

was ran at a PWLB rate at 2.42% with all the other parameters remaining the same.  

 

5.5.2 With the above, inflation at 2.65% and 3.00%, sale and lease produced a greater 

return than PWLB borrowing when discounted to Net Present Value (NPV). These 

values do not take into account the lump sum. Further details are in the exempt 

report. 

 
5.6 Monte Carlo analysis (financial algorithm based on 1000 scenarios). 

5.6.1 Further modelling was undertaken by an independent consultant, 31ten Consulting to 

determine the value for money for sale and leaseback against PWLB borrowing (both 

annuity and maturity loans) and self-build on a like for like basis. This modelling was 

based on Monte Carlo simulations which involves undertaking 1000 simulations 

203



linked to inflationary history with trends and patterns applied a set of base 

assumptions. The key outputs from the model are: 

 

 >99% of the simulations showed PWLB as the financially favourable delivery 

route. (It should be noted that the Council do not borrow from PWLB on an annuity 

basis). 

 A risk adjusted position was calculate by applying the result at the lowest possible 

output (when discounting outliers) equated to Sale & Leaseback providing £1.5m 

more comparison to PWLB maturity borrowing.  

 Sale and leaseback and PWLB maturity provided an equal return on the base 

case assumptions in the model. 

 On >99% of the simulations, the NPV was greater than £0 in all three options.  

 

5.6.2 The Muse proposal and financial model has been thoroughly tested and analysed by 

the Council. The developer analysis assumed a 4.00% rate of voids and bad debts 

throughout the 40-year life of the proposed scheme.   

 

5.6.3 Key points to note on this sensitivity analysis, carried out by the LBB project team, 

are: 

 A drop in revenue of 20% still produces an income to the Council, but at a lower 

level (reduced by 61%). 

 Voids and bad debts would have to increase to 42.2% of the estate total for the 

scheme to not produce any return for the Council.  

 Similarly, revenue would need to drop by 39% to not give the Council a NPV 

return. This would equate to an average of 54 (out of 128) units being unoccupied. 

 An increase to 5% per year on the lease payment (cap) will increase the total 

payment by 73%. 

 A detailed red book valuation of rental values will be undertaken upon receipt of 

planning permission.  

 As per the financial modelling the expected split of gross rent revenues would be, 

c.58% income to an institutional funder (annuity funder), c.23% to cover 

maintenance and estate running costs and c.19% to the Council. Figure 7 

illustrates a typical gross rental revenue split under the sale and leaseback model. 

204



Figure 7: Indicative gross rental receipt splits 

 

 

5.6.4 An exercise was undertaken to determine the average minimum rental inflation 

needed for the scheme to break even. It was discovered that at 3% (2% CPI + 1%) 

the minimum average annual rental increase will be 0.88%. At 4% (3% CPI + 1%) this 

would be 2.31% per annum. At 5% (4% CPI + 1%) this would be 3.62% per annum. 

 

5.6.5 As a part of the financial exercise, the Council played out several scenarios which put 

forward prudent and worst-case scenarios to identify the impact to the general fund. 

The following scenarios were modelled as a part of this exercise and average general 

fund impacts identified: 

Original Bid 

Scenario 1 = Muse bid. This provides the council an average general fund return of 

£1.6m per annum. 

 

Breakeven Case: 

 

Scenario 2 = a 41% reduction in revenue to achieve cost neutral position to when 

making lease payments to the annuity funder based upon the original model. 

 

Worst Case 

 

Scenario 3 = a 5% indexation (maximum possible because of the cap) on the lease 

payment year on year. i.e. lease payment increases with revenue inflation remaining 

as per the original bid (CPI at 1.65%) results in a c.£0.2m loss per annum 

 

Scenario 4 = Indexation of 5% (maximum possible because of the cap) on the lease 

payment, plus a 41% revenue reduction results in a £1.8m loss per annum. Rent 

increases remain as per original bid. 

 

 If the 41% of the units were converted to temporary accommodation, this would 

reduce the average loss to £1.2m per annum. 

Lease payment 

58% 

Management 

&Maintenance 

@23% 

Net profit to LBB 

@19% 

Gross 

rental 

receipt 

205



 

Scenario 5 = Indexation of 5% (maximum possible because of the cap) on the lease 

payment, plus a 20% revenue reduction results in a £1.0m loss per annum. Rent 

increase remains as per original bid. 

 

 If the 20% of the units were converted to temporary accommodation, this would 

reduce the average loss to £0.7m per annum. 

 

Scenario 6 = If zero properties were let, based on the bidder model, this will result in 

an average negative impact of £2.5m  

 

 If used as temporary accommodation, the general fund impact would be a loss of 

c.£0.6 per annum. 

 

Scenario 7 = As above plus 5% (maximum possible because of the cap) lease 

payment would result in a loss of £4.3m per annum 

 

 If used as temporary accommodation, the general fund impact would be a loss of 

c.£2.4m per annum. 

 

 Further details are in the exempt report. 

5.6.6 Market intelligence was sought due to the current economic uncertainty. Upon 

discussions with the market, it was discovered that area rents may decrease by 10% 

and management costs are expected to be 27%. This was modelled further to 

understand the impact to the bidders modelling. 

 

5.6.7 Key points to note are from the above: 

 Overall income decreases by 9%. 

 Expenditure decreases by 3%.  

 General fund impact reduces from £63.291m to £47.793m, which equates to a 

reduction of £14.498m. 

 The average annual general fund impact reduces from £1.6m to £1.2m. 

 Further details are in the exempt report. 

5.6.8 When going to market to obtain an annuity funder, the market may demand a higher 

yield which can adversely affect Council income. During this time Red Book 

valuations by external advisors and further modelling take place to identify any risks. 

5.7 Insight 

5.7.1 The Council’s Housing Strategy and emerging Local Plan respond to evidence such 

as the Strategic Housing Market Assessment and other needs assessments that have 

identified a need for increased housing delivery 

 
5.8 Social Value 

206



5.8.1 Increasing the utility of existing assets through mixed use redevelopment will enable 

the Council’s portfolio of assets to go further towards supporting local needs by 

helping to provide new opportunities for housing, (in particular, affordable housing) 

and new, improved community facilities. 

 

5.8.2 Any contractors or parties involved in the development will be encouraged to provide 

opportunities for employment, training and apprenticeships for local people and use 

local suppliers where appropriate. 

 
5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 Transactions of this nature carry a range of risks which are effectively detailed below. 

A number of risk factors, including planning, title investigations, commercial terms, 

warrant early due diligence. For example, if planning permission regulating the 

development in terms of scale, nature/use class and restrictions do not materially 

align with the annuity funders pitch or value assumptions, the associated risk may 

impact on usage of the completed development and consequential income. 

 

5.9.2 The covenant strength of the developer has been considered by the Council by 

obtaining company health check reports and parent company guarantees will be put 

in place. 

 

5.9.3 As the Council has no direct funding obligations, upon practical completion the 

Council will enter the lease structure with the annuity funder. The Council will retain 

step in rights as a part of the agreement for lease arrangements. Albeit that there are 

no enforceable build obligations in the Agreement for lease the funder has every 

incentive to enforce the build obligations against the developer in the Agreement for 

Lease to arrive at the point where Practical Completion is achieved, and it can require 

the Council to take the 40-year lease back and obtain the income that flows from that. 

 

5.9.4 Inflation was stripped from all the bidder’s financial models to establish a baseline 

position and compare all bidders on a like for like basis. Financial sensitivity analysis 

has also been undertaken to understand at what thresholds the Council are exposed 

to any losses.  

 

5.9.5 On-going to market to obtain an annuity funder, the market may demand a higher 

yield than what has been modelled by the developer. Thus, reducing the possible 

modelled rental income to the Council. Red Book valuations will be undertaken to 

mitigate this risk. 

 

5.9.6 Although there is no borrowing required to enter into this deal, the Council will be 

assuming obligations under the 40-year lease with an obligation to pay an index 

linked rent for the lease term, the rental modelling demonstrates this. The 40-year 

lease is not assignable, so the Council remains liable to pay the index linked rent 

throughout the term regardless of the rental income it itself is achieving from 

occupiers.  

207



5.9.7 There are options to mitigate the rental risk in the event of market downturn for 

example an option could be to use the units as temporary accommodation or to 

convert any vacant private units to affordable. 

 

5.9.8 Planning risk can either add or remove value however this is borne by the developer. 

 

5.9.9 Construction risk- All development and construction risk are borne by the developer. 

 

5.9.10 Market risk- External agency reports have been produced a detailed report included 

valuation will be commissioned prior to entering into an agreement to lease. 

 

5.9.11 Operator default- This will be managed and operated by a wholly owned company 

who will commission an operator to manage day to day activities.  

 

5.9.12 Funding Risk- No direct funding obligations, the Council only enters the under lease 

at practical completion i.e. once the units are built. 

 

5.9.13 Contractual issues- The Council will be obligated to pay guaranteed rent on a non- 

assignable basis (this means we cannot transfer the lease to a third party). Prior to 

planning consent being granted the Council will negotiate with the annuity funder the 

option to convert the units for alternative use should this ever be required – This will 

require a capital sum as planning consent would be required. 

 

5.9.14 Financial risks- Payments to the annuity funder will be fixed with annual indexation. 

The model shows a c.20-25% rent profit that can be held in a reserve to offset any 

shortfall in rent, this will provide security; the current model assumes 4.0% void rate.  

 

5.9.15 The lease from the annuity funder will be deemed a finance lease all risk and reward 

with the asset sits with the authority from practical completion. 

 

5.9.16 The table at Figure 8 outlines key risks at this stage of the project, gives an 

assessment of their severity and details proposed mitigating actions 

208



Figure 8: Risk analysis, impact and mitigating actions: 

Risk Impact Mitigation 

Development risk None – Due to the developer taking on all 

development risk 

Mitigated through Sale and Leaseback as 

developer is burdened with the entire 

development risk (both financial and delivery) 

Developer 

default/failure 

Low – Parent Company Guarantee in 

place. Step in provisions in place from the 

annuity funder to find alternative 

contractor. Council not committed until 

Practical Completion therefore can 

appoint own contractor. 

Financial due diligence taken place with Parent 

Company Guarantees to be in place 

Reduced profits due 

to lease inflation 

outstripping market 

rent inflation 

Medium – Allocated council savings will 

need to be met by reserves or other 

means. 

Change tenure from London Living and London 

Affordable Rental units to Discounted Rental 

units to increase revenue 

Inflation linked lease 

payments outstrips 

rental affordability 

leading to a 

reduction in profits 

Medium – Allocated council savings will 

need to be met by reserves or other 

means. 

Profits held in reserve to top up any shortfall to 

the lease payment.  Collar & Cap arrangement 

in place at 1:4% to ensure protection against 

hyper- inflation 

Under occupancy Medium - Empty units with zero income 

which will impact council savings targets. 

Adjust rents to compete with market and adjust 

again with upturns – current modelling 

assumes 3.5% voids and bad debt. 

40-year non 

assignable lease 

Low/Medium - No break clause ‘on the 

hook for 40-years.  

To ensure the product remains attractive in the 

marketplace and offers consumer choice 

maintaining high occupancy over the long term.  

Asset falls into 

disrepair 

Low - Possible additional costs and 

reduced profits due to poor operational 

and management 

Management and operational costs to include 

reserve to manage any repairs and large 

maintenance issues. KPI’s to be in place with 

operator and reviewed monthly. Council to 

appoint Asset manager. 

Loss of car parking. Low – loss of income to general fund and 

vehicles displaced and park in 

neighbouring streets.  

Muse’s proposal indicates a provision for a car 

park equivalent to the existing volume of 

spaces. However subject to a detailed transport 

assessment on Site. 

Step free access to 

Mill Hill Broadway 

Station from Site 

Low – no step free access from on-Site 

car park leading to potential delays in 

completing the Site. 

Network currently undertaking feasibility studies 

on the Site. The council is working with 

Network rain to align delivery plans to avoid 

any disruption. 

 

209



5.10 Equalities and Diversity 

5.10.1 The 2010 Equality Act outlines the provisions of the Public-Sector Equalities Duty 

which requires Public Bodies to have due regard to the need to: 

 Eliminate unlawful discrimination, harassment and victimisation and other conduct 

prohibited by the Equality Act 2010. 

 Advance equality of opportunity between people from different groups and foster 

good relations between people from different groups. 

5.10.2 Any Equalities Impact Assessments will be undertaken on individual schemes as they 

are brought forward, and the proposals outlined will give appropriate consideration 

and where required consider any matters raised in these assessments. However, the 

proposals in this report are not considered at this stage to raise any negative impacts 

for equalities and demonstrate that the Council has paid due regard to equalities as 

required by section 147 of the Equality Act 2010. 

 
5.11 Consultation and Engagement 

5.11.1 Consultation and Engagement plans will be developed for Sites that are deemed 

suitable for development and stakeholder engagement undertaken as the designs 

progress.  

210



6. BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

6.1 Development Portfolio Programme.pdf (moderngov.co.uk) Agenda for Housing 

and0020Growth Committee on Monday 6th July 2020, 7.00 pm (moderngov.co.uk) 

6.2 Northway / Fairway Proposed Approach to Site - Housing and Growth Committee 14th 

June 2021 

6.3 Watling Car Park Proposed Approach to Site - Housing and Growth Committee 14th 

June 2021 

 
 
 

211

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s59209/Development%20Portfolio%20Programme.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10553&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10553&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65226/Northway%20-%20Fairway%20Proposed%20Approach%20to%20Site%20Disposal.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65226/Northway%20-%20Fairway%20Proposed%20Approach%20to%20Site%20Disposal.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65229/Watling%20Car%20Park%20Proposed%20Approach%20to%20Site%20Disposal.pdf
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/documents/s65229/Watling%20Car%20Park%20Proposed%20Approach%20to%20Site%20Disposal.pdf


This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
 

Summary 

At its meetings of December 2014 and Sept 2016 Full Council and Housing and Growth 
Committee(formally known as Assets Regeneration and Growth, ARG) agreed to make, 
seek confirmation and implement up to three separate CPOs for the acquisition of third 
party proprietary interests within Stage B (plots 10,11 and 12) of the Grahame Park 
development. The detailed recommendations of the committees are attached at 
Appendices 2 and 3 of this report. This report seeks to update members of the committee 
on the progress of the CPO, confirm the proposed future programme and agree the 
amended red line planning drawing at appendix 1. Amendments reflect key changes to the 
previous plan most notably the reduction in the northwest corner where all interests have 
been acquired and construction has already commenced. The use of Compulsory 
Purchase Orders is an option of last resort and will only be utilised where third party 
interests cannot be acquired through private treaty negotiations.  

 

 

HOUSING & GROWTH COMMITTEE 
 

13th September 2021 
  

Title  
GRAHAME PARK PLOTS 10, 11 AND 12 COMPULSORY 
PURCHASE ORDER (CPO) 

Report of Chairman of Housing and Growth Committee  

Wards Colindale 

Status Public 

Urgent No 

Key Yes 

Enclosures                          

Appendix 1 – CPO Plan,  

Appendix 2 recommendations, Dec. 2014 Full Council   

Appendix 3, recommendations, Sept. 2016 Assets 
Regeneration & Growth (ARG) 

Appendix4, future programme, 

 Appendix 5 EQIA summary, 

 Appendix 6 consultation summary 

Officer Contact Details  

Martin Smith, Regeneration Manager (RE) 

Martin.smith@barnet.gov.uk, 0208 359 747671 

213

AGENDA ITEM 15



Officers Recommendations  

1.That the Housing & Growth Committee agrees to adopt the amended red line 
boundary attached at Appendix 1. 
 

2. That the Housing & Growth Committee notes the progress made to date, the 
previous decisions and the CPO programme going forward. 

 
 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1  In January 2001 the council embarked upon a scheme for the regeneration of the 

Grahame Park Estate (“the Estate”) which aimed to transform it into a thriving, mixed 

tenure community with improved transport links and enhanced community facilities, 

delivering LB Barnet and London Plan policy aspirations. On 30th January 2007 the 

Council entered into a Principal Development Agreement (PDA) with Choices for 

Grahame Park (CFGP) a special delivery vehicle (SDV) created by Genesis Housing 

Association (GHA) to deliver the regeneration. GHA later merged with Notting Hill 

Housing Association to form Notting Hill Genesis (NHG) which still retains CFGP as SDV 

for Grahame Park. The PDA divided the scheme into two stages, A and B 

 

1.2 Given the lengthy construction programme to deliver the scheme in its entirety, on 14th 
December 2014, the Cabinet Resources Committee resolved in principle, to the making 
of up to three separate CPOs in order to safeguard the delivery of the Concourse plots in 
the event that the Council and CFGP are unable to acquire all third party proprietary 
interests and/or rights in the land through private negotiations within required timescales.( 
Appendix 2 refers) Further to this on September 16 2016 the Council’s Assets 
Regeneration and Growth committee agreed further CPO recommendations (Appendix 3 
refers) 

 
1.3 Stage A, comprising 685 new homes, was partly delivered prior to the economic 

downturn and substantively completed in July 2018 and, following a previously rejected 
planning application, the current new scheme was approved at Planning Committee on 
March 2  2020 and the Decision Notice issued July 31 2020. The scheme is for the 
phased redevelopment of the existing buildings to deliver 2,088 new homes, up to 5,950 
sqm of flexible non-residential floorspace (including replacement community facilities) 
and significant public realm and open space improvements. The planning application was 
detailed for the first 209 homes (Stage B Plot A) with the rest in outline (so requiring 
further detailed design and Reserved Matters planning consent). 

 
1.4 Following successfully achieving vacant possession through negotiation of the first 

demolition phase (Noel, Nimrod, Nicholson and Nighthawk – 113 residential units), 
CFGP appointed  Squibb Group as demolition contractor in October 2020 to demolish 
the buildings to enable the construction of the first new homes at Stage B Plot A. 
Physical demolition works started soon after the contract was signed and the blocks have 
now been demolished to ground level and are finalising ground works to prepare the land 
for construction(including service disconnections and diversions). 

 

214



1.5 Following the procurement process for a contractor for Plot A CFGP appointed Wates 
Construction Ltd under a Pre-contract Services Agreement (PCSA). Wates are a Tier 1 
contractor with a strong reputation for delivering a high-quality product and are 
regeneration specialists. Wates also have a strong track record in delivering wider social 
value and have offered a comprehensive package of benefits for local residents – 
particularly around employment and training. Following the appointment of Wates there 
has been a period of design development (with a non- material amendment to the Plot A 
application being submitted June 9 2021) and programming of the submission of 
planning conditions and other statutory notices before works start. Works are currently 
anticipated for March 2022. The new homes will then be available to move into from 
February 2024. 

 
1.6 Plot A will consist of 209 new homes, of which 60 will be social rent/affordable rent and 

be made available initially to rehouse the remaining 27 secure tenants within Plots 10, 11 
and 12 of Stage B. On June 29 2021, following consultation with the remaining secure 
tenants, the Secretary of State approved the use of Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 1985 
regarding the proposals to rehouse the remaining secure tenants (grounds 10a) 

 
1.7 To ensure CFGP are able to move forward with the next phases of the regeneration once 

Plot A is complete and the remaining secure tenants rehoused, NHG have already 
committed to progress a Reserved Matters Application (RMA) for the next plots of Stage 
B. The next phases of the RMA will cover circa 375 homes (known as Plots K and H) – 
including affordable, private sale and private rented (via Folio – NHG’s own specialist 
provider). The RMA phases will also deliver a number of community uses – including 
replacement community centre and housing management office – as well as new 
commercial spaces and a realigned Bristol Avenue. CFGP appointed a high -quality 
design team earlier this year (led by Patel Taylor Architects) and plan to submit the 
planning application in early in 2022 with a likely committee date later in the year and 
post -election. During the design and planning process, there will be a range of 
opportunities for residents and stakeholders to engage with, and feed into, the design 
process. The first of these resident- focused consultation events took place in the 
recently launched community hub on August 20 and further events are planned leading 
up to RMA submission   

 
1.8 To support the overall delivery of the programme, the Council, Barnet Homes and CFGP 

are working together to secure vacant possession to enable the next phases of the 
scheme to commence in sequence soon after Plot A is completed. 

 
1.9 In order to enable the demolition of the remaining areas within Plots 10, 11 and 12 of 

Stage B there are a number of remaining interests to be acquired. The Council and 
CFGP commenced negotiations for acquisition of all third -party proprietary interests 
through private treaty in 2016. Within Plots 10, 11 and 12 there are 517 residential units 
remaining following the demolition of 113 units and 31 non-residential units of which 25 
units were identified as third- party proprietary interests (i.e. interests held by parties 
other than the Council).   
. .  

1.10 In terms of residential leaseholders, negotiations have proven successful and across the 
entire Plots 10, 11 and 12 area there now remain 14 residential leaseholders (out of an 
original 63). Of these, 6 are resident homeowners and 8 are landlords. Negotiations are 
ongoing with the remaining residential leaseholders who are offered home-loss and 
disturbance payments and to cover the cost of a surveyor.  

215



 
Residents homeowners who were on the estate at the time of the ballot in 2003 are also 
eligible for Shared Equity. The Shared Equity offer is designed to enable homeowners to 
purchase a new home of a greater value than their existing home either within in the 
regeneration area or elsewhere. Residents need to invest the full market value of their 
existing home as well as the home loss payment. If a homeowner wants to purchase a 
new property being built on the estate then they need to purchase at least 25% equity or 
if they want to purchase a property elsewhere within the UK on the open market then 
they need a minimum of 50% equity on a property up to £600,000. There is no rent to 
pay on the proportion of the property they don’t own. The new home is to have the same 
number of bedrooms as the current home but could be larger if the current home is too 
small for the household. 
 

1.11 There are 27 secure tenants remaining who will be offered the opportunity to move into 
the new homes on Plot A - the mix of which has been designed to meet the needs of the 
remaining secure tenants. These new homes will be on a social rent basis (i.e. rent set 
on the same way) and the new tenancy with be with NHG on a tenancy that is broadly 
the same as a Council tenancy (including the retained Right to Buy).  NHG have also 
offered other existing homes they have in the area to Secure Tenants on the same basis. 
Secure tenants can also remain Council tenants.  

 
There are approximately 325 non- secure residents remaining that are managed by 
Barnet Homes. A small number of homes are being let via guardian schemes or void. 
 

1.12 For the 26 non -residential units, 4 are vacant and 21 are third party interests where most 
are either licensed or on contracted out lease terms with the Council being able to obtain 
vacant possession with 6 months’ notice either way. Effective management by the 
Council should continue to ensure that any necessary notices and actions under 
Landlord & Tenant powers are integrated within the overall project programme. One of 
the remaining interests is the health centre which is leased to the CCG and who are due 
to relocate shortly to the Colindale Gardens development. 

 
1.13 Therefore, in order to secure the delivery of the scheme, the Council has made a 

resolution in principle for it to exercise compulsory purchase powers where necessary. 
Negotiations with residential leaseholders and other interests are ongoing and the power 
to compulsorily acquire third party proprietary interests would only be exercised as a last 
resort in the event that those interests cannot be obtained by private treaty. It should be 
noted that the Council achieved vacant possession of the land required to deliver Stage 
A and Plot A without the need to exercise compulsory purchase powers. 

 
1.14 However, in order to ensure that CFGP can meet the programme set out above, the CPO 

process will need to run in parallel with continuing negotiations they have appointed 
Avison Young to assist both CFGP and LB Barnet in project managing the development 
and delivery of the site assembly strategy including CPO.  

 
1.15 Avison Young in consultation with HB Law has advised that the Council should use its 

compulsory purchase powers under s.226 TCPA 1990 and consider that there is a 
reasonable planning policy basis to justify use of these powers. All outstanding third party 
residential and commercial interests within the site are to be included within the CPO. 
Having reviewed the development programme and vacant possession and rehousing 
programme, Avison Young have proposed that a single CPO to assemble the site is the 

216



preferred route. It is proposed that the Order is made early in the new year. As part of the 
preparation of the Order there will be a land referencing exercise undertaken. Whilst 
Rights of Light will be dealt with by appropriation, CPO legislation requires beneficiaries 
of Rights to Light to be included within Table 2 of the Order so they will be included within 
the land referencing exercise.  

 
2 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

2.1  The CPO is required to provide certainty with regard to the demolition and delivery     of 

this next phase of regeneration (including the Concourse area). Without a Compulsory 
Purchase Order as a ‘backstop’, it would be very hard to assemble the site through 
private treaty negotiations within the programme required. The Council is obliged under 
the terms of its Development Agreement with NHG to progress the CPO for Grahame 
Park. 

 
2.2 Further work on how the scheme will be delivered has necessitated a number of minor 

amendments to the order red line, showing the area of acquisition by the order,(including 
removal of the area now demolished). The new red line (appendix 1) should be formally 
endorsed by the committee.  
 
 

3 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 The only alternative to seeking Compulsory Purchase powers would be to seek to 
acquire the properties and interests required to progress the scheme by private treaty. 
Without a Compulsory Purchase Order as a ‘backstop’, it would be very difficult to 
assemble the site through private treaty negotiations within the programme required and 
would pose a major threat to delivery of the scheme. 

 
4 POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 
4.1 The indicative forward programme is attached at Appendix 4. It is intended that the Order 

is made early 2022.   
 
5 IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  

 
5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 

 
5.1.1  With the renewed emphasis on delivering a successful regeneration scheme, the 

Council’s vision is: 

 To ensure that Grahame Park becomes integrated with its surroundings by changing 
the physical and social environment. 

 To promote access to healthier living standards for the residents, therefore, making 
Grahame Park a place where residents want to live. 

 To promote a safer neighbourhood by reducing the high levels of crime and 
antisocial behaviour.  

 To ensure that the new development is governed by the principles of the Council’s 
vision statement for the estate and designed to a high standard. 

 To ensure that residents play an active role in the regeneration process and in the 
long-term future of the development.  
  

217



 
 
 
 
5.1.2 The Corporate Objectives 
 

The Grahame Park Regeneration Scheme supports The Barnet Plan 2021-2025 which 
sets out the council’s vision to make Barnet a great place to live work and visit.  It 
focusses on four priorities over the next 4 years to realise this vision: 

 Clean, safe and well run: A place where our streets are clean and anti-social 
behaviour is deal with so residents feel safe. Providing good quality, customer 
friendly services in all that we do  

 Family friendly: Creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for our 
children and young people to achieve their best  

 Healthy: A place with fantastic facilities for all ages, enabling people to live happy 
and healthy lives 

 Thriving: A place fit for the future, where all residents, businesses and visitors benefit 
from improved sustainable infrastructure & opportunity 
 

5.1.3 The regeneration also complies with strategic objectives in the Council’s Housing 
Strategy 2019 – 2024 which was updated to incorporate Barnet’s proposed approach to 
housing reform. These changes include:    
Increasing housing supply, including family sized homes, to improve the range of housing 
choices and opportunities available to residents; and 
promoting mixed communities and maximising opportunities available for those wishing 
to own their home. 

 
 5.1.4   Growth Strategy 
 

The Growth Strategy 2020-2030 sets out how the council we will offer greater local 
opportunities, create better places, encourage more active lifestyles and over time 
increase the health and well-being of Barnet’s residents. The Strategy sets out five goals:  

     A growing borough – Delivering more homes that people can afford, ensuring 
that communities across the borough get a ‘growth benefit’ from investment. This 
theme also prioritises creating new jobs for people of all ages, backgrounds and 
skills levels.    

    A connected borough - working with private providers to tackle digitally excluded 
areas, and with every council home in the borough having access to fast, 
affordable broadband by 2023.  Delivering new and enhanced public transport 
connections and healthier street design.   

    An entrepreneurial borough - supporting businesses, including microbusinesses, 
to thrive and to adapt to the opportunities of the economy after the pandemic – 
making Barnet the best place to be a small business in London.   

    A borough of thriving town centres - diversifying the role of town centres, 
encouraging a broad mix of uses, delivering new housing and creating an 
environment in which businesses can succeed.   

    A great borough to live in and visit - delivering social infrastructure to support 
growth, getting the best out of the borough’s green assets, growing the visitor 
economy and creating a broader canvas for creative industries. 

 

218



5.1.5  The regeneration scheme also complies with strategic objectives in the Council’s 
Housing Strategy 2010-2025 which include: 

 

 Increasing housing supply, including family sized homes, to improve the range of 
housing choices and opportunities available to residents; and promoting mixed 
communities and maximising opportunities available for those residents wishing to 
own their own home. 

 
5.2  Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property,   

sustainability) 
 

5.2.1 The Council has agreed the terms of a Compulsory Purchase Order Indemnity 
Agreement (CPOIA) with CFGP. Under the terms of the CPOIA CFGP is required to 
cover all of the Council’s costs in relation to the preparation, making, confirmation and 
implementation of up to three Compulsory Purchase Orders. These costs include the 
purchase price or any compensation for any land or interest which the Council has to 
acquire either pursuant to the Compulsory Purchase Order or in consequence of the 
service of valid blight notices, including all payments made pursuant to the Compulsory 
Purchase Act 1965 and the Land Compensation Acts 1961 and 1973; any statutory 
interest payable and the Council’s reasonable and proper internal and external costs 
including legal and surveying and other professional costs are also covered by the 
indemnity agreement 

 
5.2.2 As all CPO costs – including land acquisitions, legal costs and staff time – are covered by 

the CPO Indemnity Agreement, there is no financial risk to the Council 
 
5.3      Legal and Constitutional References 

 
5.3.1 The Council has the power through various enactments to make Compulsory Purchase 

Orders and to apply to the Secretary of State for confirmation of those orders.  The 
Management of Asset, Property and Land Rules with the Council Constitution, outlines 
the governance structure within which the council may acquire, lease, act as landlord, 
licence, develop, appropriate, change use of or dispose of Assets within its Asset 
Portfolio.  In addition it states that the Council may delegate responsibility to Authorised 
Service Providers to manage the Council’s Asset Portfolio on its behalf in accordance 
with specific rules, and in accordance with any approved scheme of delegation 
maintained by the Council and published on the Council’s website. 

 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 Powers 

 
5.3.2  Section 226 (1) (a) of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, (as amended by the 

Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004), provides that a local authority shall, on 
being authorised to do so by the Secretary of State, have power to acquire compulsorily 
any land in their area if they are satisfied that the acquisition will facilitate the carrying out 
of development, redevelopment or improvement on or in relation to the land. However, 
the power must not be exercised unless the authority thinks that the development, 
redevelopment or improvement is likely to contribute to the achievement of the promotion 
or improvement of the economic, social or environmental well-being of their area. The 
compulsory acquisition of third party proprietary interests and/or rights in the CPO land 
will enable the delivery of Plots 10, 11 and 12 in accordance with an agreed programme 
and will provide certainty with regard to land assembly and the implementation of the 

219



Scheme. The ability to deliver Plots 10, 11 and 12 will enable the Council and GHA to 
progress the delivery of future phases and the Scheme in its entirety. 

 
5.3.3  The maximum area in which CPO(s) are to be made is shown on the redline drawing 

attached at Appendix 1. The order land largely comprises estate properties, open space 
and commercial properties within The Concourse 

 
5.3.4 Following further and more detailed design, construction planning and other scheme 

preparatory work, the plan at appendix 1 represents the maximum boundary and 
identification of properties needing to be acquired for delivery of the scheme. In addition, 
in order to deliver the scheme on land inside the red line, additional properties outside 
the redline may be affected, eg for crane oversailing or rights of light impact but will not 
need to be acquired. Detailed professional land referencing and title investigation will 
shortly commence, and this will allow refinement of the plan prior to an order being made.  

 
5.3.5 Once detailed design of the scheme  buildings is carried out for the reserved matters 

application, the rights of light impact assessment (ROL) will be undertaken and any 
impact on individual rights of light will be resolved via appropriation, as has previously 
been agreed.  

 
5.3.6 Similarly, once construction planning has been progressed, any crane oversailing outside 

the red line boundary will be identified and included within the order. 
 
5.3.7 The requirements of compulsory purchase legislation require the crane oversailing rights 

and beneficiaries of  ROL to be identified within the compulsory purchase order schedule, 
and the owners of those rights to be formally notified if the ROL exist at the date of 
making the CPO. The project team will ensure that it is clear to these property owners 
that no acquisition of the property is required to deliver the scheme  

 
 
5.3.8 The following key changes have been made since the previous plan annexed to the 2016 

ARG report: 
  

 The CPO acquisition boundary has reduced in the northwest corner as this area 
represents “Plot A” in which all required interests have been acquired and construction 
has already commenced.  

 The boundary has increased to the west into the park to incorporate buildings identified 
by Avison Young, and to include Lanacre ave, both of which may be affected by 
construction. This will be refined following detailed land referencing work.  

 There are also minor amendments to the boundaries of the whole site to capture areas 
included within the planning boundary which were not included within the previous CPO 
boundary. This will be refined following detailed land referencing work.  

 
 
5.3.9  In using the enabling powers pursuant to section 226 (1) (a) of the Town and Country 

Planning Act 1990 and Section 13 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1976, the Council is using the most specific powers available to it for the purposes of 
the redevelopment of the Grahame Park estate properties required to deliver Stage B. 

 
5.3.10 Government guidance on the use of compulsory purchase powers is set out in “Guidance 

on Compulsory Purchase Process and the Crichel Down Rules for the disposal of surplus 

220



land acquired by, or under the threat of, compulsion” The current guidance dated July 
2019 updates the previous guidance of February 2018.The guidance states that 
compulsory purchase orders should only be made where there is a compelling case in 
the public interest. 

 
5.3.11 In resolving to make CPO(s) the Council has had full regard to the MHCLG CPO 

Guidance.  The regeneration of the Grahame Park Estate provides a compelling case for 
the making of the CPO. The existing housing stock is outdated and does not meet 
current environmental and building standards. The Grahame Park regeneration 
proposals will improve the economic and social well-being of existing and future 
residents through the creation of training / job opportunities (e.g. during construction 
phases of development), updated housing stock, proposals for a health and children’s 
centre and community centre and improved transport links. Vacant possession of each 
phase will be required in advance of its implementation. 

 
 Human Rights 
 
5.3.12 The Human Rights Act 1998 requires (amongst other things) that every public authority 

acts in a manner which is compatible with the Convention for the Protection of Human 
Rights and Fundamental Freedoms (“the Convention”). The following parts of the 
Convention are relevant to the Council’s exercise of its compulsory purchase powers: 

 
Article 1 of the First Protocol – the right to peaceful enjoyment of possessions; 
Article 8 – respect for private and family life and home. 
 

5.3.13 A decision to make CPO(s) must strike a fair balance between the public interest in the 
regeneration of the land and interference with private rights. Bearing in mind the fact that 
the exercise of compulsory purchase powers is a statutory process, the provisions for 
compensation to be paid to those affected and the compelling case in the public interest 
for the regeneration, it is considered that the interference with private property rights is 
necessary, proportionate and strikes a fair balance towards meeting the Council’s 
objectives. 

 
5.3.14 Those affected by the CPO(s) will be informed and advised of their right to make 

representations to the relevant Secretary of State, to be heard at public inquiry and of a 
fair entitlement to compensation (where applicable). Throughout the process the Council 
will ensure that rights of individuals are protected in line with Article 6: right to a fair 
hearing. 
 

5.3.15 The Council’s Constitution outlines the terms of reference of the Housing and Growth 
Committee which includes: to develop and oversee a Regeneration Strategy; develop 
strategies which maximise the financial opportunities of growth; oversee major 
regeneration schemes including those of key social housing estates; and all matters 
relating to land and buildings owned, rented or proposed to be acquired or disposed of by 
the Council. 
 

5.3.16 The Constitution also sets out specific terms of reference relating to land disposals. The 
Management of Asset, Property and Land Rules govern how the Council may acquire, 
lease, act as landlord, licence, develop appropriate, change use of, or dispose of assets 
within its asset portfolio. Specific aims of the Management of Asset, Property and Land 
Rules outline how to apply the terms of reference. 

221



 
5.4 Insight 

 
5.4.1 The Council’s Housing Strategy and emerging Local Plan respond to evidence such as 

the Strategic Housing Market Assessment and other needs assessments that have 
identified a need for increased housing delivery. Barnet has 393,000 residents and this 
figure is expected to grow by 76,000 over the next 25 years; an increase of 19%. The 
delivery of new affordable rented homes will help to meet the objective in the Council’s 
Housing Strategy to prevent and tackle homelessness, by reducing the use of temporary 
accommodation. There are currently more than 2,700 households living in temporary 
accommodation which presents significant budgetary pressures for the Council. 
 

5.4.2 Barnet’s Health and Wellbeing Strategy recognises the importance of access to good 
quality housing in maintaining Well-Being in the Community. Lack of affordable housing 
is highlighted in Barnet’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) as one of the top 
three concerns identified by local residents in the Residents’ Perception Survey. 
 

5.5 Social Value 
 

5.5.1 As indicated in sections within this report, the Grahame Park regeneration project will 
secure wider social, economic and environmental benefits. 
 

5.6 Risk Management 
 

 5.6.1 The delivery of the Scheme is dependent upon the ability of the Council and NHG to 
acquire all third-party proprietary interests in the land and/or rights over the land. 

 
5.6.2 The Scheme is to be implemented in accordance with an agreed phasing plan. In order 

to ensure Scheme viability (and delivery) the commencement and completion of each 
phase has to occur within a defined timeline. Both the Council and NHG are committed to 
continuing negotiations with third party interests with a view to acquiring their interest in 
the land by way of private treaty. However, in the event that negotiations become 
protracted any delay to the completion of the land assembly process will pose a 
significant risk to the delivery of the Scheme. 

 
5.6.3 Whilst it is hoped that all proprietary interests can be acquired by negotiation, the 

Scheme cannot proceed with the risk that negotiations may not prove successful in all 
cases. If confirmed by the Secretary of State, the CPO(s) will secure the delivery of Plots 
10, 11 and 12 of the Scheme. 
 

5.6.4 The land assembly exercise is also dependent upon tenants relocating from their existing 

properties to other suitable alternative premises within an identified construction 

timetable. Any delays in achieving vacant possession could risk the deliverability of the 

scheme.  Plot 10 is a cleared site.    Revised Ground 10A approval has been received 

from the Secretary of State for the relocation, to facilitate development, of the remaining 

secure tenants in plots 10, 11 and 12 of Grahame Park regeneration scheme under Part 

V of Schedule 2 to the Housing Act 1985. In the first instance officers will seek to rely on 

that approval to obtain vacant possession of properties occupied by secure tenants. In 

order to further mitigate this risk, it is also proposed that all tenures, including premises 

222



occupied under a secure tenancy on the estate, would be included within the proposed 

CPOs for the Scheme. 

CPO Indemnity Agreement 
 

5.6.5  Costs incurred by the Council relating to the compulsory purchase process (including 
compensation payments and claims arising from blight notices) will be met by NHG in 
accordance with the CPO Indemnity Agreement (“CPOIA”). The Council – through Re – 
has procedures in place to monitor costs against the agreed estimate. Costs will be 
approved by both NHG and Re. 

 
5.6.6  Once CPO(s) have been made, the Council will be exposed to potential blight claims 

from owners of properties included within the CPO areas. The CPOIA will indemnify the 
Council against any payments made following a blight notice. 

 
5.6.7 If confirmed by the Secretary of State, CPO(s) must be implemented within three years 

with the date of taking possession being extended a further three years (making a total of 
six years)  by the service of Notice to Treat and then a Notice of Entry on the proprietors 
of the relevant interests. 

 
5.6.8 The Council and NHG are confident that the regeneration of plots 10, 11 and 12 is viable 

and remain committed to the delivery of the Scheme in its entirety. 
 
5.7 Equalities and Diversity  
 
5.7.1 The Council is committed to improving the quality of life and wider participation for all in 

the economic, educational, cultural, social and community life of the Borough. The 
Grahame Park Regeneration Scheme will provide a mix of affordable and private sale 
properties and other uses (including community and commercial). The new mixed tenure 
housing will improve the community cohesion in an area with a highly diverse population. 
It will provide increased choice and opportunity for Barnet residents. This supports the 
overall aim of the Council’s Equalities Policy and the Council’s duties under the Equality 
Act 2010. 

 
5.7.2 At present the Grahame Park Estate does not reflect a mixed and balanced community, 

with a heavy bias towards social rent. The regeneration proposals seek to address this 
imbalance through the delivery of a range of residential tenures across the site e.g. 
private housing, a new range of intermediate housing, wider range of unit sizes across all 
tenures and 10% of all residential units meeting Wheelchair Standards. The Scheme 
seeks to improve the demographic of the Estate to provide a step change in the levels of 
social inclusion to create a sustainable, mixed and cohesive community. 

 
5.7.3 The public sector equality duty under section 149 of the Equality Act 2010 (“PSED”) 

requires the Council to have due regard to: (i) the need to eliminate discrimination, 
harassment, victimisation and any other conduct that is prohibited by or under the 
Equality Act 2010; and (ii) the need to advance equality of opportunity between persons 
who share a relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. ‘Protected 
characteristics’ are: sex, race, disability, sexual orientation, age, religion or belief, 
pregnancy and maternity and gender reassignment. 

 

223



5.7.4 The Council is aware that within the Grahame Park estate there may be residents for 
whom English is a second language. The Council will offer a translation service when 
sending out CPO literature; additionally all those affected will be advised to seek 
independent legal advice so they fully understand the CPO process. 

 
5.7.5 All owners and/or residents within the CPO boundary will be affected by the Compulsory 

Purchase Orders. There is a comprehensive resident offer for secure tenants and 
leaseholders as set out in the report. The Council and its partners will endeavour to 
reduce this effect by extensive consultation. Consultation has and will continue to be 
undertaken with the residents and wider community to ensure that the Scheme reflects 
local needs. In this regard, the Council and GHA appointed an Independent Resident 
Advisor to work with the residents on the estate. A Partnership and Residents Board has 
been established to discuss the regeneration proposals with the Council and its partners. 
 

5.7.6 Having had due regard to its duty under the Equality Act 2010, the Council is confident 
that the delivery of the Scheme will contribute towards the social, economic, educational 
and cultural improvements for existing and future residents. It will also increase levels of 
social inclusion within a mixed and diverse community. 
 

5.7.7 An Equalities Impact Assessment was undertaken by CFGP and included as part of the 

planning application. A summary is attached at appendix 5. This will be updated as the 

CPO progresses. However, the one submitted for the planning application still presents a 

correct picture and doesn’t need further up - dating at this time. 

5.8 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.8.1  Barnet Council has a small number of care leavers in temporary accommodation. 

Increasing the supply of affordable housing is therefore a corporate parenting issue 
 
5.9 Consultation and Engagement 

 
5.9.1 There has been a significant amount of public consultation since the original ballot was 

held in 2003. This has included consultation on the original outline planning permission 
and subsequent planning applications; the Grahame Park SPD and on the previous 
refused scheme for Plots 10, 11 and 12 which took place in June and November 2016 
and June 2017. More specifically the following consultation events have taken place over 
the past 5 years in relation to Plots 10, 11 and 12 which includes: 

 

 Initial consultation event for the preparation of the Grahame Park SPD with 
correspondence advising residents of consultation events on 18th, 19th and 
21st February 2015; 

 Ground 10A Information evenings (11th and 14th November 2015) and 
correspondence advising secure tenants of the proposals and seeking their 
views (letter dated 7th December 2015) 

 Consultation on the Draft Grahame Park SPD and correspondence inviting 
residents to consultation events on 17th, 18th and 20th February 2016 and 
how to comment on the draft SPD; 

 CPO Surgery on 9th November 2016 with residents informed by letter 
including advice on the CPO process and what to do if they require further 
information. 

224



 Consultation with local residents and the wider community at each stage of 
preparing the 2020 planning approval, including 4 drop-in consultation events 
(March and May 2019) and an exhibition at the Grahame Park Festival (July). 

  Details of feedback and consideration of comments in the final design are 
captured in a comprehensive Statement of Community Involvement submitted 
with the application.  

 
Consultation has and will continue to be undertaken with the residents and wider 
community to ensure that the Scheme reflects local needs. In this regard, the Council 
and CFGP appointed an Independent Resident Advisor to work with and support the 
residents on the estate. A Partnership and Residents Board has been established to 
discuss the regeneration proposals with the Council and its partners. There are also 
quarterly newsletters sent to all residents on the estate. NHG also provide a significant 
social economic programme which also support residents on the estate which includes 
the recent opening of a community hub on the concourse in the Old Library. 
  

5.9.2 A summary of consultation submitted with the hybrid planning application is attached at 
appendix 6 
 
 

6.O BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
6.1.1 
Agenda for Council on Tuesday 16th December, 2014, 7.00 pm (moderngov.co.uk) 
Agenda for Housing and Growth Committee on Monday 5th September, 2016, 7.00 pm 
(moderngov.co.uk) 
 

225

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=7816&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MID=8639#AI18360
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MID=8639#AI18360


This page is intentionally left blank



 

227



This page is intentionally left blank



HAG 13/09/2021 APPENDIX 2. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM LBB.Council December 2014 

 

RESOLVED that: 

  

1.         Council resolve in principle the exercise of compulsory purchase powers (by 
the making of up to three separate compulsory purchase orders) to secure the 
delivery of Stage B of the Grahame Park Regeneration Scheme; 

2.         Council note that further report(s) will be brought to the Committee at later 
stages to seek authority to secure the making, confirmation and implementa-
tion of up to three separate Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs) for the ac-
quisition of third party proprietary interests within Stage B; 

3.         Council authorise the appropriate Chief Officer to negotiate and complete a 
Compulsory Purchase Order Indemnity Agreement to ensure that Choices for 
Grahame Park (CfGP) and Genesis Housing Association (GHA) indemnify the 
Council for the full financial costs incurred in preparing, making and imple-
menting the CPO(s). 

4.         Council authorise the commencement of all preparatory work required for the 
making of the CPO(s), including (but not limited to) 

a)     appointing land referencers to review all relevant proprietary interests with a 
view to producing a draft schedule and plan for the CPO(s); 

b)     the service of requests for information notices under section 16 of the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 on those who may be affect-
ed by the proposed CPO(s); 

5.         Council authorise the appropriate Chief Officer(s) to: 

a)     advertise the Council’s intention to appropriate to a planning purpose any 
open space lands required to deliver Stage B of the Scheme pursuant to Sec-
tion 122 of the Local Government Act 1972. In the event that representations 
are submitted in respect of the notice to appropriate open space these will be 
referred to the Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee for consideration 
and determination; and 

b)     appropriate to planning purposes the housing and highways land required to 
deliver Stage B prior to disposal of such lands; 

6.         Council authorise the appropriate Chief Officer(s) to submit an application to 
the Secretary of State for his consent to the disposal and redevelopment of 
land within Stage B of the Grahame Park Regeneration Scheme (for the pur-
poses of Ground 10A) pursuant to Part V of Schedule 2 of the Housing Act 
1985; 

7.         Council delegate the service of Initial and Final Demolition Notices to suspend 
and/or terminate the exercise of the Right to Buy on properties due for demoli-
tion (as required for the delivery of the regeneration project), within Stage B, 
pursuant to sections 138A and 138B and Schedules 5 and 5A of the Housing 
Act 1985 (as amended) to the appropriate Chief Officer(s); 

8.         Council authorise the appropriate Chief Officer to obtain all relevant consents 
necessary to secure the delivery of the regeneration of Stage B 

 

229



This page is intentionally left blank



HAG 13/09/2021 APPENDIX 3. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM LBB.Assets, 
Regeneration and Growth Committee September 2016  
 
GRAHAME PARK PLOTS 10, 11 AND 12 COMPULSORY PURCHASE ORDER 
 
Recommendations 
 
to authorise the making of up to three CPOs; 

 
1.2 that the appropriate Chief Officer be authorised to issue and sign the 

order, notices and certificates in connection with the making, 
confirmation and implementation of the CPO(s) 
 

1.3 that the appropriate Chief Officer be authorised to make General Vesting 
Declarations (GVDs) under the Compulsory Purchase (Vesting 
Declarations) Act 1981 and/or to serve notices to treat and notices of 
entry (if required) following confirmation of the CPOs; 
 

1.4 that the appropriate Chief Officer  be authorised to issue and serve any 
warrants to obtain possession of property acquired by the Council 
following the execution of a GVD or service of a notice of entry relating 
to the CPOs if it was considered appropriate to do so; 
 

1.5 that the appropriate Chief Officer be authorised to transfer all properties 
and proprietary interests acquired pursuant to the CPO(s) to Choices for 
Grahame Park in accordance with the terms of the Principal 
Development Agreement dated 30th January 2007; 

 
1.6 that the appropriate Chief Officer  be authorised to take any further 

necessary actions to secure the making, confirmation and 
implementation of the CPO(s); 

 
1.7    that, subject to any necessary consent from the Secretary of State, 

approval be given to the sale of retained council houses to existing 
home-owners whose properties are due for demolition within the 
Grahame Park estate, and to the corresponding acquisition of their 
current homes. 

 

231



This page is intentionally left blank



HAG 01/09/2021 APPENDIX 4. CPO draft forward programme 
 

Set out below is a headline programme to deliver vacant possession of the sites required by the 
earliest vacant possession date of March 2024. Construction timescales are currently under review 
and therefore the timetable below is subject to review and confirmation of dates. 

Activity Timetable (earliest 
possible dates) 

Comments 

Resolution in place to make 
CPO.  Update to be provided to 

HaG 

September2021 Note to be provided to HaG on updated scheme 
and progress made 

Planning Consent Approved Hybrid application for Stage B approved April 

2020 

Land referencing commences Oct 2021  

CPO document preparation Oct-Dec 2021  

CPO made and notified Jan 2022  

CPO Public Inquiry if required Q4/Q1 / 2022/23 Assume objections received and Public Inquiry 
required 

CPO confirmation and 
notification, service of GVD 

Q1/Q2 2023 (if there 
is a public inquiry.  If 

no objections and 
therefore no inquiry, 

then confirmation 

likely to be Q3/4 

2021 

3-year time limit to implement CPO commences 
when CPO confirmation notified to affected 

parties. 

VP of first phase Q1 2024 Title transfers to LB Barnet a minimum of 3 
months after GVD made 

Last date when GVD under CPO 
can be served 

Q1/Q2 2026 if a 
public inquiry is held.  
If not required, then 
Q1/Q2 2025 

3 years from confirmation 

 

 

233



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 5 Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA) 
 
Summary  
 

 This Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been prepared by hgh Consulting and 
is submitted in support of a hybrid planning application for the redevelopment of 
Grahame Park Stage B (Plots A-Q).  

 

 The purpose of an EqIA is to ensure that a development does not discriminate 
against any disadvantaged or vulnerable people. This EqIA has therefore been 
produced in order to assist the London Borough of Barnet in considering their public 
sector equality duty as set out in the Equality Act 2010.  

 

 Careful consideration has been taken by the applicant and the Council of any 
potential negative impacts both temporary and permanent on protected groups. A 
number of mitigation measures have been proposed for temporary and permanent 
impacts on protected groups which are set out in Section 6. Measures that require 
the involvement of the Council have been agreed with the Council.  

 

 Overall, no temporary impacts have been identified for the protected groups: gender 
reassignment; marriage and civil partnership; sex; and sexual orientation. No 
permanent impacts have been identified for the protected groups: religion; sex or 
sexual orientation. 

 

 There is a higher level of negative temporary than negative permanent impacts. This 
is due to the fact that there will be short term displacement of some residents and 
construction impacts. In these circumstances, the Council’s housing team will provide 
assistance with finding other suitable accommodation as is set out in further detail in 
Section 6. 

 

 The impacts of the construction process will create a temporary negative impact 
across some of the protected groups. However, it must be noted that due to the 
construction phasing, no part of the site will be affected for the entire construction 
process period and most impacts will be confined to the areas directly adjacent to the 
construction site for that particular phase. Potential construction impacts such as 
noise, vibration and dust will be minimised and mitigated through the implementation 
of a Construction Environment Management Plan. It should also be noted that a large 
number of temporary impacts are neutral or positive/neutral, including the creation of 
jobs during the construction process, meaning the development will have a very little 
or no impact on a number of the protected groups. 

 

 The majority of the impacts on protected groups in the long term are positive, owing 
to a number of significant benefits and opportunities that the redevelopment of the 
site will bring. This includes the vastly improved physical environment and improved 
living standards for people in one of the most deprived areas of Barnet. The 
development will provide high quality housing, new community facilities, commercial 
spaces, associated employment, new public realm, high quality new and improved 
playspaces, open space and improved permeability. Overall, these effects will benefit 
local people and businesses including those within the protected groups 

235



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix 6 
 
Consultation 
 

 Throughout the process, the applicant has been committed to proper and 
extensive consultation with local residents and community stakeholders. 
Detailed further information can be found in the Statement of Community 
Involvement (SCI) which accompanies the planning application.  

 

 The applicant has been involved in the Grahame Park area for many years 
and actively supports several local groups, which includes the CCT who 
operate out of the Grahame Park Community Centre, One Stop Shop and 
other community facilities. The applicant has maintained an active presence in 
the community since it became a development partner in 2004. The applicant 
team has ensured that the engagement during the development of the 
masterplan has been undertaken in an honest and respectful manner. 

 
 The Mayor’s Good Practice Guide to Estate Regeneration sets out guidance 

on consultation during estate regeneration. It explains that any plans for major 
changes to a social housing estate should be treated carefully and be carried 
out with close involvement of residents. Additionally, the guidance states that 
“consultation approaches should be tailored to residents’ needs. For example, 
bespoke consultation arrangements may be required for elderly residents, 
those whose first language is not English, or those who have disabilities. 

 

 The applicant has undertaken numerous consultations since the early 2000’s 
with residents of the estate and local businesses regarding the regeneration 
of the estate as a whole and earlier phases.  

 

 The proposed development has evolved through extensive consultation with 
the local community (drop in consultations during March and May 2019 and 
an exhibition at Grahame Park Festival during July 2019). These were widely 
publicised to ensure all members of the public within the site and surrounding 
area were able to access the proposals to give their views and comments.  

 

 There have also been consultations with existing businesses on the Grahame 
Park Estate and surrounding area, Friends of Heybourne Park, Saint 
Augustine’s Church, St Margaret Clitherow Church and officers from various 
departments at London Borough of Barnet (LBB). All comments have been 
considered by the design team during the design development process. 

 

 Consultation with protected groups 
 

 The public consultation has involved the protected groups at every stage. This 
has taken place through the exhibitions and drop ins described above and 
with and through the CCT whom as identified above run a number of services, 
groups and activities for older, younger, disabled, women, residents in the 
area such as those for whom English is not the first language and those on 
low incomes seeking education and skills training and access to employment. 

237



We have commissioned or sponsored organisations to carry out youth 
focussed consultation on the regeneration and impact e.g. Community Barnet 
and Young Barnet Foundation. 

 
 As identified in earlier sections of this report, Grahame Park is a very 

ethnically mixed community with a high level of multi languages. The project 
team have been aware of the makeup of different backgrounds of Grahame 
Park and this has fed thought the thought process of the project. The 
consultations have sought to reach out to all aspects of the community 
including disabilities and languages. During the consultation’s members from 
NHG with different languages were available. As well as this, Barnet Homes 
provides a service to all development in the Grahame Park Area for 

 

238



 

 

 

Summary 

The Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is a ring-fenced budget that is used to manage income 

and costs associated with managing the council’s Housing Stock and related assets including 

shops and garages on council housing estates. This report provides an update of the 30-

year HRA Business Plan since it was last reported to the Housing and Growth Committee in 

June 2021. 

 

Officers Recommendations  

1. That the Committee approve the updated Housing Revenue Account Business 
Plan as attached in Appendix 1. 

 

 

Housing and Growth Commitee 

 

13 September 2021 

  

Title  
Housing Revenue Account (HRA) 

Business Plan- Updated 

Report of Chairman of Housing and Growth Committee 

Wards All 

Status Public 

Urgent N/A 

Key Yes 

Enclosures                          Appendix A - Housing Revenue Account Business Plan 

Officer Contact Details  

Stephen McDonald, Stephen.mcdonald@barnet.gov.uk, 020 

8359 2172 

Shaun McLean, Group Director Resources, The Barnet 

Group, shaun.mclean@barnethomes.org 

239

AGENDA ITEM 16

mailto:Stephen.mcdonald@barnet.gov.uk


Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

2 

 
 
 
 
1. WHY THIS REPORT IS NEEDED  
 
1.1 Expenditure and income relating to property and income listed in section 74 of the Local 

Government and Housing Act 1989 which includes housing held under Part II of the 
Housing Act 1985 must be accounted for in the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). The 
HRA is a ring-fenced budget.   
 

1.2 From 2012, a national subsidy system for council housing was replaced with self-financing 
giving local authorities direct control over the income and expenditure associated with 
council housing. This settlement saw Barnet move away from having to pay circa. £11m 
of council rents it collected to the Treasury to a position whereby the HRA is self-sufficient 
and able to meet the on-going investment needs of council homes. 
 

1.3 In addition, the settlement included a debt cap of £240m which provided the council with 
the opportunity to borrow an additional £38m as a result of headroom generated by 
differences between the actual HRA debt and the amount assumed in the settlement.  
 

1.4 In October 2018, the government removed the debt cap and the HRA is now subject to the 
prudential borrowing rules that are similar to those for the General Fund with the primary 
difference being the absence of a statutory minimum revenue provision in the HRA. 
 

1.5 The removal of the debt cap provides an opportunity to increase the supply of affordable 
homes in the borough as it means that the council can borrow more within a prudent limit 
to support the acquisition or building of new homes. 
 

1.6 There have been recent changes to how Right to Buy receipts may be used, i.e. more of 
the receipt can be used for development, the period over which it must be used has been 
extended from 3 years to 5 years; both these changes come with a clear priority of new 
development, not acquisition. 
 

1.7 The 30-year HRA Business Plan, attached at Appendix A, has been updated to reflect the 
current forecast for the 2021/22 financial year and reflect additional borrowings drawn. It 
continues to reflect how the previously approved basis of how the council will manage and 
maintain the housing stock and priorities for investment going forward, including 
investment in fire safety improvements, compliance with new legislation for ‘Building a 
Safer Future’ and new affordable homes for rent.  
 
 

2. REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS  
 

2.1 The HRA Business Plan provides an important mechanism for ensuring that the council’s 
housing stock is well managed and maintained, and that investment is made to ensure the 
safety of residents. 
 

2.2 The HRA should be self-funding and continuous review of the position of the HRA is 
required to ensure this. 
 

240



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

3 

 

 
 

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS CONSIDERED AND NOT RECOMMENDED 
 

3.1 The HRA Business Plan has been developed to support the priorities outlined in the 
council’s Housing Strategy and Growth Strategy, and no other options were considered. 
 

4. POST DECISION IMPLEMENTATION 
 

4.1 Proposals for building additional affordable homes for rent funded through the HRA will be 
developed as part of the council’s development programme and be submitted to the 
Housing & Growth Committee for consideration. 

 
 

5. IMPLICATIONS OF DECISION  
 

5.1 Corporate Priorities and Performance 
 

5.1.1 The Barnet Plan 2021-2025 sets out the council’s vision to make Barnet a great place to 

live work and visit.  It focusses on four priorities over the next 4 years to realise this 

vision: 

 

• Clean, safe and well run: A place where our streets are clean and anti-social behaviour is 

dealt with so residents feel safe. Providing good quality, customer friendly services in all 

that we do  

• Family friendly: Creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for our children 

and young people to achieve their best  

•  Healthy: A place with fantastic facilities for all ages, enabling people to live happy and 

healthy lives 

• Thriving: A place fit for the future, where all residents, businesses and visitors benefit 

from improved sustainable infrastructure & opportunity 

 

5.1.2 In addition, the council agreed a new Housing Strategy in April 2019 which sets out the 

plans to meet housing need in the borough with a focus on the following priorities: 

 Raising standards in the private rented sector 

 Delivering more homes that people can afford 

 Safe and Secure Homes 

 Promoting independence  

 Tackling homelessness and rough sleeping in Barnet 

5.1.3 The HRA Business Plan contributes to the Housing Strategy in a number of ways, 

including: 

 Maintaining the quality and safety of the existing supply of council housing 

 Investing in the delivery of new affordable homes for rent  

241



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

4 

 Increasing the supply of housing to help tackle homelessness  

 Investing in new homes for vulnerable people, including wheelchair users and 

older people  

 Ensuring that housing services funded through the HRA are efficient and 
effective 
 

5.1.4 Barnet’s Joint Strategic Needs Assessment highlights the fact that there is a long-term shift 
in housing tenure towards renting and away from owner occupancy (either outright or with 
a mortgage) reflecting a sustained reduction in housing affordability and an imbalance 
between housing demand and supply. Over three-quarters of older adults in Barnet are 
homeowners, indicating that a substantial majority of this age group are living in their own 
homes in the community, against a background of limiting long term illness and possible 
social isolation. The HRA Business Plan aims to increase the housing supply including the 
provision of specialist housing for vulnerable people. 
 

5.2 Resources (Finance & Value for Money, Procurement, Staffing, IT, Property, 
Sustainability) 
 

5.2.1 The HRA Business Plan seeks to provide assurance that there is a viable plan in place for 
managing and investing the resources available to the council in the form of council rents 
and income from other HRA assets such as shops and garages. 
 

5.2.2 New affordable homes built or acquired through the HRA will help to reduce costs to the 
council’s general fund by providing an alternative to short term temporary accommodation, 
which falls outside Part II of the 1985 Act, and which has a net cost to the council of 
approximately £3,400 a year per unit.  
 

5.2.3 The delivery of extra care housing and wheelchair adapted homes will help the council to 
meet savings targets for social care budgets by providing a more affordable alternative to 
residential care as a well as delivering a better outcome for vulnerable residents.  
 

5.2.4 The HRA Business Plan is modelled on the assumption that rents for existing council 
homes will increase by Consumer Price Index (CPI) +1% a year until March 2025 in line 
with current Government Policy and from 2025/26 that they will then increase by CPI only. 
For new council homes, it is assumed that affordable rents of 65% of local market rents or 
local housing allowance whichever is lower will be charged, in line with the councils rent 
policy.  
 

5.2.5 The HRA Business plan has been detailed in Appendix 1 to show the 2021/22 position 
(forecast at P4) along with the following five financial years concerning both revenue and 
capital. There have been no major changes in content since the June 2021 approved 
version, though there have been some adjustments to the timings of expenditure, 
particularly new developments and regeneration.  No major policy (only process) changes 
and thus no material budget changes are expected over the forward-looking reported 
period. This updated forecast has been prepared collaboratively between the council and 
The Barnet Group; this has ensured the overall quality and detail of the HRA business plan 
is high, capitalising on the operational insights provided by The Barnet Group. 

 

5.3 Social Value  

242



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

5 

 
5.3.1  Social Value considerations will be considered in the individual investment decisions.  

 
5.4 Legal and Constitutional References 

 
5.4.1 The Localism Act 2011 reformed the way that council housing is financed in England and 

Wales. The national HRA subsidy system ended in April 2012 and was replaced with self-
financing.  

 
5.4.2 Article 2 of the council’s Constitution defines a ‘key decision’ as ‘one which will result in the 

council incurring expenditure or savings of £500,000 or more or is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising two or more Wards’. Key 
decisions are to be taken by the relevant Committee unless reserved to full Council (Article 
10.3). 

 
5.4.3 Article 7 of the council’s Constitution states the Housing and Growth Committee’s functions 

include Housing Strategy, homelessness, social housing and housing grants, 
commissioning of environmental health functions for private sector housing and asset 
management.  The Housing and Growth Committee’s functions also includes receiving 
reports on relevant performance information and risk on the services under the remit of the 
Committee. 
 
 

5.5 Risk Management 
 

5.5.1 There is a risk that costs assumed in the HRA Business Plan will be higher than anticipated, 
this will be mitigated through regular monitoring and continuous annual updating of the 
plan. 
 

5.5.2 Rents from April 2022 can be increased by up to CPI+1%, CPI being based on September 
2021 levels. With CPI running significantly above the Government target of 2% (possibly 
as high as 3% in September), the affordability of the increase may be a challenge to 
residents. As the +1% cannot be recouped in future years if not included the impact on the 
30-year business plan is reduced revenue of £17.5m and the level of borrowings would be 
£18m higher at the end of the 30-year plan. 
 
 

5.6 Equalities and Diversity  
 
5.6.1 Under s.149 of the Equality Act 2010, the council must, in the exercise of its functions have 

due regard to the need to: a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 
other conduct that is prohibited by or under the Act; b) advance equality of opportunity 
between those with a protected characteristic and those without; c) foster good relations 
between those with a protected characteristic and those without. The ‘protected 
characteristics’ referred to are: age; disability; gender reassignment; pregnancy and 
maternity; race; religion or belief; sex; sexual orientation. It also covers marriage and civil 
partnership with regard to eliminating discrimination. 
 

5.6.2 Investment in existing council housing stock will impact positively on existing council 

tenants who are generally more diverse than the population of the borough as a whole. 

New family sized housing that is being delivered through the HRA Business Plan will be 

243



Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

6 

available to households in need, including homeless applicants who are likely to be more 

ethnically diverse and younger than existing council tenants. The HRA will also be used 

to support vulnerable older people and wheelchair users. The council will have proper 

regard to any Equality Act issues arising from any proposals coming forward.  

 
 

5.7 Corporate Parenting 
 
5.7.1 In line with Children and Social Work Act 2017, the council has a duty to consider 
 Corporate Parenting Principles in decision-making across the council. The HRA Business 

Plan proposals will ensure that existing council properties in the HRA, some of which are 
used to provide housing for foster parents and care leavers are managed and maintained. 
In addition, the HRA Business Plan supports an increase in the supply of affordable 
housing, including larger properties, some of which will provide housing suitable for foster 
parents and care leavers. 

 
5.8 Consultation and Engagement 

 
5.8.1 The council consults with tenants, residents and stakeholders on the  

Housing Strategy. This document has informed the HRA Business Plan to ensure that 
the available resources are used to help the council achieve its housing priorities. 

 
5.9 Insight 
 
5.9.1 No specific insight data has been used in the updating of the HRA Business Plan. 

 
6 BACKGROUND PAPERS 

 
6.1 Relevant previous decisions are indicated in the table below. 

 

Meeting Decision Link  

Housing & Growth 
Committee 14 June 
2021 

Approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListD
ocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10845
&Ver=4 
 
Item 9 

Housing & Growth 
Committee 27 
January 2020 

Approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListD
ocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=9931&
Ver=4 

Housing Committee 
14 January 2019 

Approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDo
cuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9488&V
er=4 
 

Housing Committee 
10 October 2018 

Approval of draft 
Housing Strategy and 
Homelessness and 
Rough Sleeping 
Strategy  

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDo
cuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9487&V
er=4 
 

Housing Committee 
23 October 2017 

Approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDo
cuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9237&V
er=4 

244

https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10845&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10845&Ver=4
https://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=696&MId=10845&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9488&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9488&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9488&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9487&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9487&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9487&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9237&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9237&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=9237&Ver=4


Title lead Booklet title title sub 

 

7 

 

Council 20 October 
2015 

Approval of Housing 
Strategy and Business 
Plan  

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDo
cuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=8340&V
er=4 

Housing Committee 
19 October 2015 

Approval of HRA 
Business Plan 

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDo
cuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=8268&V
er=4 

 

245

http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=8340&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=8340&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=162&MId=8340&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=8268&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=8268&Ver=4
http://barnet.moderngov.co.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=699&MId=8268&Ver=4


This page is intentionally left blank



1 | P a g e  
 

Appendix A - HRA Business Plan – September 2021  

1. Introduction 

The council’s Housing Revenue Account (HRA) is funded through rents and service 

charges received from council tenants and leaseholders, it meets the costs associated 

with maintaining and managing the council’s housing stock and can also be used for 

funding the development or acquisition of new council homes and other related capital 

projects.  

Since 2012, the HRA has been self- financing, although there have been restrictions 

on both the amount the HRA can borrow and the rents that can be charged.  

The government removed the borrowing cap in October 2018 and borrowing in the 

HRA is now subject to the similar prudential guidelines as the General Fund, providing 

opportunities for increasing affordable housing supply supported by the HRA. 

Recent changes in Right to Buy receipts has meant that receipts now have 5 years to 

be utilised for the provision of replacement homes, rather than the 3 years in the past 

and the amount that can be used has increased from 30% to 40% of the development 

spend. 

The HRA Business Plan has been updated with support from housing consultants 

Savills and in partnership with Barnet Homes. 

2. Executive Summary  

Good progress has been made since 2015 on delivering the HRA business plan. 

Headlines include; the completion of 43 new council homes for rent, a 53-unit extra 

care housing scheme at Ansell Court in Mill Hill and the acquisition of over 100 

properties in London to let at affordable rents to homeless applicants. Grant has been 

secured from the Greater London Authority under the Building Council Homes for 

Londoners Programme to support the building of 87 new council homes in Barnet, the 

18 new homes as part of the top hatting scheme at Burnt Oak Broadway and for the 

HRA 250 home programme which includes a scheme at The Grange estate in East 

Finchley.  

The council and Barnet Homes have always taken fire safety very seriously and 

ensuring the safety of residents was already a top priority for our investment 

programme. Following the Grenfell Tower fire in 2017, the council has committed to 

going beyond its statutory obligations to meet best practise in fire safety measures, 

and a priority for the HRA business plan going forward will be to deliver this 

commitment through an investment programme totalling £51.9m, of which £34m has 

been spent to the end of March 2021.  

247



2 | P a g e  
 

The council has continued to invest in existing council homes which continue to be 

maintained to the Decent Homes standard.  

Other projects to be supported by the HRA Business Plan include two additional extra 

care schemes, providing 125 new homes. 

This updated plan identifies provision for building a further 250 new homes for rent in 

the borough, and investment of £36 million in properties that continue to be occupied 

on our regeneration estates at Grahame Park and Dollis Valley. Savills was 

commissioned to carry out a stock condition survey; which included estimating costs 

to achieve EPC C targets by 2030 and also the Government Clean Growth Strategy.  

The current year plan has also made provision for £13.4m of new spend for 

environmental works to shared and communal spaces as well as an initial £27m 

towards achieving carbon neutrality across the stock by 2050. The estimated costs for 

achieving carbon neutral by 2050 is estimated by Savills to be significantly higher than 

this £27m; but there are still significant unknowns as to what technology options there 

will be available to assist, as well as what grant funding there will be from Government. 

3. National Policy Framework  

From 2012 HRAs became self- financing with a restriction placed on their external 

borrowing. In October 2018, the government removed the debt cap and HRA 

borrowing is now subject to the similar prudential borrowing guidelines as the General 

Fund. The removal of the borrowing cap means that council has an opportunity to 

invest more in increasing the supply of affordable housing, but it needs to ensure it 

can meet the cost of the borrowing. 

The Welfare Reform and Work Act 2016 introduced a 4-year requirement for social 

landlords to reduce their rents by 1% each year from April 2016. This requirement 

reduced the revenue available to the HRA. In October 2017, the government 

announced that it intends to allow registered providers and local authorities to increase 

rents by the Consumer Price Index (CPI) plus 1% for at least five years from April 

2020. The Business Plan assumes that rents will increase by the allowable amount 

until 2025 and then at CPI from 2026.  

The roll out of Universal Credit for new applicants and where there is a change in 

circumstances for existing claims is now underway in Barnet. The impact of this on 

rent collection and associated bad debt is being closely monitored.  

Corporate Priorities 

The Barnet Plan 2021-2025 sets out the council’s vision to make Barnet a great place 

to live work and visit.  It focusses on four priorities over the next 4 years to realise this 

vision: 

 

248



3 | P a g e  
 

• Clean, safe and well run: A place where our streets are clean and anti-social 

behaviour is deal with so residents feel safe. Providing good quality, customer friendly 

services in all that we do  

• Family friendly: Creating a Family Friendly Barnet, enabling opportunities for 

our children and young people to achieve their best  

•  Healthy: A place with fantastic facilities for all ages, enabling people to live 

happy and healthy lives 

• Thriving: A place fit for the future, where all residents, businesses and visitors 

benefit from improved sustainable infrastructure & opportunity.  

In April 2019 the council agreed a new Housing Strategy which sets out the plans to 

meet housing need in the borough with a focus on the following priorities: 

 Raising standards in the private rented sector 

 Delivering more homes that people can afford 

 Safe and Secure Homes 

 Promoting independence  

 Tackling homelessness and rough sleeping in Barnet 

The HRA Business Plan complements the Housing Strategy in a number of ways, 

including: 

 Maintaining the quality and safety of the existing supply of council housing 

 Investing in the delivery of new affordable homes for rent  

 Increasing the supply of housing to help tackle homelessness  

 Investing in new homes for vulnerable people, including wheelchair users and 

older people  

 Ensuring that housing services funded through the HRA are efficient and 

effective.  

 

4. Maintaining the quality and safety of the existing supply of council housing 

 

The council’s housing stock is managed and maintained by Barnet Homes, an Arm’s 

Length Management Organisation (ALMO) which was established in 2004 to improve 

services and deliver a programme of investment to bring the stock up to the Decent 

Homes standard.  

Barnet Homes completed the Decent Homes programme in 2011, and now has a 30-

year asset management strategy in place to deliver the following objectives: 

 

 Ensure properties are maintained in a manner which provides a safe living 
environment and one that is not detrimental to residents and others health. 

 Ensure operators maintaining the buildings can carry out work in a safe manner 
and without detriment to health.  

 Identify the assets to be maintained.  

249



4 | P a g e  
 

 Establish the basis for future investment in the assets  

 Establish a basis for possible alternative use of the assets  

 Provide an outline vision for new build dwellings  

 Establish a mechanism for review of the strategy  

 Seek residents’ views on the objectives of the strategy to inform the 
development and updating of the strategy  

 Achieve value for money 

 Recognise legislation regarding the Government targets of Carbon Neutrality 
by 2050 

 Inform the 30-year HRA business plan.  

 

To ensure that our investment plans going forward are based on a robust and accurate 

assessment of the stock, Barnet Homes commissioned a stock condition survey of 

20% of the housing stock internally and 100% externally, the results of which identified 

the anticipated level of spend required for the stock over a 30-year period. The 

business plan also makes provision for further stock condition surveys to be carried 

out in future years to ensure 100% coverage of all stock and the most efficient use of 

capital programme resources.  

Building and Fire safety 

 

Following the Grenfell Tower disaster in June 2017, the council responded by 

developing a £51.9 million investment programme to improve fire safety in its housing 

stock, including the replacement of Aluminium Composite Material (ACM) on blocks 

at Granville Road (completed 2018), and the installation of sprinklers in high rise 

blocks. £34m of this investment programme has been spent to date. 

 

‘Building a Safer Future’ (BSF) is a government-led initiative in response to the 

Grenfell Tower tragedy. It is a framework within which the shortcomings identified in 

the post-Grenfell review of Building Regulation and Fire Safety can be addressed. 

These shortcomings include the way high-rise residential buildings are built and 

managed. BSF is also intended to deal with situations where residents may raise 

concerns about the safety of their buildings, which they may feel are not taken 

seriously by their landlord.   

 

Two key pieces of legislation support this initiative – the Building Safety Bill and the 

Fire Safety Act.The Fire Safety Bill received royal assent in April 2021, although is not 

yet in force.  The Building Safety Bill has not yet received royal assent, this is 

anticipated mid-2022 and is unlikely to come into force before 2023.  The new Building 

Safety Regulator, working under the responsibility of the Health and Safety Executive 

and with responsibility for ‘high risk’ / ‘in-scope’ buildings (e.g. residential blocks over 

18 metres, but other criteria may be defined through subsequent statutory instruments) 

is unlikely to be fully operational until 2023/24.  

 

250



5 | P a g e  
 

Following the consultation and formal introduction of the Bills it is inevitable that there 

will be additional requirements for other enhanced aspects of building and fire safety 

and ongoing management of our buildings and the wider housing stock within the 

borough. An additional £0.85m per annum has therefore been included as revenue 

expenditure within the plan to deliver the requirements of ‘Building a Safer future’ and 

associated legislation. 

 

Estate Regeneration 

 

The council recognises that its ambitious programme to regenerate its four largest 
council estates has taken much longer to deliver than originally envisaged. In view of 
this, significant investment is required by the council in properties at Grahame Park 
over the next 3 years. The council will ensure that homes at Grahame Park 
programmed to be occupied until 2024 remain compliant with statutory landlord 
obligations. Properties due to remain occupied beyond 2024 will be improved to meet 
the Decent Homes standard. These works are summarised below: 

 

Table 1 – Approach to investment in homes at Grahame Park Estate  

Homes to continue in 

occupation to 2024 

Compliance works, Electrical Rising Main, Electrical 

Testing and Rewires, Fire enhancement works, partial 

window replacements, ASB works such as external 

perimeter lighting, entry phones/renewal of entrance 

doors and Housing Health and Safety Rating System 

works. 

Homes to continue in 

occupation beyond 

2024 

As above and including repair/renewal of bathrooms and 

kitchens, roof and windows replacement. 

 

The council is exploring with Barnet Homes options for accelerating the regeneration 

in the North of Grahame Park supported subject to viability by the Housing Revenue 

Account and was thesubject of a report to Housing & Growth Committee on 14 June 

2021. 

 

Significant regeneration has taken place at Dollis Valley. The remaining council homes 

at Dollis Valley are due to be vacated between 2022 and 2025. Discussions are taking 

place between the Council/Re and the developers, with the possibility that all phases 

will now have a vacant possession date of 2025. These properties were built using the 

large panel system (LPS) method and in view of recent concerns raised about this 

type of construction and following discussions with Cadent Gas, Barnet Homes have 

replaced the gas fuel heating and hot water systems to homes in blocks of 5 storey 

and above with all-electric systems. Subsequently, piped gas systems have been 

251



6 | P a g e  
 

disconnected. As running costs associated with the electric systems will be higher than 

gas, the council will need to compensate residents for any additional cost and 

adequate provision has been made in the plan for this. 

 

The following table shows the total investment plans for the council’s housing stock 

through to 2026 (at current values, no inflation): 

 

Financial Year   
£'000 

2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 Total 

STOCK CAPITAL INVESTMENT 

Major Works   £13,919   £15,494   £15,494   £15,495   £20,736   £81,138  

M&E/ GAS  £4,400   £4,400   £4,400   £4,400   £   -     £17,600  

Adaptations (voids)  £685   £2,000   £1,624   £1,200     £1,200     £6,709  

Fire safety 
programme 

 £12,295   £5,400   £1,315   £   -     £   -     £19,010  

Additional 
Regeneration 

 £21,069   £8,546   £110   £110     £   -     £29,835  

Neighbourhood 
works 

£   -    £2,230 £2,230 £2,231 £1,338 £8,029 

Carbon Neutral 
works 

£   -    £667 £667 £666 £1,000 £3,000 

Totals  £52,368   £38,737   £25,840  £24,102   £24,274   £ 165,321  

 

 

5. Investment in the delivery of new affordable homes for rent  

New Build Programme 

The council’s Housing Strategy 2019-2024 sets out the need for more affordable 
homes in the borough. In order to deliver on this, local authority land, including land 
held in the HRA, can be made available to provide sites for new housing, either at 
affordable rent or for low cost home ownership. 

Barnet Homes completed the first tranche of 43 new council homes by Summer 2016 

and in Autumn 2018 a GLA grant of £8.7m was secured for a further 87 new homes. 

Plans for the delivery of these properties are progressing. 

Barnet Homes have established a Registered Provider (RP), Opendoor Homes, which 

is delivering 341 new affordable homes for rent on council land, primarily in the HRA. 

225 of these have been completed and are now occupied. 

This approach means that whilst the HRA supports the developments by providing 

land at nil cost, the development costs of the new homes are funded by a loan to 

Opendoor Homes from the council.  The council retains 100% nomination rights to the 

properties that are built.  Additionally, Opendoor Homes is delivering a policy compliant 

252



7 | P a g e  
 

mixed tenure scheme at Hermitage Lane which will produce a further 21 affordable 

homes. 

Further work has been carried out on the capacity of HRA sites to deliver additional 

homes, and several sites have been identified which are expected to provide 

approximately 250 new council homes for affordable rent over the next five years.  

Work has commenced on consulting on the first scheme of this programme in respect 

of around 100 homes potentially at The Grange.  

The council will continue to work with Opendoor Homes, with a focus on mixed tenure 

developments outside of the HRA. However, the council will consider transferring HRA 

land to the RP where there is a good case for doing so, for example where the HRA 

does not have the capacity to fund a development or where it is more suitable for 

mixed tenure scheme.  

Acquisitions Programme 

To make effective use of the council’s Right- to-Buy receipts, HRA funding has already 

been used to support the purchase 93 properties across London which have been let 

at affordable rents via the council’s Housing Allocations Scheme.    

The council’s Housing Strategy has identified the need to maintain a supply of larger 

affordable units and will ensure that some of the units acquired have three or more 

bedrooms. 

Recent changes to the use of Right to Buy Receipts has placed a greater emphasis 

on new build supply and as such it is less likely that this money will be available to 

support future acquisitions programmes. 

6. Increasing the supply of housing to help tackle homelessness  

The delivery of new affordable homes for rent, as described above, will help to reduce 

homelessness by providing an alternative to expensive temporary accommodation 

and offer households in this position a better outcome. 

At present the average net annual cost of providing temporary accommodation is 

£3,400 per household, and this cost is set to increase due to continuing inflationary 

pressures in the housing market associated with population growth and a limited 

supply of housing.  

This means that for every 100-additional new affordable homes built or acquired, the 

council will save at least £0.340m in temporary accommodation costs within in the 

General Fund.  

7. Investment in new homes for vulnerable people 

253



8 | P a g e  
 

The council has identified a need for additional extra care housing for older people 

and homes for wheelchair users. As a result, investment is being targeted in two 

particular areas set out below. 

 

Extra Care housing 

As well as providing better outcomes for users, additional supported housing will 

provide a more cost-effective alternative to expensive residential care. It is estimated 

that around 35% of people admitted to residential accommodation by the council would 

have a better quality of life if there was availability within extra care housing. This 

equates to approximately 90 households every year.  

Each client placed in extra care housing provides a saving of £10,000 a year compared 

to the cost of residential care.  The first extra care scheme completed during 2019 at 

the 53-home extra care sheltered housing scheme at Ansell Court. 

The council and Barnet Homes are progressing well with the next 51 home extra care 

scheme at Stag House in Burnt Oak and another 75-home scheme as part of 

community led development plans for the Upper and Lower Fosters estate in Hendon 

which started on site in March 2021. Both schemes will be funded through the HRA 

and with grant from the GLA.  

Wheelchair housing 

The council has identified a number of people currently in residential care, who would 

benefit from wheelchair adapted housing. It is estimated that for each person rehoused 

a saving of up to £50,000 will be generated in the General Fund. Barnet Homes has 

already built 29 wheelchair adapted homes as part of the 40 new council homes 

completed in 2016. Additional wheelchair adapted homes will be provided as part of 

the on-going programme of building affordable homes described in section six above. 

This complies with the local plan requirement that at least 10% of new homes should 

be wheelchair accessible or easily adapted for wheelchair users.  

8. Efficient and Effective Services  

The majority of services funded from the HRA are provided by the council’s ALMO, 

Barnet Homes, including the management and maintenance of council housing and 

the provision of housing needs service, which is responsible for the assessment of 

eligibility for rehousing against the council’s Housing Allocations Scheme.  

During 2015, the council reviewed the services provided by Barnet Homes through a 

series of challenge sessions to ensure that the services were of a satisfactory standard 

and provided good value for money. This led to the development of a new ten-year 

management agreement, effective from 1st April 2016 and secured savings worth 

254



9 | P a g e  
 

£2.15m over the first five years of the agreement.  This sum is equivalent to a 10% 

budget reduction and has had minimal impact on the effectiveness of services, whilst 

freeing up HRA resources for investment in further new homes.  

 

9. Right to Buy Receipts 

The Right-to-Buy scheme was reinvigorated in 2012 through the introduction of more 

generous discounts for tenants wishing to buy their council property. As part of this, 

local authorities have been permitted to keep a larger proportion of the receipts 

generated from Right-to- Buy sales on condition that these are spent on providing new 

affordable homes within 3 years. The council has so far made use of Right-to-Buy 

receipts to support the building and acquisitions programme described in section six 

above, including 44 newly built council homes and 20 homes acquired on the open 

market for affordable rent. A recent announcement by Ministry of Housing, 

Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) regarding Right to Buy receipts has 

meant that receipts now have 5 years to be utilised for the provision of replacement 

homes, rather than the 3 years in the past and the amount that can be used has 

increased from 30% to 40% of the development spend. 

 

10. HRA 30 Year Business Plan  

The council uses a spreadsheet model provided by Savills to project the HRA position 

over a 30-year period, considering changes in stock, capital programme requirements, 

and anticipated policy changes.  

A baseline position, shown in Appendix A has been established which takes account 

of the current capital programme, the loss of stock expected through estate 

regeneration and sales, and the latest government advice on rent setting. The baseline 

capital programme also includes: an agreed £52m investment in fire safety, £35.7m of 

investment in homes at Dollis Valley and Grahame Park, building of 337 new homes 

supported by the GLA grant and the acquisition of 51 properties for affordable rent. 

It is recommended that the council proceeds with developing plans for implementing 
the programme described above. This will see an increase in borrowing from £360m 
currently to £567m. This increase in borrowings means that the primary sensitivity to 
the business plan is interest rates. Two ‘forward funding’ loan drawdowns to ‘lock in’ 
interest rates have been done which assists the plan and officers continue to monitor 
interest rates and assess other options to mitigate this sensitivity, within the overall 
treasury strategy. 

A summary of the proposed Capital programme is included at Appendix B and the 
updated HRA forecast for 2021/22 is included at Appendix C. 

255



10 | P a g e  
 

Appendix A - HRA Business Plan – Baseline Model 

                                   REVENUE PROJECTION         

 
CAPITAL PROGRAMME vs CAPITAL 
RESOURCES     HRA DEBT PROJECTION   

 

               

 
 
   

 

  
 

  

 Key reserves statistics HRA/Oth MRR             
 Key debt 
statistics           

 5- year balance 4,388 0             
 Opening long-
term debt   £276,813         

10- year balance 4,842 0       
Closing long-
term debt £566,744     

30- year balance 7,183 0             

Minimum balance 3,628              
 

Assumptions 

 Rents -Increase by CPI + 1% from 2020/21 to 2024/25 and thereafter CPI only increases 

 Cost Inflation -CPI throughout model  

 £33.5m fire safety investment remaining of total £52m approved 

 Additional 237 new affordable homes built for rent delivered through GLA programme 

 Initial £27m provision for costs to deliver carbon neutral by 2050 

 Loans are re-financed on maturity 

-2,000

0

2,000

4,000

6,000

8,000

1 3 5 7 9 11131517192123252729

HRA reserve Other reserve

MR reserve All reserves c/f

0

50,000

100,000

150,000

1 3 5 7 9 11 13 15 17 19 21 23 25 27 29

MRR/Deprec'n RTB & 1-4-1 receipts

Other funding Revenue

Borrowing Programme

256



11 | P a g e  
 

Base position shows sustainable HRA over 30-year life of the business plan 

 

Appendix B- Proposed HRA Capital Programme to 2026 (at current values, no inflation): 

Financial Year   £'000 2021.22 2022.23 2023.24 2024.25 2025.26 Total 

STOCK CAPITAL INVESTMENT 

Major Works  £13,919 £ 15,494 £15,494 £15,495 £20,736 £81,138 

M&E/ GAS £4,400 £   4,400 £4,400 £4,400 £   - £17,600 

Adaptations (voids) £685 £   2,000 £1,624 £1,200 £1,200 £6,709 

Fire safety programme £12,295 £  5,400 £1,315 £   - £   - £19,010 

Additional Regeneration £21,069 £8,546 £110 £110 £   - £29,835 

Neighbourhood works £   - £2,230 £2,230 £2,231 £1,338 £8,029 

Carbon Neutral works £   - £667 £667 £666 £1,000 £3,000 

Total Investment in Stock £52,368 £38,737 £25,840 £24,102 £24,274 £ 165,321 

INVESTMENT IN NEW SUPPLY 

Cheshir House – Extra Care £       539 £    6,646 £    9,006 
£      

4,987 £           - £    21,178 

Stag House – Extra Care £    8,097 £    4,002 £           - £           - £           - £    12,099 

Burnt Oak Broadway  £    2,237 £    3,454 £           - £           - £           - £      5,691 

GLA Funded Programme £       200 £   13,000 £    7,000 
£      

5,400 
£      

1,289 £    26,889 

15 Acquisitions for affordable rent £     5,387 £           - £           - £           - £           - £      5,387 

New Build - 250 units* £       700 £    1,500 £    8,500 £   25,560 £   25,560 £    54,746 

Grahame Park NE £     1,000 
£          

468 £           - £           - £           - £      1,468 

Dollis Valley Shared Equity £    1,445 £     2,500 £           - £           - £           - £      3,945 

 Total Investment in New Supply  £  19,605 £  31,570 £  24,506 £  35,947 £   26,849 £  151,283 

Total Capital Programme  £  71,973 £  70,307 £  50,346 £  60,049 £  51,123 £  303,798 

*Subject to capital bids 

257



12 | P a g e  
 

Appendix C –HRA P4 Forecast 2021/22 and Business Plan to 2025/26  

HOUSING REVENUE 
ACCOUNT 

2021/22 2022/23 2023/24 2024/25 2025/26 

Forecast Budget Budget Budget Budget 

  £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Income           

Dwelling rents (50,039) (50,593) (51,149) (51,955) (55,294) 
Non-dwelling rents (1,007) (876) (818) (722) (682) 
Tenants Charges for 
services and facilities 

(3,599) (3,693) (3,816) (4,008) (4,216) 

Leaseholder Charges for 
services and facilities 

(2,900) (2,973) (3,041) (3,102) (3,164) 

Other Income (220) (226) (231) (235) (240) 
            

Total Income (57,765) (58,361) (59,055) (60,022) (63,596) 

            

Expenditure           

Repairs and Maintenance 7,871 8,004 8,108 8,221 8,494 
‘Building Safer Future’ 
funding 

850 871 891 909 927 

General 21,826 22,283 22,855 23,502 24,213 
Special 2,464 2,310 3,436 2,100 2,142 
Depreciation and 
impairment of fixed assets 

12,222 12,500 12,483 12,448 12,842 

Debt Management 
Expenses 

10,080 10,558 10,274 10,810 11,712 

Revenue Contribution to 
Capital 

1,226 696 - 862 2,334 

Increase in bad debt 
provision 

1,070 1,224 1,096 984 904 

Total Expenditure 57,609 58,221 59,143 59,836 63,313 

            

Net Cost/(Income) of HRA 
Services 

(156) 86 88 (186) (43) 

            
Interest and investment 
income 

(19) (11) (41) (40) (43) 

            

(Surplus) or deficit  (175) 75 47 (226) (86) 

            

Accumulated Reserve 
(Surplus) 

(4,175) (4,100) (4,053) (4,279) (4,365) 

 

258



 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

London Borough of Barnet 
Housing & Growth Committee 

Forward Work Programme 
2021/2022 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Contact: Faith.mwende@barnet.gov.uk 020 8359 4917 

259

A
G

E
N

D
A

 IT
E

M
 17

mailto:Faith.mwende@barnet.gov.uk


 

Title of Report Overview of decision 
 

Report Of (officer) Issue Type (Non 
key/Key/Urgent) 

16 Nov 2021 

Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Update 

To receive an update on the Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Programme and take such 
decisions as are required. 

Director of Growth Key 

Assets. Land and 
Property Transactions 
for Approval 

Approval of Assets, Land and 
Property Transactions 

Assistant Director Estates Key 

Annual Performance 
Review of Registered 
Providers (RPs) 

To receive a report on the annual 
performance of registered providers. 

Head of Housing and Regeneration Non-Key 

Fire Safety Update To receive progress updates in the Fire 
Safety Programme as agreed at Housing 
Committee on 23/10/17. 

 

Elliot Sweetman to provide BH content. 

Housing Lead Key 

HRA Business Plan To approve the updated Housing 
Revenue Account 30 year business plan 

Group Director of Resources – The Barnet 
Group 

Key 

Annual Review of 
Council Dwelling 
Rents and Service 
Charges and 
Temporary 
Accommodation 
rents for 2022/23 

To approve rents and service charges for 
2022/23 

Group Director of Operations & Property 

– The Barnet Group 

Key 

260



Modular Microsites 
Proposal 
Development sites 
for disposal 

To approve the delivery of 23 Homes of 
which 19 are affordable across 4 
microsites using modern methods of 
construction. 

Assistant Director – Estates Key 

GLA87 Little Strand 
Full Business Case 

To note and approve the Full Business 
Case for delivery of the project. 

Group Director, Growth and Development 
(Barnet Homes) 

Key 

18 Jan 2022 

Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Update 

To receive an update on the Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Programme and take such 
decisions as are required. 

Director of Growth Key 

Assets, Land and 
Property 
Transactions for 
Approval  

Approval of Assets, Land and Property 
Transactions 

Assistant Director Estates Key  

9 March 2022 

Grahame Park North 
East 

To note and approve the Outline Business 
Case 

Group Director, Growth and Development 
(Barnet Homes). 

Key  

Tranche 1 To note and approve the Outline Business 
Case for the delivery of the project. 

Group Director, Growth and Development 
(Barnet Homes). 

Key 

Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Update 

To receive an update on the Brent Cross 
Cricklewood Programme and take such 
decisions as are required. 

Director of Growth Key 

261



Assets, Land and 
Property 
Transactions for 
Approval 

Approval of Assets, Land and Property 
Transactions 

Assistant Director Estates Key 

Barnet Homes 
Annual Delivery Plan 
2022/23 

To approve the annual Barnet Homes 
delivery Plan 

Group Director of Operations & Property – 
The Barnet Group 

Key 

Housing and Growth 
Annual Delivery Plan 
22/23 

A report setting out how the Council’s 
priorities will be delivered in 2022/23 and 
how performance will be monitored.  

Deputy Chief Executive Non-Key 

HRA Business Plan To approve the updated Housing 
Revenue Account 30-year business plan. 

Group Director of Resources – The Barnet 
Group 

Key 

Fire Safety Update To receive progress updates in the Fire 
Safety Programme as agreed at Housing 
Committee on 23/10/17. 

Elliott Sweetman to provide BH content. 

Housing Lead Key 

TBC    

Social Housing 
Green Paper 

Update on the social housing green paper 
at appropriate time – as requested by Cllr 
Houston and agreed by committee.  

TBC Non-key 

262



Document is Restricted

263

AGENDA ITEM 20

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

267

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

271

AGENDA ITEM 21

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	1 MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETING
	7 Determination and Fees Policy for Caravan Site Licensing Fit and Proper Person Test
	8 COVID-19: Recovery Plan - Thriving
	9 Town Centres Capital Programme Update
	10 North Finchley Site Assembly Agreement  and Land Agreement
	Appendix 1 North Finchley Land Assembly and Site Assembly Legal Summary Redacted
	1. INTRODUCTION AND TRANSACTION BACKGROUND
	1.1 This Report is prepared for The London Borough of Barnet (the “Council” the "Seller" or "you") in connection with the sale and development of Council Land and Third Party Property at North Finchley Town Centre, London.
	1.2 Subject to the matters outlined in this Report, we confirm that to the best of our knowledge and belief the Transaction Documents reflect the Council’s instructions to us.
	1.3 It is very important you read the Transaction Documents in their entirety and this Report should not be used as a substitute for doing so.  We have taken the Council’s instructions on the Transaction Documents throughout negotiations, but you must...
	1.4 Our conclusions are based on, and qualified by, the following matters:-
	1.4.1 we are English lawyers having English legal expertise and we do not purport to be experts in other fields or in the law of any other country;
	1.4.2 we express no opinion on any financial, valuation, business, investment strategy, financial planning, statistical, accounting, tax, taxation or information technology issues;
	1.4.3 our observations are made only to the extent that we are aware of relevant facts and a law firm, having the role described above, could reasonably be expected to have identified the implications of those facts; and
	1.4.4 any statements made in this Report in relation to matters of fact (as distinct from matters of law) are provided to the actual knowledge of those partners and solicitors directly engaged in acting on the transaction.  Those statements are strict...

	1.5 Transaction background
	1.5.1 The Council and the Buyer have identified the Site, which is the land and buildings at and near North Finchley High Street, shown approximately edged red on Plan 2. This excludes any Non-SPD Land (unless the Council and the Buyer agree otherwise).
	1.5.2 The Site comprises Council Land (which is property owned by the Council) and Third Party Property (which is property owned by third parties).
	1.5.3 The Council does not own the Third Party Property, but the Buyer has agreed to use reasonable endeavours to negotiate terms with the owners of the Third Party Property and to acquire the Third Party Property with the Council’s assistance. This m...
	1.5.4 Subject to satisfaction of conditions, the Council has agreed to sell and the Buyer has agreed to buy the Council Land and Third Party Property in Phases or Sub-Phases for development.
	1.5.5 Phase 1 will be divided into six Sub-Phases as shown indicatively on Plan 3. Phase 2 and Phase 3 are each intended to comprise no more than six Sub-Phases.
	1.5.1 Before selling any Council Land or Third Party Property, the Buyer must first satisfy conditions, including the grant of a satisfactory planning permission for the development of the Site. The conditions are summarised in SECTION 1.
	1.5.2 Once the conditions have been satisfied the Council has agreed to:-
	(a) sell the Council Land to the Buyer in phases or sub-phases by the grant of a 250 year lease; and
	(b) sell the Third Party Property to the Buyer in phases or sub-phases by a freehold sale.

	1.5.3 The Buyer has agreed to pay a purchase price for the Council Land based on its Open Market Value excluding VAT.
	1.5.4 The Buyer is entitled to develop the land it acquires from the Council. If it fails to do so or otherwise defaults, the Council has the benefit of a Call Option to re-acquire the land at the Call Option Price.

	1.6 Outline of core Transaction documentation
	1.6.1 the Land Agreement, which provides for the Buyer's conditional acquisition of the Council Land and the Third Party Property, the Buyer's development obligations if it develops the Site and the Council’s buy-back option if the Buyer fails to proc...
	1.6.2 the Site Assembly Agreement, which provides for the arrangements between the Council and the Buyer in connection with the acquisition of Third Party Property, the making of a CPO and the Buyer’s indemnity to the Council to pay for the CPO Costs.


	2. RELIANCE
	3. CONTENTS OF THIS REPORT
	4. DEFINITIONS
	1. OVERVIEW
	1.1 The Land Agreement is a contract to be entered into between the Council, the Buyer and the Funder. It sets out the terms upon which the Buyer will seek to satisfy the Conditions (including the grant of planning permission) to acquire Council Land ...
	1.2 Upon the sale of each Phase or Sub-Phase to the Buyer, the Buyer commits to development obligations when it starts works on site. If the Buyer fails to carry out the development in accordance with the Land Agreement ultimately the Council may exer...
	1.3 The Council has a right of pre-emption to acquire residential units from the Buyer at their market value.

	2. PHASES AND SUB-PHASES
	2.1 The Council and the Buyer have agreed to divide the Site into Phases and Sub-Phases. The Phases are Phase 1, Phase 2, Phase 3 and up to two Further Phases. Sub-Phases are part of a Phase.
	2.2 The Buyer has agreed to acquire Phase 1 in Sub-Phases. Future Phases may be acquired by the Buyer in whole or in Sub-Phases.
	2.3 The Phase 1 Property comprises no more than six Sub-Phases as shown indicatively on Plan 3.
	2.4 The Phase 2 Property and the Phase 3 Property each comprise no more than six Sub-Phases.
	2.5 The Buyer is entitled to draw down the whole of Phase 2, Phase 3 of Further Phases, but we understand it is more likely that the Buyer will acquire any future land in Sub-Phases. Accordingly, the remainder of this section assumes the delivery of l...
	2.6 Any increased number of Sub-Phases, any changes to the extent of the Phase or the order of commencement of the Sub-Phases in each Phase requires the Council’s approval.

	3. CONDITIONS
	3.1 The Buyer must satisfy the following conditions before the Buyer can acquire any Sub-Phase:-
	3.1.1 For the first Sub-Phase within Phase 1, the satisfaction of the Planning Condition which is the grant of a satisfactory detailed, outline or hybrid made by the Buyer to carry out the Development of the Site. The Buyer is responsible for the cont...
	3.1.2 For the first Sub-Phase of each Phase, The Residential Unit Lease Condition which is the Buyer and the Council agreeing the form of residential lease to be granted to the Council if the Council exercises its right of pre-emption to acquire resid...
	3.1.3 Except for the first Sub-Phase within Phase 1, which we understood to be the Lodge Lane car park, the Council has made a resolution to make a Compulsory Purchase Order in respect of Phase 1.
	3.1.4 The Sub-Phase Planning Condition which is the grant of reserved matters approval to allow for the implementation of the planning permission for the relevant Sub-Phase.
	3.1.5 The Vacant Possession Condition for the Sub-Phase which is the obtaining of vacant possession, involving the making of a compulsory purchase order by the Secretary of State or the surrender or termination of all leases and other interests affect...
	3.1.6 The agreement of a revised Programme as relates to the relevant Sub-Phase.
	3.1.7 The Buyer obtaining the Necessary Consents to allow the carrying out of the development of the relevant Sub-Phase.
	3.1.8 The Funding and Viability Condition in relation to the Sub-Phase which requires the Buyer to demonstrate to the Council that it has sufficient funding for the relevant Phase and the Phase is Financially Viable (meaning that receipts for the Phas...
	3.1.9 The Title Condition in relation to the Sub-Phase which is the Buyer demonstrating that it has acquired all additional land required to deliver the Sub-Phase.
	3.1.10 If the Sub-Phase Property is used as a public car park, the making of a Traffic Management Order authorising its closure.
	3.1.11 Agreement or determination of the Sub-Phase Consideration which is the purchase price for the relevant Sub-Phase.
	3.1.12 In respect of the Council Land obtaining the necessary Council Committee’s authority to dispose of the Council Land.
	3.1.13 The Buyer completing its title due diligence in respect of the Council Land.
	3.1.14 The Long-term Management and Maintenance Condition relating to the relevant part of the Sub-Phase Property which is the Council being satisfied that suitable arrangements are in place for the long term management and maintenance of common parts...
	3.1.15 The Transfer Condition which is the Council and the Buyer agreeing the form of transfer of the Third Party Property (if any) relating to the relevant Sub-Phase.
	3.1.16 The Buyer cannot proceed to the next Phase without having acquired all of the Sub-Phases within the previous Phase.


	4. PURCHASE PRICE
	4.1 The consideration payable for the Council Land forming part of each Sub-Phase is agreed between the parties or determined by an independent professional valuer.
	4.2 The Council will instruct an independent chartered surveyor to provide an Open Market Valuation of the Council Land. An Open Market Valuation is to be carried out in accordance with the RICS Valuation Standards and is to be the best consideration ...
	4.3 If the Buyer does not approve the valuation then either party may refer the matter to a second independent chartered surveyor whose decision will be binding on the parties.
	4.4 The Council has agreed an indicative non-binding overage calculation which the independent valuer will be instructed to take into account. This is a percentage of any excess development profit that would become payable to the Council by reference ...
	4.4.1      % where the rate of return is between      % and      %;
	4.4.2      % where the rate of return is between      % and      %;
	4.4.3      % where the rate of return is above      %.

	4.5 Once the valuation has been agreed or determined the Council will seek committee approval to dispose of the Sub-Phase.
	4.6 Where completion will take place more than three months after the Conditions have been satisfied, the Buyer must pay a deposit of 5% of the price which will be held by the Council’s solicitors as stakeholder and will be released to the Council on ...
	4.7 The consideration payable for any Third Party Property acquired in the name of the Council but paid for by the Buyer as CPO Costs is £20.00.

	5. ACCESS BEFORE COMPLETION
	6. COMPLETION
	6.1 Completion of the first Sub-Phase within Phase 1 will take place one month after the satisfaction of the Conditions. The sale will be by a 250 year lease of the Council Land and a freehold sale of any Third Party Property, in return for the purcha...
	6.2 If completion of any Council Land does not take place within 12 months of the date of the independent valuer’s valuation, the Council Land will be re-valued but will not be any lower than the previous valuation.
	6.3 The Buyer is entitled to request the Council to lease the Council Land and transfer the Third Party Property to:-
	6.3.1 a wholly owned subsidiary of the Buyer if the Council is satisfied that the subsidiary and the Funder have sufficient financial standing and relevant experience to comply with its obligations, the Buyer ensures that it retains a      % sharehold...
	6.3.2 a funding partner if the Council has approved the identity of the funding partner and the funding partner gives the Council a deed of covenant to comply with the terms of the Land Agreement.


	7. DEVELOPMENT
	7.1 The Buyer is not obliged to carry out development but if the Buyer commences works it will not carry out the works except in accordance with the planning permission, all necessary consents and the Buyer’s development obligations.
	7.2 The development obligations are set out in Schedule 6 to the Land Agreement and given space constraints they are not summarised in full in this Report.
	7.3 The Buyer must use reasonable endeavours to procure the carrying out and completion of the works by three years after completion of the sale to the Buyer (subject to justifiable extensions of time) and no later than five years after completion of ...
	7.4 The Buyer must seek the Council’s approval (which must be given within 10 working days otherwise consent is deemed to have been given) to:-
	7.4.1 the construction drawings and documents before the start of construction;
	7.4.2 any changes to the approved drawings and documents;
	7.4.3 the terms of appointment of the contractor and professional team;

	7.5 The Buyer must provide the Council with:-
	7.5.1 a development appraisal in respect of the Council Land before it submits its reserved matters application;
	7.5.2 an updated development appraisal as required by the Council;
	7.5.3 collateral warranties from the contractor and professional team with appropriate step-in rights;
	7.5.4 notice of commencement of works;
	7.5.5 a right to inspect the construction site during the construction period;
	7.5.6 updates on the progress of the development at least monthly;
	7.5.7 notice of practical completion of the works;


	8. PRE-EMPTION RIGHT
	8.1 The Council is granted a right of pre-emption to acquire residential properties constructed by the Buyer.
	8.2 The right of pre-emption occurs when the Buyer decides to sell or market any residential units.
	8.3 The Buyer cannot sell residential units without giving the Council a pre-emption notice specifying the units on offer, the proposed purchase price (being their market value) and the proposed terms of sale.
	8.4 if the Council wishes to proceed with the pre-emption by accepting the pre-emption notice, subject to finalising the purchase price.
	8.5 If the Buyer and the Council cannot agree the purchase price either party may refer the matter to an independent chartered surveyor. Once the surveyor has determined the valuation, the Council may elect to proceed with the purchase of all, some or...

	9. FUNDER
	9.1 The Funder has agreed to guarantee the obligations of the Buyer in the Land Agreement.
	9.2 The Funder confirms as at the date of the Land Agreement that:-
	9.2.1 it is a      % shareholder in the Buyer;
	9.2.2 the Buyer has not traded or carried out any activity other than to prepare to enter into the Land Agreement and Site Assembly Agreement;
	9.2.3 the Buyer has no assets, liabilities or commitments other than the Land Agreement and Site Assembly Agreement.


	10. TERMINATION
	10.1 Time limits
	10.1.1 Time Limit for Submitting the Planning Application: If the Buyer has not submitted an overall masterplan for the Development together with a detailed planning application for Phase 1 by 30 September 2022 (subject to justifiable extensions of ti...
	10.1.2 Time Limit for Obtaining Planning Permission: If Planning Permission has not been granted by three years from exchange of the Land Agreement (subject to justifiable extensions of time) then either the Council or the Buyer may terminate the Land...
	10.1.3 Time Limit for the First Sub-Phase within Phase 1: If the conditions for the sale of the first Sub-Phase within Phase 1 (which is understood to be the Lodge Lane car park site) are not satisfied by three years from the date of the satisfactory ...
	10.1.4 Time Limit for Subsequent Sub-Phases within Phase 1: If the conditions for the sale of subsequent Sub-Phases within Phase 1 are not satisfied by three years from the date of the first CPO Confirmation by the Secretary of State (subject to justi...
	10.1.5 Time Limit for Phase 2: If the conditions for the sale of Phase 2 are not satisfied by six years from the date of the first CPO Confirmation by the Secretary of State or if earlier eight years from the date of the Land Agreement (in each case s...
	10.1.6 Time Limit for Phase 3: If the conditions for the sale of Phase 3 are not satisfied by eight years from the date of the first CPO Confirmation by the Secretary of State or if earlier 10 years from the date of the Land Agreement (in each case su...
	10.1.7 Time Limit for any Further Phase: If the conditions for the sale of a Further Phase are not satisfied by ten years from the date of the first CPO Confirmation by the Secretary of State or if earlier 12 years from the date of the Land Agreement ...

	10.2 Funder termination
	10.3 Default termination
	10.3.1 The Council is entitled to terminate the Land Agreement for specified events of default but only in relation to the Phase(s) to which they relate and have not yet commenced construction.
	10.3.2 The events of default are:
	(a) failure by the Buyer to enter into a building contract or commence construction by six months after completion of the sale of the relevant Sub-Phase (subject to justifiable extensions of time);
	(b) failure to substantially comply with the development provisions in the Land Agreement, after notice of default has been given by the Council;
	(c) failure to practically complete the works on the Sub-Phase by five years after completion of the sale of the relevant Sub-Phase (subject to justifiable extensions of time);
	(d) the Buyer or the Funder becomes insolvent;
	(e) where land has been transferred to a subsidiary of the Buyer, the Buyer ceases to retain a      % shareholding in the subsidiary before completion of the works.

	10.3.3 if an event of default occurs in respect of any land that has not reached practical completion the Council may exercise a Call Option to require the Buyer to transfer the Council Land back to the Council. The Call Option cannot be exercised wit...


	11. ASSIGNMENT
	11.1 The Buyer may not assign the benefit of the Land Agreement to a third party except to a Funder by way of charge as security.
	11.2 The Funder may assign the benefit of the Land Agreement to a group company with the Council’s approval.

	1. OVERVIEW
	1.1 The Site Assembly Agreement is a contract to be entered into between the Council, the Buyer and the Funder.
	1.2 It sets out the agreement between the parties to consult on a compulsory purchase order in respect of the Site. Nothing in the Site Assembly Agreement fetters the Council’s duties obligations, powers or rights in the discharge of its functions as ...
	1.3 Whilst the Site Assembly Agreement anticipates a single CPO across the entire Site, it also allows for Multiple CPOs on a Phase by Phase basis. it is understood that the Council is likely to pursue the latter.

	2. OBTAINING A SATISFACTORY PLANNING PERMISSION
	2.1 The Buyer is responsible for preparing a draft planning application with supporting documents and submitting it to the Council for its approval. Once approved, the Buyer must submit it to the local planning authority and pursue the grant of a Sati...
	2.2 Once the planning permission is issued the Site Assembly Agreement contains terms to determine whether the planning permission is a Satisfactory Planning Permission or whether to lodge and pursue an appeal.

	3. COMPULSORY PURCHASE
	3.1 The Buyer agrees to indemnify the Council against all CPO Costs, but the Council agrees not to settle compensation claims before making a GVD or notice to treat where they exceed £                without the prior approval of the Buyer (not to be ...
	3.2 The Funder guarantees that the Buyer will comply with its financial obligations.
	3.3 Before Council committee authority is given to make the CPO, the Buyer must provide a solicitors’ undertaking to pay the Initial Stage CPO Costs to secure the resolution to make the CPO.
	3.4 After Council committee authority is given to make the CPO the Buyer must give the Council a solicitors’ undertaking, bond or security deposit to pay the Stage 1 Security Sum which is for CPO Costs, a    % contingency and an allowance of £        ...
	3.5 After the Council intends to issue a notice to treat or execute a GVD, the Buyer must give the Council a solicitors’ undertaking, bond or security deposit to pay the Stage 2 Security Sum which is for CPO Costs, a 10% contingency and an allowance o...
	3.6 There are provisions to revise the Stage 1 Security Sum and Stage 2 Security Sum if these sums are likely to be exceeded. Any overpayment will be reimbursed to the Buyer.
	3.7 All property outgoings must be paid to the Council whilst the land is owned by the Council.
	3.8 The Developer must liaise with the Council in relation to the appointment of a land referencer in connection with the proposed CPO. The Buyer will procure that the land referencer completes its land referencing exercise to allow the Council to mak...
	3.9 The Buyer must produce a compensation assessment setting out all known CPO interests, their heads of claim, whether blight could be claimed, an estimated range of compensation and assumptions. The compensation assessment will be reviewed at variou...
	3.10 The Buyer agrees to use reasonable endeavours to negotiate terms by private treaty to acquire all Third Party Property and rights, keeping the Council fully informed throughout.
	3.11 The Council agrees to:-
	3.11.1 keep the developer informed of the CPO process;
	3.11.2 take all steps to minimise and mitigate CPO costs;
	3.11.3 give the Buyer not less than 20 working days’ notice of the date on which the Council is legally required to make any CPO payments; and
	3.11.4 promptly pay any sums received from the Buyer to those who are due to be paid CPO costs.

	3.12 The Council and the Buyer will seek to agree drafts of the CPO, the map, notice of making the CPO and supporting statement of reasons.
	3.13 The Council will use its reasonable endeavours to seek authority from its relevant committee to make the CPO as soon as the CPO documents are agreed provided that:-
	3.13.1 there is a compelling case in the public interest to make the CPO;
	3.13.2 the necessary funding will be made available to pay all CPO costs; and
	3.13.3 the Buyer has complied with its obligations to acquire Third Party Property and rights.

	3.14 The Council must also be satisfied that the following conditions are or will be satisfied:-
	3.14.1 there are no material impediments to the development going ahead;
	3.14.2 the Compensation Assessment has been agreed or determined and there is no outstanding request from either party to review any entry or omission from them;
	3.14.3 the Land Agreement is subsisting and in full effect;
	3.14.4 the Council has received the Security Deposit and/or the Solicitors' Undertaking and/or the Bond for an aggregate amount equal to the Stage 1 Security Sum which is the CPO land acquisition costs, procedural costs up to a public inquiry and a de...
	3.14.5 no part of the Site Assembly Agreement is the subject of legal proceedings or dispute resolution.

	3.15 After authority has been given by the relevant Council committee to make the CPO, the Council will submit the draft CPO documents to the Secretary of State or Counsel for technical examination and then submit the CPO in the statutory form to the ...
	3.16 There are agreed provisions regarding the funding of a public inquiry and keeping the Buyer advised on the progress and result of the public inquiry.
	3.17 If the CPO is confirmed the Council will comply with its statutory notice obligations and will provide a copy of the Secretary of State’s decision and inspector’s report.
	3.18 There are agreed provisions regarding the appeal if the Secretary of State does not confirm the CPO including if:-
	3.18.1 the Council considers that it would be unlikely to promote and/or improve the economic and/or social and/or environmental well-being of the area to pursue such an appeal; or
	3.18.2 written advice from Counsel assets there is a less than evens chance of a successful appeal.

	3.19 If the CPO is confirmed and the Buyer gives the required notice, the Council will implement the CPO in consultation with the Buyer but it will agree to acquire the CPO land on reasonable terms without having recourse to the implementation of the ...
	3.20 There are agreed provisions regarding the service of blight notices.
	3.21 There are agreed provisions regarding the referral of matters to the Upper Tribunal (Lands Chamber) if the Buyer wishes the Council to request the determination of statutory compensation.

	4. TERMINATION
	4.1 The Site Assembly Agreement may be terminated by the Council where:-
	4.1.1 an Event of Default occurs including insolvency of the Buyer or Funder;
	4.1.2 material breach of the Buyer’s obligations after notice of default has been given by the Council; and
	4.1.3 material breach of the land referencer’s terms of appointment after notice of default has been given by the Council without an alternative land referencer having been appointed.

	4.2 If the Land Agreement is terminated then either party may terminate the Site Assembly Agreement.

	5. ASSIGNMENT
	5.1 The Buyer may not assign the benefit of the Site Assembly Agreement to a third party except to a Funder by way of charge as security.
	5.2 The Funder may assign the benefit of the Site Assembly Agreement to a group company with the Council’s approval that it has sufficient financial standing and relevant experience to comply with the Funder’s obligations.

	1. This Report is provided by Pinsent Masons LLP and no partner, member or employee assumes any personal responsibility for it nor shall owe a duty of care in respect of it.
	2. We have not inspected the Property and do not give any opinion as to the state or condition of the Property, its value or its commercial marketability.
	3. All Plans attached to this Report are indicative only.

	EXEMPT North Finchley Land Assembly and Site Assembly Legal Summary

	11 Corporate Asset Management Plan (CAMP)
	Appendix 1 - Corporate Asset Management Plan.

	12 Brent Cross Update Report
	PUBLIC - Appendix A - BXC-GAB-Meeting Presentation-28 July 21
	PUBLIC - Appendix B - BXW Site Progress Photos

	13 Authorisation to declare Land and premises known as 241 and 233 West Hendon Broadway, and Land adjoining 239 West Hendon Broadway as a surplus asset
	Appendix 1 - Lease Plan 241  233 WH Broadway  Land adjoining 239 WH Broadway
	Appendix 2 CPO

	14 Bunns Lane Car Park Proposed Approach to Site Disposal
	15 Grahame Park plots 10, 11 and 12 Compulsory Purchase order (CPO)
	Appendix 1 CPOCR 13.09 Boundary plan
	APPENDIX 2. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM LBB.Council December 2014
	APPENDIX 3. RECOMMENDATIONS FROM LBB.Assets, Regeneration and Growth Committee September 2016
	APPENDIX 4. CPO draft forward programme
	Appendix 5 Equalities Impact Assessment (EQIA)
	Appendix 6 - Consultation

	16 Housing Revenue Account (HRA) Business Plan
	Appendix A -HRA Business Plan

	17 COMMITTEE FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME
	20 Exempt Brent Cross Update report
	EXEMPT- Appendix 1 - BXC-GAB-Meeting Presentation-28 July 21

	21 Exempt Bunns Lane Car Park Proposed Approach to Site Disposal

